
           
PURSUANT TO A.R.S. § 38-431.01, THE GILA COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS WILL HOLD A
MEETING AT THE GILA COUNTY COURTHOUSE, BOARD OF SUPERVISORS’ HEARING ROOM, 1400 EAST
ASH STREET, GLOBE, ARIZONA. ONE OR MORE BOARD MEMBERS MAY PARTICIPATE IN THE MEETING
BY TELEPHONE CONFERENCE CALL OR BY INTERACTIVE TELEVISION VIDEO (ITV).  THE MEETING IS
ALSO TELEVISED TO THE GILA COUNTY TOMMIE CLINE MARTIN COMPLEX, BOARD OF SUPERVISORS'
CONFERENCE ROOM, 707 S. COLCORD ROAD, PAYSON, ARIZONA. THE MEETING ROOMS WILL
BE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC AT 9:00 A.M.

Citizens may watch the Board meeting live-streamed at:  
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCkCHWVqrI5AmJKbvYbO-k2A/live

Citizens may submit written comments related to the March 5th Regular agenda by no later
than 5 p.m. on Monday, March 4th, by emailing the Deputy Clerk of the Board at
strimble@gilacountyaz.gov or calling 928-402-8757.  Citizens may also submit written
comments during the meeting through YouTube.  Please include the meeting date, agenda
item number, your name, and your residence address in the email.

REGULAR MEETING - TUESDAY, MARCH 5, 2024 - 10:00 A.M.
             
1. CALL TO ORDER - PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE -

INVOCATION
 

 

2. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS:  
 

A.   (Motion to recess as the Gila County Board of
Supervisors and convene as the Board of Directors of
the Gila County Flood Control District.)
Information/Discussion/Action to approve or deny a
request submitted by Mr. Steve Medina for a variance from
the requirements of the Gila County Floodplain
Management Ordinance for a room addition to a
manufactured home at 107 S. Cottonwood in Gisela, which
was built without a permit and is not in compliance with
the Ordinance. (Darde de Roulhac) (Motion to adjourn as
the Board of Directors of the Gila County Flood Control
District and reconvene as the Board of Supervisors.)

 

B.   Information/Discussion/Action to authorize payment of
maintenance fees to Motorola Solutions, Inc. for  two
quarters of 2023 in the amount of $62,261.36 and for four
quarters of 2024 ($33,309.82 per quarter) for a total cost of
$133,239.28 per year for a grand total of

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCkCHWVqrI5AmJKbvYbO-k2A/live


$195,500.64, which will allow Motorola Solutions, Inc. to
continue providing maintenance and updates to the
Spillman software program utilized by the Gila County
Sheriff's Office for its Records Management System. (Sarah
White)

 

C.   Information/Discussion/Action to approve the use of
Arizona State Contract No. CTR063770 with Iron Mountain
Information Management LLC in the amount of
$114,172.95 through June 30, 2024, for the digitization of
the Assessor’s parcel records. (Micah Wheeler)

 

D.   Information/Discussion/Action to approve Amendment No.
1 to Professional Services Contract No. 081723 with
Elections Systems & Software in the amount of $52,520.66,
which extends the term of the contract for one additional
year, from April 18, 2024, through April 17, 2025. (Eric
Mariscal)

 

E.   Information/Discussion/Action to adopt Resolution No.
24-03-01 accepting two drainage easements: one from
Dean A. and Ruth A. Jasinski, and one from Steven
Gladhill. (Alexander Kendrick)

 

F.   Information/Discussion/Action to review the bids
submitted for Invitation for Bids No. 112023 - Walnut
Springs Blvd. Culvert Replacement; award to the lowest,
most responsive, responsible, and qualified bidder; and
authorize the Chairman's signature on the award
contract. (Alexander Kendrick)

 

G.   Information/Discussion/Action to consider and select one
of the following three proposed projects to support, in
partnership with Salt River Project:  Pico Pino Fuels
Reduction Project, Haigler Creek Phase 1 Mastication
Project, or South Payson Phase 1 Mastication Project. (Carl
Melford)

 



H.   Information/Discussion/Action to adopt the Arizona
Mutual Aid Compact as recommended by the Arizona
Department of Emergency Management.  (Carl Melford)

 

I.   Information/Discussion/Action to review the bids
submitted for Invitation for Bids (IFB) No. 113023 - Thirteen
Various Models of New Ford Vehicles; award to the lowest,
most responsive, responsible and qualified bidder; and
authorize the Chairman's signature on the award contract.
(David LaForge)

 

J.   Information/Discussion/Action to authorize the Public
Health & Community Services Department to submit a
Grant Application to the Arizona Department of Housing for
Housing Insecurity Flex Funding in the amount of
$240,000. (Joshua Beck)

 

K.   Information/Discussion/Action to approve Funding
Agreement No. 216-24 between the Arizona Department of
Housing and the Gila County Community Services Division,
Housing Services, to provide Southwest Gas Corporation
and Arizona Public Service Weatherization Assistance
Program funding in the amount of $266,400 for the period
of January 1, 2024, to December 31, 2024. (Joshua Beck)

 

L.   Information/Discussion/Action to approve Economic
Development Agreement No. 02022024 between Gila
County and the Hayden-Winkelman Little League District
#11 in the amount of $500, which the Board has
determined to be for the benefit of the public. (Woody Cline)

 

M.   Information/Discussion/Action to approve
Intergovernmental Agreement No. 02032024, an economic
development grant, between Gila County and the
Hayden-Winkelman Unified School District #41 in the
amount of $1,500, which the Board has determined to be
for the benefit of the public. (Woody Cline)

 



N.   Information/Discussion/Action to approve
Intergovernmental Agreement No. 020012024, an economic
development grant, between Gila County and the Town of
Winkelman in the amount of $11,000, which the Board has
determined to be for the benefit of the public.  (Woody
Cline)

 

3. CONSENT AGENDA ACTION ITEMS: (Any matter on the
Consent Agenda will be removed from the Consent
Agenda and discussed and voted upon as a regular
agenda item upon the request of any member of the
Board of Supervisors.)

 

 

A.   Acknowledgment of the January 2024 monthly activity
report submitted by the Recorder's Office. 

 

B.   Acknowledgment of the January, 2024 monthly activity
report submitted by the Clerk of the Superior Court's Office.

 

C.   Acknowledgment of January 2024 monthly activity report
submitted by Globe Regional Constable's Office.

 

D.   Acknowledgment of the January 2024 monthly activity
report submitted by the Payson Regional Constable's Office.

 

E.   Acknowledge of the January 2024 monthly activity report
submitted by the Globe Regional Justice of the Peace's
Office.

 

F.   Acknowledgment of the November 2023 monthly activity
report submitted by the Payson Regional Justice of the
Peace's Office.

 

G.   Acknowledgment of the December 2023 monthly activity
report submitted by the Payson Regional Justice of the
Peace's Office.

 



H.   Acknowledgment of the January 2024 monthly activity
report submitted by the Payson Regional Justice of the
Peace's Office.

 

I.   Approval of the Board of Supervisors' January 30, 2024,
meeting minutes.

 

4. CALL TO THE PUBLIC:   A call to the public is held for
public benefit to allow individuals to address the Board of
Supervisors on any issue within the jurisdiction of the
Board of Supervisors. Board members may not discuss
items that are not specifically identified on the agenda.
Therefore, pursuant to Arizona Revised Statute §
38-431.01(H), at the conclusion of an open call to the
public, individual members of the Board of Supervisors
may respond to criticism made by those who have
addressed the Board, may ask staff to review a matter or
may ask that a matter be put on a future agenda for further
discussion and decision at a future date.

 

 

5. At any time during this meeting pursuant to A.R.S. §
38-431.02(K), members of the Board of Supervisors and the
County Manager may present a brief summary of current
events.  No action may be taken on the information
presented.

 

 

IF SPECIAL ACCOMMODATIONS ARE NEEDED, PLEASE CONTACT THE RECEPTIONIST AT (928)
425-3231 AS EARLY AS POSSIBLE TO ARRANGE THE ACCOMMODATIONS. FOR TTY, PLEASE DIAL
7-1-1 TO REACH THE ARIZONA RELAY SERVICE AND ASK THE OPERATOR TO CONNECT YOU TO
(928) 425-3231.

THE BOARD MAY VOTE TO HOLD AN EXECUTIVE SESSION FOR THE PURPOSE OF OBTAINING
LEGAL ADVICE FROM THE BOARD’S ATTORNEY ON ANY MATTER LISTED ON THE AGENDA
PURSUANT TO A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

THE ORDER OR DELETION OF ANY ITEM ON THIS AGENDA IS SUBJECT TO MODIFICATION AT THE
MEETING.



   
ARF-8555   Regular Agenda Item     2. A.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: Darde De Roulhac, Flood Control District Chief Engineer 
Submitted By: Thomas Goodman, County Engineer
Department: Public Works

Information
Request/Subject
Floodplain Management Ordinance Variance Request by Steve Medina for
Parcel Number 304-33-414.

Background Information
In August 2022, Community Development Department Code Enforcement
opened a case for this property for building an addition onto the
manufactured home without permits, including the required floodplain
use permit.  Construction continued.
Flood Control District staff sent a formal notice of violation and cited
specific requirements from the Gila County Floodplain Management
Ordinance that needed to be addressed.  These items were the required
minimum floor elevation, flood damage-resistant materials below the
regulatory flood elevation, and flood vents in the walls around the crawl
space below the room addition. 

Mr. Medina provided an elevation certificate which showed that the floor
elevation, as constructed, was not built high enough to meet the
regulations designed to protect occupants during the 100-year regulatory
flood event; however, flood vents were added to relieve pressure from flood
water against the crawl space wall.

In August 2023, Mr. Medina asked about the procedure to get a floodplain
variance.

On November 30, 2023, Mr. Medina requested a floodplain variance. 
Subsequently, staff reviewed his request and suggested that it might be to
his advantage to provide more detail and justification for the variance
request.  A copy of the Ordinance was also sent to him with sections
noted that are relevant to variance procedures that would be advisable to
consider and to explain how a variance would be justified for this project.
He requested time to revise it.



On January 9, 2024, the request was re-submitted, which is shown in
this report.

Evaluation
This request does not ask for a variance from any specific provision of the
Ordinance.  Rather, a request is made for a variance from the provisions
of the Gila County Floodplain Management Ordinance for this parcel.  The
Ordinance is designed to provide a measure of safety in times of flooding.
The floor was constructed 2.2 feet below the required floor elevation,
which has created a potentially hazardous situation. 

The 100-year flood water depth is estimated to be four feet at the driveway
location.  This makes it risky to evacuate on foot or by vehicle as flooding
gets to the level where it is entering the home.  It also puts emergency
responders at unnecessary risk.
The specific criteria in the Ordinance that the Board needs to consider in
granting a variance to the Ordinance were not specifically addressed.  The
attached staff report gives additional details about the background and
evaluation material noted here and provides photos, the request letter,
and excerpts from the Gila County Floodplain Management Ordinance.

Conclusion
There are health and safety issues for future building occupants and
emergency responders, if a variance is issued to allow the building
addition floor to remain below the regulatory flood elevation.  There are
also flood insurance premium disadvantages.  The advantage to granting
a variance appears to be purely economic, at the expense of the health
and safety of occupants and future owners and occupants. 

The Ordinance allows a variance to be granted for an “exceptional
hardship that would result from failure to grant the ordinance.”  It further
states that it is required “that the variance be exceptional, unusual, and
peculiar to the property involved."  Mere economic or financial hardship
alone is not exceptional.

Recommendation
Staff recommends that this variance request be denied for the reasons
stated above.

Suggested Motion
(Motion to recess as the Gila County Board of Supervisors and



(Motion to recess as the Gila County Board of Supervisors and
convene as the Board of Directors of the Gila County Flood
Control District.) Information/Discussion/Action to approve or deny a
request submitted by Mr. Steve Medina for a variance from the
requirements of the Gila County Floodplain Management Ordinance for a
room addition to a manufactured home at 107 S. Cottonwood in Gisela,
which was built without a permit and is not in compliance with the
Ordinance. (Darde de Roulhac) (Motion to adjourn as the Board of
Directors of the Gila County Flood Control District and
reconvene as the Board of Supervisors.)

Attachments
Staff Report Re: Floodplain Variance Request-Parcel No. 304-33-414



STAFF REPORT 
REQUEST FOR VARIANCE  

FROM THE GILA COUNTY FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT ORDINANCE 
Received from Steve Medina, for MH Elite Services LLC 

 
 

This is a request by Mr. Steve Medina for a variance from the requirements of the Gila County 
Floodplain Management Ordinance for a parcel located at 107 S Cottonwood Lane, Gisela, Arizona. 
This report supplements the agenda item with additional detail regarding this variance request. 

 

Background Information 

In August 2022, Community Development Code Enforcement opened a case for this property for 
building an addition onto the manufactured home without permits. 

In September 2022, Code Enforcement notified Mr. Medina of floodplain requirements, among 
others. 

On Sept 23, 2022, Mr. Medina was sent a formal notice that his room addition was in violation of 
floodplain requirements, and stated what was required to bring it into compliance.  Specifically 
mentioned were the required minimum floor elevation, flood damage resistant materials below the 
regulatory flood elevation, and flood vents in the walls around the crawl space below the room 
addition.   

Notwithstanding the notices of violation and request to bring the construction into compliance, 
work continued on the project without addressing the most critical issue, the floor elevation. 

On August 31, 2023, Mr. Medina asked about the procedure to get a floodplain variance. 

On November 30, 2023, Mr. Medina requested a floodplain variance.  Subsequently, staff reviewed 
his request and suggested that it might be to his advantage to provide more detail and justification 
for the variance request.  A copy of the ordinance was also sent and noted the sections relevant to 
variance procedures which would be advisable to consider, and to explain how a variance would be 
justified for this project.  This information was not included in the latest variance request. 

On January 9, 2024, the request was submitted which is shown in this report.    

 

Evaluation 

Normally, a request would be for a variance to specific requirements of the ordinance.  The 
absence of this information, which was given to Mr. Medina, implies that this request is for a 
variance from all floodplain requirements for this entire parcel, without time limitations. 

Mr. Medina provided an elevation certificate which shows that flood vents were added to the wall 
around the crawl space, but that the floor elevation of the room addition was constructed 2.2 feet 



below the required floor elevation.  The elevation certificate also provided numbers to show that 
the depth of water in a 100-year flood would be 2.9 to 5.3 feet above the ground adjacent to the 
home. 

As floodwaters could inundate the floors of the building more than a foot deep, there is a risk of 
significant damage to the structure and personal property.  There is also a risk to health and safety 
of the occupants from contaminated flood water, debris and silt entering the home, and mold 
growth in the building after the flood waters recede.  Floodwaters are expected to be about 4 feet 
deep at the driveway. Egress and ingress would be difficult either on foot or by vehicle.  If residents 
are not safe inside the home because it is inundated, there is not a safe way to leave, and 
emergency responders would be at risk to try to help occupants to safety, thus creating a potential 
hazard to the health and safety of occupants and responders.  This situation which could be 
preventable by complying with floodplain regulations.  Deep flooding from Tonto Creek could last 
for a fairly long duration, depending on the storm. 

There is nothing unique about this parcel compared to the neighborhood which would warrant a 
variance to waive all floodplain requirements. 

There is a statement in the variance request letter that the addition needs to be low to match the 
floor of the manufactured home.  The home was set prior to the regulations being in effect, so it 
would not have to be raised, but steps up into the addition, while not desirable, could be possible.  
Alternatively, the manufactured home could be reset to the required floor elevation for the addition 
to match floor elevations, which would also make it safer.  The non-compliant addition could also 
be removed in entirety.  Although there would be costs, neither of these alternatives would require 
a variance. 

In the ordinance, the definition of exceptional hardship which might justify a variance specifically 
excludes cost as a exceptional hardship.  Therefore, a decision by the Board to deny a variance 
would not result in an exceptional hardship, per the ordinance. 

Is a variance is granted, the ordinance requires that a notification, signed by the Chairman of the 
Board, be recorded so that it appears in the chain of title of the parcel.  The required wording is 
summarized as follows:  a variance to construct a structure below the flood level could increase 
flood insurance premiums, increases the risk to life and property, and that the land would be 
ineligible for exchange of land pursuant to any flood relocation and land exchange program. 

As a precautionary note, a history of variances could jeopardize Gila County’s standing in the 
National Flood Insurance program, could cause flood insurance premiums to rise for all County 
residents, or get the County suspended from the National Flood insurance Program, which would 
make federal flood insurance unavailable. 

 

Conclusion 

There are health and safety issues for future building occupants and emergency responders if a 
variance is issued to allow the building addition floor to remain below the regulatory flood 
elevation.  There are also flood insurance premium disadvantages.  The advantage to granting a 



variance appears to be purely economic, at the expense of the health and safety of occupants and 
future owners and occupants.   

The ordinance allows a variance to be granted for an “exceptional hardship that would result from 
failure to grant the ordinance.”  It further states that it is required “that the variance be exceptional, 
unusual, and peculiar to the property involved.  Mere economic or financial hardship alone is not 
exceptional.” 

 

Recommendation 

Staff recommends that this variance request be denied for the reasons stated above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



PHOTOGRAPHS 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Above: Room addition when discovered.                                                                         Below: Recent photo 

  



References 

VARIANCE REQUEST LETTER FROM MR. MEDINA: 
1/9/2024 
 

Darde de Roulhac, P.E., CFM 
Chief Engineer 
Gila County Flood Control District 
608 E State Hwy 260, Payson, AZ 85541 
 

RE: Request for Variance to FloodPlain Regulations 
 

107 S Cottonwood Gisela, parcel# 30433414 
 

To Whom It May Concern, 
 

I am writing to request a variance to the floodplain regulations in Gila County, Arizona, 
specifically pertaining to 107 S Cottonwood Lane Gisela. I understand the importance of 
floodplain management to ensure public safety and protect the environment, and I am 
committed to ensuring that any modifications or developments on the property comply with 
these objectives. 
 

When the property was purchased my intention was to clean up trash and debri from the home 
and property and complete all the needed repairs.  The home and property were in very poor 
condition and required a tremendous amount of removal of both trash and debris. We 
purchased the home to spend time at the Holidays as a family. I have attached pictures 
of the property during the cleanup so that you can understand the amount of work that has 
already been completed in an effort to return this property back into a home for my family. I took 
on this task not only to improve my property but also to support the quality of the 
surrounding neighborhood.  The Arizona room addition looked to be at least 10+ years old and 
was in need of repair. It is a valuable feature of the home and with some of these needed 
repairs could remain rather than the first option offered to tear down the structure. 
The second remedy suggested was to raise the floor elevation of the structure to meet the 
flood requirements. If this height requirement given is correct then the structure would need to 
be higher than the existing home, so this is not an option. 
I have been able to stay in the home but my family can't stay in the home until all the work is 
completed. It has been two years and we have not been able to complete the work and use the 
home. 
To support my request for a variance, I have taken the following steps: 
I have provided documents and/or completed work that included:  
Arizona room engineering, site plan, CLC clearance, Waste Water Clearance, installed floor 
vents, property survey and benchmark, septic system pump and re-certification. The entire 
property is currently fenced to ensure debris remains on property if flooding should occur. 



Which has caused a trenmedous financial strain on myseld and family with all these unexpected 
expenses.   
   
I am committed to working in compliance with the local floodplain regulations and am open to 
discussing any additional requirements or conditions that the Gila County Flood Control District 
may deem necessary to grant this variance. 
 

Thank you for considering my request. I look forward to your response and the opportunity to 
work collaboratively with the Gila County Flood Control District to achieve a resolution that 
benefits both my project and the floodplain management objectives. 
 

Sincerely, 
 

Steve Medina 
 

  



EXHIBITS 

Definition of “Hardship” in the Gila County Floodplain Ordinance 

"Hardship" as related to Section 6.0, Variances, of this ordinance means the exceptional hardship 
that would result from a failure to grant the requested variance.  The governing body requires that 
the variance be exceptional, unusual, and peculiar to the property involved.  Mere economic or 
financial hardship alone is not exceptional. Inconvenience, aesthetic considerations, physical 
handicaps, personal preferences, or the disapproval of one's neighbors likewise cannot, as a rule, 
qualify as an exceptional hardship.  All of these problems can be resolved through other means 
without granting a variance, even if the alternative is more expensive, or requires the property 
owner to build elsewhere or put the parcel to a different use than originally intended. 
 

Section 6.0 of the Gila County Floodplain Management Ordinance  
(related to variance procedures) 
  

SECTION 6.0 
VARIANCE PROCEDURE 

 

6.1   NATURE OF VARIANCES 
The variance criteria set forth in this section of the ordinance are based on the general principle of zoning 
law that variances pertain to a piece of property and are not personal in nature.  A variance may be granted 
for a parcel of property with physical characteristics so unusual that complying with the requirements of 
this ordinance would create an exceptional hardship to the applicant or the surrounding property owners.  
The characteristics must be unique to the property and not be shared by adjacent parcels.  The unique 
characteristic must pertain to the land itself, not to the structure, its inhabitants, or the property owners. 

It is the duty of the Gila County Flood Control District to help protect its citizens from flooding.  This need 
is so compelling and the implications of the cost of insuring a structure built below the regulatory flood 
elevation are so serious that variances from the flood elevation or from other requirements in the Gila 
County Floodplain Management Ordinance are rare.  The long-term goal of preventing and reducing flood 
loss and damage can only be met if variances are strictly limited.  Therefore the variance guidelines 
provided in this Ordinance are detailed and contain multiple provisions that must be met before a variance 
can be properly granted.  The criteria are designed to screen out those situations in which alternatives other 
than a variance are more appropriate. 

6.2   APPEAL BOARD  
A.  The Floodplain Board of Gila County shall hear and decide appeals and requests for variances 
from the requirements of this ordinance. 
B.  The Floodplain Board shall hear and decide appeals when it is alleged there is an error in any 
requirement, decision, or determination made by the Floodplain Administrator in the enforcement 
or administration of this ordinance.  
C. Those aggrieved by the decision of the Floodplain Board, or any taxpayer, may appeal such 
decision to the Superior Court of Gila County.  



D. In passing upon variance applications, the Floodplain Board shall consider all technical 
evaluations, all relevant factors, standards specified in other sections of this ordinance, and:  

1. The danger that materials may be swept onto other lands to the injury of others;  
2. The danger to life and property due to flooding or erosion damage;  
3. The susceptibility of the proposed facility and its contents to flood damage and the effect of 

such damage on the individual owner;  
4. The importance of the services provided by the proposed facility to the community;  
5. The necessity to the facility of a waterfront location, where applicable;  
6. The availability of alternative locations for the proposed use which are not subject to 

flooding or erosion damage;  
7. The compatibility of the proposed uses with existing and anticipated development;  
8. The relationship of the proposed use to the comprehensive plan and floodplain management 

program for that area;  
9. The safety of access to the property in times of flood for ordinary and emergency vehicles;  
10. The expected heights, velocity, duration, rate of rise, and sediment transport of the 

floodwaters expected at the site; and  
11. The costs of providing governmental services during and after flood conditions, including 

maintenance and repair of public utilities and facilities such as sewer, gas, electrical, and 
water system, and streets and bridges. 

12. The potential legal liability of allowing development to occur in a manner that could pose 
a hazard to life or property. 

E.  Upon consideration of the factors of Section  6.2.D and the purposes of this ordinance, the 
Floodplain Board may attach such conditions to the granting of variances as it deems necessary to 
further the purposes of this ordinance.  
F.  Any applicant to whom a variance is granted shall be given written notice over the signature of 
the Chairman of the Floodplain Board that: 

1.  The issuance of a variance to construct a structure below the base flood level will result in 
increased premium rates for flood insurance up to amounts as high as $25 for $100 of 
insurance coverage, and; 

2.  Such construction below the regulatory flood level increases risks to life and property. 
3.  Such notification shall be maintained with a record of all variance actions required in 

Paragraph 6.2.G of this ordinance.  Such notice will also state that the land upon which the 
variance is granted shall be ineligible for exchange of land pursuant to any flood relocation 
and land exchange program.  A copy of the notice shall be recorded by the floodplain Board 
in the office of the Gila County Recorder and shall be recorded in a manner so that it 
appears in the chain of title of the affected parcel of land. 

G. The Floodplain Administrator shall maintain the records of all variance actions, including 
justification for their issuance, and report any variances to the Federal Emergency Management 
Agency upon request.  



 

6.3   CONDITIONS FOR VARIANCES  
A. Generally, variances may be issued for new construction and substantial improvements to be 
erected on a lot of one-half acre or less in size contiguous to and surrounded by lots with existing 
structures constructed below the base flood level, providing the procedures of Sections 4 and 5 of 
this ordinance have been fully considered.  As the lot size increases beyond one-half acre, the 
technical justification required for issuing the variance increases. 
B. Variances may be issued for the repair, rehabilitation, or restoration of structures listed on the 
National Register of Historic Places or the State Inventory of Historic Places, upon a determination 
that the proposed repair or rehabilitation will not preclude the structure’s continued designation as 
a historic structure and the variance is the minimum necessary to preserve the historic character 
and design of the structure.  
C. Variances shall not be issued within any designated floodway if any increase in flood levels 
during the base flood discharge would result.  
D. Variances shall only be issued upon a determination that the variance is the minimum necessary, 
considering the flood hazard, to afford relief.  
E. Variances shall only be issued upon:  

1.  A showing of good and sufficient cause;  
2. A determination that failure to grant the variance would result in exceptional “hardship” to 

the applicant;  
3.  A showing that the use cannot perform its intended purpose unless it is located. or carried 

out in close proximity to water.  This includes only facilities defined in Section 2.0 of this 
ordinance in the definition of "Functionally Dependent Use.”; and 

4.  A determination that the granting of a variance will not result in increased flood heights, 
additional threats to “public safety,” extraordinary public expense, create nuisances, cause 
“fraud and victimization” of the public, or conflict with existing local laws or ordinances. 

F. Variances cannot be granted to section 5.4.C of this ordinance. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   
ARF-8277   Regular Agenda Item     2. B.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: Adam Shepherd, Sheriff 
Submitted By: Stephanie Chaidez, Contracts Administrator
Department: Sheriff's Office
Fiscal Year: FY2024-FY2025 Budgeted?: Yes
Contract Dates
Begin & End: 

01-01-2023 to
12-31-2024

Grant?: No

Matching
Requirement?: 

No Fund?: New

Information
Request/Subject
Approval of the Annual Maintenance Fees for 2023 and 2024 Regarding
the Sheriff's Office Records Management System

Background Information
The Gila County Sheriff's Office maintained a yearly contract with
Spillman Technologies, Inc. from 1999 to 2016, at which time Spillman
Technologies, Inc. was sold to Motorola Solutions, Inc.  Motorola
Solutions, Inc. has continued with the contract initially executed between
Gila County and Spillman Technologies Inc., which was dated October 5,
1999.  The contract provides that Spillman (now Motorola) will provide
maintenance and updates to the Spillman software program that is
utilized by the Gila County Sheriff's Office for its Records Management
System.

This contract is unusual because it renews automatically each year,
whereas most all contracts executed by the Board of Supervisors don't
typically go past a total of 4 years.  This practice was put in place years
ago to ensure that contracts are reviewed on a periodic basis for any
needed changes. 

On January 4, 2022, the Board of Supervisors ratified its approval for the
Sheriff's Office (through the Finance Department) to pay quarterly
invoices to Motorola Solutions, Inc. for 2021 maintenance fees, and it also
approved payment of quarterly invoices for 2022 maintenance fees. 

A request was not previously presented to the Board of Supervisors for the



A request was not previously presented to the Board of Supervisors for the
2023 maintenance fees.

Evaluation
It is imperative that the Sheriff's Office ensure that the software program
that is used for its Records Management System is maintained and
updated when needed. Motorola Solutions, Inc. maintains and updates
the Spillman software program.

Even though the Board of Supervisors has authorized the County
Manager to sign contracts under $50,000, the total yearly cost for
maintenance fees exceeds that amount.   Since a request was not
submitted in 2023 for maintenance costs the Gila County Sheriff's Office
has 2 quarters ( July 2023-September 2023; $31,130.66 and October
2023-December 2023; $31,130.70) that need to be paid for a total of
$62,261.36.  Quarterly invoices for 2024 at present total $33,309.82. 
That total may vary slightly depending on taxes.  It is being requested of
the Board of Supervisors to approve two quarterly payments for 2023 in
the total amount of $62,261.36 and the 2024 annual cost of the
maintenance fees for use of the Spillman software - $33,309.82 x 4
quarters = $133,239.28 annually.  (A typical invoice is attached to this
agenda item.) The total requested for 2 quarters of 2023 and 4 quarters of
2024 is $195,500.64.

By presenting a request to approve the annual cost of the maintenance
fees, it also serves as a reminder to the Sheriff's Office to periodically
review the contract terms that are in place.

Conclusion
Motorola’s Spillman software is a tool that is used daily and it assists in
tracking of the work that deputies perform on a regular basis.  If this
software is not maintained properly, the system will start having issues
and not be functional for its intended use. In order for the Gila County
Sheriff's Office to continue to use Spillman's software program for its
Records Management System, the Board of Supervisors needs to
authorize payment of the total annual cost for maintenance fees.

Recommendation
It is recommended that the Gila County Board of Supervisors authorize
2023 and 2024 annual expenses to Motorola Solutions, Inc., per the
contract executed by the Board of Supervisors on October 5, 1999, which
are for maintenance fees of the Spillman software program that is utilized
by the Gila County Sheriff's Office for its Records Management System. 
The cost will be paid to Motorola on a quarterly basis and the amount



may vary slightly.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to authorize payment of maintenance fees
to Motorola Solutions, Inc. for  two quarters of 2023 in the amount of
$62,261.36 and for four quarters of 2024 ($33,309.82 per quarter) for a
total cost of $133,239.28 per year for a grand total of $195,500.64, which
will allow Motorola Solutions, Inc. to continue providing maintenance and
updates to the Spillman software program utilized by the Gila County
Sheriff's Office for its Records Management System. (Sarah White)

Attachments
Amendment No. 1 to Computer Software Support Agreement
Original Computer Software Support Agreement with Spillman
Technologies
2023-2024 Invoice
First Quarter 2024 Invoice 





































Page 1/4

Motorola Solutions, Inc.
500 West Monroe
Chicago IL 60661
United States
Federal Tax ID: 36-1115800 

ORIGINAL INVOICE
Transaction Number Transaction Date Transaction Total
8230412075 02-JUN-2023 31,130.66 USD
P.O. Number P.O. Date Customer Account No

1209114096

Visit our website at www.motorolasolutions.com

Payment Terms Payment Due Date
Net Due in 30 Days 02-JUL-2023

Bill To Address Ship To Address

GILA COUNTY SHERIFF
ATTN: Accounts Payable
PO BOX311
GLOBE AZ 85502
United States

 
 
 
 

GILA COUNTY SHERIFF
1100 E. SOUTH STREET
P.O. BOX 311
GLOBE AZ 85502
United States

IMPORTANT INFORMATION
For all invoice payment inquiries contact
watchguard.accounts.receivable@motorolasolutions.com
Telephone: 469-457-1993

Sales Order(s): USC000201593-R02-SEP-22 06:33:22

SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS / COMMENTS
General Comment: Regular Invoice

Please detach here and return the bottom portion with your payment
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _

Payment Coupon

Transaction Number Customer Account No Payment Due Date Transaction Total Amount Paid
8230412075 1209114096 02-JUL-2023 31,130.66 USD

Please put your Transaction Number and your Customer Account Number on your payment for prompt processing.

GILA COUNTY SHERIFF
ATTN: Accounts Payable
PO BOX311
GLOBE AZ 85502
United States

Payment Transfer Details

Bank of America, Dallas
Bank Account No: 3756319806

Send Payments To:

Motorola Solutions, Inc.
13108 Collections Center
Chicago IL 60693
United States
Please provide your remittance details to:
US.remittance@motorolasolutions.com

DIVERSION CONTRARY TO EXPORT CONTROL LAW IS PROHIBITED

Line 
Item #

Item Number Description Qty. Unit Price
 (USD)

Amount
(USD)

 
Equipment at Site: 1862875
1209114096 1100 E. SOUTH STREET

P.O. BOX 311
GLOBE AZ 85502
United States

1 SSV00S00012A-SP CAD MAINTENANCE (ENHANCED) - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-
DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 369.39 369.39

2 SSV00S00052A-SP STATELINK MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-
2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 1,230.54 1,230.54

3 SSV00S00072A-SP CAD MAPPING MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-
2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 918.16 918.16

 

    



 

Page 2/4

Motorola Solutions, Inc.
500 West Monroe
Chicago IL 60661
United States
Federal Tax ID: 36-1115800 

ORIGINAL INVOICE
Transaction Number Transaction Date Transaction Total
8230412075 02-JUN-2023 31,130.66 USD

P.O. Number P.O. Date Customer Account No
1209114096

Visit our website at www.motorolasolutions.com

Payment Terms Payment Due Date
Net Due in 30 Days 02-JUL-2023

DIVERSION CONTRARY TO EXPORT CONTROL LAW IS PROHIBITED

Line 
Item #

Item Number Description Qty. Unit Price
 (USD)

Amount
(USD)

4 SSV00S00178A-SP DRIVER LICENSE SCANNING MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 275.01 275.01

5 SSV00S00181A-SP E9-1-1 INTERFACE MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-
DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 284.45 284.45

6 SSV00S00184A-SP EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 568.90 568.90

7 SSV00S00187A-SP ERS FIRE AND EMS RECORDS INTERFACE MAINTENANCE - 
STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 335.22 335.22

8 SSV00S00190A-SP EVIDENCE BARCODE AND AUDITING MAINTENANCE - 
STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 565.97 565.97

9 SSV00S00193A-SP EVIDENCE MANAGEMENT MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 174.12 174.12

10 SSV00S00262A-SP IMAGING MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:
Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 948.37 948.37

11 SSV00S00280A-SP INSIGHT MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:
Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 818.84 818.84

12 SSV00S00015A-SP HUB MAINTENANCE (ENHANCED) - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-
DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 7,340.30 7,340.30

13 SSV00S00331A-SP MOBILE ARREST FORM MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 701.61 701.61

14 SSV00S00334A-SP MOBILE FIELD REPORT WITH FIELD INTERVIEW MAINTENANCE - 
STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 1,053.97 1,053.97

15 SSV00S00352A-SP MOBILE STATE & NATIONAL QUERIES MAINTENANCE - 
STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 1,053.97 1,053.97

16 SSV00S00354A-SP MOBILE VOICELESS CAD MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 1,053.97 1,053.97

17 SSV00S00405A-SP OFFENDER TRACKING MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 509.22 509.22

18 SSV00S00417A-SP PAWNED PROPERTY MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 286.73 286.73

19 SSV00S00432A-SP PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 488.67 488.67

20 SSV00S00438A-SP PIN MAPPING MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-
2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 240.84 240.84

21 SSV00S00480A-SP SENTRYX GIS (GEOBASE) MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

1 0.00 0.00

    



 

Page 3/4

Motorola Solutions, Inc.
500 West Monroe
Chicago IL 60661
United States
Federal Tax ID: 36-1115800 

ORIGINAL INVOICE
Transaction Number Transaction Date Transaction Total
8230412075 02-JUN-2023 31,130.66 USD

P.O. Number P.O. Date Customer Account No
1209114096

Visit our website at www.motorolasolutions.com

Payment Terms Payment Due Date
Net Due in 30 Days 02-JUL-2023

DIVERSION CONTRARY TO EXPORT CONTROL LAW IS PROHIBITED

Line 
Item #

Item Number Description Qty. Unit Price
 (USD)

Amount
(USD)

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

22 SSV00S00021A-SP CIVIL PROCESS MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-
DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 493.06 493.06

23 SSV00S00504A-SP SWANSON COMMISSARY INTERFACE MAINTENANCE - 
STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 0.00 0.00

24 SSV00S00527A-SP TRAFFIC INFORMATION MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 424.07 424.07

25 SSV00S00533A-SP VEHICLE IMPOUND MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-
DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 265.09 265.09

26 SSV00S00028A-SP FLEX TOUCH MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-
2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 918.16 918.16

27 SSV00S00031A-SP JAIL MANAGEMENT MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-
DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 1,436.23 1,436.23

28 SSV00S00033A-SP LAW RECORDS MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-
2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 404.21 404.21

29 SSV00S00036A-SP MOBILE AVL AND MAPPING MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-
2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 876.85 876.85

30 SSV00S00038A-SP MOBILE RECORDS MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-
DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 1,053.97 1,053.97

31 SSV00S00040A-SP NIBRS MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:
Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 106.79 106.79

32 SSV00S00050A-SP IBR MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:
Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 1,232.15 1,232.15

33 SSV00S00307A-SP LIVESCAN FINGERPRINTING INTERFACE MAINTENANCE - 
STANDARD:01-JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 731.42 731.42

34 SSV00S00521A-SP TRACS ACCIDENTS INTERFACE MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-
JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 583.05 583.05

35 SSV00S00524A-SP TRACS CITATIONS INTERFACE MAINTENANCE - STANDARD:01-
JAN-2023:31-DEC-2023:

Service From: 01-JUL-2023 Service To: 30-SEP-2023
 

1 583.05 583.05

Site AZ Tax at 9.9% 2,804.31

Site Total 31,130.66

 
 

    



 

Page 4/4

Motorola Solutions, Inc.
500 West Monroe
Chicago IL 60661
United States
Federal Tax ID: 36-1115800 

ORIGINAL INVOICE
Transaction Number Transaction Date Transaction Total
8230412075 02-JUN-2023 31,130.66 USD

P.O. Number P.O. Date Customer Account No
1209114096

Visit our website at www.motorolasolutions.com

Payment Terms Payment Due Date
Net Due in 30 Days 02-JUL-2023

DIVERSION CONTRARY TO EXPORT CONTROL LAW IS PROHIBITED

Total Tax AZ 2,804.31
USD   Subtotal

Total Tax AZ 2,804.31
USD   Total Tax
USD   Total
USD   Amount Due

28,326.35
Total Tax AZ 2,804.31

2,804.31
31,130.66
31,130.66

 











   
ARF-8488   Regular Agenda Item     2. C.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: Joseph Williams, Assessor 
Submitted By: Betty Hurst, Contracts Administrator
Department: Assessor's Office
Fiscal Year: 2024 Budgeted?: Yes
Contract Dates
Begin & End: 

01-02-24 to 06-30-24 Grant?: No

Matching
Requirement?: 

No Fund?: Renewal

Information
Request/Subject
Approval to use Arizona State Contract CTR063770 with Iron Mountain,
Inc. for the Assessor Parcel Digitization.

Background Information
The Assessor’s Office has parcel records, maps, and historical value
information that is all on paper copy located in the Globe office. This
information holds historical title chain information, maps, and valuation
information and without digitizing the information, there is  no backup of
the information that is stored in those files. If a fire or accident were to
happen, there would be no way of retrieving any of the information that
would be lost.  Digitizing the information would also allow staff in the
Payson office to directly access the information, without having to contact
the Globe office to request a desired parcel record.

Evaluation
The proposal is for digitization of the assessor parcel records that we
currently hold in the vault. The expected results of this undertaking
would be that staff would have a digital copy of the parcel records, thus
not relying on physical paper copies that can get damaged, lost, or ruined.
Digitization of the parcel records would also allow employees to directly
access the records themselves at their convenience. Under the current
process, someone needing a record in the Payson office must contact
globe personnel to retrieve the physical file and scan its contents to the
email of the Payson employee. Under the new system the
Payson employees would have direct access to retrieve the desired record



without having to involve other personnel.
 
Under the current process, if mapping has a record checked out for a
task, other personnel must track down the physical file record if they
need to review it. Under the new system, both personnel would be able to
access the parcel record from the database, which would eliminate the
possibility of losing all or portions of the record due to being moved
frequently.

Conclusion
In an effort to improve efficiency and security of our parcel filing system,
staff is requesting the approval of the digitization of the Assessor's Office
parcel records. This process will improve the access and efficiency of
accessing our parcel records between the 2 assessor offices, as well as
providing a digital backup of the files, which we currently do not have and
is needed.

Recommendation
The Chief Deputy Assessor recommends the approval of the Iron
Mountain Contract for digitization of the Assessor's Office parcel records.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to approve the use of Arizona State
Contract No. CTR063770 with Iron Mountain Information Management
LLC in the amount of $114,172.95 through June 30, 2024, for the
digitization of the Assessor’s parcel records. (Micah Wheeler)

Attachments
Contract No. CTR063770-Digitization of Assessor's Office
SOW Digitzation Services
No Forced Labor of Ethinic Uyghurs Ban
State of AZ CTR063770
Single Source Justification1







ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 1 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

 
This Statement of Work (“SOW”) is a proposal by Iron Mountain Information Management, LLC (“Iron 
Mountain”, “IRM” or “IM”) to perform the services described herein, including the pricing, assumptions, and 
terms and conditions that will apply to a contract resulting from this SOW.  

Throughout this SOW, certain provisions have been selected for incorporation herein either by (i) 
check of a clause(s) that is presented in full, or (ii) check of a link to static, dated clause or clauses 
incorporated by reference. In both instances (i) and (ii), such provisions are material to this SOW and 
applicable to a contract resulting from this SOW. 

Customer Information (“Customer”): 

Gila County Assessor's Office  
1400 Ash Street 
Globe, AZ 85501 
Attn: Carrie Bartling  
cbartling@gilacountyaz.gov 
 

Digitization & InSight Services  Date of SOW: 1/29/2024 
IMGS/SLED Number: SLED0003117 Project #:  

 
Proposal Validity Period: The terms and fees quoted under this SOW will only remain valid for acceptance by 
Customer until 2/29/2024. Thereafter, Iron Mountain may modify the fees or terms and require a modified 
SOW. 

Iron Mountain Contacts: 

Michael Stone 
Business Development Executive 
Michael.stone@ironmountain.com 
480-925-8678 

Eduardo Puente 
Project Solutions Specialist 
Eduardo.puente@ironmountain.com 
510-299-4651 

Akira Cooke 
Customer Success Manager 
Akira.cooke@ironmountain.com 
(678)995-1446 

Matthew Lonsway 
Solution Architect 
Matthew.lonsway@ironmountain.com 
(989) 408-1299 

This submission includes information that shall not be duplicated, used or disclosed — in whole or in part — for any purpose other than to evaluate this submission. Contains Iron Mountain confidential and 
proprietary information © 2023.  Iron Mountain Incorporated.  All rights reserved. Iron Mountain and the design of the mountain are registered trademarks of Iron Mountain Incorporated in the U.S. and other 
countries. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. 
 
  

  



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 2 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Table of Contents 
Section 1:  Introduction and Technical Statement of Work/ Performance Schedule 

Section 2: Pricing and Assumptions 

Section 3: Terms and Conditions 

Section 4: Acknowledgement/Acceptance  

  



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 3 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Section 1 
Introduction and Technical Statement of Work/ Performance Schedule 

Digital Conversion 
Iron Mountain provides customers full digital transformation services including document preparation, 
scanning of textual and graphical documents into digital data, quality assurance, indexing, document 
reassembly, and digital delivery of data to a new media. 

Statement of Work  

Controlled Material 
Customer will not provide Iron Mountain with any Deposits (including goods, software, services, and/or 
technical data) that contain technical information regarding defense articles or defense services within the 
meaning of the U.S. International Traffic in Arms Regulations (“ITAR”), or technical data within the meaning of 
the U.S. Export Administration Regulations (“EAR”), or are otherwise subject to export restrictions under 
applicable export control regulations, including ITAR and the EAR. If during the term of the Agreement 
Customer determines that it can no longer comply with this Section, Customer must immediately notify Iron 
Mountain in writing. Customer shall take no action that causes Iron Mountain to be non-compliant with 
applicable export control laws and regulations as it relates to the Deposits. 

Digital Conversion Description   
Customer seeks a cost-effective, outsourced solution to manage the conversion to digital images.      

Business Hours 
The digitization part of this project will be completed by Iron Mountain during normal business hours: Monday 
through Friday 8:00 AM to 5:00 PM local time excluding weekends and holidays. 

Project Details 

Conversion Type 
The following are the types of documents/originals to be converted: 

Estimated 
Percentage of 

Volume 

Media Type 

39% Paper: 8.5x11  

1% Paper: Wide format  

60% Microform  

Project Type 
This conversion project consists of the following: 
 

• Backfile 
• Backfile (Wide Format) 
• Microfiche (Backfile) 

 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 4 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Turnaround Requirements 
Please note: Turnaround time is defined by the time Iron Mountain receives the documents for processing to 
the time the converted images and data are made available to Customer. 

 InSight Backfile turnaround requirements will be mutually agreed upon during the implementation of this 
solution, unless otherwise specified. 

 A test box was not converted for this project as a representative sample of the Customer's documents. All 
processing assumptions contained herein are based directly upon the information provided by the 
Customer. 
 

The above SLA applies only to the maximum volume amounts specified within this Proposal. Items exceeding 
that maximum will be processed within the SLA if possible; however, will not count against Iron Mountain’s 
achievements to the SLA. Documents over the maximum volume amount will be processed the following 
business day in a “First-In First-Out” (FIFO) order.  



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 5 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Logistics 
Location 1 
The information below refers to records/documents stored at the location listed below: 

Gila County Assessor's Office  
ATTN: Carrie Bartling 
Cbartling@gilacountyaz.gov 
1400 Ash St. 
Globe, AZ 85501  

Additional Details 
 Documents/records will be made available to Iron Mountain all at one time. 
 The estimated number of boxes is 250. 

Volume Fluctuations 
 Volume is not expected to fluctuate.  

 

Secure Source Materials Transport  
Iron Mountain and Customer will mutually agree to a scheduled pickup of boxes from the Customer’s 
designated locations. Customer will obtain pack and prep services from Iron Mountain under a separate SOW. 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 6 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Expected Volumes 

Hard Copy 

Backfile 
Number of Files .................................................................  36,000  

Average Documents per File .............................................  1.0  

Average Pages per Document ..........................................  14.8  

Percentage of Duplexed Pages ........................................  20  

Estimated Total Number of Images .................................. 638,323 

Backfile (Wide Format) 
Number of Files .................................................................  1,500  

Average Documents per File .............................................  1.0  

Average Pages per Document ..........................................  1.0  

Percentage of Duplexed Pages ........................................  20  

Estimated Number of Images ............................................  1,800 

Microform 
Microfiche 
Number of Fiche ................................................................  7,000  

Average Number of Images per Fiche ..............................  140  

Total Number of Images .................................................... 980,000 

 

 

 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 7 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Preparation 
Document Preparation Requirements 
Document preparation includes the removal of all fasteners and bindings, flattening bent corners, document 
orientation, making minor repairs, repositioning of smaller documents, inserting applicable separator sheets 
and tearing tri-folds when necessary. 

No preparation is required for the microform conversion.  

Document Prep Performed By 
Documents will be prepared by Iron Mountain prior to scanning according to the details outlined in the following 
section.  

 This project has been identified as requiring standard preparation. Standard preparation is defined as 
having moderately fastened documents (<1 fastener per 5 pages); 95% bond paper, remaining office-
type documents; 95%+ standard size (5% other); and <1% requiring repair or mounting to carrier sheet.  

 The documents for conversion are in good condition. 
 Wide format documents are rolled and require document preparation to reverse the roll.  
 The Microform items for conversion are in good condition. If the majority of the material received is not in 

good condition, Iron Mountain reserves the right to requote based on variations of quality. Interdocument 
gap is already separated for Iron Mountain scanners to recognize each frame.  

Separation Details 
 Separation will be at the file level for the backfile conversion.  
 Separation will be achieved by inserting standard Iron Mountain separator sheets.  
 Iron Mountain will insert the applicable separator sheets.  
 Separation will be done manually for microform projects.  
 Iron Mountain will maintain the order of the documents in a given box, scanning from the first page to the 

last page. We will not rearrange the documents prior to scanning. 

Disposition of Originals 
 Documents will not be returned to Customer. 

Scanning 

Scanning Requirements 
This section outlines the setup of the scanner and related functions for all hard copy conversion. All scanning 
will be performed in duplex mode set with automatic blank page deletion at 5kb or less per page. Images over 
5kb that contain no appreciable information will not be considered rejects.  

Iron Mountain standard scanning features, including deskewing, automatic brightness, density and threshold 
settings, despeckle, auto orientation and edge cleanup, are done through an automated process. The output of 
the automated process will be accepted as is unless otherwise noted in the Quality Assurance section. 

Scanning Details 
 Scanning will be completed at an Offsite Iron Mountain facility 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 8 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

 The project requires color on-the-fly which is the creation of color images based on specific criteria 
identified in the scanner settings. Customer will provide samples of the documents to be scanned in color 
as well as requirements for recognizing such documents in the production process. Any page not 
meeting the criteria will automatically produce a black and white image. This method is not an exact 
science and Customer may experience black and white pages resulting in a color image. Customer 
should be cautioned that scanning in color will increase the document size. 
 

The scanners used for this project will have the following capabilities: 

 Production (Automatic Document Feed) 
 Wide Format 
 FlexScan 

Microform Details 

Microfiche 
 Size: 16mm  
 Style: Jacketed  
 Reduction Ratio: 24X  
 Indexing information located: On image 

  

Quality Assurance 

Quality Assurance Requirements 
Quality Control consists of a paper to image comparison, a review of image quality, and document separation. 
The level of quality control selected for this project is identified below. 

 Iron Mountain will perform statistical quality control utilizing the ANSI/ASQC (American National 
Standards Institute/American Society for Quality Control) standard Z1.4 at a 1.0 Acceptable Quality Level 
(AQL) to establish the sample size(s), acceptance, rejection and re-sampling parameters.  

Validation Requirements 
Validation consists of a visual comparison, a review of image quality, and document separation. The level of 
quality control selected for this project is outlined below. 

 Iron Mountain will perform a validation to ensure all images are captured from the microfilm in a 
consistent and accurate manner. 

Indexing creates necessary metadata fields to support standard search functionality to access the documents. 

 Double key verification will be performed on the appropriate fields as identified in the indexing table. 
 Customer will provide examples of the documentation with index fields identified prior to implementation 

of project. Samples will be complete and representative of documents Iron Mountain will receive during 
the course of the project. Any document type or variation not included in this sample will be indexed at 
best effort, but not applicable to Iron Mountain quality requirements. 

 For manually indexed fields, Iron Mountain will only capture data present on image. Blank or default 
values will be provided for missing or illegible data as defined by Customer. 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 9 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

 In those cases where match and merge methods are utilized, Customer will supply the metadata to the 
designated Iron Mountain secured file transfer protocol (SFTP) site or via portable media on a 
predetermined basis. Data will be properly formatted as defined by Iron Mountain. See special instruction 
for the frequency the metadata will be received by Iron Mountain. 

Index Fields 
Primary 
Field? Index Field Name Basis 

Keyed/
OCR 

No. of 
Char 

Fixed 
Length? Req Format Verify 

No File Type (Drop Down)  Per File Manual  2  No  Yes   Alpha  No  

No  Parcel Number   Per File  Manual  10  No  No  
 Alpha-
Numeric  Yes 

Yes  Account Number  Per File  Manual  10  No  Yes  
 Alpha-
Numeric  No  

 

• File Type drop down list will include the following selection options:  
o Business 
o Personal Property 
o Parcel Documents  
o Hanging Maps/Plots 
o Parcel Microfiche 

 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 10 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Reassembly  
This section provides the reassembly details of the original hard copy material post conversion. 

 The project requires simple reassembly. The scanned documents will be placed back in the original file 
folder without applying any fasteners. 

Hard Copy and Digital Release  
The following information outlines the disposition of the original hard copy materials as well as the 
requirements for the converted image destination and image format. 

Hard Copy Release Details 
 Documents will not be returned to Customer. 

Digital Release Details 
 The image output will be Searchable PDF. 
 Released images will be at 300 DPI. 
 The index output will be a .CSV file. 
 There will be one index file created for each electronic payload delivered for this project. A record will be 

created within the index file for each image file delivered within each electronic payload. 
 Foldering is not required for this project. 
 The image and index files will be released to the Iron Mountain InSight platform. 
 Files will be made available as they are completed and at a frequency determined by Iron Mountain.  

 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 11 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Additional Project Requirements 

Customer Review and Notification Period - Post Processing Error Correction Timeline 
It is of benefit to both Parties to discover any errors quickly to avoid their duplication in on-going work. 
Customer will review the program and/or process then promptly notify Iron Mountain of any alterations and or 
corrections that they deem necessary. During the first month of this project, Iron Mountain requests that 
Customer review work within one week. Any necessary rescanning services will be provided at no charge for 
items identified by Customer within a maximum two-week timeframe.  

Iron Mountain Transportation 
Iron Mountain local transportation will pick up articles (“Articles”) from customer’s location. The Customer will 
be responsible for all applicable transportation charges to the imaging center, including but not limited to, 
transportation handling, trip charges, and receiving and entry. Depending on the Customer’s proximity to the 
imaging center, the boxes may require third party shipment from the local record center. In addition, this could 
lengthen the project by 5-7 business days. 

Special Project Services 
Iron Mountain provides customers specialized project services for work such as packaging services, 
transmittal preparation, file packing and purging, re-labeling, re-boxing, data capture/indexing, data entry, 
and transportation. 

Scope information is for assumption purposes only.   
Collection, transport, transmittal preparation, and receipt of an estimated 250 cartons (300.00 cubic feet) of 
Customer records located at 1400 Ash Street, Globe, AZ  85501. 
Iron Mountain will be packing up the records into an estimated 250 cartons under a separate Statement of Work 
and will deliver the cartons to the Iron Mountain Imaging Center pursuant to the scope herein. 
This Statement of Work includes the following Services & Quantities:   

   
SERVICE TYPE    QUANTITY  UNIT TYPE 
IM Vehicle Trip..........   1   Total Miles (164 miles) 
 

Iron Mountain InSight® Solution Requirements 
1. Iron Mountain InSight® Platform Assumptions 

▪ Iron Mountain InSight solution will use the compute and storage functionality inherent in the Host: 
Google Cloud Platform ("GCP"); therefore, all documents processed will reside in the Host. 

▪ The core content for this project will be sourced from: 
o Iron Mountain Imaging Services (see previous section in SOW for detail) 

▪ Any data ingested into the solution via bulk ingestion will require that data to have an embedded 
searchable text layer (ie, Searchable PDF) for the in-document level keyword search to be enabled. 

▪ OCR will only process text-based documents (PDF, TIFF, Word, Text) with a file size less than 
500MB and no more than 2000 pages. Any document that exceeds these size limits will still be 
ingested into InSight with a message stating it exceeded the processing size limit. These exception 
documents will not appear in the results from a full text search. 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 12 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

▪ OCR/Transcript data extraction for Audio and Video files are not available. Audio and video will only 
be searchable by file name. 

▪ Customer has the current revision of Google Chrome installed on the computers to be used to access 
and view the data in Iron Mountain InSight solution. 

▪ Customer has an IMConnect account to enable access to Iron Mountain InSight.  
▪ Customer will provide a local SME to review and enhance the kinds of queries and basic analysis that 

can be run against the enriched content in the Iron Mountain InSight platform. 
▪ Iron Mountain will host the Customer solution in a shared environment and Customer data in a shared 

drive with logical separation.  

2.  Iron Mountain Responsibilities 
▪ Iron Mountain will set up no more than five (5) users across two (2) distinct user groups: Admin and User. 

Additional users can be set up by Customer admins or can engage Iron Mountain as part of professional 
services with appropriate fees and scheduling. 

▪ Iron Mountain can provide user Train the Trainer sessions upon request, subject to hourly Professional 
Services fees.  

▪ Iron Mountain will provide the Customer access to their content and metadata within the InSight platform, 
searchable based on the data ontology (document types and metadata fields) defined in the Project 
Details section below or amended during Project Implementation.  

▪ Iron Mountain shall maintain service accounts and encryption keys on behalf of the Customer necessary 
to perform the services. 

▪ Iron Mountain will provide weekly updates during the project implementation and acceptance phases. 

 
3. Customer Responsibilities 

▪ Customer will provide a specific named resources to act as their InSight Administrator(s), this role is 
responsible for managing users, user groups, workflow users and logging/management of tickets to 
InSight Support. 

▪ Customer will provide initial feedback within a two (2) week period of the first set of data being made 
available within InSight, using the Customer success criteria below as the defined measurement set. 

▪ Customer will provide a primary contact to work with the Iron Mountain team during the project 
implementation to manage queries, specification alignment and change control with the Iron Mountain 
InSight team implementation manager. 

▪ Privacy Requirements – Customer: 
o In the instance the data to be processed and delivered within Iron Mountain InSight contains 

sensitive and/or personal data included within any privacy (such as GDPR or PIPEDA) 
regulations, the Customer has confirmed the presence of this data and highlighted this to Iron 
Mountain. 

o Customer has informed their Data Privacy Officer in regards to this project. 
o It is the Customer’s responsibility to maintain accurate, up-to-date information in relation to their 

data subjects ensuring that only high-quality data is introduced to Iron Mountain InSight. 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 13 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

4. Project Details 

     Document Types 

▪  The Iron Mountain solution will provide up to five document types with up to 10 metadata fields per 
document type as part of the implementation. Additional customization may be performed by Professional 
Services with appropriate pricing impacts. 
 

     Search and Reporting 

▪ Iron Mountain InSight solution will provide metadata and full text search capability using the criteria 
above. 

 

    Ad-hoc Routing Functionality 

Specific pre-configured workflows will be provided: 
 
● Parallel Review:  The primary purpose of the parallel review workflow is asset review. It is an unordered 

workflow. Participants review an asset in any order without waiting for the previous participant to 
complete their approval or review. Participants in a parallel review can also change the asset's state 
after a consultation step. Users are able to leave comments and an email will be sent to those who are 
part of the review. 
 

● Serial Review: The primary purpose of the serial review workflow is asset approval. It includes either a 
simple review or validation. It is an ordered workflow where participants review an asset only when the 
previous participant in the list has completed their approval or review.  Users are able to leave 
comments and an email will be sent to those who are part of the review. 

 

     Security/Data Residency/Compliance 

● Shared Environment required. 

● No specific security clearance levels required. 

● No specific data residency requirements required. 

● No specific regulatory compliance required. 

      Customer Acceptance 

▪ Confirmed access to Iron Mountain InSight via agreed and required method. 
▪ Correct content metadata in accordance with the provided details in this document for document and field 

level structure. 
▪ Confirmation of successful searching of key attributes (metadata fields, named workflows resulting in the 

location of the expected results. 
▪ Administrator user setup. 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 14 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

5. Security 

The following provides high level core security detail as provided as standard for Iron Mountain InSight 
solution. More detail is located in the InSight terms and conditions. 

▪ All data is encrypted at rest and in transit within the Iron Mountain InSight solution platform. 
▪ Access is restricted by encryption keys. 
▪ Iron Mountain owns the encryption key management and controls Iron Mountain resources who have 

access to Customer data at all stages of the development and on-going service provision through Iron 
Mountain standard security management protocols. 

▪ Iron Mountain may work with partners as detailed within the InSight terms and conditions for this solution 
and its delivery. 

6. Digital Storage 

All documents will be stored in the Iron Mountain InSight solution instance of the Host. Data will be 
encrypted in-flight and at-rest, and will be logically segregated from all other Customer data.   

7. Decommissioning of InSight Solution 

Customers are subject to standard environment decommissioning fees at the end of their contract, or if 
their contract is interrupted at any point during the term. See Solution Fees section for specific details. 

8. Support 
First-line support tasks are to be performed by the Customer Administrator (IT help desk, administrator, etc.). 
Level 1 support items include, but are not limited to the following examples: 

▪ User setup and administration (except for the initial configuration, which is performed by Iron Mountain). 
Customer Administrator(s) have rights to add / modify (e.g., password reset) / deactivate users.  

▪ Management of workflow users. 
▪ Basic end-user application functionality, such as how to access the application, login, search for 

documents, and view documents is available online via in-application help documentation. 
▪ Logging and management of issue tickets to InSight Support 
▪ Basic IT support such as setting up a user’s PC, and confirming internet connectivity. 

For escalated application support, the Iron Mountain Helpdesk may be contacted by Customer administrators 
via phone or email during regular business hours. This service is offered to assist with more complex or serious, 
Level 2 support issues. 

The Iron Mountain InSight Customer Care team can be contacted via the following methods: 

Dedicated Support Number: US/Canada: 855.677.7528 

InSight.Support@ironmountain.com 

Chat via the IMConnect/InSight portal. 

All business critical incidents or issues are to be communicated by telephone calling the dedicated call number 
above. 

about:blank


 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 15 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Section 1 (continued) 
(Checked statement applies to this SOW) 

 

 NIST-800-171 or NIST-800-53 is not in scope of this proposal. If the Customer elects to add NIST SP 
800-171 or NIST SP 800-53 requirements, it will be a change under the Changes clause of the 
applicable terms and conditions incorporated herein, for which IM will be entitled to an equitable 
adjustment.  

 
 Period of Performance: The term of this order shall commence on the Effective Date of this SOW and 

shall continue until digitization project completion and/or InSight implementation services.  
  



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 16 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Section 2 
Pricing and Assumptions 

Digital Conversion 
 
Solution Fees: General 
Pricing is based on the project assumptions shown herein. These prices are only for the services and products 
outlined in this Proposal; any Records and Information Management service fees are in addition to this 
Proposal’s fees and are covered in a separate Pricing Schedule or Proposal pursuant to Customer’s separate 
agreement for Records and Information Management services. Any other services not outlined herein, or in 
any other Proposal, shall be provided at Iron Mountain's then-current rates. 

Iron Mountain cannot be held responsible for any delays caused by Customer or for incorrect information 
provided by Customer. Such delays may impact Iron Mountain’s ability to perform the services and may result 
in added costs. 

Volumes are assumed to be correct based on the detail provided by Customer. 

All pricing is shown in US Dollars and is payable in US Dollars and does not include taxes. 

The sections below provide the fees due as detailed within this Proposal.  

 Setup and One-Time Fees will be invoiced in the first billing period following the Effective Date. 
 Recurring services will be invoiced the first billing period after the setup has been invoiced, regardless of the 

usability of the Solution, which will depend jointly on the complexity of the solution and the commitment of resources 
by both Iron Mountain and the Customer. 

Fees for Image Conversion Services 
This is a project estimate of the number of images. Customer will be invoiced on the actual number of 
images scanned. Iron Mountain cannot be held responsible for any delays caused by Customer or for incorrect 
information provided by Customer. Such delays may impact Iron Mountain’s ability to perform the services and 
may result in added costs. 

Pricing Details 

Standard Size Pricing Details 

No.   CLIN DESCRIPTION   UNIT  
PRICE PER 

UNIT NUMBER OF UNITS PRICE 

1 
Offsite Standard 
Scanning - Color Digital Image $0.060                            638,323  $38,299.38 

3 
Image Output - 
Searchable PDF Digital Image $0.005                          638,323 $3,191.62 

4 
Document Preparation 

- Standard Digital Image $0.051                          44,350 $22,661.85 

6 Indexing - Standard Keystroke $0.007                          1,084,255  $7,589.79 
Standard Size 

Sub Total         $71,742.63 
Per Image         $0.112 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 17 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Wide Format Pricing Details 

No.   CLIN DESCRIPTION   UNIT  
PRICE PER 

UNIT NUMBER OF UNITS PRICE 

1 
Offsite Wide Format C Scanning - 

Tier 1 Digital Image $3.160                               1,800  $5,688.00 

3 Image Output - Searchable PDF Digital Image $0.004                                 1,800  $7.20 

4 
Document Preparation - Heavy 

(Large Format) Digital Image $0.051                               1,800  $91.80 

5 Indexing (Large Format) Keystroke $0.008                             45,000  $360.00 
Total         $6,147.00 

Per Image         $3.415 

Microfiche Pricing Details 

No.   CLIN DESCRIPTION   UNIT  
PRICE PER 

UNIT NUMBER OF UNITS PRICE 

1 
Offsite – Microfiche Scanning – 

Jacketed/ Step & Repeat Digital Image $3.160 980,000 $30,380.00 

2 Image Output - Searchable PDF Digital Image $0.004 980,000 $3,920.00 

3 Indexing  Keystroke $0.007 210,000 $1,470.00 
Total         $35,770.00 
Per 

Image         $0.037 

Consolidated Pricing Details 
Standard Size SubTotal $71,742.63 

Large Format SubTotal $6,147.00 

Microfiche Subtotal $35,770.00 

Estimated Project Total  $113,659.63 

 

Assumptions Gila County-Assessors Office 
No.   

1 
Paper is expected to be in mostly good condition, standard prep required for Standard size and Large format 
media. 

2 
Scanning will be done as 300dpi bitonal (black and white) on Kodak s3100f (or similar) scanners with Color as 
needed.  Microfiche will be scanned on FlexScan scanners and will be done as 300 DPI bitonal (black and white) 

3 
Assumes Standard size documents with 36,000 Files with and average page count of 14.77.  Assume Maps/Plots 
have 1,500 files with average page count of 1, and Microfiche have 7,000 sheets with 140 images per page.  

4 

Smaller papers like sticky notes, small photographs, adding-machine tapes, etc. would be taped down to follow-
on carrier pages for scanning.  This can be done as 1 item per page or multiple items per page at customer's 
direction. 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 18 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

5 

Standard size Scanning is expected as 100% auto-document feeder (ADF) scanning.  The assumption of "20%" 
duplex is expected. Large Format Scanning is expected as 100% Wide Format “Arch C” scanning.  The assumption 
of "20%" duplex is expected. Microfiche Scanning has the assumption of "0%" duplex is expected. 

6 Simple reassembly required for Standard size and Large Format, no reassembly required for Microfiche.  

7 

Iron Mountain will perform statistical quality control utilizing the ANSI/ASQC (American National Standards 
Institute/American Society for Quality Control) standard Z1.4 at a 1.0 Acceptable Quality Level (AQL) to establish 
the sample size(s), acceptance, rejection and re-sampling parameters for image, index, and file-level QC.   

8 Output will be searchable PDF and placed onto Insight shared with Gila County – Community Development  

9 All work to be performed at an offsite Iron Mountain facility with onshore resources 

10 Iron Mountain is proposing to do all of this work within a "6"-month period from the start date of live production 

11 
Assuming Indexing will be done at a File or Fiche level, double key verification for only 1 index field for Standard 
and Large Format.  No double key verification will occur for the Microfiche Scanning 

12 
Assuming Indexing to be captured off of the documents and within the first 1-3 pages of the file. No indexing to 
be captured off of the folder. 

13 No Classification required 

14 Expecting no more than 1 index field (there is a $500 charge for each additional schema required) 

15 
No electronic (non-paper) media is expected to be in scope, if any electronic media is found, it will be returned to 
customer 

16 Insight delivery will be share with Gila County- “Community Development” project. 

17 Items to be shredded after processing and approval from the customer 

Fees for Iron Mountain InSight 

Pricing Description 
The pricing for the Iron Mountain InSight solution provided to Customer under this SOW is set forth below.  

• Associated fees will be detailed on Gila County – “Community Development” project details. 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 19 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Change Order 
For all solutions provided herein, any changes to the resource requirements, engagement scope, or schedule 
that materially change Iron Mountain’s estimated fees will be documented in a written change order and must 
be mutually agreed and signed by the Parties (“Change Order”). A Change Order will require a review of the 
Proposal and financial arrangements as follows: 

 Each Party must mutually agree to any changes to the Proposal scope and review the workday impact 
based on an agreed estimating model. Iron Mountain will determine the cost impact based on the 
additional work required. 

 Any mutually agreed and approved changes to the Proposal scope will be reflected in addenda to this 
Proposal, or in a new Proposal, which shall be duly executed by each Party. 

 Changes will only be accepted in writing according to the Change Order process. Verbal changes are not 
accepted as formal approved changes. 

 

Special Project Service 
Project Pricing - Transportation 

3000 164.000 BC 3000 - Project Services $3.13  $513.32  
Courier Service - All Other 
Arizona Locations - PRICED 
PER MILE 

   Total  $513.32  

 

Total Amount Not to Exceed  $114,172.95  

 
Charges associated with this Statement of Work will be allocated to the Customer Division / Department indicated 
below.  If left blank project will bill following Customer's current billing allocation parameters. 

Invoice:  Separate SKP Invoice 

Customer ID:  TBD 

Division ID:  MASTER 

Department ID: 5678 

Purchase Order: N/A 

• Projects requiring timeline acceleration billed with a surcharge on all billable services 
• Charges will be determined based on actual hours or units upon completion 
• Any additional work not described above will be charged the contract rate 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 20 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

 

Section 2 (continued) 
(Checked statement applies to this SOW) 

 Firm Fixed Unit Pricing: 
For the avoidance of doubt, Iron Mountain will perform services and will invoice monthly on a Firm Fixed Unit 
Price per task basis for actual quantities of tasks performed.  

 Hourly Labor and Firm Fixed Unit Rates:  
For the avoidance of doubt, Iron Mountain will perform services that are identified as labor hour services on 
an hourly basis and will invoice monthly, and be paid by Customer, based on actual hours incurred for such 
services. Iron Mountain will perform services that are not identified as labor hour services on a Firm Fixed 
Price per task basis for actual quantities of tasks performed and will invoice for such services monthly for 
actual quantities of tasks performed. Iron Mountain will notify Customer if the actual total value of services 
performed appears likely to exceed the Total Estimated Value. Upon receipt of such notice, Customer will 
timely either (i) increase the Total Estimated Value of this Agreement or (ii) notify Iron Mountain to cease 
performance. Iron Mountain will not be obligated to perform Services in excess of the Total Estimated Value.  

 Fixed Price Per Image Pricing:  
“Number of Units” is an estimate only. Iron Mountain will invoice monthly and Customer will pay for on the 
actual number of digital images scanned and delivered.  

 
  



 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 21 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Section 3 
Terms and Conditions 

Note: Linked terms and conditions are dated for version control and dated linked versions remain static. At the request of the Customer, 
hard copies of the checked terms and conditions will be attached to this SOW for ease of reference. 
 

 Master Agreement Contract No. CTR063770 between Iron Mountain and the State of Arizona 
Department of Administration dated January 1, 2023. 

 

Special Terms and Conditions- Service Specific 

 IMGS 010- Special Terms and Conditions- Insight Services (2023) 
 

Negotiation Thresholds. Unless Iron Mountain and Customer have previously negotiated and currently have an 
agreement in place for the services describe in Section 1 hereof, Iron Mountain will not negotiate terms and 
conditions for a contract resulting from this SOW for a contract or modification valued at less than $25,000 ($10,000 
if, in Iron Mountain’s sole discretion, the Customer’s operational/technical/compliance requirements are materially 
different from those of the Customer’s current agreement.)  

Changes. Requests by Customer for changes in specifications, place or time of performance, or other 
performance or delivery requirements, including without limitation the assumptions upon which pricing is 
based, must be accepted by Iron Mountain, and will entitle Iron Mountain to an equitable adjustment in the 
price or performance schedule or both.  

Order of Precedence. In the event of inconsistency or conflict, the terms of this SOW, including those 
incorporated by reference, will have precedence over the terms and conditions of a Purchase Order, Task 
Order or other Customer documentation related to the subject matter of this SOW.  

  

https://www.ironmountain.com/about-us/global-procurement/current-supplier-information/terms-and-conditions/united-states/public-sector


 

 
ironmountain.com   |   1.800.899.IRON (4766) Page 22 of 22 

Public Sector Master SOW Form Rev. 7/13/2023 

Section 4 
Acknowledgement/ Acceptance 
(Checked statement applies to this SOW) 

 State or Local Government, or Higher Education Customer  

Customer and Iron Mountain through their respective authorized representative, signify their agreement to and 
acceptance of this SOW by their signatures below, effective as of the later date of execution (the “Effective 
Date”).   

Customer:  Iron Mountain 
Authorized Signature: 

 

Authorized Signature: 

 

Name of Individual Signing (Print): 

 

Name of Individual Signing (Print): 

Theresa Pate 

Title:  

 

Title:  

Sr. Contracts Administrator, Public Sector  

Signing Date:  Signing Date: 1/29/24 

 

 



Forced Labor of Ethnic Uyghurs Ban 
State of Arizona 

State Procurement Office 
100 N 15th Avenue, Ste 350 

Phoenix, AZ 85007 
Solicitation No.: BPM004656 

PAGE 
1

Description: Document Management Services 
OF 
1 

SPO Form 205 – Forced Labor of Ethnic Uyghurs Ban  |  Revision No. 2  |  Revised 11-22 

Forced Labor of Ethnic Uyghurs Ban 
Please note that if any of the following apply to the Contractor, then the Contractor shall select the “Exempt 
Contractor” option below:  
● Contractor is a sole proprietorship;
● Contractor has fewer than ten (10) employees; OR
● Contractor is a non-profit organization.

Pursuant to A.R.S. § 35-394, written certification is required to show that the company entering into a 
contract with a public entity does not use the forced labor, or use any contractors, subcontractors or 
suppliers that use the forced labor or any goods or services produced by the forced labor or any goods or 
services produced by the forced labor, of ethnic Uyghurs in the People's Republic of China.  

Under A.R.S. § 35-394: 
1. "Company" means an organization, association, corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited partnership,

limited liability partnership, limited liability company or other entity or business association, including a wholly
owned subsidiary, majority-owned subsidiary, parent company or affiliate, that engages in for-profit activity and
that has ten or more full-time employees.

2. "Public entity" means this State, a political subdivision of this State or an agency, board, commission or
department of this State or a political subdivision of this State.

In compliance with A.R.S. § 35-394, all Contractors must select one of the following: 

☐ The Company does not use, and agrees not to use during the term of the contract, any of the following:
● Forced labor of ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of China;
● Any goods or services produced by the forced labor of ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of

China; or
● Any Contractors, Subcontractors, or suppliers that use the forced labor or any goods or services

produced by the forced labor of ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of China.

☐ The Company does participate in the use of Forced Uyghurs Labor as described in A.R.S. § 35-394.

☐ Exempt Contractor: Select all statements that apply to the Contractor:
☐ Contractor is a sole proprietorship;
☐ Contractor has fewer than ten (10) employees; and/or
☐ Contractor is a non-profit organization.

Company name Signature of person authorized to sign 

Address Printed name and Title 

City, State, ZIP Contact email address          Contact phone number 

Iron Mountain Information Management, LLC

 One Federal Street

Boston, MA 02110

Theresa Pate, Sr. Contracts Administrator

theresa.pate@ironmountain.com 978-219-7386



 
 
 
 
Douglas A. Ducey 

Governor  

 
 
 

Andy Tobin 
Director 

 ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION 
STATE PROCUREMENT OFFICE 

100 NORTH FIFTEENTH AVENUE  • SUITE 305 
PHOENIX, ARIZONA 85007 

(602) 542-5511 (main)        (602) 542-5508 (fax) 
http://spo.az.gov 

 

 
 
Sent via e-mail to: Michael Stone@ironmountain.com 
 
December 28, 2022 
 
Iron Mountain Information Management, LLC 
One Federal Street 
Boston, MA 02110 
 
Re:  Award of Solicitation No. BPM004656 – Document Management Services 
 
Dear Michael Stone 
 
Thank you for submitting a response to Solicitation No. BPM004656. I am pleased to inform you that your 
company’s offer has been awarded Master Agreement contract number CTR063770. 
 
The initial contract term is anticipated to begin on 1/1/2023. 
 
All offers received were evaluated in accordance with the evaluation criteria set forth in the solicitation 
document. The procurement file for this solicitation, including evaluation documents and resultant 
contracts, will be available for public viewing within three days of award via the State’s e-Procurement 
system, app.az.gov. 
 
 
If you have any questions regarding your company’s contract, please contact me at eric.bell@azdoa.gov 
or 602.542.8921. Thank you for your response and for your continued interest in doing business with the 
State of Arizona. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Eric Bell 
State of Arizona Procurement Manager  

mailto:eric.bell@azdoa.gov


 

Request for Proposal
 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
 

Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Offer Form                                                                                                                                                  Page 1 of 1 

Offer and Acceptance Form 

SUBMISSION OF OFFER: Undersigned hereby offers and agrees to provide  Document Management Services in 
compliance with the Solicitation indicated above and our Offer indicated by the latest dated version below: 

Initial Offer: 
  

 
Date Signature 

Revised Offers: 

    

Date  Signature Date  Signature 

    

Date Signature Date Signature 

Best and Final Offer: 
  

 
Date Signature 

Iron Mountain Information Management, LLC.   

Offeror company name  Signature of person authorized to sign Offer  

One Federal Street  Sheila A. Poggi, Sr. Manager, Public Sector Contracts  

Address  Printed name and title 

Boston, MA 02110  Michael Stone, Business Development Executive  

City | State | ZIP  Contact name and title 

23-2588479  
Michael.Stone@ironmountain.c
om 480-925-8678 

Federal tax identifier (EIN or SSN)  Contact Email Address Contact phone number 

CERTIFICATION: By signature in the above, Offeror certifies that it: 

1. will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment in violation of Federal Executive Order 11246, [Arizona] State Executive 

Order 2009- 1461 through 1465; 

2. has not given, offered to give, nor intends to give at any time hereafter any economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special 
discount, trip, favor, or service to a public servant in connection with the submitted offer. Failure to provide a valid signature affirming the 
stipulations required by this clause will result in rejection of the Offer. Signing the Offer with a false statement will void the Offer, any resulting 
contract, and may be subject to legal penalties under law; 

3. complies with A.R.S. § 41-3532 when offering electronics or information technology products, services, or maintenance; ad 

4. is not debarred from, or otherwise prohibited from participating in any contract awarded by federal, state, or local government.  

ACCEPTANCE OF OFFER: State hereby accepts the initial Offer, Revised Offer, or Best and Final Offer identified by the latest date and 
number at the top of this form (the Accepted Offer). Offeror is now bound (as Contractor) to carry out the Work under the attached Contract, 
of which the Accepted Offer forms a part. Contractor is cautioned not to commence any billable work or to provide any material or perform 
any service under the Contract until Contractor receives the applicable Order or written notice to proceed from the Procurement Officer. 

:   Contract Effective Date:    

 

   

Procurement Officer Signature                          Award Date   Procurement Officer Name                                    Title 



 

 

Request for Proposal 
  

Notice Page 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 
 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                             Page 1 

 

Solicitation Number:   BPM004656 

Description:   Document Management Services 

Solicitation Due Date and Time:   As indicated in APP  

   

Pre-Offer Conference:   As found within the State's e-Procurement system, 
(https://app.az.gov); 

   
 
 
 

Proposals will only be accepted online in “The State’s e-Procurement System” at 
https://app.az.gov until the “Bid/Offer Due Date” indicated in “The State’s e-Procurement 
System” for the Solicitation No. shown at the top of this page. Proposals must be in the State 
Procurement Office’s possession online no later than that deadline. 

Submit technical inquiries about navigating and/or submitting proposals in the State’s e-Procurement 
System to the State’s e-Procurement System Help Desk by phone at (602) 542-7600, option 2; or by 
email to app@azdoa.gov  

LATE PROPOSALS WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED. No extension or grace period will be given for 
delays or incomplete proposals caused by internet connectivity problems, file uploading difficulties, or 
misunderstanding of the requirements or procedures for online submission in “The State’s e-
Procurement System”.  

It is the responsibility of the supplier/offeror to routinely check the APP website for Solicitation 
Amendments. Additional instructions for preparing an Offer are included in this solicitation.  

Persons with a disability may request a reasonable accommodation, such as a sign language 
interpreter, by contacting the Solicitation contact person. Requests shall be made as early as possible 
to allow time to arrange for the accommodation.

 
Notice Page                                                                                   

Table of Contents 

https://app.az.gov/
https://app.az.gov/
https://app.az.gov/
mailto:app@azdoa.gov


 

 

Table of Contents 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                             Page 2 

Solicitation Summary            3 

Scope of Work                                  5  

Pricing Document       22 

Special Terms and Conditions    26 

Uniform Terms and Conditions     59 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Solicitation Summary 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 3 

Solicitation Summary 

1. What the State is Soliciting?  

The Arizona Department of Administration, State Procurement Office (the State), as authorized under 
A.R.S. § 41-2501 is seeking to establish one or more “statewide” contracts to satisfy the needs for all state 
agencies, boards, and commissions, as well as participating purchasing cooperative members 
(collectively, the Eligible Agencies) to provide Document Management Services. This includes Document 
Imaging/Scanning, and end to end Document Management Services from document creation to 
disposition. 

The State anticipates awarding contract(s) with the intent to secure service coverage statewide. Whether 
or not it actually enters into any contracts, how many contracts it enters into, and how the work is awarded 
between those contracts are all at the State’s discretion. Furthermore, the State will use any awarded 
contracts on an as-needed basis, with no guarantee as to its actual spending under them. 

The State reserves the right to accept any item or combination of items specified in the solicitation, unless 
the Offeror expressly restricts an item or combination of items in its Proposal, and conditions its response 
on receiving all items for which it provided a proposal. In the event of such restriction, the State will 
evaluate if an award on such basis will result with the best value and in the best interest for the State. The 
State may otherwise determine at its sole discretion that such restriction is non-responsive and deem the 
Offeror ineligible for further evaluation. 

2. What is in the Solicitation? 

2.1. At the time of publication, the following documents are included in the Solicitation:  

2.1.1. BPM004656 Solicitation Requirements 

2.1.1.1. Notice / Cover Page 
2.1.1.2. Table of Contents 
2.1.1.3. Solicitation Summary 
2.1.1.4. Scope of Work 
2.1.1.5. Pricing Document 
2.1.1.6. Special Terms and Conditions 
2.1.1.7. Uniform Terms and Conditions  

 
2.1.2. BPM004656 Exhibits to the Scope of Work 

 
2.1.3. BPM004546 Solicitation Requirements Attachment 1 - Solicitation Instructions 

2.1.3.1. Special Instructions to Offerors 
2.1.3.2. Uniform Instructions to Offerors 

 
2.1.4. Solicitation Attachments 

2.1.4.1. Attachment 1 - Offer and Acceptance 
2.1.4.2. Attachment 2 - Boycott of Israel Disclosure 



 

 

Solicitation Summary 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 4 

2.1.4.3. Attachment 3 - Confidential Information Designation 
2.1.4.4. Attachment 4 - Conformance Statements 
2.1.4.5. Attachment 5 – Arizona Baseline Security Controls Assessment 
2.1.4.6. Attachment 6 - Letter of Insurability 
2.1.4.7. Attachment 7 - Proposed Subcontractors 
2.1.4.8. Attachment 8 - Experience and Capacity Questionnaire 
2.1.4.9. Attachment 9 - References 

2.1.4.10. Attachment 10 - Method of Approach 
2.1.4.11. Attachment 11 - Pricing Document 

 
2.2. The State may issue a Solicitation Amendment at any time after solicitation publication, and 

before the proposal due date.  It is the responsibility of the supplier/offeror to routinely check the 
APP website for any Solicitation Amendments and revised documents.



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 5 

Scope of Work 

1. Purpose and Background 

1.1. The purpose of this solicitation is to establish one (1) or more Contractors to provide Document 
Management Services for Eligible Agencies, Employees and the State of Arizona. This includes 
Document Imaging/Scanning as well as end to end Document Management Services including 
but not limited to document creation, storage, maintenance, retention, archival, disposition, etc. 

2. Scope Summary 

2.1. State Objectives: 

2.1.1. Reduce storage, printing, filing, faxing, and mailing costs along with creating a 
central repository for key documents within Agency departments. 

2.1.2. Provide separate secure files for confidential information. 

2.1.3. Provide common administrative functions Statewide that allow agencies to focus 
on their core missions. 

2.1.4. Provide a standard method for processing documents with image legibility and 
valid metadata. 

2.1.5. Centralize the storage of electronic documents and scanned document images 
and provide a consistent user experience for retrieving documents. 

2.1.6. Ensure integrity and continuity of record keeping. 

2.1.7. Ease of use for Eligible Agencies and Co-op Buyers. 

2.1.8. Provide a mechanism to identify and purge inactive records which is expandable 
and flexible enough to meet agency specific needs. 

2.1.9. Standardize the procedures for disposal of obsolete records. 

2.1.10. Increase compliance with legal and audit retention requirements. 

2.1.11. Facilitate the identification and production of all documents relevant in potential 
litigation regardless of format. 

2.1.12. Allow for the fulfillment of Public Records Request that may require redaction and 
selection. 

2.1.13. Reduce support and operating costs by consolidating multiple Document 
Management Solution (DMS) platforms used by various agencies into one 
common DMS platform. 

2.2. Definitions: 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 6 

2.2.1. Document – One or more pages that pertain to a specific subject or individual 
and is usually bound in some fashion (e.g. an annual report). Document can also 
include but not limited to photo, tape, video, audio, blue-print, chart, text, etc. 

2.2.2. Image – An optically formed duplicate, counterpart, or other representative 
reproduction of an object, especially an optical reproduction of an object (e.g. by 
such optical devices as scanners, cameras, mirrors). When a page is scanned, 
two images could be produced, one for each side. 

2.2.3. Customer – Any Eligible Agency (as defined in Special Terms and Conditions 
1.12), or any Co-op Buyer (as defined in Special Terms and Conditions 1.11). 

2.2.4. Job Plan - The discovery document, or written job requirements, which outlines 
the specifications of an individual job and which includes estimated costs. A 
proposed Job Plan is prepared by contractors upon the request of the Customer. 
A formal Job Plan is prepared by the selected contractor(s), and agreed to in 
writing by both Contractor and Customer, before a job commences. 

2.2.5. Off-site – Services are performed at a site other than the premises of the 
Customer. 

2.2.6. On-site - Services are performed on the premises of the Customer. 

2.2.7. Page – A single piece of paper. Information could be on one (simplex) or both 
(duplex) sides of the page. 

2.2.8. Source Materials – Examples of source materials include, but are not limited to: 

2.2.8 (a) Oversized and undersized documents 

2.2.8 (b) Double-sided documents 

2.2.8 (c) Multi-page documents 

2.2.8 (d) Documents on colored paper 

2.2.8 (e) Documents with multicolored printing or highlighting 

2.2.8 (f) Documents with post-it notes 

2.2.8 (g) Thermal papers 

2.2.8 (h) Carbonless copies 

2.2.8 (i) Envelopes 

2.2.8 (j) Forms with faint handwriting and colored inks 

2.2.8 (k) Checks 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 7 

2.2.8 (l) Onionskin 

2.2.8 (m) Microfilm/fiche 

2.2.8 (n) Photos and graphics 

2.2.8 (o) X-rays and other fragile materials. 

2.2.8 (p) Historical documents 

2.2.8 (q) Maps and GIS 

2.2.8 (r) Audio files 

2.2.8 (s) Video files 

2.2.9. Quality Control – A system for maintaining proper standards, especially by 
regular inspections of the product. 

3. Scope of Services 

3.1. Part One: 

The State has imaging needs that include imaging services for a large variety of source 
documents and records in a variety of conditions, sizes and formats. The services to be 
provided should include at a minimum: imaging project consultation including development 
of a Job Plan, secure transportation of source materials, preparation and imaging of 
source materials, indexing of imaged data. All State document imaging programs, except 
for the State Court System, operate pursuant to ARS §41-151.16. 

The Successful Contractor(s) shall provide a broad range of imaging services to include, 
at a minimum, the following: 

3.1.1. Project Consulting/Job Plan: 

3.1.1 (a) Each contractor is expected to review jobs and discuss best approaches if 
so requested by Customer. Such job consulting is considered part of the bid 
process for individual jobs, or the initial stage of an awarded job, and is to be 
provided at no charge to the Customer. However, more complicated jobs may 
benefit from lengthier study and more in-depth advice from a contractor. This 
contract provides for the higher-level job consulting as an available optional 
service. This is managed functionally by establishing that at a minimum, the first 
four (4) hours of consulting services are provided at no charge, per Customer. 
Pricing beyond the initial period is on an hourly basis and included in the pricing 
section of the contract. 

 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 8 

3.1.1 (b) Under Project Consulting, as requested by the Customer, the Contractor 
shall: 

(b) i. Provide advice to the Customer on the best practices to follow to accomplish 
the Customer’s goals, consistent with the State’s statutes and guidelines 
related to document imaging and record retention; 

(b) ii. Work with Customer to ensure that the proposed approach will consider not 
only current, but future use and users of the imaged documents; 

(b) iii. Share information on new technologies or suggest different approaches that 
may assist customers by improving their project results, enhancing data 
access and coordination, reducing costs, etc.; and 

(b) iv. Develop a Job Plan to define the different elements of the job. 

 

3.1.1 (c) Each job is unique and, assuming multiple awards, Customers may request 
proposed Job Plans from multiple contractors before choosing the contractor(s) for their 
individual job. 

(c) i. The Contractors shall develop their proposed Job Plans after meeting with 
the Customer, reviewing the source materials, and discussing the 
Customer’s needs. 

(c) ii. Development of a proposed Job Plan should fall within the initial minimum 
four (4) hours stipulated. Billable project consulting can only be authorized 
by a purchase/task order from Customer. 

(c) iii. Depending upon the job requirements and Contractor award, the proposed 
Job Plan may include, but is not limited to: estimated volume, agreed-to 
amount of preparation work, location where services are to be provided 
(and related issues), the degree of image enhancement necessary, amount 
and method of indexing, required resolution, timeframes, level of Quality 
Control, storage, output (including formats), and estimated pricing. In 
addition to the itemized pricing based on the contract, each proposed Job 
Plan will include a “NOT TO EXCEED...“ total cost figure. 

(c) iv. Different approaches, and their related prices, shall be offered when feasible. 
The proposed Job Plan shall clearly explain the pricing model applied. For 
example, if pricing is by page, Contractor shall explain how pricing would 
apply to simplex (single-sided) and duplex (double-sided) pages. 

 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 9 

3.1.1 (d) In addition to the issuance of a purchase order, the Customer and each 
selected Contractor shall have a formal Job Plan, a signed understanding with the 
specifications and pricing of their job defined. 

(d) i. Requirements for the formal Job Plans are equivalent to those established 
for the proposed Job Plans. The Job Plan shall provide sufficient detail so 
that both Contractor and Customer are clear on expectations. All timelines 
in the Job Plan will be strictly adhered to. No terms or conditions included 
on a Job Plan form shall have any effect on this contract. Failure by the 
Contractor to meet the agreement specifications, unless agreed to in 
writing by Customer or demonstratively due to no fault of the Contractor, 
can result in disciplinary actions, including but not limited to contract 
termination. 

(d) ii. If the Customer is a State agency subject to the requirements of ARS §41-
151.16 (see BPM004656 Exhibits to the Scope of Work attachment), 
written approval of Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records 
(ASLAPR) must be received prior to the start of the project. It is the 
responsibility of the Customer to obtain the approval, but it is the 
responsibility of the Contractor to verify approval has been received before 
commencing work. Samples of the types of documents provided by 
ASLAPR are provided as Exhibits to this solicitation (see BPM004656 
Exhibits to the Scope of Work attachment). 

 

3.1.2. On-site performance: 

3.1.2 (a) The State shall provide the Contractor’s personnel with adequate 
workspace and such other facility support as may be reasonably required by 
Contractor to carry out the requirements of the job. 

3.1.2 (b) The Job Plan shall cover the presence, control, and safe use of 
Contractor’s computers and/or equipment on site. The Customer shall not interfere 
with nor operate Contractor’s equipment. The Customer and Contractor shall 
determine procedures in the case of Contractor equipment failure (e.g. would a 
repairperson come to the Customer’s premises to repair Contractor equipment and 
how might that affect the confidentiality of the records.) 

3.1.2 (c) If required by Customer, Contractor employees shall be required to wear 
an employer’s photo ID badge. 

3.1.2 (d) Contractor shall be responsible for the removal of all materials, debris and 
residue resulting from the performance of the contract service. All work areas shall 
be maintained in a clean and orderly manner throughout each work day. 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 10 

(e) If required by the Customer, the Contractor shall have supervisory personnel 
present during work operations for observing work progress, inspection of 
completed work, and meeting with State personnel to perform random work site 
inspections or coordinate operational requirements. 

 

3.1.3. Off-site performance: 

3.1.3 (a) Secure Transportation of Source Materials (pick-up and delivery) 

(a) i. Contractor shall ensure that Customer information in its possession is 
secured and attended, at all times. 

(a) ii. If source material pick-up and transport is required of the Contractor by the 
Customer, the Customer shall provide a listing of itemized materials (e.g. 
boxes). Contractor shall confirm receipt of materials by signing Customer 
listing or providing receipt. Upon signing the receipt, the Contractor has 
assumed the responsibility for the materials. Contractor shall securely 
transport source materials to the service site. 

(a) iii. If required by the Customer, source materials which have been successfully 
imaged shall be inventoried and securely transported to the site designated 
by the Customer. Contractor shall be able to demonstrate complete and 
accurate delivery of all materials. The materials remain the responsibility of 
the Contractor until the Customer has provided a written acknowledgement 
of receipt. 

(a) iv. All Document Imaging Services shall be performed at a facility within the 
State of Arizona. 

3.1.3 (b) Control and storage of source documents 

(b) i. The Contractor providing off-site services shall have secure areas for 
sensitive document storage, into which only authorized personnel have 
access. The Contractor will not charge the Customer for the cost of holding 
the source materials while the project is in process, nor during the 
acceptance period. 

(b) ii. The Contractor shall have a system for tracking and controlling records which 
maintains the security and confidentiality of the Customer’s source 
materials at all times. (See also the section related to Confidentiality/ 
Security.) 

(b) iii. The Contractor shall have the ability to provide the Customer with proof of 
receipt of source materials, proof of completed imaging, tracking of boxes, 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 11 

and proof of complete and accurate delivery of source materials as required 
by Customer when imaging is completed and quality approved. The use of 
box tracking software is highly recommended. 

(b) iv. The Contractor shall have the ability to locate and retrieve specific source 
materials within 48 hours upon request from the Customer (e.g. if the 
Customer is responding to a Public Information request for a document). 
With the prior approval of the Customer, the document(s) may be 
transmitted electronically. 

(b) v. The Contractor shall have a document viewing work station at the 
Contractor’s location where end users can spot-check finished products 
against the original source materials and test the products for accuracy. If 
the Contractor is imaging from microfilmed source materials, the viewing 
work station shall include a microfilm reader or equivalent mechanism 
whereby the microfilm source materials can be read. This work station does 
not need to be dedicated to end users, but it must be available to end users 
upon request. 

3.1.3 (c) Confidentiality/Security. The Contractor shall maintain complete confidentiality 
on all information (source materials and imaged output) through security 
practices/systems and confidentiality agreements with their employees or subcontractors. 

(c) i. All electronic data shall be stored on a secure network and encrypted both in 
transit and at rest. Awarded Contractors may be required to sign a Non-
disclosure statement to encompass any work performed under their 
contract. 

(c) ii. In addition to the above statement, Contractor shall understand and agree 
that all persons who handle documents provided under this contract shall 
also sign non-disclosure agreements, including all persons employed by 
subcontractors (including couriers). The signed confidentiality agreements 
of individuals assigned to a job must be provided to the Customer prior to 
the start of the job. In addition, Contractor’s employees or subcontractors 
who will have access to confidential documents of any type and form, will 
need to have background checks which may include fingerprinting 
completed (paid for by the Contractor), prior to any such access being 
granted to them. 

 

(c) iii. Contractor shall supply a method for secure identification and protection of 
media to ensure authenticity at the file level (for example: encryption and/or 
digital signature support). 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 12 

(c) iv. Individual Customers (e.g. Department of Corrections) may have additional 
confidentiality/security requirements which shall be provided and accepted 
by Contractor before work commences. 

(c) v. Where required, a Contractor shall provide to the requesting Customer proof 
of compliance and/or other certification (e.g. Health Insurance Portability 
and Accountability Act [HIPAA]) as mandated by the State and/or Federal 
Government. The Contractor may be required to sign the customer’s 
business associate agreement as required by HIPAA. 

(c) vi. Security and privacy policies, standards and procedures will be continuously 
maintained by both the Contractor and the Customer and are subject to 
change during the term of the contract in accordance with State or Federal 
legislation, administrative rules or court orders. 

3.1.3 (d) Preparation of Source Materials. To the degree required by the Customer, 
and agreed to in the Job Plan, documents shall be prepared for best image scanning. The 
quality and sizes of source documents sent to be imaged may vary considerably. 

(d) i. All staples, binders, and fasteners shall be removed, corners smoothed out, 
and torn pages pieced together to ensure the highest possible quality of 
images. This shall be done in such a matter so as not to cause any 
additional damage to the documents. 

(d) ii. If there are post-it notes on the document, the Contractor shall seek the 
Customer’s approval on how to scan the document. 

(d) iii. If documents require photo copying to create a more legible document to 
image, the Contractor shall include marking on the copy so the imaged 
record reflects that the copy was not based on the supplied original. In such 
a situation, both the original and copy of the document shall be returned to 
the State. 

(d) iv. As required by the Customer, Contractor shall provide a mechanism, such 
as separator pages, by which the boundaries of a file/document/record as 
defined by the Customer (start and end) are clearly delineated. 

(d) v. After source materials have been imaged, Contractor is to restore the source 
materials to their original order and condition as requested by Customer. 

(d) vi. Contractor shall follow other special instructions as may be required by the 
Customer for optimal imaging. 

3.1.4. Scanning / Data Capture / Imaging: 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 13 

3.1.4 (a) Electronic Images shall be produced in the agreed upon, non- proprietary 
format (e.g. PDF, TIFF, JPEG). The image format shall be determined by the Customer 
before any work begins on the project. 

3.1.4 (b) Electronic images shall be accessible, searchable and downloadable via 
cross-platform products (e.g. Adobe Acrobat). 

3.1.4 (c)  Imaged information must be accessible and readable for the required life 
of the record. Such access shall not be negatively impacted by software or programming 
changes, or by deterioration of image storage formats. The Contractor and Customer shall 
discuss the required life of the images when developing the Job Plan. 

3.1.4 (d) Contractor shall have the capacity of organizing documents into an agreed-
upon hierarchy, according to the configurations specified by the Customer (such as by 
month, fiscal year, etc.). 

3.1.4 (e) Contractor shall be able to scan every page (either simplex or duplex) and 
create digital images. Scanning Resolution dots per inch (DPI) shall be selected by the 
Customer to meet the particular job’s need and shall meet or exceed the minimum 
requirements established by ASLAPR. 

3.1.4 (f)  Contractor shall provide adequate scanning resolution capabilities 
as described in the Job Plan. The State may require a variety of capabilities including 
monochrome, grayscale to color and color dropout scanning. 

3.1.4 (g) Contractor shall have the ability to scan at various resolutions per the 
guidelines established by the Customer and in conjunction with requirements established 
for specific document types. 

3.1.4 (h) Contractor shall disclose their ability to handle sensitive or fragile 
documents including old documents, documents bound with old glue, documents with a 
wax seal, and long or large scaled maps whilst maintaining the integrity of the document 
and returning it in the same state it was received. 

 

3.1.4 (i) Contractor shall have the ability to electronically enhance the digital image 
without changing any of the image content. Image tags, such as “best image to follow”, 
shall be used as appropriate 

3.1.4 (j) There must be a clear understanding between the Customer and the 
Contractor of the expected resultant images. For example, if the Customer expects to see 
an oversized document translated into one image, the Contractor shall not provide multiple 
images, or a “stitched image”, of the document. To the greatest extent possible, such 
understandings shall be delineated in the Job Plan. 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 14 

 

3.1.5. Indexing / Data Entry: Contractor should have a variety of indexing capabilities 
including, but not limited to: barcode index capture, data entry and or double key 
data entry, zonal OCR (optical character recognition), multi-level indexing, web-
based search and retrieval system, etc. 

 

3.1.6. Quality Control: Contractor shall have a series of checks and balances, both 
electronic and manual, in place to ensure the document conversion process is 
accurately capturing and indexing images according to the customer’s 
requirements and as outlined in the Job Plan. Contractors shall provide Quality 
Control throughout the imaging services processes for which the Contractor was 
awarded a contract. 

3.1.6 (a) The Contractor shall provide quality assurance and quality controls to 
ensure: 

(a) i. The level of required quality control shall be established with the Customer 
and meet ASLAPR requirements before the start of the project (e.g. every page reviewed 
or audits of outcomes). 

(a) ii. Contractor shall reimage documents that fail to meet standards, whether 
discovered by their own quality assurance procedures, or because of Customer rejection 
of the imaged document(s), at no additional cost. 

(a) iii. If the best possible image has been provided of a poor original, the 
Contractor shall annotate that information on either the captured image or a leading image. 

3.1.6 (b) Any indexing requirements (e.g. use of data imports) shall be tested and 
confirmed prior to project start. 

3.1.6 (c) 100% quality assurance: If the Customer discovers records that require 
reimaging after the return of the source materials, the Contractor shall securely collect, 
process, and return those records at no charge to the Customer. 

 

3.1.7. Proof of Concept / Test Run: Contractor shall provide, at the Customer’s request, 
a proof of concept demonstrating the functionality of their solution. A description of 
the Proof of Concept, including sample size and turnaround time, shall be included 
in the Job Plan. Source materials selected for the Proof of Concept must be 
representative of the proposed job. 

 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 15 

3.1.8. Progress Reports: Contractor shall have the capability to track and report progress 
on a job as requested. Examples of the information to be reported include, but are 
not limited to: the number of source documents received, the number of documents 
currently imaged, the number of documents transferred via secured file transfer. 
Reports are to be provided as required by the Customer. 

 

3.1.9. Output / Data Retrieval / Access: Contractor shall provide Customer with ability to 
access both images and index information in multiple formats, including custom 
outputs as may be required by the Customer. All Outputs shall be accessible, 
searchable and downloadable via cross-platform products (non-proprietary 
formats). Contractor shall have the capability to provide encrypted document 
images in a variety of formats, including but not limited to CDs, DVDs or Blu-ray. 
Contractor shall have additional means of distributing scanned image files, 
including but not limited to, secure FTP or HTTP (website) downloads. Contractor 
shall provide Customer with the ability to transfer the images to the Customer’s 
Internal Document Management System (IDMS), if so required by the Customer. 
Contractor shall not have access to Customer’s IDMS, unless authorized in writing 
by the Customer. Agreement of the output format shall be included in the Job Plan. 

 

3.1.10. Acceptance: Work performed by the Contractor shall be subject to periodic reviews 
and partial acceptance at various stages. The State reserves the right to make 
such reviews and pass upon the acceptability of Contractor's work. No partial 
acceptance shall relieve the Contractor's obligation to correct, without charge, any 
errors in the work on this project. Customer and Contractor shall agree, in the Job 
Plan, on an acceptable time frame for review/test of the delivered images for 
quality and completeness. If the Customer had not reported problems during that 
period, the job may be considered as accepted. 

 

3.1.11. Completion, Transfer, or Termination of Job: 

3.1.11 (a) Per the Job Plan, at the completion, transfer, or termination of a job, or phases 
of a job, the Contractor shall work closely with the Customer to ensure the secure transport 
of source documents and electronic images, as directed by the Customer. 

3.1.11 (b) The Contractor shall work with the Customer to transfer electronic information 
to the destination required by the Customer and in a format and timeframe acceptable to 
the Customer. There shall be no additional fee charged for the transfer of the Customer’s 
information. 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 16 

3.1.11 (c) When electronic transfer has been successfully completed, and tested and 
approved by Customer, all documents, data and images shall be securely purged and 
deleted from Contractor computer systems. Contractor shall provide written confirmation 
that data and images have been destroyed and are no longer accessible by any means. 
Contractor shall verify with Customer prior to data or image destruction. 

3.1.11 (d) Contractor shall follow Customer requirements regarding disposal of original 
paper documents, as directed by the Customer. 

 

3.1.12. Desirable Specifications / Options: 

3.1.12 (a) The Contractor shall allow Customer to drop off and pick up source documents 
from the Contractor’s facilities. 

3.1.12 (b) The Contractor should have automatic “document cleanup” mechanisms in 
place. 

3.1.12 (c) If the Contractor offers other options that are consistent with the intent of this 
solicitation, the Contractor may submit those options in their proposal. The options shall 
be clearly defined as such, and submitted with sufficient description of the option and the 
value it may provide to the State. Pricing, if any, for the option(s) shall be provided as well. 

 

 

3.2. Part Two: 

The Successful Contractor(s) shall provide a document management solution(s) that can 
meet and conform with the following requirements: 

3.2.1. State data may contain personal and sensitive employee data PII (Personally 
Identifiable Information) and PHI (Protected Health Information) (e.g. benefits, 
compensation, enrollment and performance forms), compliance with all State 
Security and Data Handling requirements from a proposed solution and 
implementation perspective are essential; 

3.2.2. Extensibility of the proposed solution to meet other situational needs of the State; 

3.2.3. Modularity of the proposed solution to allow the State to selectively implement 
elements of the solution in a variety of systems support roles that leverage existing 
or future State investments in scanning, imaging, Commercial Off-the-Shelf 
(COTS) e-signature software, workflow, routing, storage etc., and integration with 
State systems in the future; 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 17 

3.2.4. Flexibility of the solution to meet the below listed needs: 

3.2.4 (a)   Address a variety of image inputs (forms, formats and standards); 

3.2.4 (b)  Accept presentation from a variety of sources (desktop scanners, 
workgroup imaging platforms, high volume imaging platforms or managed imaging 
vendors); 

3.2.4 (c)  Align with specific situational business needs (e.g. HR data, Business data, 
State revenue data, citizen data) based on the mission of an Eligible Agency or 
Co-op Buyer and it’s needs; 

3.2.4 (d) Integrate with existing or new State systems using available APIs based 
upon open-standards such as XML, SOAP, .NET and other integration 
frameworks; 

3.2.4 (e) Align with the State’s appropriate data creation processes and policies, 
which may be modified as needed; 

3.2.4 (f) Native encryption of all content and ability for customer to manage 
encryption key outside of service provider infrastructure; 

3.2.4 (g) System should be web-accessible and support easy document sharing 
across State agencies/divisions/sections; 

3.2.4 (h) Organize all paper and digital files; 

3.2.4 (i) Combine paper to digital files; 

3.2.4 (j) Ensure that external documents are identified and controlled; 

3.2.4 (k) Ability to create custom metadata templates 

3.2.4 (l) Store files into a single hub after document is scanned and digital formats 
get imported; 

3.2.4 (m) Cloud-based storage with unlimited storage of data; 

3.2.4 (n) System should be integrated with common cloud platforms; 

3.2.4 (o) Keep a record of the various versions created and modified by different 
users; 

3.2.4 (p) Provide version control; 

 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 18 

3.2.4 (q) System should allow simultaneous document review (including media files) 
and revision by multiple users, and keep track of the edits made (document 
custodian should have authority to accept or reject those edits); 

3.2.4 (r) Ensure that documents remain legible and identifiable; 

3.2.4 (s) Read and accept multiple formats like .XLS, .PDF, .DOC etc.; 

3.2.4 (t) Support compression options like zipping or compressing large files; 

3.2.4 (u) Ability to use links to documents on the system; 

3.2.4 (v) Ensure that external documents are identified and controlled; 

3.2.4 (w) Prevent “unintended” use of obsolete documents; 

3.2.4 (x) Validation of authenticity; 

3.2.4 (y) Prevention of document editing and alteration (determined by type of 
document); 

3.2.4 (z) Ability to recover accidentally deleted file (within a certain timeframe after 
deletion), reporting on deleted files (who deleted and when) available until deleted 
file is no longer recoverable, and ability to block deletion of certain files (e.g. 
records); 

3.2.4 (aa)   Access controls at the document level and folder level; 

3.2.4 (bb)  Allow restrictions on downloading, copying and printing sensitive content 
and different levels of access to content per individual; 

3.2.4 (cc)  Allow collaboration between internal and external users without additional 
licensing costs; 

3.2.4 (dd)  Identification of community: access rights/controls; 

3.2.4 (ee)  System should support optical character recognition: for automated search 
and retrieval; 

3.2.4 (ff) Support forms processing – so data can be extracted from input fields 
within a form; 

3.2.4 (gg)   Support hand print or handwriting recognition; 

3.2.4 (hh)  Provide mechanisms for identification of specific attributes to facilitate 
retrieval; 

3.2.4 (ii) Provide mechanisms to allow agencies to create/manage users/user 
groups as well as fields, tables, permissions, searches; 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 19 

3.2.4 (jj) Provide Mechanisms for multiple file uploads and keyword searches; 

3.2.4 (kk)   Provide standard naming conventions for documents; 

3.2.4 (ll) System should permit de-duplicating search results; 

3.2.4 (mm)  Easily searchable using multiple criteria (such as date, author, subject, 
document type, metadata, OCR fields etc.), search capabilities across metadata, 
data, naming conventions etc.; 

3.2.4 (nn)  Provide document preview for search results; 

3.2.4 (oo)  Single view search; 

3.2.4 (pp)  Automatic synchronization of content; 

3.2.4 (qq)  Archiving and retention capability: accept multiple retention schedules per 
type of document and related policies; ability to update retention policies based on 
changes in legislation or needs; 

3.2.4 (rr) Archive and store documents in accordance with State laws, regulations 
and policies; 

3.2.4 (ss) Ability to provide defensible discovery with legal holds and content 
classification; 

3.2.4 (tt) Ability to apply and remove legal holds on documents; 

3.2.4 (uu)  Ability to systematically archive documents based on defined retention 
policies; 

3.2.4 (vv)  Ability to systematically delete documents based on defined retention 
policies; 

3.2.4 (ww)  Audit report tracking to manage all aspects of an audit program; 

3.2.4 (xx)  Reporting as needed and required which can vary by Eligible Agency and 
type of documents; 

3.2.4 (yy)  Disaster recovery (this is part of the Baseline Security Controls assessment 
that is a requirement to be submitted with the Offeror’s bid): provision for 
mirroring/restoration so that if needed, files can be purged and recovered from an 
uncompromised location; regular testing to confirm that the disaster recovery 
process is sound; 

3.2.4 (zz) eDiscovery related needs: 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 20 

(zz) i. The system should permit users to edit documents with anything from redaction or 
notes to highlights or other such changes. These edited documents should be then 
stored in an appropriate Attorney General’s Office (AGO) restricted location to 
preserve their security as well as protect work product. This should be done without 
altering the original agency documents. These locations should be logically 
structured based on where in the legal process the document occurs, i.e. 
pleadings, notions, orders, etc. 

(zz) ii. The system should be compatible with predictive coding type software and allow 
for redaction and bates stamping. Ideally system should allow for searching, 
retention, marketing, for both public records request and litigation purposes. Same 
set of documents may need to be produced in both contexts. 

3.2.5. Additional Requirements: 

3.2.5 (a) The system shall schedule the backup copies and recycle or destroy the 
medium in accordance with the disposition schedule. 

3.2.5 (b) The system shall provide a means for identifying and aggregating vital 
records by cycle dates. 

3.2.5 (c) The system shall assign a unique computer-generated record identifier for 
each record managed regardless of where that record is stored. 

3.2.5 (d) The system shall not permit modification of the metadata fields indicated 
by established standard as not editable. 

3.2.5 (e) The system shall prevent subsequent changes to electronic records stored 
in its supported repositories. The content of the record, once declared, shall be 
preserved. 

3.2.5 (f) The system shall provide the capability to automatically calculate the 
complete life cycle, including intermediate phases, of record folders and records 
not in folders. 

3.2.5 (g) The system shall provide recalculation of the record life cycle based on 
changes to any life-cycle date and document status. 

3.2.5 (h) The system shall provide the capability for defining multiple phases (e.g. 
transfer to inactive on-site storage, transfer to off- site storage) within a disposition 
schedule. 

3.2.5 (i) The system shall provide the capability for users to create and maintain 
templates that automatically populate commonly used data into record metadata 
fields. 



 

 

Scope of Work 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                      Page 21 

3.2.5 (j)  The system shall provide the capability for authorized individuals to select the 
metadata fields that are optional and mandatory for a given organization. 

3.2.5 (k) The system shall provide for sorting, viewing, saving, and printing life-cycle 
information, eligibility dates, and events of user- selected record folders and 
records (Views). 

3.2.5 (l) The system shall provide for sorting, viewing, saving, and printing list(s) of 
record folders and/or records (regardless of media) based upon metadata (Views). 

 

4. Exhibits to the Scope of Work 

Please refer to BPM004656 Exhibits to the Scope of Work.PDF attached separately 
within APP, which includes the following Exhibits: 

Request for Document Imaging of Public Records - This form is to be filled out by the 
Customer and accompanied with each approved Job Plan. Approval is to be obtained from 
the Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records by the Customer. 

Request for Microfilming of Public Records - This form is to be filled out by the Customer 
and accompanied with each approved Job Plan. Approval is to be obtained from the 
Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records by the Customer. 

Certificate of Compliance - This form is to be filled out by the Contractor annually at the 
request of the Customer. 

Minimum Standards For Digital Imaging Or Scanning Of Textual Documents 

 

 

 

 

End of Scope of Work 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Pricing Document 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                     Page 22 

Pricing Document 

1. Compensation method  

Contractor will be compensated based on the final detailed written quote approved by the 
Customer.  

2. Pricing 

2.1. Contractor’s Best Pricing.  Supplier warrants that, for the term of the Contract, the prices 
and discounts set out in BPM004656 Solicitation Attachment 11 – Pricing Document, 
including any subsequent agreed amendment to it (the “Contract Pricing”), will be equal to 
or better than the lowest prices and largest discounts, both separately and in combination, 
at which Contractor sells equivalent services, items of equipment and materials. 

2.1.1. That price-plus-discount equivalence (“Contractor’s Best Pricing”) is intended to 
be irrespective of whether or not those other sales have special purchase terms, 
conditions, rebates or allowances. 

2.1.2. If Contractor’s Best Pricing for equivalent services, items of equipment and 
materials is better than the Contract Pricing, then Contractor agrees to adjust the 
Contract Pricing to match the Contractor’s Best Pricing for all sales related to the 
Contractor made after the date when the Contractor’s Best Pricing was first 
better than the Contract Pricing. 

2.1.3. For clarification of intent, that date is intended to be the date when the difference 
first occurred, which might have been before the difference was first identified. If 
it was before, then Supplier agrees to charge at less than the Contract Pricing 
until the extended difference that would have been realized (i.e., if the 
Contractor’s Best Pricing had been applied when it should have been) has been 
settled. 

2.2. Pricing is all-inclusive, including any ancillary fees and costs required to accomplish the 
Scope of Work and all aspects of Contractor’s offer as accepted by State. Details of service 
not explicitly stated in the Scope of Work or in Contractor’s Offer, but necessarily a part of, 
are deemed to be understood by Contractor and included herein. All administrative, 
reporting, or other requirements, all overhead costs and profit and any other costs toward 
the accomplishment of the requirements in the Contract are included in the pricing 
provided. 

2.3. Price Increase. The State may review a fully documented request for a price increase. The 
requested increase shall be in writing and be based upon a cost increase to the contractor 
that was clearly unpredictable at the time of the offer and is directly correlated to the price 
of the product concerned. Contractor must provide conclusive evidence of a need for any 
price increases such as being substantiated by the Producer Price Index, Consumer Price 
Index, or similar pricing guide. 



 

 

Pricing Document 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                     Page 23 

2.3.1. Initial Contract prices will be honored for one year after award of Contract. 

2.3.2. All written requests for price adjustments made by the contractor shall be initiated 
thirty (30) days in advance of any desired price increase to allow the State 
sufficient time to make a fair and equitable determination to any such requests. 
This may be waived upon proper documentation demonstrating the urgency of 
the request. 

2.3.3. All price adjustments will be implemented by a formal contract amendment. State 
shall determine whether the requested price increase or an alternate option is in 
the best interest of State. 

2.4. Price Reductions.  Price reductions shall be immediately passed along to State and may 
be submitted in writing to State for consideration at any time during the Contract period. 
The contractor shall offer State a price reduction on the Contract product(s) concurrent with 
a published price reduction made to other customers. The State at its own discretion may 
accept a price reduction. The price reduction request shall be in writing and include 
documentation showing the actual reduction of cost. Sales promotions requests shall 
include difference in pricing, begin, and end date of promotion along with the products 
covered. 

2.5. Additional Charges.  Any charges or fees not delineated in the Contract may not be added, 
billed, or invoiced under the Contract.  

2.6. Travel. Contractor shall get written approval prior to any travel under the Contract in which 
reimbursement of expenses will be requested. Contractor will be reimbursed for actual 
expenses incurred in accordance with the current rates specified in the State's Travel 
Policy. Contractor shall itemize all per diem and lodging charges. State Travel Policy, 
including State rates, may be located at https://gao.az.gov/travel. The Eligible Entity / 
Customer shall reject any claim for travel reimbursement without prior written approval. 

3. Funding 

No particular funding considerations apart from paragraph 4.4 [Availability of Funds for the Next 
State fiscal year] and 4.5 [Availability of Funds for the current State fiscal year] of the Uniform 
Terms and Conditions have been identified as of the Solicitation date. 

4. Invoicing 

4.1. Invoices Go To Buying Entity. Contractor shall submit all billing notices or invoices to the 
ordering Eligible Entity/Customer (e.g. Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer) at the address 
indicated on the applicable Order document or by utilizing the Buying Entity’s purchasing 
tool/process. 

4.2. Minimum Invoice Requirements. Every invoice must include the following information: 

https://gao.az.gov/travel
https://gao.az.gov/travel


 

 

Pricing Document 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                     Page 24 

4.2.1. Bill-to name and address 
4.2.2. Contractor name and contact information 
4.2.3. Remit-to address 
4.2.4. Invoice number and date 
4.2.5. State contract number 
4.2.6. Order number (APP PO number) 
4.2.7. Date the services performed 
4.2.8. Applicable payment terms 
4.2.9. Material or Service description (Itemized)  

4.2.10. Quantity delivered or performed 
4.2.11. Line item unit of measure 
4.2.12. Item price 
4.2.13. Extended pricing 
4.2.14. Taxes (as a separate invoice line item) 
4.2.15. Mailing fees (if applicable) 
4.2.16. Total invoice amount due 

 
4.3. No Invoice Without Authorization. Contractor shall not seek payment for any: 

4.3.1. Materials or Services that have not been authorized on an acknowledged Order; 

4.3.2. Expediting, overtime, premiums, or upcharges absent State’s express prior 
approval; or 

4.3.3. Materials or Services that are the subject of a Contract Amendment that has not 
been fully signed. 

 
4.4. Submitting Invoices. Contractor shall submit an invoice to the ordering Eligible Agency or 

Co‑Op Buyer using the form and/or process provided or required by the ordering E ligible 
Entity/Customer (Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer). Every invoice must be signed by 
Contractor’s authorized representative and accompanied by all supporting information and 
documentation required by the Contract and applicable laws. 

4.5. Defective Invoices. Without prejudice to its other rights under the Contract or further 
obligation to Contractor, the ordering Eligible Entity/Customer (Eligible Agency or Co-Op 
Buyer) may, at its discretion, reject any materially defective invoice. 

4.5.1. The ordering Authorize Entity/Customer (Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer) shall 
notify the Contractor within 5 (five) business days after receipt if it determines an 
invoice to be materially defective. 

4.5.2. Invoices will be deemed automatically rejected upon delivery if they: 

4.5.2.1. are sent to an incorrect address; 



 

 

Pricing Document 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004546 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                     Page 25 

4.5.2.2. do not reference the correct State contract or APP Order number; or 

4.5.2.3. are payable to any Person other than the Contractor. 

4.5.3. The ordering Eligible Entity/Customer (Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer) will have 
no obligation to pay against a defective invoice unless and until Contractor has 
re-submitted it free of defects. 

5. Payments 

5.1. Payment. The applicable Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer shall pay undisputed amounts 
due to Contractor within the time period specified in Section 4.0 Costs and Payments of 
the Uniform Terms and Conditions 

5.2. Joint checks or direct pay.  Applicable Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer may, but is under 
no obligation to, pay by joint check or to pay directly to any Subcontractor or other creditor 
to whom any portion of Contractor’s requested payment is owed. 

5.3. Recovery of overpayment.  If applicable, Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer determines that 
an over-payment has been made to Contractor on any prior invoice, it shall inform 
Contractor of the amount and date of the overpayment and may deduct the overpaid 
amount from amounts then or thereafter due to Contractor. 

5.4. Payment to subcontractors.  Contractor shall make payment of all undisputed amounts due 
to Subcontractors within thirty (30) days of receipt of funds from applicable Eligible Agency 
or Co-Op Buyer applicable to their services. 

5.5. Purchasing card. Applicable Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer may pay invoices for some or 
all Orders using a purchasing card. Any and all fees related to payment using a Purchasing 
Card are the responsibility of the Contractor. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract there 
will be no additional fees or increase in prices associated with this method of payment. 

5.6. Automated clearing house.  Applicable Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer may pay invoices 
for some or all Orders through an Automated Clearing House (ACH). In order to receive 
payments in this manner from Eligible Agencies, the Contractor must complete an ACH 
Vendor Authorization Form (form GAO-618) within 30 (thirty) days after the effective date 
of the Contract. The form is available online at: https://gao.az.gov/afis/vendor-
information 

https://gao.az.gov/afis/vendor-information
https://gao.az.gov/afis/vendor-information


 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 26 

Special Terms and Conditions 

The Special Terms and Conditions modify the Uniform Terms and Conditions and its Appendices. It can modify them by 
replacing, deleting, appending to, or revising the text of an existing provision or by inserting a new paragraph into an existing 
article. No other document modifies or adds to the Uniform Terms and Conditions, except as may subsequently be otherwise 
and expressly agreed and incorporated by Contract Amendment. 

1. Definition of Terms: As used in the Contract, the terms listed below are defined as follows: 

1.1. Acceptance: The document titled “Offer and Acceptance Form” bearing the State contract 
number once Procurement Officer has signed it to signify (1) State’s formal acceptance of 
the Accepted Offer and (2) the formation of the Contract. For clarity of intent, the foregoing 
is not to be confused with the term “acceptance” used throughout the Contract in the context 
of delivery, inspection, etc., with respect to Materials or Services. 

1.2. Accepted Offer: 

1.2.1. If State did not request a Revised Offer, then “Accepted Offer” means the Initial 
Offer. 

1.2.2. If State requested a Revised Offer but not a Best and Final Offer, then “Accepted 
Offer” means the latest Revised Offer. 

1.2.3. If State requested a Best and Final Offer, then “Accepted Offer” means the Best 
and Final Offer. 

1.3. Arizona Procurement Code, Arizona Revised Statutes (A.R.S.) and Arizona Administrative 
Code (A.A.C.) are each defined in the Instructions to Offerors. 

1.4. Arizona Transaction Privilege Tax (TPT): For information, refer to the Arizona Department of 
Revenue (DOR) website at: https://www.azdor.gov/business/transactionprivilegetax.aspx  

1.5. Attachment. Any item that: 

1.5.1. The Solicitation required Offeror to submit as part of the Offer (e.g., Initial Offer, 
Revised Offer, or Best and Final Offer); 

1.5.2. Was attached to an Offer when submitted; and 

1.5.3. Was included in the Accepted Offer. 

1.6. Pricing Document. Section Pricing Document of the Solicitation Requirements document of 
the Solicitation Documents, provided that, if there is no such Section in the Contract, then 
“Pricing Document” is to be construed as referring to whatever item in the Contract contains 
the contracted pricing and payment provisions. 

1.7. Contract Amendment. A document signed by the Procurement Officer that has been issued 
for the purpose of making changes to the Contract after execution. 

https://www.azdor.gov/business/transactionprivilegetax.aspx


 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 27 

1.8. Contract Terms and Conditions. The Special Terms and Conditions and the Uniform Terms 
and Conditions taken collectively. 

1.9. Contractor. The Person identified on the Accepted Offer who has entered into the Contract 
with the State. 

1.10. Contractor Indemnitor. Contractor or any of its owners, officers, directors, agents, 
employees, or Subcontractors. 

1.11. Co-Op Buyer.  A member of the State Purchasing Cooperative that has entered into a 
“Cooperative Purchasing Agreement” with the Arizona Department of Administration State 
Procurement Office under A.R.S. §41-2632.  Unless there is an applicable Cooperative 
Purchasing Agreement in effect at the time, a State Purchasing Cooperative member cannot 
be a Co-Op Buyer. For reference, “Co-Op Buyer” is to be construed as encompassing an 
“eligible procurement unit” under A.A.C. R2-7-101(23). 

NOTE: Membership in the State Purchasing Cooperative is open to all Arizona political 
subdivisions, including cities, counties, school districts, and special districts. Membership is 
also available to non-profit organizations, other state governments, the federal government 
and tribal nations. For reference, “non-profit organizations” are defined in A.R.S. § 41-
2631(4) as any nonprofit corporation as designated by the IRS under Section 501(c)(3) 
through 501(c)(6) of the tax code. 

1.12. Eligible Agency.  

1.12.1. If the Special Terms and Conditions indicate that the Contract is a “single-agency” 
contract, then “Eligible Agency” means the particular State of Arizona agency, 
university, commission, or board identified therein.   

1.12.2. If the Special Terms and Conditions indicate that the Contract is a “statewide” 
contract, then “Eligible Agency” means any State of Arizona department, agency, 
university, commission, or board. 

1.12.3. If the Special Terms and Conditions indicate that the Contract is a “statewide” and 
“cooperative” contract, then “Eligible Agency” means any State of Arizona 
department, agency, university, commission, board or any Co-Op Buyer.  

1.13. Indemnified Basic Claims.  “Indemnified Basic Claims” means any and all claims, actions, 
liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses, including court costs, attorneys’ fees, costs of claim 
processing, investigation and litigation for bodily injury or personal injury, including death, or 
loss or damage to any real or tangible or intangible personal property, collectively.  

1.14. Instructions to Offerors.  “Instructions to Offerors” means the Solicitation Instructions 
document of the Solicitation.  



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 28 

1.15. Order. The instrument by which the State authorizes a Contractor to perform some or all of 
the Work.  Whether the Contract will have one Order or many Orders depends on the scope 
of the Contract and how the State will use it.  The Special Terms and Conditions provide that 
information.  Any of the following are construed as being an “Order”: 

1.15.1. “Release” or “Release Purchase Order: in The State’s e-Procurement System; 

1.15.2. “task order,” “service order,” or “job order” when a Release Purchase Order for 
Services has already been created in The State’s e-Procurement System; or 

1.15.3. “purchase order” for buying by Co-Op Buyers, if co-op buying applies 

1.16. The State’s e-Procurement System. The State’s official electronic procurement system, 
established pursuant to A.A.C. R2-7-201 as set forth in the Arizona Department of 
Administration State Procurement Office policy document Technical Bulletin No. 020, The 
State’s e-Procurement System–The Official State eProcurement System. Technical Bulletin 
No. 020 is available online at: 

 https://spo.az.gov/sites/default/files/documents/files/TB_020_APP_20181024.pdf  

1.17. State. With respect to the Contract generally, “State” means the State of Arizona and its 
department, agency, university, commission, or board that has executed the Contract. With 
respect to administration or rights, remedies, obligations and duties under the Contract for a 
given Order, “State” means each Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer who has issued the Order. 

1.18. State Indemnitees. Collectively, the State of Arizona, its departments, agencies, universities, 
commissions, and boards and, and their respective officers, agents, and employees. 

1.19. Subcontractor. A.R.S. §41-2503(38), which, for convenience of reference only, is “… a 
person who contracts to perform Work or render service to … [C]ontractor or to another 
[S]ubcontractor as a part of a contract with a state governmental unit . . .” The Contract is to 
be construed as “a contract with a state governmental unit” for purposes of the definition. For 
clarity of intent, a Person carrying out any element of the Work is a Subcontractor from the 
moment they first carry out that element of the Work regardless of whether or not a 
Subcontract exists then or subsequently. 

1.20. Work. The totality of the Materials and the Services and all the acts of administration, 
creation, production, and performance necessary to fulfill and incidental to fulfilling all of 
Contractor's obligations and duties under the Contract in conformance with the Contract and 
applicable laws. 

2. Contract Interpretations 

2.1. Usage.  Where the Contract:  

https://spo.az.gov/sites/default/files/documents/files/TB_020_APP_20181024.pdf
https://spo.az.gov/sites/default/files/documents/files/TB_020_APP_20181024.pdf


 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 29 

2.1.1. assigns obligations to Contractor, any reference to “Contractor” is to be construed 
to be a reference to the Contractor and all Subcontractors, whether they are first-
tier subcontractors, sub-subcontractors, suppliers, sub-suppliers, consultants, or 
sub-consultants, as well as all of Contractor’s and the Subcontractor’s respective 
agents, representatives, and employees in every instance unless the context 
plainly requires that it is a reference only to Contractor as apart from 
Subcontractors. 

2.1.2. uses the permissive “may” with respect to a party’s actions, determinations, etc., 
the terms is to be interpreted as in A.A.C. R2-7-101(31) [Definitions]. For clarity of 
intent, any right given to State using “State may” or a like construction denotes 
discretion and freedom to act so far as any regulatory or operative constraints 
permit in the relevant circumstances, provided that: (a) where written “may, at its 
discretion,” the discretion extends to whatever is most advantageous to State; and 
(b) where written only as “may,” the discretion is constrained by 1. what is fair, 
reasonable, and as accommodating of the respective best interests of both parties 
as practicable under the circumstances; 

2.1.3. uses the imperative “shall” with respect to a party’s actions, duties, etc., the term 
is to be interpreted as in A.A.C. R2-7-101(43) [Definitions]. Conversely, the phrase 
“shall not” is to be interpreted as an imperative prohibition. 

2.1.4. uses the term “must” with respect to a requirement, criterion, etc., the term is to be 
interpreted as conveying compulsion or strict necessity, and is to be read as 
though written “must, if [the subject] is to be entitled to have [the object] considered 
or credited as being compliant with, conforming to, or satisfying [the requirement, 
criterion, constraint, etc.], otherwise, [the object] will be considered or debited as 
being non-compliant, non-conforming, or unsatisfactory for its Contract-related 
purposes” in every instance; 

2.1.5. uses the term “might” with respect to an event, outcome, action, etc., the term is 
to be interpreted as conveying contingency or non-discretionary conditionality; and 

2.1.6. uses the term “will” or the phrases “is to be” or “are to be” with respect to an event, 
outcome, action, etc., the term or phrase is to be interpreted as conveying such 
certainty or imperativeness that “shall” is either unnecessary or irrelevant in that 
instance. 

2.2. Contract Order of Precedence 

2.2.1. Complementary Documents. All of the documents forming the Contract are 
complementary.  If certain work, requirements, obligations, or duties are set out 
only in one but not in another, Contractor shall carry out the Work as though the 
relevant Work, requirements, obligations, or duties had been fully described in all, 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 30 

consistent with the other documents forming the Contract and as is reasonably 
inferable from them as being necessary to produce complete results. 

2.2.2. Conflicts. In case of any inconsistency, conflict, or ambiguity among the 
documents forming the Contract and their provisions, they are to prevail in the 
following order, descending from most dominate to most subordinate, provided 
that, among categories of documents or provisions having the same rank, the 
document or provision with the latest date prevails.  Information being identified in 
one document but not in another is not to be considered a conflict or inconsistency. 

2.2.2.1. Contract Amendments; 

2.2.2.2. The final Solicitation Documents, in the following order: 

(1)  Special Terms and Conditions; 

(2)  Exhibits to the Special Terms and Conditions; 

(3)  Uniform Terms and Conditions; 

(4)  Scope of Work; 

(5)  Exhibits to the Scope of Work; 

(6)  Pricing Document; 

(7)  Exhibits to the Pricing Document; 

(8)  Specifications; and 

(9)  Any other documents referenced or included in the Solicitation; 

2.2.2.3. Orders, in reverse chronological order; and 

2.2.2.4. Accepted Offer. 

2.2.3. Attachments and Exhibits. For clarity of intent, if an item was an Attachment in the 
Solicitation Documents or an Offer (either Initial, Revised, Best and Final, or 
Accepted) and was subsequently made into an Exhibit, or its content was 
incorporated into one of the other Contract documents, then that Attachment no 
longer exists contractually as an “Attachment” since it has at that point been made 
into some other Contract document. In every other case, an Attachment and the 
Offeror data therein remain part of the Accepted Offer for purposes of precedence 
and contractual effect. 

2.3. Independent Contractor. Contractor is an independent contractor and shall act in an 
independent capacity in performance under the Contract. Neither party is or is to be 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 31 

construed as being the employee or agent of the other party, and no action, inaction, event, 
or circumstance will be grounds for deeming it to be so. 

2.4. Complete Integration. The Contract, including any documents incorporated into the Contract 
by reference, is intended by the parties as a final and complete expression of their 
agreement. There are no prior, contemporaneous, or additional agreements, either oral or in 
writing, pertaining to the Contract. 

3. Contract Administration and Operation 

3.1. Term of Contract. The term of the Contract will commence on the date indicated on the 
Acceptance and continue for three (3) years unless cancelled, terminated, or permissibly 
extended.  

3.2. Contract Extensions. State may at its discretion extend the initial Contract term in increments 
of one or more months and do so one or more times, provided that the maximum aggregate 
term of the Contract including extensions cannot exceed the maximum aggregate term of 
five (5) years. 

3.3. Notices and Correspondence   

3.3.1. To Contractor. State shall address all Contract correspondence other than formal 
notices to the email address indicated as “Default for Type” for “General Mailing 
Address” in Contractor’s corresponding State’s e-Procurement System Vendor 
Profile; and address any required notices to Contractor to the “Contact Name and 
Title” at the “Mailing Address” indicated on the Accepted Offer, as that address 
might have been amended during the term of the Contract. 

3.3.2. To State. Contractor shall address all Contract correspondence other than format 
notices to the email address indicated in “Contact Instructions” in the The State’s 
e-Procurement System Summary for State; and address any required notices to 
State to the Procurement Officer identified as “Purchaser” in the State’s e-
Procurement System Summary at the following mailing address: 

  Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 
100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 
 

3.3.3. Changes. State may change the designated Procurement Officer, update contact 
information, or change the applicable mailing address.  



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 32 

3.4. Signing of Contract Amendments. Contractor’s counter-signature – or “approval” in The 
State’s e-Procurement System, in the case of an amendment, – is not required to give effect 
if the Contract Amendment only covers either: 

3.4.1. extension of the term of the Contract within the maximum aggregate term; 

3.4.2. revision to Procurement Officer appointment or contact information; or 

3.4.3. modifications of a clerical nature that have no effect on terms, conditions, price, 
scope, or other material aspect of the Contract. 

In every case other than those listed in (1), (2), and (3) above, both parties’ signatures – or 
“approval” in The State’s e-Procurement System, in the case of an Amendment – are 
required to give it effect. 

3.5. Click Through Terms and Conditions  If either party uses a web-based ordering system, an 
electronic purchase order system, an electronic order acknowledgement, a form of an 
electronic acceptance, or any software based ordering system with respect to the Contract 
(each an “Electronic Ordering System”), the parties acknowledge and agree that an 
Electronic Ordering System is for ease of administration only, and Contractor is hereby given 
notice that the persons using Electronic Ordering Systems on behalf of State do not have 
any actual or apparent authority to create legally binding obligations that vary from the terms 
and conditions of the Contract. Accordingly, where an authorized State user is required to 
“click through” or otherwise accept or be made subject to any terms and conditions in using 
an Electronic Ordering Systems, any such terms and conditions are deemed void upon 
presentation. Additionally, where an authorized State user is required to accept or be made 
subject to any terms and conditions in accessing or employing any Materials or Services, 
those terms and conditions will also be void. 

3.6. Books and Records 

3.6.1. Retain Records. By A.R.S. §41-2548(B), Contractor shall retain and shall 
contractually require each Subcontractor to retain books and records relating to any 
cost and pricing data submitted in satisfaction of § 41-2543 for the period specified 
in the statute 

3.6.2. Right To Audit. The retained books and records are subject to audit by State during 
that period. By A.R.S. §41-2548(B), Contractor shall retain and shall contractually 
require each Subcontractor to retain books and records relating to performance 
under the Contract for the period specified in the statute and those retained books 
and records are subject to audit by State during that period. 

3.6.3. Auditing. Contractor or Subcontractor shall either make all such books and records 
under subparagraphs 3.6.1 and 3.6.2 available to State at all reasonable times or 
produce the records at a designated State office on State’s demand, the choice of 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 33 

which being at State’s discretion. For the purpose of this paragraph, “reasonable 
times” are during normal business hours and in such a manner so as to not 
unreasonably interfere with normal business activities. 

3.7. Contractor Licenses.  Contractor shall maintain current federal, state and local licenses and 
permits required for the operation of its business in general, for its operations under the 
Contract, and for the Work itself. 

3.8. Inspection and Testing.  By A.R.S. §41-2547, State may at reasonable times inspect the part 
of Contractors’ or Subcontractors’ plant or places of business related to performance under 
the Contract. Accordingly, Contractor agrees to permit (for itself) and ensure (for 
Subcontractors) access for inspection at any reasonable time to its facilities, processes, and 
services. State may inspect or test, at its own cost, any finished goods, work-in-progress, 
components, or unfinished materials that are to be supplied under the Contract or that will 
be incorporated into something to be supplied under the Contract.  If the inspection or testing 
shows non-conformance or defects, then Contractor will owe State reimbursement or 
payment of all costs it incurred in carrying out or contracting for the inspection and testing, 
as well as for any reinspection or retesting that might be necessary.  Neither inspection of 
facilities nor testing of goods, work, components, or unfinished materials will of itself 
constitute acceptance by State of those things. 

3.9. Ownership of Intellectual Property 

3.9.1. Rights In Work Product. All intellectual property originated or prepared by 
Contractor pursuant to the Contract, including but not limited to, inventions, 
discoveries, intellectual copyrights, trademarks, trade names, trade secrets, 
technical communications, records reports, computer programs and other 
documentation or improvements thereto, including Contractor’s administrative 
communications and records relating to the Contract, are considered work product 
and Contractor’s property, provided that, State has Government Purpose Rights to 
that work product as and when it was delivered to State. 

3.9.1.1. “Government Purpose Rights” are:  

3.9.1.1.1. the unlimited, perpetual, irrevocable, royalty free, non-
exclusive, worldwide right to use, modify, reproduce, 
release, perform, display, sublicense, disclose and create 
derivatives from that work product without restriction for 
any activity in which State is a party; 

3.9.1.1.2. the right to release or disclose that work product to third 
parties for any State government purpose; and  

3.9.1.1.3. the right to authorize those to whom it rightfully releases or 
discloses that work product to use, modify, release, create 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 34 

derivative works from the work product for any State 
government purpose; such recipients being understood to 
include the federal government, the governments of other 
states, and various local governments.  

3.9.1.2. “Government Purpose Rights” do not include any right to use, modify, 
reproduce, perform, release, display, create derivative works from, or 
disclose that work product for any commercial purpose or to authorize 
others to do so. 

3.9.2. Joint Developments. The parties may each use equally any ideas, concepts, know-
how, or techniques developed jointly during the course of the Contract, and may do 
so at their respective discretion, without obligation of notice or accounting to the 
other party. 

3.9.3. Pre-existing Material.  All pre-existing software and other materials developed or 
otherwise obtained by or for Contractor or its affiliates independently of the Contract 
or applicable Purchase Orders are not part of the work product to which rights are 
granted State under subparagraph 3.9.1 above, and will remain the exclusive 
property of Contractor, provided that: 

3.9.3.1. any derivative works of such pre-existing material or elements thereof 
that are created pursuant to the Contract are part of that work product;  

3.9.3.2. any elements of derivative work of such pre-existing material that was 
not created pursuant to the Contract are not part of that work product; 
and 

3.9.3.3. except as expressly stated otherwise, nothing in the Contract is to be 
construed to interfere or diminish Contractor’s or its affiliates’ ownership 
of such pre-existing materials. 

3.9.4. Developments Outside Of Contract. Unless expressly stated otherwise in the 
Contract, does not preclude Contractor from developing competing materials 
outside the Contract, irrespective of any similarity to materials delivered or to be 
delivered to State hereunder. 

3.10. Subcontract 

3.10.1. Initial list. At the time of Contract execution, Contractor’s candidate Subcontractors 
were identified in Attachment Proposed Subcontractors to the Accepted Offer 
[Proposed Subcontractors]. Agreeing to them being included in the Accepted Offer 
signified Procurement Officer’s advance consent for Contractor to enter into a 
Subcontract with each candidate, which Contractor shall do as promptly as 
necessary to ensure its ability to carry out the Work in a timely manner. 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 35 

3.10.2. Additional names. Contractor shall not enter into a Subcontract without first 
obtaining Procurement Officer’s written consent with any prospective Subcontractor 
that (a) was not listed on the Attachment Proposed Subcontractors at time of 
Contract execution or (b) is for any Materials or Services categories other than the 
ones for which they were previously consented. For either case (a) or (b), 
Contractor shall submit a written request sufficiently in advance of the need date 
for those materials or services so that performance under the Contract is not 
impaired. Procurement Officer may request any additional information he or she 
determines is necessary to assess the submittal, and may withhold consent 
pending it. 

3.10.3. Flow-down. Contractor shall incorporate the provisions, terms, and conditions of the 
Contract into every Subcontract by inclusion or by reference, as appropriate. When 
making any post-execution consent requests, Contractor shall include its warrant 
that it will do the same for the pending Subcontracts covered by the request. 
Entering into Subcontracts will not relieve Contractor of any of its obligations or 
duties under the Contract, including, among other things, the duty to supervise and 
coordinate the work of Subcontractors. Nothing contained in any Subcontract will 
create or is to be construed as creating any contractual relationship between State 
and the Subcontractor. 

3.11. Orders             

3.11.1. Order Sufficiency.  The Contract was awarded in accordance with the Arizona 
Procurement Code; the transactions and procedures required by the code for 
competitive source selection have been met. An Order issued that cites the correct 
State contract number will suffice to authorize the Contractor to provide the 
Materials and perform the Services covered by that Order. 

3.11.2. Order Terms. All Orders are subject to the Contract Terms and Conditions; an Order 
cannot modify the Contract Terms and Conditions. 

3.11.3. Orders Are Obligatory.  Until the expiration or earlier termination of the Contract, 
State may issue and Contractor shall accept Orders that make proper reference to 
the Contract and are permissible hereunder, provided that, Contractor is not obliged 
to accept any Order that is not consistent with the then-current pricing, lead times, 
specifications, or payment provisions of the Contract. Contractor shall fulfill and 
complete any Orders that are begun but not yet completed as of expiration or earlier 
termination of the Contract unless State instructs otherwise at the time. 

3.11.4. Special Case. In the special case where both the following conditions are true, 
Procurement Officer’s signature on the Acceptance is Contractor’s authorization to 
perform and therefore no Order is required: (a) the Contract is identified as being a 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 36 

“single-agency/single-project” contract and (b) the Contract was created in The 
State’s e-Procurement System as something other than a “Master/ Blanket” type. 

3.11.5. No Minimums Or Commitments. (a) Contractor shall not impose any minimum dollar 
amount, item count, services volume, or services duration on Orders; (b) State 
makes no commitment of any kind concerning the quantity or monetary value of 
activity actually initiated or completed during the term of the Contract; (c) Contractor 
shall only deliver or perform as authorized by Orders; and (d) State is not limited as 
to the number of Orders it may issue for the Contract. For clarity of intent, the 
foregoing applies equally whether an Eligible Agency issues the Order or, if 
applicable, a Co-Op Buyer issues it. 

3.11.6. Non-contracted Materials Or Services. Any attempt to knowingly represent for 
sales, marketing, or related purposes that goods or services not specifically 
awarded are under a State contract is a violation of the Contract and law. 

3.12. The Contract is a “statewide” contract for multiple purchases, projects, or assignments, and 
can be purchased against by some or all Eligible Agencies and any Co‑Op Buyers that elect 
to participate. Even if only one Eligible Agency needs or elects to purchase against the 
Contract, it is to be construed as being a “statewide” contract hereunder. 

The Contract is an indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity (ID/IQ) type of contract; it is to be 
construed as a “delivery order” sub‑type of ID/IQ contract to the extent the Work is Materials, 
and a “task order” sub-type to the extent the Work is Services. 

3.12.1. Contractor shall verify if an ordering entity is a bona fide Co-Op Buyer before selling 
Materials to or providing Services for them under the Contract. The current list of 
Co‑Op Buyers is available on the State Procurement Office website:  

https://spo.az.gov/programs/cooperative 

3.12.2. Contractor shall sell to Co-Op Buyers at the same price and on the same lead times 
and other terms and conditions under which it sells to Eligible Agencies, with the 
sole exception of any legitimately additional costs for extraordinary shipping or 
delivery requirements if the Co-Op Buyer is having Materials delivered or installed 
or Services performed at locations not contemplated in the contracted pricing (e.g. 
delivery to a location outside Arizona). 

3.12.3. Contractor shall pay State an administrative fee against all Contract sales to Co‑Op 
Buyers, as provided for under A.R.S. § 41‑2633. The fee rate is one (1% ) percent. 
Failure to remit the administrative fees is a material breach of contract, and will 
entitle the State to its remedies under Article 8 and its right to terminate for default 
under Article 9. Method of calculation, payment procedures, and other details are 
provided on the State Procurement Office website: 

https://spo.az.gov/programs/cooperative


 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 37 

https://spo.az.gov/suppliers/usage-reporting 

3.12.4. Contractor shall submit to State a quarterly usage report documenting all Contract 
sales to both Eligible Agencies and Co‑Op Buyers, itemized separately. Contractor 
shall further itemize divisions, groups or areas within a given Eligible Agency if they 
place Orders independently of each other. Failure to submit the report is a material 
breach of contract, and will entitle the State to its remedies under Article 8 and its 
right to terminate for default under Article 9. Contractor shall submit the report using 
the forms and following the instructions on the State Procurement Office website: 

https://spo.az.gov/suppliers/usage-reporting 

3.12.5. Contractor shall acknowledge each Order from Eligible Agencies within 1 (one) 
business day after receipt by either: (a) “approving” the Order electronically in The 
State’s e-Procurement System, which will indicate Contractor’s unqualified 
acceptance of the Order as‑issued; or (b) “rejecting” the Order electronically in The 
State’s e-Procurement System, with a concurrent explanation by email to relevant 
originator as to the reason for rejecting it. By way of reminder, the only grounds on 
which the Contractor may reject or refuse an Order are those set out in 
subparagraph 3.11.3 [Orders are Obligatory]. Unless and until Contractor has 
approved the Order in The State’s e-Procurement System, it will have no effect 
under the Contract and will not oblige either State or Contractor. If the relevant 
Eligible Agency explicitly instructs at the time that a verbal acceptance is sufficient 
because of urgency or other unusual circumstances and Contractor duly gives its 
verbal acceptance, then Contractor will be deemed to have accepted the Order 
immediately upon commencing performance, provided that, Contractor must follow-
up its verbal acceptance by accepting the Purchase Order electronically in The 
State’s e-Procurement System within 3 (three) business days. Contractor shall 
thereafter be barred from subsequently rejecting the Order in The State’s e-
Procurement System and if it does so the rejection will be void. 

3.12.6. Contractor shall acknowledge each Order from Co‑Op Buyers in conformance with 
each buyer’s instructions given at the time of ordering or in any supplemental 
participating agreement Contractor might have with them. Orders from Co‑Op 
Buyers create no obligation on State’s part, since they are entirely between the Co-
Op Buyer and Contractor. That notwithstanding, Contractor’s obligation under the 
Contract is to service Co-Op Buyers commercially as though they were with an 
Eligible Agency, and Contractor’s refusal to do so would be a material breach of the 
Contract. 

3.13. Multiple-Use Provisions. Eligible Agencies may issue Orders for Services in several forms, 
all of which become final and effective by a “Release Purchase Order” in The State’s e-
Procurement System. Orders issued by Co-Op Buyers will be in whatever form the Co-Op 

https://spo.az.gov/suppliers/usage-reporting
https://spo.az.gov/suppliers/usage-reporting


 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 38 

Buyer normally uses. Regardless of origin, Orders must cite the State contract number to be 
valid. State may, at its discretion in each instance, determine the scope, schedule, and price 
for each Order in any of the following ways: 

3.13.1. By choosing some or all of the Materials or Services items covered by the Contract 
for which a price is established in the Pricing Document, then preparing an Order 
using those prices (e.g., filling out an order form), and sending it to the Contractor. 

3.13.2. By instructing Contractor to provide a comprehensive proposal of item quantities, 
combinations, etc., or services hours, personnel, etc., for a defined scope using 
those established prices as a basis, then validating and negotiating the proposal 
with Contractor and issuing an Order if and when reaching agreement. 

3.13.3. As described in (2) above but requesting the proposal from both Contractor and 
other vendors who are contracted within the applicable scope categories and 
locations, either sequentially or concurrently, then selecting the proposal or 
proposals combination that is most advantageous to State. 

3.13.4. As described in (3) above but introducing ad-hoc commercial competition by making 
the selection and ordering conditional on obtaining more favorable prices than the 
contractually-established ones. 

3.14. Other Contractors. State may undertake with its own forces or award other contracts to the 
same or other vendors for additional or related work. In such cases, Contractor shall 
cooperate fully with State’s employees and such other vendors and carefully coordinate, fit, 
connect, accommodate, adjust, or sequence its work to the related work by others. Where 
the Contract requires handing-off Contractor’s work to others, Contractor shall cooperate as 
State instructs regarding the necessary transfer of its work product, services, or records to 
State or the other vendors. Contractor shall not commit or permit any act that interferes with 
the State’s or other vendors’ performance of their work, provided that, State shall enforce the 
foregoing section equitably among all its vendors so as not to impose an unreasonable 
burden on any one of them. 

3.15. Work on State Premises  

3.15.1. Compliance With Rules.  Contractor is responsible for ensuring that its personnel 
comply with State’s rules, regulations, policies, documented practices, and 
documented operating procedures while delivering or installing Materials or 
performing Services on State’s grounds or in its facilities. For clarity of intent, the 
foregoing means that if Contractor is required to comply with certain security 
requirements in order to deliver, install, or perform at that particular location, then it 
shall do so nonetheless and without entitlement to any additional compensation or 
additional time for performance if those particular requirements are not expressly 
stated in the Contract. Contractor is reminded that violation of the prohibition under 
A.R.S. § 13-1502 against possession of weapons on State’s property by anyone for 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 39 

whom Contractor is responsible is a material breach of contract and grounds for 
termination for default. 

3.15.2. Protection Of Grounds And Facilities. Contractor shall deliver or install the Materials 
and perform the Services without damaging any State grounds or facilities. 
Contractor shall repair or replace any damage it does cause promptly and at its own 
expense, subject to whatever instructions and restrictions State needs to make to 
prevent inconvenience or disruption of operations. If Contractor fails to make the 
necessary repairs or replacements in a timely manner, State will be entitled to 
exercise its remedies under paragraph 8.5 of the Uniform Terms and Conditions 
[Right of Offset]. 

4. Costs and Payments 

4.1. Payments                                   

4.1.1. Payment Deadline. State shall make payments in compliance with Arizona Revised 
Statutes Titles 35 and 41. Unless and then only to the extent expressly stated 
otherwise in the Pricing Document, State shall make payment in full for Materials 
that have been delivered and accepted and Services that have been performed and 
accepted within the time specified in A.R.S. § 35-342 after both of the following 
become true: (a) all of the Materials being invoiced have been delivered or installed 
(as applicable) and accepted and all of the Services being invoiced have been 
performed and accepted; and (b) Contractor has provided a complete and accurate 
invoice in the form and manner called for in the Pricing Document, provided that, 
State will not make or be liable for any payments to Contractor until Contractor has 
registered properly in The State’s e-Procurement System and provided a current 
IRS Form W-9 to State unless excused by law from providing one. 

4.1.2. Payments Only To Contractor.  Unless compelled otherwise by operation of law or 
order of a court of competent jurisdiction, State will only make payment to 
Contractor under the federal tax identifier indicated on the Accepted Offer. 

4.2. Applicable Taxes  

4.2.1. Contractor To Pay All Taxes.  State is subject to Arizona TPT. Therefore, Arizona 
TPT applies to all sales under the Contract and Arizona TPT is Contractor’s 
responsibility (as seller) to remit. Contractor’s failure to collect Arizona TPT or any 
other applicable sales or use taxes from an Eligible Agency or Co-Op Buyer (as 
buyer) will not relieve the Contractor of any obligation to remit sales or use taxes 
that are due under the Contract or laws. Unless stated otherwise in the Pricing 
Document, all prices therein include Arizona TPT as well as every other manner of 
transaction privilege or sales/use tax that is due to a municipality or another state 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 40 

or its political subdivisions. Contractor shall pay all federal, state, and local taxes 
applicable to its operations and personnel. 

4.2.2. Tax Indemnity.  Contractor shall hold State harmless from any responsibility for 
taxes or contributions, including any applicable damages and interest, that are due 
to federal, state, and local authorities with respect to the Work and the Contract, as 
well as any related costs; the foregoing expressly includes Arizona TPT, 
unemployment compensation insurance, social security, and workers’ 
compensation insurance. 

5. Contract Changes 

5.1. Contract Amendments. The Contract is issued for State under the authority of Procurement 
Officer. Only a Contract Amendment can modify the Contract, and then only if it does not 
change the Contract’s general scope. Purported changes to the Contract by a person not 
expressly authorized by Procurement Officer or made unilaterally by Contractor will be void 
and without effect; Contractor will not be entitled to any claim made under the Contract based 
on any such purported changes. 

5.2. Assignment and Delegation.  

5.2.1. In Whole. Contractor shall not assign in whole its rights or delegate in whole its 
duties under the Contract without Procurement Officer’s prior written consent, which 
consent Procurement Officer may withhold at his or her discretion. If Contractor’s 
proposed assignment or delegation stems from a split, sale, acquisition, or other 
non-merger change in control, then no such consent will be given in any event 
without the assignee or delegate giving State satisfactory and equivalent evidence 
or assurance of its financial soundness, competency, capacity, and qualification to 
perform as that which Contractor possessed when State first awarded it the 
Contract. 

5.2.2. In Part.  Subject to paragraph 3.10 [Subcontracts] with respect to subcontracting, 
Contractor may assign particular rights or delegate particular duties under the 
Contract, but shall obtain Procurement Officer’s written consent before doing so. 
Procurement Officer shall not unreasonably withhold consent so long as the 
proposed assignment or delegation does not attempt to modify the Contract in any 
way or to alter or impair State’s rights or remedies under the Contract or laws. 

6. Risk and Liability 

6.1. Risk of Loss.  Contractor shall bear all risk of loss to Materials while in pre-production, 
production, storage, transit, staging, assembly, installation, testing, and commissioning, if 
and as those duties are within the scope of the Work, until they have been accepted as 
conforming by State in the particular location and situation specified in the Order, or as 
specified generally elsewhere in the Contract if the Order does not provide particulars, 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 41 

provided that, risk of loss for nonconforming Materials will remain with Contractor 
notwithstanding acceptance to the extent the loss stems from the nonconformance. 

6.2. Contractor Insurance 

6.2.1. Indemnification Clause 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, and any jurisdiction or agency issuing permits for any work included in the 
project, and their respective directors, officers, officials, agents and employees 
(hereinafter referred to as "Indemnitee") from and against any and all claims, actions, 
liabilities, costs, losses, or expenses, (including reasonable attorney's fees), 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as "Claims") arising out of actual or alleged bodily 
injury or personal injury of any person (including death) or loss or damage to tangible 
or intangible property caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the 
negligent or willful acts or omissions of Contractor or any of Contractor's directors, 
officers, agents, employees, volunteers or subcontractors. This indemnity includes any 
claim or amount arising or recovered under the Workers' Compensation Law or arising 
out of the failure of Contractor to conform to any federal, state or local law, statute, 
ordinance, rule, regulation or court decree. It is the specific intention of the parties that 
the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the 
negligent or willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by Contractor 
from and against any and all Claims. It is agreed that Contractor will be responsible 
for primary loss investigation, defense and judgment costs where this indemnification 
is applicable. This indemnification will survive the termination of the above listed 
contract with the Contractor.  

This indemnity shall not apply if the contractor or sub-contractor(s) is/are an agency, 
board, commission or university of the State of Arizona. 

6.2.2. Insurance Requirements 

6.2.2.1. Contractor and subcontractors shall procure and maintain, until all of their 
obligations have been discharged, including any warranty periods under 
this Contract, insurance against claims for injury to persons or damage 
to property arising from, or in connection with, the performance of the 
work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, 
employees or subcontractors.  

6.2.2.2. The Insurance Requirements herein are minimum requirements for this 
Contract and in no way limit the indemnity covenants contained in this 
Contract. The State of Arizona in no way warrants that the minimum limits 
contained herein are sufficient to protect the Contractor from liabilities 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 42 

that arise out of the performance of the work under this Contract by the 
Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors, 
and the Contractor is free to purchase additional insurance. 

 

6.2.3. MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMITS OF INSURANCE: Contractor shall provide 
coverage with limits of liability not less than those stated below. 

6.2.3.1. Commercial General Liability (CGL) – Occurrence Form  

Policy shall include bodily injury, property damage, and broad form 
contractual liability coverage.  

•   General Aggregate $2,000,000  
•   Products – Completed Operations Aggregate $1,000,000  
•   Personal and Advertising Injury $1,000,000  
•   Damage to Rented Premises $50,000  
•   Each Occurrence $1,000,000  
 
a. The policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written 

agreement, to include the State of Arizona, and its departments, 
agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, 
agents, and employees as additional insureds with respect to 
liability arising out of the activities performed by or on behalf of 
the Contractor.  

b. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as 
required by this written agreement, in favor of the State of 
Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses 
arising from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 
 

6.2.3.2. Business Automobile Liability 

Bodily Injury and Property Damage for any owned, hired, and/or 
non-owned automobiles used in the performance of this 
Contract. 
 
• Combined Single Limit (CSL) $1,000,000  
 
a. Policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written 

agreement, to include the State of Arizona, and its 
departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 43 

officers, officials, agents, and employees as additional 
insureds with respect to liability arising out of the activities 
performed by, or on behalf of, the Contractor involving 
automobiles owned, hired and/or non-owned by the 
Contractor.  

 
b. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement as 

required by this written agreement in favor of the State of 
Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, 
commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, and 
employees for losses arising from work performed by or on 
behalf of the Contractor. 

 
6.2.3.3. Workers’ Compensation and Employers' Liability 

• Workers' Compensation     Statutory  
• Employers' Liability  

o Each Accident     $1,000,000  
o Disease – Each Employee    $1,000,000  
o Disease – Policy Limit    $1,000,000  

 
a. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as 
required by this written agreement, in favor of the State of Arizona, 
and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, 
officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising from work 
performed by or on behalf of the Contractor.  

b. This requirement shall not apply to each Contractor or 
subcontractor that is exempt under A.R.S. § 23-901, and when such 
Contractor or subcontractor executes the appropriate waiver form 
(Sole Proprietor or Independent Contractor). 

6.2.3.4. Network Security (Cyber) and Privacy Liability 

• Each Claim     $2,000,000  
• Annual Aggregate    $2,000,000 
 
a. Such insurance shall include, but not be limited to, coverage for 

third party claims and losses with respect to network risks (such 
as data breaches, unauthorized access or use, ID theft, theft of 
data) and invasion of privacy regardless of the type of media 
involved in the loss of private information, crisis management 
and identity theft response costs. This should also include 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 44 

breach notification costs, credit remediation and credit 
monitoring, defense and claims expenses, regulatory defense 
costs plus fines and penalties, cyber extortion, computer 
program and electronic data restoration expenses coverage 
(data asset protection), network business interruption, computer 
fraud coverage, and funds transfer loss.  

b. In the event that the Network Security and Privacy Liability 
insurance required by this Contract is written on a claims-made 
basis, Contractor warrants that any retroactive date under the 
policy shall precede the effective date of this Contract and, either 
continuous coverage will be maintained, or an extended 
discovery period will be exercised for a period of two (2) years 
beginning at the time work under this Contract is completed.  

c. The policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written 
agreement, to include the State of Arizona, and its departments, 
agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, 
agents, and employees as additional insureds with respect to 
vicarious liability of the insured arising out of the activities 
performed by or on behalf of the Contractor.  

d. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as 
required by this written agreement, in favor of the State of 
Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses 
arising from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 
 

6.2.4. Additional Insurance Requirements  

The policies shall include, or be endorsed to include, as required by this written 
agreement, the following provisions:  
6.2.4.1. The Contractor's policies, as applicable, shall stipulate that the insurance 

afforded the Contractor shall be primary and that any insurance carried 
by the Department, its agents, officials, employees or the State of Arizona 
shall be excess and not contributory insurance, as provided by A.R.S. § 
41-621 (E).  

6.2.4.2. Insurance provided by the Contractor shall not limit the Contractor’s 
liability assumed under the indemnification provisions of this Contract. 

6.2.5. Notice of Cancellation 

 Applicable to all insurance policies required within the Insurance Requirements of 
this Contract, Contractor’s insurance shall not be permitted to expire, be 
suspended, be canceled, or be materially changed for any reason without thirty (30) 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 45 

days prior written notice to the State of Arizona. Within two (2) business days of 
receipt, Contractor must provide notice to the State of Arizona if they receive notice 
of a policy that has been or will be suspended, canceled, materially changed for 
any reason, has expired, or will be expiring. Such notice shall be sent directly to the 
Department and shall be mailed, emailed, hand delivered or sent by facsimile 
transmission to (State Representative’s Name, Address & Fax Number). 

6.2.6. Acceptability of Insurers  

Contractor’s insurance shall be placed with companies licensed in the State of 
Arizona or hold approved non-admitted status on the Arizona Department of 
Insurance List of Qualified Unauthorized Insurers. Insurers shall have an “A.M. 
Best” rating of not less than A- VII. The State of Arizona in no way warrants that the 
above-required minimum insurer rating is sufficient to protect the Contractor from 
potential insurer insolvency.  

6.2.7. Verification of Coverage  

Contractor shall furnish the State of Arizona with certificates of insurance (valid 
ACORD form or equivalent approved by the State of Arizona) evidencing that 
Contractor has the insurance as required by this Contract. An authorized 
representative of the insurer shall sign the certificates. 

6.2.7.1. All such certificates of insurance and policy endorsements must be 
received by the State before work commences. The State’s receipt of any 
certificates of insurance or policy endorsements that do not comply with 
this written agreement shall not waive or otherwise affect the 
requirements of this agreement. 

6.2.7.2. Each insurance policy required by this Contract must be in effect at, or 
prior to, commencement of work under this Contract. Failure to maintain 
the insurance policies as required by this Contract, or to provide evidence 
of renewal, is a material breach of contract.  

6.2.7.3. All certificates required by this Contract shall be sent directly to the 
Department. The State of Arizona project/contract number and project 
description shall be noted on the certificate of insurance. The State of 
Arizona reserves the right to require complete copies of all insurance 
policies required by this Contract at any time. 

6.2.8. Subcontractors 

Contractor’s certificate(s) shall include all subcontractors as insureds under its 
policies or Contractor shall be responsible for ensuring and/or verifying that all 
subcontractors have valid and collectable insurance as evidenced by the 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 46 

certificates of insurance and endorsements for each subcontractor. All coverages 
for subcontractors shall be subject to the minimum Insurance Requirements 
identified above. The Department reserves the right to require, at any time 
throughout the life of this contract, proof from the Contractor that its subcontractors 
have the required coverage. 

6.2.9. Approval and Modifications  

The Contracting Agency, in consultation with State Risk, reserves the right to review 
or make modifications to the insurance limits, required coverages, or endorsements 
throughout the life of this contract, as deemed necessary. Such action will not 
require a formal Contract amendment but may be made by administrative action. 

6.2.10. Exceptions 

In the event the Contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are a public entity, then the 
Insurance Requirements shall not apply. Such public entity shall provide a 
certificate of self-insurance. If the Contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are a State of 
Arizona agency, board, commission, or university, none of the above shall apply. 

6.3. Patent and Copyright Indemnification. 

 [CONTRACTOR/VENDOR (NOT PUBLIC AGENCY)]. With respect to Materials or   
Services provided or proposed by a Contractor Indemnitor for performance under the 
Contract, Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless State Indemnitees 
against any third-party claims for liability, costs, and expenses, including, but not 
limited to reasonable attorneys' fees, for infringement or violation of any patent, 
trademark, copyright, or trade secret by the Materials and the Services. With respect 
to the defense and payment of claims under this subparagraph: 

6.3.1. State shall provide reasonable and timely notification to Contractor of any claim for 
which Contractor may be liable under this paragraph; 

6.3.2. Contractor, with reasonable consultation from State, shall have control of the 
defense of any action on an indemnified claim including all negotiations for its 
settlement or compromise;  

6.3.3. State may elect to participate in such action at its own expense; and  

6.3.4. State may approve or disapprove any settlement or compromise, provided that, (i) 
State shall not unreasonably withhold or delay such approval or disapproval and (ii) 
State shall cooperate in the defense and in any related settlement negotiations. 

If Contractor is a public agency, this paragraph 6.4 does not apply.  

6.4. Force Majeure 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 47 

6.4.1. Definition. For this paragraph, “force majeure” means an occurrence that is 

6.4.1.1. beyond the control of the affected party, 

6.4.1.2. occurred without the party’s fault or negligence, and 

6.4.1.3. something the party was unable to prevent by exercising reasonable 
diligence. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, force majeure 
expressly includes acts of God, acts of the public enemy, war, riots, 
strikes, mobilization, labor disputes, civil disorders, fire, flood, lockouts, 
injunctions-intervention-acts, failures or refusals to act by government 
authorities, and, subject to paragraph 7.6 [Performance in Public Health 
Emergency], declared public health emergencies. Force majeure 
expressly does not include late delivery caused by congestion at a 
manufacturer’s plant or elsewhere, an oversold condition of the market, 
late performance by a Subcontractor unless the delay arises out of an 
occurrence of force majeure, or inability of either Contractor or any 
Subcontractor to acquire or maintain any required insurance, bonds, 
licenses, or permits. 

6.4.2. Relief From Performance. Except of sums due, the parties are not liable to each 
other if an occurrence of force majeure prevents its performance under the 
Contract. If either party is delayed at any time in the progress of their respective 
performance under the Contract by an occurrence of force majeure, the delayed 
party shall notify the other no later than the following working day after the 
occurrence, or as soon as it could reasonably have been expected to recognize 
that the occurrence had effect in cases where the effects were not readily apparent. 
In any event, the notice must make specific reference to this paragraph specifying 
the causes of the delay in the notice and, if the effects of the occurrence are on-
going, provide an initial notification and thereafter the delayed party shall provide 
regular updates until such time as the effects are fully known. To the extent it is 
able, the delayed party shall cause the delay to cease promptly and notify the other 
party when it has done so. The parties shall extend the time of completion by 
Contract Amendment for a period equal to the time that the results or effects of the 
delay prevented the delayed party from performing. 

6.4.3. Excusable Delay Is Not Default. Failure in performance by either party will not 
constitute default hereunder or give rise to any claim for damages or loss of 
anticipated profits if and to the extent that such failure was or is being caused by an 
occurrence of force majeure. 

6.4.4. Default Diminishes Relief.  Entitlement to relief from the effects of an occurrence of 
force majeure is diminished to the extent that the delay did or will result from the 
affected party’s default unrelated to the occurrence, in which case and to that extent 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 48 

the other party’s normal remedies and the affected party’s obligations would apply 
undiminished. 

7. Warranties 

7.1. Conformity to Requirements. Contractor warrants that, unless expressly provided otherwise 
elsewhere in the Contract, the Materials and Services will for 1 (one) year after acceptance 
and in each instance: (1) conform to the requirements of the Contract, which by way of 
reminder include without limitation all descriptions, specifications, and drawings identified in 
the Scope of Work and any Contractor affirmations included as part of the Contract; (2) be 
free from defects of material and workmanship; (3) conform to or perform in a manner 
consistent with current industry standards; and (4) be fit for the intended purpose or use 
described in the Contract. Mere delivery or performance does not substitute for express 
acceptance by the State. Where inspection, testing, or other acceptance assessment of 
Materials or Services cannot be done until after installation, the forgoing warranty will not 
begin until State’s acceptance. 

7.2. Contractor Personnel.  Contractor warrants that its personnel will perform their duties under 
the Contract in a professional manner, applying the requisite skills and knowledge, consistent 
with industry standards, and in accordance with the requirements of the Contract. Contractor 
further warrants that its key personnel will maintain any certifications relevant to their work, 
and Contractor shall provide individual evidence of certification to State’s authorized 
representatives upon request. 

7.3. Intellectual Property.  Contractor warrants that the Materials and Services do not and will not 
infringe or violate any patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret, or other intellectual property 
rights or laws, except only to the extent the Specifications do not permit use of any other 
product and Contractor is not and cannot reasonably be expected to be aware of the 
infringement or violation. 

7.4. Licenses and Permits Contractor warrants that it will maintain all licenses required under 
paragraph 3.7 [Contractor Licenses] and all required permits valid and in force. 

7.5. Operational Continuity Contractor warrants that it will perform without relief notwithstanding 
being sold or acquired; no such event will operate to mitigate or alter any of Contractor’s 
duties hereunder absent a consented delegation under paragraph 5 [Assignment and 
Delegation] that expressly recognizes the event. 

7.6. Performance in Public Health Emergency Contractor warrants that it will: 

7.6.1. have in effect, promptly after commencement, a plan for continuing performance in 
the event of a declared public health emergency that addresses, at a minimum:  

7.6.1.1. identification of response personnel by name;  



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 49 

7.6.1.2. key succession and performance responses in the event of sudden and 
significant decrease in workforce; and  

7.6.1.3. alternative avenues to keep sufficient product on hand or in the supply 
chain;  

7.6.2. provide a copy of its current plan to State within 3 (three) business days after State’s 
written request. If Contractor claims relief under paragraph 6.5 [Force Majeure] for 
an occurrence of force majeure that is a declared public health emergency, then 
that relief will be conditioned on Contractor having first implemented its plan and 
exhausted all reasonable opportunity for that plan implementation to overcome the 
effects of that occurrence, or mitigate those effects to the extent that overcoming 
entirely is not practicable. 

7.6.3. A request from the State related to this Section does not necessarily indicate that 
there has been an occurrence of force majeure, and the Contractor will not be 
entitled to any additional compensation or extension of time by virtue of having to 
implement a plan.  

7.6.4. Failure to have or implement an appropriate plan will be a material breach of 
contract. 

7.7. Lobbying 

7.7.1. Prohibition. Contractor warrants that it will not engage in lobbying activities, as 
defined in 40 Code of Federal Regulations  (CFR) part 34 and A.R.S. § 41-1231, et 
seq., using monies awarded under the Contract, provided that, the foregoing does 
not intend to constrain Contractor's use of its own monies or property, including 
without limitation any net proceeds duly realized under the Contract or any value 
thereafter derived from those proceeds; and upon award of the Contract, it will 
disclose all lobbying activities to State to the extent they are an actual or potential 
conflict of interest or where such activities could create an appearance of 
impropriety. Contractor shall implement and maintain adequate controls to assure 
compliance with (a) above. Contractor shall obtain an equivalent warranty from all 
Subcontractors and shall include an equivalent no-lobbying provision in all 
Subcontracts. 

7.7.2. Exception.  This paragraph does not apply to the extent that the Services are 
defined in the Contract as being lobbying for State’s benefit or on State’s behalf. 

7.8. Survival of Warranty.  All representations and warranties made by Contractor under the 
Contract will survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Contract. 

8. This section intentionally left blank. 

9. This section intentionally left blank. 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 50 

10. This section intentionally left blank. 

11. General Provisions for Services 

11.1. Applicability.  Article 11 applies to the extent the Work is or includes Services. 

11.2. Comprehensive Services.  Contractor shall provide the comprehensive range of services 
for which a price is established Offering in the Pricing Document for ordering by Eligible 
Agencies and Co-Op Buyers, if co-op buying applies. 

11.3. Additional Services. State at its discretion may modify the scope of the Contract by Contract 
Amendment to include additional services or service categories that are within the general 
scope of the ones originally covered by the Contract if it determines that doing so is in its 
best interest. Once the Contract Amendment is fully executed, Contractor shall then update 
all applicable price lists and make them available to all affected entities at no additional cost. 
Either party may make the request to add services to the Contract; regardless of who makes 
the request, the parties shall negotiate in good faith a fair price for any additional services, 
but State may elect not to add some or all of the services in question if no agreement is 
reached on pricing in a timely manner. Contractor’s request or proposal in response to State’s 
request must include documentation demonstrating that the proposed price for the additional 
services is both fair and reasonable and comparable to the original ones. 

11.4. Off-Contract Services.  Contractor shall ensure that the design and/or procedures for the 
Services ordering method prevents Orders for off-contract or excluded services. 
Notwithstanding that State might have its own internal administrative rules regarding off-
contract or excluded service ordering, and endeavors to prevent such orders from occurring, 
Contractor is responsible for not accepting any such Orders. State may, at its discretion, 
cancel any such Order without obligation. As used above, “off-contract service” refers to any 
service not included in the scope of the Contract and for which no price or compensation has 
been established contractually, and “excluded service” refers to any service expressly 
excluded from the scope of the Contract. 

11.5. Removal of Personnel. Notwithstanding that Contractor is in every circumstance 
responsible for hiring, assigning, directing, managing, training, disciplining, and rewarding its 
personnel, State may at its discretion and without the obligation to demonstrate cause 
instruct Contractor to remove any of its personnel from State’s facilities or from further 
assignment under the Contract. In such cases, Contractor shall promptly replace them with 
other personnel having equivalent qualifications, experience, and capabilities. 

11.6. Transitions. During commencement, Contractor shall attend transition meetings with any 
outgoing vendors to coordinate and ease the transition so that the effect on State’s 
operations is kept to a minimum. State may elect to have outgoing vendors complete some 
or all of their work or orders in progress to ease the transition as is safest and most efficient 
in each instance, even if that scope is covered under the Contract. Conversely, State 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 51 

anticipates having a continued need for the same materials and services upon expiration or 
earlier termination of the Contract. Accordingly, Contractor shall work closely with any new 
(incoming) vendor and State to ensure as smooth and complete a transfer as is practicable. 
State’s representative shall coordinate all transition activities and facilitate joint development 
of a comprehensive transition plan by both Contractor and the incoming vendor. As with the 
incoming transition, State may permit Contractor (outgoing) to complete work or orders in 
progress to ease the transition as is safest and most efficient in each instance. 

11.7. Accuracy of Work.  Contractor is responsible for the accuracy of the Services, and shall 
promptly make all necessary revisions or corrections resulting from errors and omissions on 
its part without additional compensation. Acceptance by State will not relieve Contractor of 
responsibility for correction of any errors discovered subsequently or necessary clarification 
of any ambiguities. 

11.8. Requirements at Services.  Contractor personnel shall perform their assigned portions of 
the Services at the specific location indicated in the Order (if applicable). Contractor 
acknowledges that the location might be inside an industrial building, institutional building, or 
one of various office types and classes. Additionally, if performing the Services requires 
Contractor personnel to work inside a secured perimeter at certain institutional facilities such 
as prisons where prior clearances are required, Contractor shall contact the facility directly 
to confirm its most-current security clearance procedures, allowable hours for work, visitor 
dress code, and other applicable rules. State will neither allow extra charges for wait time, 
comebacks, or the like nor excuse late performance if Contractor has failed to make the 
confirmation or comply with the applicable conditions. 

11.9. Services Acceptance. State has the right to make acceptance of Services subject to 
acceptance criteria. State may apply acceptance criteria conformity to the Contract, 
accuracy, completeness, or other indicators of quality or other matter for which the Contract 
or law states a requirement, whether stated directly or by reference to another document, 
standard, reference specification, etc. State will not owe Contractor any payment for 
unaccepted Services; and State may, at its discretion, withhold or make partial payment for 
any rejected Services if Contractor is still in the process of re-performing or otherwise curing 
the grounds for State’s rejection. 

11.10. Corrective Action Required. Notwithstanding any other guarantees, general warranties, or 
particular warranties Contractor has given under the Contract, if Contractor fails to perform 
any material portion of the Services, including failing to complete any contractual deliverable, 
or if its performance fails to meet agreed-upon service levels or service standards set out in 
or referred to in the Contract, then Contractor shall perform a root-cause analysis to identify 
the source of the failure and use all commercially reasonable efforts to correct the failure and 
meet the Contract requirements as promptly as is practicable.  

11.10.1. Contractor shall provide to State a report detailing the identified cause and 
setting out its detailed corrective action plan promptly after the date the failure 
occurred (or the date when the failure first became apparent, if it was not 
apparent immediately after occurrence).  



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 52 

11.10.2. State may demand to review and approve Contractor’s analysis and plans, and 
Contractor shall make any corrections State instructs and adopt State’s 
recommendations so far as is commercially practicable, provided that State may 
insist on any measures it determines within reason to be necessary for safety or 
protecting property and the environment. 

11.10.3. Contractor shall take the necessary action(s) to avoid any like failure in the future 
if doing so is appropriate and practicable under the circumstances  

12. Data and Information Handling 

12.1. Applicability.  Article 12 applies to the extent the Work includes handling of any (1) State’s 
proprietary and sensitive data or (2) confidential or access-restricted information obtained 
from State or from others at State’s behest. 

12.2. Data Protection and Confidentiality of Information. Contractor warrants that it will 
establish and maintain procedures and controls acceptable to State for ensuring that State’s 
proprietary and sensitive data is protected from unauthorized access and information 
obtained from State or others in performance of its contractual duties is not mishandled, 
misused, or inappropriately released or disclosed. For purposes of this paragraph, all data 
created by Contractor in any way related to the Contract, provided to Contractor by State, or 
prepared by others for State are proprietary to State, and all information by those same 
avenues is State’s confidential information. To comply with the foregoing warrant: 

12.2.1. Contractor shall: (a) notify State immediately of any unauthorized access or 
inappropriate disclosures, whether stemming from an external security breach, 
internal breach, system failure, or procedural lapse; (b) cooperate with State to 
identify the source or cause and respond to each unauthorized access or 
inappropriate disclosure; and (c) notify State promptly of any security threat that 
could result in unauthorized access or inappropriate disclosures; and 

12.2.2. Contractor shall not: (a) release any such data or allow it to be released or 
divulge any such information to anyone other than its employees or officers as 
needed for each person’s individual performance of his or her duties under the 
Contract, unless State has agreed otherwise in advance and in writing; or (b) 
respond to any requests it receives from a third party for such data or information, 
and instead route all such requests to State’s designated representative.  

12.3. Personally Identifiable Information. Without limiting the generality of paragraph 13.2, 
Contractor warrants that it will protect any personally identifiable information (“PII”) belonging 
to State’s employees or other contractors or members of the general public that it receives 
from State or otherwise acquires in its performance under the Contract. For purposes of this 
paragraph:  



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 53 

12.3.1. PII has the meaning given in the [federal] Office of Management and Budget 
(OMB) Memorandum M-17-12 Preparing for and Responding to a Breach of 
Personally Identifiable Information, January 3, 2017; and 

12.3.2. “protect” means taking measures to safeguard personally identifiable information 
and prevent its breach that are functionally equivalent to those called for in that 
OMB memorandum and elaborated on in the [federal] General Services 
Administration (GSA) Directive CIO P 2180.1 GSA Rules of Behavior for 
Handling Personally Identifiable Information.  

NOTE (1): For convenience of reference only, the OMB memorandum is available at: 
https://dpcld.defense.gov/Privacy/Authorities-and-Guidance/   

NOTE (2): For convenience of reference only, the GSA directive is available at: 
https://www.gsa.gov/directive/gsa-rules-of-behavior-for-handling-personally-
identifiable-information-(pii)-  

  
12.4. Protected Health Information. Contractor warrants that, to the extent performance under 

Contract involves individually identifiable health information (referred to hereinafter as 
protected health information (“PHI”) and electronic PHI (“ePHI”) as defined in the Privacy 
Rule referred to below), it: 

12.4.1. is familiar with and will comply with the applicable aspects of the following 
collective regulatory requirements regarding patient information privacy 
protection: (a) the “Privacy Rule” in CFR 45 Part 160 and Part 164 pursuant to 
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) of 1996; (b) 
Arizona laws, rules, and regulations applicable to PHI/ePHI that are not 
preempted by CFR45-160(B) or the Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
of 1974 (“ERISA”) as amended; and (c) State’s current and published PHI/ePHI 
privacy and security policies and procedures; 

12.4.2. will cooperate with State in the course of performing under the Contract so that 
both State and Contractor stay in compliance with the requirements in (1) above; 
and 

12.4.3. will sign any documents that are reasonably necessary to keep both State and 
Contractor in compliance with the requirements in (1) above, in particular 
“Business Associate Agreements” in accordance with the Privacy Rule.  

NOTE: For convenience of reference only, the Privacy Rule is available at: 
http://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/index.html 

  
13. Information Technology Work 

https://dpcld.defense.gov/Privacy/Authorities-and-Guidance/
https://www.gsa.gov/directive/gsa-rules-of-behavior-for-handling-personally-identifiable-information-(pii)-
https://www.gsa.gov/directive/gsa-rules-of-behavior-for-handling-personally-identifiable-information-(pii)-
http://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/index.html


 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 54 

13.1. Applicability  Article 13 applies to any Invitation for Bids, Request for Proposals, or Request 
for Quotations for "Information Technology," as defined In A.R.S. §18-101 -6 “…all 
computerized and auxiliary automated information processing, telecommunications and 
related technology, including hardware, software, vendor support and related services, 
equipment and projects,” if and to the extent that the Work is or includes Information 
Technology. 

13.2. Background Checks  Each Contractor's personnel who is an applicant for an information 
technology position must undergo the security clearance and background check procedure, 
which includes fingerprinting, as required by A.R.S. §41-710.  Contractor shall obtain and 
pay for the security clearance and background check. Contractor personnel who will have 
administrator privileges on a State network must additionally provide identity and address 
verification and undergo State-specified training for unescorted access, confidentiality, 
privacy, and data security  

13.3. Information Access                  

13.3.1. SYSTEM MEASURES. Contractor shall employ appropriate system 
management and maintenance, fraud prevention and detection, and encryption 
application and tools to any systems or networks containing or transmitting 
State’s proprietary data or confidential information. 

13.3.2. INDIVIDUAL MEASURES. Contractor personnel shall comply with applicable 
State policies and procedures regarding data access, privacy, and security, 
including prohibitions on remote access and obtaining and maintaining access 
identifications (IDs) and passwords. Contractor is responsible to State for 
ensuring that any State access IDs and passwords are used only by the person 
to whom they were issued. Contractor shall ensure that personnel are only 
provided the minimum only such level of access necessary to perform his or 
duties. Contractor shall on request, provide a current register of the access IDs 
and passwords and corresponding access levels currently assigned to its 
personnel. 

13.3.3. ACCESS CONTROL. Contractor is responsible to State for ensuring that 
hardware, software, data, information, and that has been provided by State or 
belongs to or is in the custody of State and is accessed or accessible by 
Contractor personnel is only used in connection with carrying out the Work and 
is never commercially exploited in any manner whatsoever not expressly 
permitted under the Contract. State may restrict access of Contractor personnel, 
or instruct Contractor to restrict their access, if in its determination the 
requirements of this subparagraph are not being met. 

13.4. Pass-Through Indemnity         



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 55 

13.4.1. INDEMNITY FROM THIRD PARTY. For computer hardware or software 
included in the Work as discrete units that were manufactured or developed 
solely by a third party, Contractor may satisfy its indemnification obligations 
under the Contract by, to the extent permissible by law, passing through to State 
such indemnity as it receives from the third-party source (each a “Pass-Through 
Indemnity”) and cooperating with State in enforcing that indemnity. If the third 
party fails to honor its Pass-Through Indemnity, or if a Pass-Through Indemnity 
is insufficient to indemnify State Indemnitees to the extent and degree, 
Contractor is required to do by the Uniform Terms and Conditions, then 
Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless State Indemnitees to the 
extent the Pass-Through Indemnity does not.  

13.4.2. NOTIFY OF CLAIMS. State shall notify Contractor promptly of any claim to which 
a Pass-Through Indemnity might apply. Contractor, with reasonable consultation 
from State, shall control of the defense of any action on any claim to which a 
Pass-Through Indemnity applies, including negotiations for settlement or 
compromise, provided that: 

13.4.2.1. State reserves the right to elect to participate in the action at its own 
expense; 

13.4.2.2. State reserves the right to approve or reject any settlement or 
compromise on reasonable grounds and if done so timely; and 

13.4.2.3. State shall in any case cooperate in the defense and any related 
settlement negotiations. 

  
13.5. Systems and Controls  In consideration for State having agreed to permit Pass-Through 

Indemnities in lieu of direct indemnity, Contractor agrees to establish and keep in place 
systems and controls appropriate to ensure that State funds under this Contract are not 
knowingly used for the acquisition, operation, or maintenance of Materials or Services in 
violation of intellectual property laws or a third party’s intellectual property rights.  

13.6. Redress of Infringement         

13.6.1. REPLACE, LICENSE, OR MODIFY. If Contractor becomes aware that any 
Materials or Services infringe, or are likely to be infringing, on any third party’s 
intellectual property rights, then Contractor shall, at its sole cost and expense 
and in consultation with State, either: 

13.6.1.1. replace any infringing items with non-infringing ones; 

13.6.1.2. obtain for State the right to continue using the infringing items; or 

13.6.1.3. modify the infringing items so that they become non-infringing, so long as 
they continue to function as specified following the modification. 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 56 

13.6.2. CANCELLATION OPTION. In every case under 13.6.1, if none of those options 
can reasonably be accomplished, or if the continued use of the infringing items 
is impracticable, State may cancel the relevant Order or terminate the Contract, 
and Contractor shall take back the infringing items. If State does cancel the Order 
or terminate the Contract, Contractor shall refund to State: 

13.6.2.1. for any software created for State under the Contract, the amount State 
paid to Contactor for creating it; 

13.6.2.2. for all other Materials, the net book value of the product provided 
according to generally accepted accounting principles; and 

13.6.2.3. for Services, the amount paid by State or an amount equal to 12 (twelve) 
months of charges, whichever is less. 

13.6.3. EXCEPTIONS. Contractor will not be liable for any claim of infringement based 
solely on any of the following by a State Indemnitee:  

13.6.3.1. modification or use of Materials other than as contemplated by the 
Contract or expressly authorized or proposed by a Contractor Indemnitor;  

13.6.3.2. operation of Materials with any operating software other than that 
supplied by Contractor or authorized or proposed by a Contractor 
Indemnitor; or 

13.6.3.3. combination or use with other products in a manner not contemplated by 
the Contract or expressly authorized or proposed by a Contractor 
Indemnitor. 

13.7. First Party Liability Limitation 

13.7.1. LIMIT. Subject to the provisos that follow below and unless stated otherwise in 
the Special Terms and Conditions, State’s and Contractor’s respective first party 
liability arising from or related to the Contract is limited to the greater of 
$1,000,000 (one million dollars) or 3 (three) times the purchase price of the 
specific Materials or Services giving rise to the claim. 

13.7.2. PROVISOS. This paragraph limits liability for first party direct, indirect, incidental, 
special, punitive, and consequential damages relating to the Work regardless of 
the legal theory under which the liability is asserted. This paragraph does not 
limit liability arising from any: 

13.7.2.1. Indemnified Claim against which Contractor has indemnified State 
Indemnitees under paragraph 6.3; 

13.7.2.2. claim against which Contractor has indemnified State Indemnitees under 
paragraph 6.4; or  



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 57 

13.7.2.3. provision of the Contract calling for liquidated damages or specifying 
amounts or percentages as being at-risk or subject to deduction for 
performance deficiencies. 

13.7.3. PURCHASE PRICE DETERMINATION. If the Contract is for a single-agency 
and a single Order (or if no Order applies), then “purchase price” in 
Subparagraph 13.7.1 above means the aggregate Contract price current at the 
time of Contract expiration or earlier termination, including all Contract 
Amendments having an effect on the aggregate price through that date. In all 
other cases, “purchase price” above means the total price of the Order for the 
specific equipment, software, or services giving rise to the claim, and therefore 
a separate limit will apply to each Order. 

13.7.4. NO EFFECT ON INSURANCE. This paragraph does not modify the required 
coverage limits, terms, and conditions of, or any insured’s ability to claim against 
any insurance that Contractor is required by the Contract to provide, and 
Contractor shall obtain express endorsements that it does not.  

13.8. Information Technology Warranty 

13.8.1. SPECIFIED DESIGN. Where the Scope of Work for information technology, 
Work provides a detailed design specification or sets out specific performance 
requirements, Contractor warrants that the Work will provide all functionality 
material to the intended use stated in the Contract, provided that, the foregoing 
warranty does not extend to any portions of the Materials that are:  

13.8.1.1. modified or altered by anyone not authorized by Contractor to do so; 

13.8.1.2. maintained in a way inconsistent to any applicable manufacturer 
recommendations; or 

13.8.1.3. operated in a manner not within its intended use or environment. 

13.8.2. COTS SOFTWARE. With respect to Materials provided under the Contract that 
are commercial-off-the-shelf (COTS) software, Contractor warrants that:  

13.8.2.1. to the extent possible, it will test the software before delivery using 
commercially available virus detection software conforming to current 
industry standards;  

13.8.2.2. the COTS software will, to the best of its knowledge, at the time of 
delivery be free of viruses, backdoors, worms, spyware, malware, and 
other malicious code that could hamper performance, collect unlawfully 
any personally identifiable information, or prevent products from 
performing as required by the Contract; and 

13.8.2.3. it will provide a new or clean install of any COTS software that State has 
reason to believe contains harmful code. 



 

 

Special Terms and Conditions 
Request for Proposal 

Solicitation No. BPM004656 
Document Management Services 

Arizona Department of Administration 
State Procurement Office 

100 N 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, AZ 85007 

 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 58 

13.8.3. PAYMENT HAS NO EFFECT. The warranties in this paragraph are not affected 
by State’s inspection, testing, or payment. 

13.9. Specific Remedies. Unless expressly stated otherwise elsewhere in the Contract, State’s 
remedy for breach of warranty under paragraph 13.8 includes, at State’s discretion, re-
performance, repair, replacement, or refund of any amounts paid by State for the 
nonconforming Work, plus (in every case) Contractor’s payment of State’s additional, 
documented, and reasonable costs to procure materials or services equivalent in function, 
capability, and performance that was first called for. For clarification of intent, the foregoing 
obligations are limited by the limitation of liability in paragraph 13.7. If none of the forgoing 
options can reasonably be effected, or if the use of the materials by State is made impractical 
by the nonconformance, then State may seek any remedy available to it under law.  

13.10. Section 508 Compliance.  Unless specifically authorized in the Contract, any electronic or 
information technology offered to the State of Arizona under this Contract shall comply with 
A.R.S. §18-131 and §18-132 and Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, which 
requires that employees and members of the public shall have access to and use of 
information technology that is comparable to the access and use by employees and members 
of the public who are not individuals with disabilities. 

13.11. Cloud Applications The following are required for Contractor of any cloud solution that 
hosts State data outside of the State’s network or transmits and/or receives State data. 

13.11.1. Submit a completed Arizona Baseline Infrastructure Security Controls 
assessment spreadsheet as found at: https://aset.az.gov/resources/policies-
standards-and-procedures, and mitigate or install compensating controls for any 
issues of concern identified by State. Contractor is required to provide any 
requested documentation supporting the review of the assessment. The 
assessment shall be re-validated on a minimum annual basis.  

13.11.2. State reserves the right to conduct penetration tests or hire a third party to 
conduct penetration tests of the Contractor’s application. Contractor will be 
alerted in advance and arrangements made for an agreeable time. Contractor 
shall respond to all serious flaws discovered by providing an acceptable 
timeframe to resolve the issue and/or implement a compensating control. 

13.11.3. Contractor must submit a copy of system logs from the cloud system to the State 
of Arizona security team on a regular basis to be added to the State SIEM 
(Security Information Event Monitor) or IDS (Intrusion Detection System). 

13.11.4. Contractor must employ a government-rated cloud compartment to better protect 
sensitive or regulated State data. 

 
Uniform Terms and Conditions 

1. Definition of Terms: As used in this Solicitation and any resulting Contract, the terms listed below are 
defined as follows: 

https://aset.az.gov/resources/policies-standards-and-procedures
https://aset.az.gov/resources/policies-standards-and-procedures
https://aset.az.gov/resources/policies-standards-and-procedures


 
 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 59 

1.1. “Attachment” means any item the Solicitation requires the Offeror to submit as part of the 
Offer. 

1.2. “Contract” means the combination of the Solicitation, including the Uniform and Special 
Instructions to Offerors, the Uniform and Special Terms and Conditions, and the 
Specifications and Statement or Scope of Work; the Offer and any Best and Final Offers; and 
any Solicitation Amendments or Contract Amendments. 

1.3. "Contract Amendment" means a written document signed by the Procurement Officer that is 
issued for the purpose of making changes in the Contract. 

1.4. “Contractor” means any person who has a Contract with the State. 

1.5. “Days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified. 

1.6. “Exhibit” means any item labeled as an Exhibit in the Solicitation or placed in the Exhibits 
section of the Solicitation. 

1.7. “Gratuity” means a payment, loan, subscription, advance, deposit of money, services, or 
anything of more than nominal value, present or promised, unless consideration of 
substantially equal or greater value is received. 

1.8. “Materials” means all property, including equipment, supplies, printing, insurance and leases 
of property but does not include land, a permanent interest in land or real property or leasing 
space. 

1.9. “Procurement Officer” means the person, or his or her designee, duly authorized by the State 
to enter into and administer Contracts and make written determinations with respect to the 
Contract. 

1.10. “Services” means the furnishing of labor, time or effort by a contractor or subcontractor which 
does not involve the delivery of a specific end product other than required reports and 
performance, but does not include employment agreements or collective bargaining 
agreements. 

1.11. “Subcontract” means any Contract, express or implied, between the Contractor and another 
party or between a subcontractor and another party delegating or assigning, in whole or in 
part, the making or furnishing of any material or any service required for the performance of 
the Contract. 

1.12. “State” means the State of Arizona and Department or Agency of the State that executes the 
Contract. 

1.13. “State Fiscal Year” means the period beginning with July 1 and ending June 30. 

2. Contract Interpretation 

2.1. Arizona Law. The Arizona law applies to this Contract including, where applicable, the 
Uniform Commercial Code as adopted by the State of Arizona and the Arizona Procurement 
Code, Arizona Revised Statutes (A.R.S.) Title 41, Chapter 23, and its implementing rules, 
Arizona Administrative Code (A.A.C.) Title 2, Chapter 7. 

2.2. Implied Contract Terms. Each provision of law and any terms required by law to be in this 
Contract are a part of this Contract as if fully stated in it. 

2.3. Contract Order of Precedence. In the event of a conflict in the provisions of the Contract, as 
accepted by the State and as they may be amended, the following shall prevail in the order 
set forth below: 



 
 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 60 

2.3.1. Special Terms and Conditions; 

2.3.2. Uniform Terms and Conditions; 

2.3.3. Statement or Scope of Work; 

2.3.4. Specifications; 

2.3.5. Attachments; 

2.3.6. Exhibits; 

2.3.7. Documents referenced or included in the Solicitation. 

 
2.4. Relationship of Parties. The Contractor under this Contract is an independent Contractor. 

Neither party to this Contract shall be deemed to be the employee or agent of the other party 
to the Contract. 

2.5. Severability. The provisions of this Contract are severable. Any term or condition deemed 
illegal or invalid shall not affect any other term or condition of the Contract. 

2.6. No Parole Evidence. This Contract is intended by the parties as a final and complete 
expression of their agreement. No course of prior dealings between the parties and no usage 
of the trade shall supplement or explain any terms used in this document and no other 
understanding either oral or in writing shall be binding. 

2.7. No Waiver. Either party’s failure to insist on strict performance of any term or condition of the 
Contract shall not be deemed a waiver of that term or condition even if the party accepting 
or acquiescing in the nonconforming performance knows of the nature of the performance 
and fails to object to it. 

3. Contract Administration and Operation 

3.1. Records. Under A.R.S. § 35-214 and § 35-215, the Contractor shall retain and shall 
contractually require each subcontractor to retain all data and other “records” relating to the 
acquisition and performance of the Contract for a period of five years after the completion of 
the Contract. All records shall be subject to inspection and audit by the State at reasonable 
times. Upon request, the Contractor shall produce a legible copy of any or all such records. 

3.2. Non-Discrimination. The Contractor shall comply with State Executive Order No. 2009-09 
and all other applicable Federal and State laws, rules and regulations, including the 
Americans with Disabilities Act. 

3.3. Audit. Pursuant to ARS § 35-214, at any time during the term of this Contract and five (5) 
years thereafter, the Contractor’s or any subcontractor’s books and records shall be subject 
to audit by the State and, where applicable, the Federal Government, to the extent that the 
books and records relate to the performance of the Contract or Subcontract. 

3.4. Facilities Inspection and Materials Testing. The Contractor agrees to permit access to its 
facilities, subcontractor facilities and the Contractor’s processes or services, at reasonable 
times for inspection of the facilities or materials covered under this Contract. The State shall 
also have the right to test, at its own cost, the materials to be supplied under this Contract. 
Neither inspection of the Contractor’s facilities nor materials testing shall constitute final 
acceptance of the materials or services. If the State determines non-compliance of the 
materials, the Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of all costs incurred by the 
State for testing and inspection. 

3.5. Notices. Notices to the Contractor required by this Contract shall be made by the State to the 
person indicated on the Offer and Acceptance form submitted by the Contractor unless 



 
 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 61 

otherwise stated in the Contract. Notices to the State required by the Contract shall be made 
by the Contractor to the Solicitation Contact Person indicated on the Solicitation cover sheet, 
unless otherwise stated in the Contract. An authorized Procurement Officer and an 
authorized Contractor representative may change their respective person to whom notice 
shall be given by written notice to the other and an amendment to the Contract shall not be 
necessary. 

3.6. Advertising, Publishing and Promotion of Contract. The Contractor shall not use, advertise 
or promote information for commercial benefit concerning this Contract without the prior 
written approval of the Procurement Officer. 

3.7. Property of the State. Any materials, including reports, computer programs and other 
deliverables, created under this Contract are the sole property of the State. The Contractor 
is not entitled to a patent or copyright on those materials and may not transfer the patent or 
copyright to anyone else. The Contractor shall not use or release these materials without the 
prior written consent of the State. 

3.8. Ownership of Intellectual Property. Any and all intellectual property, including but not limited 
to copyright, invention, trademark, trade name, service mark, and/or trade secrets created or 
conceived pursuant to or as a result of this contract and any related subcontract (“Intellectual 
Property”), shall be work made for hire and the State shall be considered the creator of such 
Intellectual Property. The agency, department, division, board or commission of the State of 
Arizona requesting the issuance of this contract shall own (for and on behalf of the State) the 
entire right, title and interest to the Intellectual Property throughout the world. Contractor shall 
notify the State, within thirty (30) days, of the creation of any Intellectual Property by it or its 
subcontractor(s). Contractor, on behalf of itself and any subcontractor(s), agrees to execute 
any and all document(s) necessary to assure ownership of the Intellectual Property vests in 
the State and shall take no affirmative actions that might have the effect of vesting all or part 
of the Intellectual Property in any entity other than the State. The Intellectual Property shall 
not be disclosed by contractor or its subcontractor(s) to any entity not the State without the 
express written authorization of the agency, department, division, board or commission of 
the State of Arizona requesting the issuance of this contract. 

3.9. Federal Immigration and Nationality Act. The contractor shall comply with all federal, state 
and local immigration laws and regulations relating to the immigration status of their 
employees during the term of the contract. Further, the contractor shall flow down this 
requirement to all subcontractors utilized during the term of the contract. The State shall 
retain the right to perform random audits of contractor and subcontractor records or to inspect 
papers of any employee thereof to ensure compliance. Should the State determine that the 
contractor and/or any subcontractors be found noncompliant, the State may pursue all 
remedies allowed by law, including, but not limited to; suspension of work, termination of the 
contract for default and suspension and/or debarment of the contractor. 

3.10. E-Verify Requirements. In accordance with A.R.S. § 41-4401, Contractor warrants 
compliance with all Federal immigration laws and regulations relating to employees and 
warrants its compliance with Section A.R.S. § 23- 214, Subsection A. 

3.11. Offshore Performance of Work Prohibited. Any services that are described in the 
specifications or scope of work that directly serve the State of Arizona or its clients and 
involve access to secure or sensitive data or personal client data shall be performed within 
the defined territories of the United States. Unless specifically stated otherwise in the 
specifications, this paragraph does not apply to indirect or 'overhead' services, redundant 
back-up services or services that are incidental to the performance of the contract. This 
provision applies to work performed by subcontractors at all tiers. 

4. Costs and Payments 



 
 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 62 

4.1. Payments. Payments shall comply with the requirements of A.R.S. Titles 35 and 41, Net 30 
days. Upon receipt and acceptance of goods or services, the Contractor shall submit a 
complete and accurate invoice for payment from the State within thirty (30) days. 

4.2. Delivery. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract, all prices shall be F.O.B. Destination and 
shall include all freight delivery and unloading at the destination. 

4.3. Applicable Taxes 

4.3.1. Payment of Taxes. The Contractor shall be responsible for paying all applicable 
taxes. 

4.3.2. State and Local Transaction Privilege Taxes. The State of Arizona is subject to all 
applicable state and local transaction privilege taxes. Transaction privilege taxes 
apply to the sale and are the responsibility of the seller to remit. Failure to collect 
such taxes from the buyer does not relieve the seller from its obligation to remit 
taxes. 

4.3.3. Tax Indemnification. Contractor and all subcontractors shall pay all Federal, state 
and local taxes applicable to its operation and any persons employed by the 
Contractor. Contractor shall, and require all subcontractors to hold the State 
harmless from any responsibility for taxes, damages and interest, if applicable, 
contributions required under Federal, and/or state and local laws and regulations 
and any other costs including transaction privilege taxes, unemployment 
compensation insurance, Social Security and Worker’s Compensation. 

4.3.4. IRS W9 Form. In order to receive payment the Contractor shall have a current I.R.S. 
W9 Form on file with the State of Arizona, unless not required by law. 

4.4. Availability of Funds for the Next State fiscal year. Funds may not presently be available for 
performance under this Contract beyond the current state fiscal year. No legal liability on the 
part of the State for any payment may arise under this Contract beyond the current state 
fiscal year until funds are made available for performance of this Contract, 

4.5. Availability of Funds for the current State fiscal year. Should the State Legislature enter back 
into session and reduce the appropriations or for any reason and these goods or services 
are not funded, the State may take any of the following actions: 

4.5.1. Accept a decrease in price offered by the contractor; 

4.5.2. Cancel the Contract; or 

4.5.3. Cancel the contract and re-solicit the requirements. 

 
5. Contract Changes 

5.1. Amendments. This Contract is issued under the authority of the Procurement Officer who 
signed this Contract. The Contract may be modified only through a Contract Amendment 
within the scope of the Contract. Changes to the Contract, including the addition of work or 
materials, the revision of payment terms, or the substitution of work or materials, directed by 
a person who is not specifically authorized by the procurement officer in writing or made 
unilaterally by the Contractor are violations of the Contract and of applicable law. Such 
changes, including unauthorized written Contract Amendments shall be void and without 
effect, and the Contractor shall not be entitled to any claim under this Contract based on 
those changes. 



 
 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 63 

5.2. Subcontracts. The Contractor shall not enter into any Subcontract under this Contract for the 
performance of this contract without the advance written approval of the Procurement Officer. 
The Contractor shall clearly list any proposed subcontractors and the subcontractor’s 
proposed responsibilities. The Subcontract shall incorporate by reference the terms and 
conditions of this Contract. 

5.3. Assignment and Delegation. The Contractor shall not assign any right nor delegate any duty 
under this Contract without the prior written approval of the Procurement Officer. The State 
shall not unreasonably withhold approval. 

6. Risk and Liability 

6.1. Risk of Loss: The Contractor shall bear all loss of conforming material covered under this 
Contract until received by authorized personnel at the location designated in the purchase 
order or Contract. Mere receipt does not constitute final acceptance. The risk of loss for 
nonconforming materials shall remain with the Contractor regardless of receipt. 

6.2. Indemnification 

6.2.1. Contractor/Vendor Indemnification (Not Public Agency). The parties to this contract 
agree that the State of Arizona, its departments, agencies, boards and commissions 
shall be indemnified and held harmless by the contractor for the vicarious liability of 
the State as a result of entering into this contract. However, the parties further agree 
that the State of Arizona, its departments, agencies, boards and commissions shall 
be responsible for its own negligence. Each party to this contract is responsible for 
its own negligence. 

6.2.2. Public Agency Language Only Each party (as 'indemnitor') agrees to indemnify, 
defend, and hold harmless the other party (as 'indemnitee') from and against any 
and all claims, losses, liability, costs, or expenses (including reasonable attorney's 
fees) (hereinafter collectively referred to as 'claims') arising out of bodily injury of 
any person (including death) or property damage but only to the extent that such 
claims which result in vicarious/derivative liability to the indemnitee, are caused by 
the act, omission, negligence, misconduct, or other fault of the indemnitor, its 
officers, officials, agents, employees, or volunteers." 

6.3. Indemnification - Patent and Copyright. The Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless 
the State against any liability, including costs and expenses, for infringement of any patent, 
trademark or copyright arising out of Contract performance or use by the State of materials 
furnished or work performed under this Contract. The State shall reasonably notify the 
Contractor of any claim for which it may be liable under this paragraph. If the contractor is 
insured pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-621 and § 35-154, this section shall not apply. 

6.4. Force Majeure. 

6.4.1. Except for payment of sums due, neither party shall be liable to the other nor 
deemed in default under this Contract if and to the extent that such party’s 
performance of this Contract is prevented by reason of force majeure. The term 
“force majeure” means an occurrence that is beyond the control of the party affected 
and occurs without its fault or negligence. Without limiting the foregoing, force 
majeure includes acts of God; acts of the public enemy; war; riots; strikes; 
mobilization; labor disputes; civil disorders; fire; flood; lockouts; injunctions-
intervention-acts; or failures or refusals to act by government authority; and other 
similar occurrences beyond the control of the party declaring force majeure which 
such party is unable to prevent by exercising reasonable diligence. 



 
 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 64 

6.4.2. Force Majeure shall not include the following occurrences: 

6.4.2.1. Late delivery of equipment or materials caused by congestion at a 
manufacturer’s plant or elsewhere, or an oversold condition of the 
market; 
 

6.4.2.2. Late performance by a subcontractor unless the delay arises out of a 
force majeure occurrence in accordance with this force majeure term 
and condition; or 
 

6.4.2.3. Inability of either the Contractor or any subcontractor to acquire or 
maintain any required insurance, bonds, licenses or permits. 
 

6.4.3. If either party is delayed at any time in the progress of the work by force majeure, 
the delayed party shall notify the other party in writing of such delay, as soon as is 
practicable and no later than the following working day, of the commencement 
thereof and shall specify the causes of such delay in such notice. Such notice shall 
be delivered or mailed certified-return receipt and shall make a specific reference 
to this article, thereby invoking its provisions. The delayed party shall cause such 
delay to cease as soon as practicable and shall notify the other party in writing when 
it has done so. The time of completion shall be extended by Contract Amendment 
for a period of time equal to the time that results or effects of such delay prevent 
the delayed party from performing in accordance with this Contract. 

6.4.4. Any delay or failure in performance by either party hereto shall not constitute default 
hereunder or give rise to any claim for damages or loss of anticipated profits if, and 
to the extent that such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

6.5. Third Party Antitrust Violations. The Contractor assigns to the State any claim for 
overcharges resulting from antitrust violations to the extent that those violations concern 
materials or services supplied by third parties to the Contractor, toward fulfillment of this 
Contract. 

7. Warranties 

7.1. Liens. The Contractor warrants that the materials supplied under this Contract are free of 
liens and shall remain free of liens. 

7.2. Quality. Unless otherwise modified elsewhere in these terms and conditions, the Contractor 
warrants that, for one year after acceptance by the State of the materials, they shall be: 

7.2.1. Of a quality to pass without objection in the trade under the Contract description; 

7.2.2. Fit for the intended purposes for which the materials are used; 

7.2.3. Within the variations permitted by the Contract and are of even kind, quantity, and 
quality within each unit and among all units; 

7.2.4. Adequately contained, packaged and marked as the Contract may require; and 

7.2.5. Conform to the written promises or affirmations of fact made by the Contractor. 

7.3. Fitness. The Contractor warrants that any material supplied to the State shall fully conform 
to all requirements of the Contract and all representations of the Contractor, and shall be fit 
for all purposes and uses required by the Contract. 



 
 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 65 

7.4. Inspection/Testing. The warranties set forth in subparagraphs 7.1 through 7.3 of this 
paragraph are not affected by inspection or testing of or payment for the materials by the 
State. 

7.5. Compliance With Applicable Laws. The materials and services supplied under this Contract 
shall comply with all applicable Federal, state and local laws, and the Contractor shall 
maintain all applicable license and permit requirements. 

7.6. Survival of Rights and Obligations after Contract Expiration or Termination. 

7.6.1. Contractor's Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties 
made by the Contractor under this Contract shall survive the expiration or 
termination hereof. In addition, the parties hereto acknowledge that pursuant to 
A.R.S. § 12-510, except as provided in A.R.S. § 12- 529, the State is not subject to 
or barred by any limitations of actions prescribed in A.R.S., Title 12, Chapter 5. 

7.6.2. Purchase Orders. The Contractor shall, in accordance with all terms and conditions 
of the Contract, fully perform and shall be obligated to comply with all purchase 
orders received by the Contractor prior to the expiration or termination hereof, 
unless otherwise directed in writing by the Procurement Officer, including, without 
limitation, all purchase orders received prior to but not fully performed and satisfied 
at the expiration or termination of this Contract. 

8. State's Contractual Remedies 

8.1. Right to Assurance. If the State in good faith has reason to believe that the Contractor does 
not intend to, or is unable to perform or continue performing under this Contract, the 
Procurement Officer may demand in writing that the Contractor give a written assurance of 
intent to perform. Failure by the Contractor to provide written assurance within the number 
of Days specified in the demand may, at the State’s option, be the basis for terminating the 
Contract under the Uniform Terms and Conditions or other rights and remedies available by 
law or provided by the contract. 

8.2. Stop Work Order. 

8.2.1. The State may, at any time, by written order to the Contractor, require the 
Contractor to stop all or any part of the work called for by this Contract for period(s) 
of days indicated by the State after the order is delivered to the Contractor. The 
order shall be specifically identified as a stop work order issued under this clause. 
Upon receipt of the order, the Contractor shall immediately comply with its terms 
and take all reasonable steps to minimize the incurrence of costs allocable to the 
work covered by the order during the period of work stoppage. 

8.2.2. If a stop work order issued under this clause is canceled or the period of the order 
or any extension expires, the Contractor shall resume work. The Procurement 
Officer shall make an equitable adjustment in the delivery schedule or Contract 
price, or both, and the Contract shall be amended in writing accordingly. 

8.2.3. Non-exclusive Remedies. The rights and the remedies of the State under this 
Contract are not exclusive. 

8.3. Nonconforming Tender. Materials or services supplied under this Contract shall fully comply 
with the Contract. The delivery of materials or services or a portion of the materials or 
services that do not fully comply constitutes a breach of contract. On delivery of 
nonconforming materials or services, the State may terminate the Contract for default under 



 
 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 66 

applicable termination clauses in the Contract, exercise any of its rights and remedies under 
the Uniform Commercial Code, or pursue any other right or remedy available to it. 

8.4. Right of Offset. The State shall be entitled to offset against any sums due the Contractor, 
any expenses or costs incurred by the State, or damages assessed by the State concerning 
the Contractor’s non-conforming performance or failure to perform the Contract, including 
expenses, costs and damages described in the Uniform Terms and Conditions. 

9. Contract Termination 

9.1. Cancellation for Conflict of Interest. Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-511, the State may cancel this 
Contract within three (3) years after Contract execution without penalty or further obligation 
if any person significantly involved in initiating, negotiating, securing, drafting or creating the 
Contract on behalf of the State is or becomes at any time while the Contract or an extension 
of the Contract is in effect an employee of or a consultant to any other party to this Contract 
with respect to the subject matter of the Contract. The cancellation shall be effective when 
the Contractor receives written notice of the cancellation unless the notice specifies a later 
time. If the Contractor is a political subdivision of the State, it may also cancel this Contract 
as provided in A.R.S. § 38- 511.  

9.2. Gratuities. The State may, by written notice, terminate this Contract, in whole or in part, if the 
State determines that employment or a Gratuity was offered or made by the Contractor or a 
representative of the Contractor to any officer or employee of the State for the purpose of 
influencing the outcome of the procurement or securing the Contract, an amendment to the 
Contract, or favorable treatment concerning the Contract, including the making of any 
determination or decision about contract performance. The State, in addition to any other 
rights or remedies, shall be entitled to recover exemplary damages in the amount of three 
times the value of the Gratuity offered by the Contractor. 

9.3. Suspension or Debarment. The State may, by written notice to the Contractor, immediately 
terminate this Contract if the State determines that the Contractor has been debarred, 
suspended or otherwise lawfully prohibited from participating in any public procurement 
activity, including but not limited to, being disapproved as a subcontractor of any public 
procurement unit or other governmental body. Submittal of an offer or execution of a contract 
shall attest that the contractor is not currently suspended or debarred. If the contractor 
becomes suspended or debarred, the contractor shall immediately notify the State. 

9.4. Termination for Convenience. The State reserves the right to terminate the Contract, in whole 
or in part at any time when in the best interest of the State, without penalty or recourse. Upon 
receipt of the written notice, the Contractor shall stop all work, as directed in the notice, notify 
all subcontractors of the effective date of the termination and minimize all further costs to the 
State. In the event of termination under this paragraph, all documents, data and reports 
prepared by the Contractor under the Contract shall become the property of and be delivered 
to the State upon demand. The Contractor shall be entitled to receive just and equitable 
compensation for work in progress, work completed and materials accepted before the 
effective date of the termination. The cost principles and procedures provided in A.A.C. R2-
7-701 shall apply. 

9.5. Termination for Default. 



 
 

 
Solicitation Requirements (rev 06/22)                                                                                                                           Page 67 

9.5.1. In addition to the rights reserved in the contract, the State may terminate the 
Contract in whole or in part due to the failure of the Contractor to comply with any 
term or condition of the Contract, to acquire and maintain all required insurance 
policies, bonds, licenses and permits, or to make satisfactory progress in 
performing the Contract. The Procurement Officer shall provide written notice of the 
termination and the reasons for it to the Contractor. 

9.5.2. Upon termination under this paragraph, all goods, materials, documents, data and 
reports prepared by the Contractor under the Contract shall become the property 
of and be delivered to the State on demand. 

9.5.3. The State may, upon termination of this Contract, procure, on terms and in the 
manner that it deems appropriate, materials or services to replace those under this 
Contract. The Contractor shall be liable to the State for any excess costs incurred 
by the State in procuring materials or services in substitution for those due from the 
Contractor. 

9.6. Continuation of Performance Through Termination. The Contractor shall continue to perform, 
in accordance with the requirements of the Contract, up to the date of termination, as directed 
in the termination notice. 

10. Contract Claims 

All contract claims or controversies under this Contract shall be resolved according to A.R.S. Title 41, 
Chapter 23, Article 9, and rules adopted thereunder. 

11. Arbitration 

The parties to this Contract agree to resolve all disputes arising out of or relating to this contract 
through arbitration, after exhausting applicable administrative review, to the extent required by A.R.S. 
§ 12-1518, except as may be required by other applicable statutes (Title 41). 

12. Comments Welcome 

The State Procurement Office periodically reviews the Uniform Terms and Conditions and welcomes 
any comments you may have. Please submit your comments to: State Procurement Administrator, 
State Procurement Office, 100 North 15th Avenue, Phoenix, Arizona, 85007. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 1 of 6

PART 1: REQUEST FOR APPROVAL

A.

1. The format of the official records will be: Paper Microfilm

2.

3.

Phone:  (602) 926-3815  •  FAX:  (602) 256-2838  •  E-Mail:  records@azlibrary.gov
Revised 10/2019 An Equal Opportunity Employer

RECORDS SCANNED FOR ACCESS OR WEB DISSEMINATION ONLY

The Applicant will retain the official records only for the period specified on a records schedule 
approved by LAPR, and will suspend scheduled destruction of any record potentially responsive to 
reasonably foreseeable litigation, audit, or investigation. 

The Applicant may destroy copies of the records before, but not retain longer than, the approved 
retention period.

The agency [here after referred to as "Applicant"] requests authorization from the Arizona State Library, Archives and 
Public Records [here after referred to as "LAPR"], in accordance with ARS §41-151.16, to scan records described on the 
attached list and agrees to comply with the following conditions and standards:

See Attached list of record series to be imaged.

REFER TO THE MINIMUM STADARDS FOR DIGITAL IMAGING OR SCANNING OF TEXTUAL 
DOCUMENTS  BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FORM.  CHECK ALL OF THE CATEGORIES THAT APPLY 

IN PART 1 AND INITIAL ALL BOXES IN PART 2 OF THIS FORM.

Records for web dissimination only may be scanned at 150 dpi bitonal or higher.  The Applicant 
recognzes that the scanned web dissemination copy is not the official record, and will retain the official 
record for the period specified on a records schedule approved by LAPR.  Certified copies must be 
made from the official record.

Polly Rosenbaum State Archives and History Building
1901 W. Madison St.  •  Phoenix, Arizona  85009  •  Home Page:  http://www.azlibrary.gov/records

SUBMISSION DATE: EXPIRATION DATE:

Agency or Political 
Subdivision Title:

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS
A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA SECRETARY OF STATE

REQUEST FOR DOCUMENT IMAGING OF PUBLIC RECORDS
ARS §41-151.16 A. Each agency of this state or any of its political subdivisions may implement a program for the 
production or reproduction by photography or other method of reproduction on film, microfiche, digital imaging or 
other electronic media of records in its custody, whether obsolete or current, and classify, catalogue and index such 
records for convenient reference. The agency, before the institution of any such program of production or reproduction, 
shall obtain approval from the director of the types of records to be produced or reproduced and of the methods of 
production, reproduction and storage and the equipment which the agency proposes to use in connection with the 
production, reproduction and storage. Approval pursuant to this subsection is necessary for digitizing programs but not 
for individual instances of digitization. On approval from the director, the source documents may be destroyed, but only 
after an administrative audit and after safeguards are in place to protect the public records pursuant to section 41-
151.15, subsection A.



Page 2 of 6

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS
A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA SECRETARY OF STATE

REQUEST FOR DOCUMENT IMAGING OF PUBLIC RECORDS
4.

Applicant initials

5.
GIF PNG JPEG TIFF v64 PDF2 PDF/A3 JPG2000

6.

200 dpi grayscale 300

7.

8.

9.

B.

1. The format of the official records will be: Paper Digital Microfilm

2.

3.

4.
TIFF v61 or 4 PDF2 PDF/A3 JPG2000

5.

200 dpi grayscale 300

6.

7.

8.

Records will be scanned into the following file format(s):

Records will be scanned at the following minimum scan resolution:

IMAGING SYSTEM HAS ABILITY TO COMPLETELY 
PURGE/DESTROY/EXPUNGE OBSOLETE RECORDS (IMAGES)

OPEN SYSTEM ARCHITECTURE

NON PROPRIETARY HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE

IMAGING SYSTEM HAS ABILITY TO COMPLETELY 
PURGE/DESTROY/EXPUNGE OBSOLETE RECORDS (IMAGES)

OPEN SYSTEM ARCHITECTURE

Polly Rosenbaum State Archives and History Building
1901 W. Madison St.  •  Phoenix, Arizona  85009  •  Home Page:  http://www.azlibrary.gov/records

Phone:  (602) 926-3815  •  FAX:  (602) 256-2838  •  E-Mail:  records@azlibrary.gov
Revised 10/2019 An Equal Opportunity Employer

dpi 24-bit Color200 dpi Bitonal

200 dpi Bitonal

NON PROPRIETARY HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE

Records will be scanned at the following minimum scan resolution:

150 dpi Bitonal

TOTAL RETENTION THIRTY YEARS OR UNDER

Records will be scanned into the following file format(s):

For Permanent Records Only:  Per ARS 41-151.15 a. All records are the property of this state.  The 
official paper or microfilm record shall be kept by the Applicant or transferred to the State Archives for 
permanent retention.

The applicant recognizes that permanent records covered by this request meet or exceed the state 
standards per ARS 39.101.

The Applicant may destroy copies of the records before, but not retain longer than, the approved 
retention period.

The Applicant will retain the official records only for the period specified on a records schedule 
approved by LAPR, and will suspend scheduled destruction of any record potentially responsive to 
reasonably foreseeable litigation, audit, or investigation. 

dpi 24-bit Color

  Yes   No 

  Yes   No 

  Yes   No 

  Yes   No 

  Yes   No 

  Yes   No 



Page 3 of 6

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS
A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA SECRETARY OF STATE

REQUEST FOR DOCUMENT IMAGING OF PUBLIC RECORDS
C.

1.

2.

3.
TIFF v61 PDF2 PDF/A3

4.

600 dpi grayscale 600

5.

6.

7.

PART 2: GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL OPTIONS LISTED ABOVE

TOTAL RETENTION THIRTYONE YEARS OR LONGER (NOT PERMANENT)

The Applicant certifies that the images will use the most current versions of TIFF, JPG, or 
PDF for the file format and that the images will conform to the minimum standards.

Applicant initials

400 dpi Bitonal dpi 24-bit Color

Records will be scanned into the following file format(s):

Records will be scanned at the following minimum scan resolution:

Due to the long term retention of these records please identify and attach a copy of the study performed 
in the justification of the chosen imaging process:

For state agencies only:  The Applicant has submitted a Project Investment Justification (PIJ) to the 
Arizona Department of Administration/Arizona Strategic Enterprise Technology (ASET).

The Applicant certifies that a migration/exit plan has been developed and will be followed for 
all records approved under this request.

Applicant initials

The Applicant certifies that the digital images will be appropriately indexed for retrieval and 
retention period based on key data elements in the records (date, name of parties to the 
records, and other information specific to the particular records series).

Applicant initials

IMAGING SYSTEM HAS ABILITY TO COMPLETELY 
PURGE/DESTROY/EXPUNGE OBSOLETE RECORDS (IMAGES)

OPEN SYSTEM ARCHITECTURE

NON PROPRIETARY HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE

Applicant initials all below

The Applicant has read the Minimum Standards for Digital Imaging or Scanning Textual 
Documents and recognizes that the scanned records covered by this request meet or exceed 
the minimum standards.

Applicant initials 

Polly Rosenbaum State Archives and History Building
1901 W. Madison St.  •  Phoenix, Arizona  85009  •  Home Page:  http://www.azlibrary.gov/records

Phone:  (602) 926-3815  •  FAX:  (602) 256-2838  •  E-Mail:  records@azlibrary.gov
Revised 10/2019 An Equal Opportunity Employer

The Applicant will institute a quality control process that includes inspecting at least 20% of 
all records to ensure that all information on the scanned version is legible.

Applicant initials

The Applicant certifies that the benefits of digitizing these records justifies the costs and is 
ready to demonstrate that to any concerned party.

Applicant initials

The Applicant has attached the list of record series to be imaged. Applicant initials

Due to costs and long term commitment of information technology resources, the Applicant 
certifies they have discussed this scanning project with the CIO/CTO/ IT director, or 
equivalent, within your agency.

Applicant initials

   Yes    No 

   Yes    No 

   Yes    No 

   Yes    No 

  Feasibility   Cost/Benefit   PIJ (for State Agencies only) 



Page 4 of 6

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS
A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA SECRETARY OF STATE

REQUEST FOR DOCUMENT IMAGING OF PUBLIC RECORDS

PART 3:  AUTHORIZATION

REQUESTOR:

AUTHORIZED BY:

Date ApprovedDr. Dennis Preisler, State Archivist

Records Analyst (or designee) Date Approved
Records Management Center

Signature: Date:

Phone: E-Mail:

Agency or Political 
Subdivision Title:
Name (type or print): Title: Records Officer or Designee (type or print):

Phone:  (602) 926-3815  •  FAX:  (602) 256-2838  •  E-Mail:  records@azlibrary.gov
Revised 10/2019 An Equal Opportunity Employer

ACTION AUTHORIZED

As authorized under ARS §41-151.16, the Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records authorizes the Applicant to 
reproduce these records using electronic media following these procedures for a period of five years.  Failure to comply 
with these procedures is a violation of ARS §41-151.16.

Polly Rosenbaum State Archives and History Building
1901 W. Madison St.  •  Phoenix, Arizona  85009  •  Home Page:  http://www.azlibrary.gov/records



Page 5 of 6

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS
A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA SECRETARY OF STATE

REQUEST FOR DOCUMENT IMAGING OF PUBLIC RECORDS
ATTACHMENT:  RECORD SERIES TO BE IMAGED

Record Series Title as Stated on Approved Schedule Schedule Number or 
Date

Item #

Polly Rosenbaum State Archives and History Building
1901 W. Madison St.  •  Phoenix, Arizona  85009  •  Home Page:  http://www.azlibrary.gov/records

Phone:  (602) 926-3815  •  FAX:  (602) 256-2838  •  E-Mail:  records@azlibrary.gov
Revised 10/2019 An Equal Opportunity Employer



Page 6 of 6

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS
A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA SECRETARY OF STATE

REQUEST FOR DOCUMENT IMAGING OF PUBLIC RECORDS

1.

2.

3.

1.

1.

1.

2.

3.

1901 W. Madison St.  •  Phoenix, Arizona  85009  •  Home Page:  http://www.azlibrary.gov/records
Phone:  (602) 926-3815  •  FAX:  (602) 256-2838  •  E-Mail:  records@azlibrary.gov

Revised 10/2019 An Equal Opportunity Employer

Fill in the contact information for the requestor seeking approval.

ATTACHMENT:  RECORDS SERIES TO BE IMAGED

List the Record Series title(s) associated with this imaging request using the exact record series name(s) 
found on the approved Retention Schedule(s) being followed.

Enter either the schedule number or approved date for the Retention Schedule for each record series title.

Enter the item number for the record series title from the schedule for each record series title.

Polly Rosenbaum State Archives and History Building

The Minimum Standards for Digital Imaging or Scanning Textual Documents  may be found on the State 
Library, Archives and Records Management website at: 

https://azlibrary.gov/arm/guidance-standards-and-statutes

Check all applicable boxes for A, B and C and initial where required.

PART 2: GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL OPTIONS LISTED ABOVE

Initial all boxes for Applicant initials  to indicate you have read the general requirements.

PART 3:  AUTHORIZATION

INSTRUCTIONS

PART 1:  REQUEST FOR APPROVAL

In the top section enter the name of your Agency or Political Subdivision and include any subdivision 
breakdown for division, department or unit.

https://azlibrary.gov/arm/guidance-standards-and-statutes


Page 1 of 5

ARCHIVES AND RECORDS MANAGEMENT Submission date:

Approval date: Expiration date: Microfilm Control #:

A.

B.

Revised 10/2021

ARIZONA STATE

NON-PERMANENT RETENTION
The applicant agrees that the microfilm copy meets or exceeds state standards per ARS §39.101.

The applicant will institute a quality control process that includes inspecting at least 20% of  all records to 
ensure that all information on the microfilmed versions are legible.

REFER TO THE APPLICABLE LAPR STANDARDS BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FORM.  CHECK ALL 
OF THE CATEGORIES THAT APPLY IN PART 1 AND INITIAL ALL BOXES IN PART 2 OF THIS FORM.

PART 1:  APPROVAL

PERMANENT RETENTION
The applicant recognizes that archival (permanent) records covered by this request are to be retained permanently, 
and that the microfilm copy meets or exceeds the state standards per ARS §39.101.

The applicant recognizes that the microfilmed copy may become the official copy, and if the source records are to 
be destroyed, 100% of the records will be verified to ensure that all the information on the microfilmed versions 
is legible.

LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS
A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

MCN

REQUEST FOR MICROFILMING OF PUBLIC RECORDS
ARS §41-151.16 A. Each agency of this state or any of its political subdivisions may implement a program for the 
production or reproduction by photography or other method of reproduction on film, microfiche, digital imaging or 
other electronic media of records in its custody, whether obsolete or current, and classify, catalogue and index such 
records for convenient reference. The agency, before the institution of any such program of production or 
reproduction, shall obtain approval from the director of the types of records to be produced or reproduced and of the 
methods of production, reproduction and storage and the equipment which the agency proposes to use in connection 
with the production, reproduction and storage. Approval pursuant to this subsection is necessary for digitizing 
programs but not for individual instances of digitization. On approval from the director, the source documents may be 
destroyed, but only after an administrative audit and after safeguards are in place to protect the public records 
pursuant to section 41-151.15, subsection A.

Agency or Political Subdivision Title:
(here after referred to as "Applicant")

The Applicant requests authorization from the Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records [here after referred to as LAPR], in 
accordance with ARS §41-151.16, to microfilm records described below and agrees to comply with the conditions and standards in 
Parts 1 and 2:

Record Series Title as Stated on Approved Schedule Schedule Number or Date Item #



Page 2 of 5

ARCHIVES AND RECORDS MANAGEMENT Submission date:

Approval date: Expiration date: Microfilm Control #:

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS

A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

MCN

REQUEST FOR MICROFILMING OF PUBLIC RECORDS

C. MICROFILM INFORMATION

i.

State Records Management Center

ii. Processing performed by:

State Records Management Center

iii. Microfilm created using the following camera types:

Planetary Rotary Digital

iv. Film Format:

35mm 16mm (only permitted for letter/legal size source documents)

v. Copy for Office Use:

Microfilm Diazo Digital image

DIGITAL USE COPY

a.

b.

D.

Record Disaster recovery Reference use

E.

i. SILVER MASTER, 1ST GENERATION RECORD

State Archives
Vendor name

PHYSICAL LOCATION OF MICROFILM
The Applicant ensures that the microfilmed copies of the records are kept as specified on a records retention 
schedule approved by the Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records.  The microfilm will be retained as 
follows:

Submitting Agency State Records Management Center

Vendor

Revised 10/2021

Vendor name

A digital use copy will be created and will be retained for the period specified on a records schedule 
approved by LAPR.

The digital copy meets or exceeds the Minimum Standards for Digital Imaging or Scanning Textual 
Documents  standard.

MICROFILM WILL BE USED FOR:

Submitting Agency

Vendor
Vendor name

Submitting Agency

Vendor

Filming performed by:

 

 



Page 3 of 5

ARCHIVES AND RECORDS MANAGEMENT Submission date:

Approval date: Expiration date: Microfilm Control #:

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS

A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

MCN

REQUEST FOR MICROFILMING OF PUBLIC RECORDS

ii. SILVER DUPLICATE, 2ND GENERATION COPY

State Archives

iii. DIAZO DUPLICATES, 3RD GENERATION COPIES

State Archives

F. SOURCE DOCUMENTS WILL BE:

Retained Destroyed Transferred to State Archives

BY WHOM:

State Archives

PART 2:  CERTIFICATION

For 35mm film, the applicant certifies that records filmed may be larger than 11' x 14" and do 
not exceed 1:24 reduction.   (Standards for Permanent Records )

Applicant initials

For 35mm film of architectural, engineering and topographical drawings not exceeding 36" x 
48.6", the applicant certifies that records filmed do not exceed 1:30 reduction.  (Standards for 
Permanent Records)

Applicant initials

Applicant initials all below

The Applicant certifies that the microfilmed copies meet or exceed current state standards.
Applicant initials

The Applicant certifies that a Certificate of Compliance form is used to certify that the microfilm 
was processed in accordance with standards published by LAPR.  The certificate will be filed 
annually if the filming is not performed by LAPR, Records  Management Center.

Applicant initials

For 16mm film, the applicant certifies that records filmed do not exceed 11" x 14" with a 1:32 
reduction.   (Standards for Permanent Records )

Applicant initials

Revised 10/2021

Submitting Agency State Records Management Center

Vendor
Vendor name

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL OPTIONS LISTED ABOVE

Submitting Agency State Records Management Center

Vendor
Vendor name

Submitting Agency State Records Management Center

Vendor
Vendor name



Page 4 of 5

ARCHIVES AND RECORDS MANAGEMENT Submission date:

Approval date: Expiration date: Microfilm Control #:

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS

A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

MCN

REQUEST FOR MICROFILMING OF PUBLIC RECORDS

REQUESTOR:

AUTHORIZED BY:

Laura Palma-Blandford, Interim State Archivist Date Approved

Records Analyst (or designee) Date Approved

ACTION AUTHORIZED

As authorized under ARS §41-151.16, the Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records authorizes the Applicant 
to reproduce these records using the methods of production, reproduction and storage and the equipment which the 
agency proposes following these procedures for a period of five years.  Failure to comply with these procedures is a 
violation of ARS §41-151.16.

Polly Rosenbaum State Archives and History Building
1901 W. Madison St.  •  Phoenix, Arizona  85009  •  Home Page:  http://www.azlibrary.gov/records

Phone:  (602) 926-3815  •  FAX:  (602) 256-2838  •  E-Mail:  records@azlibrary.gov
Revised 10/2021 An Equal Opportunity Employer

Records Officer Signature: Date:

Name (type or print): Records Officer (type or print name):

Signature: E-Mail:

Agency or Political 
Subdivision Title:



Page 5 of 5

ARCHIVES AND RECORDS MANAGEMENT Submission date:

Approval date: Expiration date: Microfilm Control #:

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS

A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

MCN

REQUEST FOR MICROFILMING OF PUBLIC RECORDS

PART 1:  REQUEST FOR APPROVAL

1.

2.

1.

2.

Revised 10/2021 An Equal Opportunity Employer

Once approval has been granted a copy of the request will be forwarded to the agency.  Please note the
Microfilm Control # (MCN#) provided by LAPR at the top of the form.  This number will be used in conjunction 
with the Certificate of Compliance , to be used by the agency and their vendor and returned to LAPR.

Polly Rosenbaum State Archives and History Building
1901 W. Madison St.  •  Phoenix, Arizona  85009  •  Home Page:  http://www.azlibrary.gov/records

Phone:  (602) 926-3815  •  FAX:  (602) 256-2838  •  E-Mail:  records@azlibrary.gov

Check all items that apply for sections A through F of the approval portion of this form. 

PART 2:  CERTIFICATION

Read and initial all  boxes in the certification portion of this form.  

Enter Requestor name, Records Officer name, phone number and email; then the Records Officer must 
sign and date the form.

describe what the records are and their purpose.

Refer to the applicable LAPR Standards before completing this form.  

INSTRUCTIONS

In the top section enter the name of your Agency or Public Body, and include any subdivision breakdown for division, 
department or unit.

In the table provided, fill in the Record Series Title(s) for which the requestor is seeking approval.  Include the 
schedule number or date and the item numbers as they appear on the approved retention schedule.

If items are not currently listed on an approved schedule, list them following the terminology used in office and briefly



Vendor Contact Name (type or print): Records Officer (type or print name):

Records Officer Signature:Signature:

It is hereby certified that the above listed silver halide micrographics were processed in accordance
with the "Standards for Permanent Records" published by the Arizona State Library, Archives and

Public Records.  It is further attested that the following equipment and procedures were used:

LIST OF SPECIFIC FILM ROLL NUMBERS or FICHE/JACKET IDENTIFICATION:

*PLEASE ATTACH ANY ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR SCHEDULE ITEMS

RECORDS SERIES TITLE/ITEM # FROM RETENTION SCHEDULE & DATE RANGE: 

Revised 12/2019

Government entity is responsible for the silver halide master film.  If stored at vendor, vendor agrees to turn over
film to agency when contract ends, vendor is sold or goes out of business or at agency request.

Phone:

STORAGE LOCATION FOR OFFICIAL SILVER HALIDE MASTER FILM:

Phone:

ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS

A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Certificate of Compliance
with State Standards for Processing of Permanent Micrographics

METHELENE BLUE TEST FOR RESIDUAL THIOSULFATE PERFORMED:
PROCESSOR MAKE & MODEL: 

Address:

MCN#:
Vendor Name (type or print): Agency or Political Subdivision (type or print):

(authorized pursuant to ARS § 39-101)

Address:

FILM TYPE:

REDUCTION RATIO:

Email:

Date:Date:

Phone:  (602) 926-3815  •  FAX:  (602) 256-2838  •  E-Mail:  records@azlibrary.gov

Polly Rosenbaum State Archives and History Building
1901 W. Madison St.  •  Phoenix, Arizona  85009  •  Home Page:  http://www.azlibrary.gov/records

 BI-WEEKLY  DAILY  WEEKLY  OTHER 

 16mm Roll  35mm Roll  Fiche  Jacket 



ARIZONA STATE
LIBRARY, ARCHIVES AND PUBLIC RECORDS

A DIVISION OF THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

 

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

Agency will complete the form and will type or print their name in the bottom right corner and sign and date the 
form. 

INSTRUCTIONS

Revised 12/2019

Polly Rosenbaum State Archives and History Building

Agency will return the completed form to LAPR.  

Important Note:  Any forms that are incomplete will be returned to the agency. 

1901 W. Madison St.  •  Phoenix, Arizona  85009  •  Home Page:  http://www.azlibrary.gov/records
Phone:  (602) 926-3815  •  FAX:  (602) 256-2838  •  E-Mail:  records@azlibrary.gov

Upon completion of microfilming, vendor will sign, date and return form to requesting agency.

In the top portion of this form, enter the vendor contact information and the agency or political subdivision contact 
information and MCN# (provided on the approved Request for Microfilming of Public Records form).
If you do not know the MCN#, STOP.  Please verify at this point that your agency has received permission from 
the Library, Archives and Public Records to image documents and have an approved Request for Microfilming of 
Public Records form on file. 

Submit this form to your chosen vendor.



Minimum Standards For Digital Imaging Or Scanning  
Of Textual Documents 

 

Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records 

1 
 

 
A Request for Document Imaging must be completed and approved prior to starting a scanning or digitization 
project.  Please contact RMC at: 602-926-3815 or records@azlibrary.gov. 
 
Records with a Permanent retention can only be scanned for access, not for replacement of paper records. The 
original paper record or microfilm record will remain the official record. The paper or microfilm record may not be 
destroyed. However, it is prudent and highly recommended that for disaster recovery and future projects options to scan 
the records at the standards for 31 years or longer retention. 
 
1. These are minimum standards. Considerations such as original document size, quality, legibility, image characteristics 

(spatial resolution, pixel bit depth, signal resolution, and color mode) and intended use must be taken into account for 
quality digital reproductions.  
 

2. This table provides the minimum standards for digitization. Use the appropriate standard in the table that most closely 
matches the overall content of the items you wish to digitize. 

 
3. This is the standard for scanning textual documents only. This does not include maps, photographs and other media 

types. Permission to scan is still required by A.R.S. §41-151.16. See Request for Document Imaging of Public 
Records at http://www.azlibrary.gov/arm/forms.  

 
4. Scan resolution is 100% scan ratio (1:1) and true optical resolution in dpi calculation. 
 
5. Quality control will need to be performed consistently throughout the process to ensure quality of scans. 20% 

minimum quality control is required for all records.  
 
6. You must evaluate the digital output quality to verify that the digitized version accurately represents the content of the 

original document. Meeting minimum standards does not imply legibility of the digital reproduction. All scans must 
be legible to the smallest font on the record, regardless of color and markings. 
 
If scanning at the minimum standards do not accurately represent the record and the record is not completely legible, 
you must use a higher dpi, a higher bit number, grayscale or color scanning, adjust other scanner settings and 
thresholds or take any other action as required to ensure accuracy and legibility of the scanned record. 

 
7. Due to rapidly changing technology, migration of media, migration of file format and other actions will be required 

for continued accessibility. 
 

8. Security, to the level required by law, and accountability of the records must be maintained during the scanning 
process. This will include additional security requirements for records containing privacy, classified or any other type 
of sensitive data. Examples of records with security requirements include FERPA, HIPAA and personal identifying 
information. Consult with your Risk Manager or legal representative and your IT Security Manger before scanning.  

 
Refer to Statewide Information Security P800 and Privacy P900 policies, (http://aset.azdoa.gov/security/policies-
standards-and-procedures) and related statewide security and privacy standards for information on identifying and 
maintaining the confidentiality, integrity and availability (CIA) of data in records.  
 

 
  



Minimum Standards For Digital Imaging Or Scanning  
Of Textual Documents 

 

Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records 

2 
 

Notes: Careful attention must be paid to quality control, metadata, file naming schemas, directory structure, versioning, 
naming of derivative files, long term storage, migration, backup, and disaster recovery to ensure "faithful reproduction" 
and access to the document over time. 
 
"Faithful digital reproductions are digital objects that are optimally formatted and described with a view to their quality 
(functionality and use value), persistence (long-term access), and interoperability (e.g. across platforms and software 
environments). Faithful reproductions meet these criteria, and are intended to accurately render the underlying source 
document, with respect to its completeness, appearance of original pages (including tonality and color), and correct (that 
is, original) sequence of pages. Faithful digital reproductions will support production of legible printed facsimiles when 
produced in the same size as the originals (that is, 1:1).” (Quoted from: Digital Library Federation's Benchmark for 
Faithful Digital Reproductions of Monographs and Serials at http://www.diglib.org/standards/bmarkfin.htm  and 
supported by Federal Agencies Initiative Still Image Working Group's Technical Guidelines for Digitizing Cultural 
Heritage Materials  http://www.digitizationguidelines.gov/guidelines/FADGI_Still_Image-Tech_Guidelines_2010-08-
24.pdf .) 
 
Annotations:   
 

1. TIFF v6 – Baseline TIFF, uncompressed with no application/product dependencies or extensions.  
2. PDF file format may be used if there is no reliance on linked fonts, non standard header information, or other data 

stored outside of the file.  
3. PDF/A is the preferred version of PDF for long term retention since all of the elements to render the file are 

contained within the file itself. 
4. Use CCITT Group IV compression. Use Group III as needed. 

 
References: 
Please refer to the Guidance on Minimum Standards for Digital Imaging and Standards for Permanent Records, located at 
the following: http://www.azlibrary.gov/arm/guidelines-standards-and-statutes. 
 
Current retention schedules are located at http://www.azlibrary.gov/arm/retention-schedules .  
 
These standards are written with national standards and best practices. These standards are based, in part, on the 
following: 
Federal Agencies Initiative Still Image Working Group's Technical Guidelines for Digitizing Cultural Heritage Materials 
http://www.digitizationguidelines.gov/guidelines/FADGI_Still_Image-Tech_Guidelines_2010-08-24.pdf  
A Framework of Guidance for Building Good Digital Collections - NISO Recommended Practice 
http://www.niso.org/publications/rp/framework3.pdf 
Technical Guidelines for Digitizing Archival Materials for Electronic Access 
http://www.archives.gov/preservation/technical/guidelines.html 
 
Effective Date: June 9, 2014 - This standard replaces prior version dated February 1, 2014. 



Minimum Standards For Digital Imaging Or Scanning  
Of Textual Documents 

 

Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records 

3 
 

 
 
 

  
Records Scanned for Web Access or Use Copy Only 

 
Originals may not be destroyed. 

 
Textual Documents with or without Illustrations 

in text  
Minimum 

scan 
resolution 

Save as file 
format 

Additional Notes 

 
Originals may not be destroyed. 

The original record must be kept for the retention period listed on applicable retention schedule.  
 

DETAILS 
      

Clean, high contrast documents with smallest 
character of 1.0 mm or larger, text only 

150 dpi 
bitonal 

GIF 
PNG 
JPEG 

TIFF v64 

PDF2 
PDF/A3 

 
Compression with no application/product 
dependencies or extensions and no loss of 
image readability.  

Documents with handwritten notes/markings, 
low contrast, half-tone illustrations, photographs or 

poor legibility 

200 dpi 
bitonal 

or 
200 dpi  
8- bit 

grayscale 

GIF 
PNG 
JPEG 

TIFF v64 

PDF2 
PDF/A3 

 
Compression with no application/product 
dependencies or extensions and no loss of 
image readability. 
 
 

Documents and items where color is important 
for accurate representation 

300 dpi  
24-bit 
color 

GIF 
PNG 
JPEG 

TIFF v64 

PDF2 
PDF/A3 

JPEG2000 

 
Compression with no application/product 
dependencies or extensions and no loss of 
image readability.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Minimum Standards For Digital Imaging Or Scanning  
Of Textual Documents 

 

Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records 

4 
 

 
Scan Resolution assumes 100% scan ratio and original 8 ½" by 11". 

 
  

Records with a 30 years or less total retention period   
  

Textual Documents with or without Illustrations 
in text  

Minimum 
scan 

resolution 

Save as file 
format 

Additional Notes 

 

DETAILS 
      

Clean, high contrast documents with smallest 
character of 1.0mm or larger, text only 

200 dpi 
bitonal 

TIFF v61 or 4 

PDF2 
PDF/A3 

 
If you plan on OCRing, 300 dpi is required 
for increased accuracy.  
 
Compression with no application/product 
dependencies or extensions and no loss of 
image readability. 
 

Documents with handwritten notes/markings, 
low contrast, half-tone illustrations, photographs or 

poor legibility 

200 dpi 
bitonal 

 or 
grayscale 

TIFF v61 or 4 

PDF2 
PDF/A3 

Compression with no application/product 
dependencies or extensions and no loss of 
image readability.  

Documents and items where color is important 
for accurate representation 

300 dpi  
24-bit 
color 

TIFF v61 or 4 

PDF2 
PDF/A3 

JPEG2000 

  
Compression with no application/product 
dependencies or extensions and no loss of 
image readability.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Scan Resolution assumes 100% scan ratio and original 8 ½" by 11". 

 



Minimum Standards For Digital Imaging Or Scanning  
Of Textual Documents 

 

Arizona State Library, Archives and Public Records 

5 
 

  
Records with a 31 years or longer total retention period   

 
**Does not include Permanent Record. 

Textual Documents without or with minimal 
Illustrations in text  

Minimum 
scan 

resolution 

Save as file 
format 

Additional Notes 

 
For records with a total retention of 31 years or longer: Due to rapidly changing technology, migration of media,  

migration of file format and continued accessibility, it is prudent and highly recommended that  
for disaster recovery and future project options the paper record is not destroyed. 

 
**Records with an approved retention period of Permanent or designated Historical and Permanent, 

may not be destroyed after scanning. 
 

 Permanent records may be scanned for access only. However it is highly recommend to  
follow these standards for disaster recovery purposes and for future projects and technology changes. 

 
Please refer to the Guidance on Minimum Standards for Digital Imaging and  

Standards for Permanent Records, located at the following: 
http://www.azlibrary.gov/arm/guidelines-standards-and-statutes. 

 
 

DETAILS 
      

Clean, high contrast documents with smallest 
character of 1.0mm or larger, text only 

 
400 dpi 
bitonal 

TIFF v61 

PDF2 
PDF/A3 

 
Use grayscale as needed. 
 
Files must be uncompressed with no 
application/product dependencies or 
extensions. 
 

Documents with handwritten notes/markings, 
low contrast, half-tone illustrations, photographs or 

poor legibility 

600 dpi  
8-bit 

grayscale/24-
bit color  

 

TIFF v61 

PDF2 
PDF/A3 

Files must be uncompressed with no 
application/product dependencies or 
extensions. 

Documents and items where color is 
important for accurate representation 

600 dpi  
24-bit color 

TIFF v61 

PDF2 
PDF/A3 

Files must be uncompressed with no 
application/product dependencies or 
extensions. 

 
 



Iron Mountain 1 of

Iron Mountain
Article / Paragraph 

or Exhibit 
Reference

RFP Language Proposed Changes / Alternate Language
Rationale State Response (12/6/2022) Supplier Response (12/15/2022) State Response (Date) Supplier Response (Date) FINAL RESPONSE

Instructions to 
Offerors

Scope of Work

Pricing Document

2.1 Contractor’s Best Pricing. Supplier warrants that, for the term of the Contract, the 
prices and discounts set out in BPM004656 Solicitation Attachment 11 – Pricing 
Document, including any subsequent agreed amendment to it (the “Contract Pricing”), 
will be equal to or better than the lowest prices and largest discounts, both separately 
and in combination, at which Contractor sells equivalent services, items of equipment 
and materials.

BENCHMARKING. Each year at Customer's request, the Parties will meet to review 
Iron Mountain's Services and the pricing to ensure they remain competitive with 
comparable service offerings and the pricing then available in the marketplace for 
similar services and under similar terms and profiles. Such reviews may include 
competitive benchmarking, the use of comparative information available from 
independent third parties (such as consultants and industry publications), and other 
market based information the Parties deem reasonably reliable and accurate. If the 
review shows that pricing for a Service offered by Iron Mountain under this Agreement 
is less favorable than the price or service level for comparable products or services 
available in the marketplace under similar terms and profiles, the Parties will mutually 
agree in writing on pricing adjustments, which adjustments will be made only on a 
going forward basis.

Iron Mountain has hundreds of thousands of 
Customers, and it would be virtually 
impossible to determine whether a price 
warranty made in any one agreement is in fact 
accurate or correct. Because it is impractical 
for us to enforce a price warranty, we cannot 
make one.

State Rejects.  Allowing Iron Mountain to determine if pricing 
remains competitive or comparable is unacceptable.  The 
best the State can accept is language that says if the State 
brings forth evidence that a similar entity has received lower 
pricing for a similar volume of work, then Iron Mountain 
agrees to match that price.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

2.4

Price Reductions. Price reductions shall be immediately passed along to State and 
may be submitted in writing to State for consideration at any time during the Contract 
period. The contractor shall offer State a price reduction on the Contract product(s) 
concurrent with a published price reduction made to other customers. The State at its 
own discretion may accept a price reduction. The price reduction request shall be in 
writing and include documentation showing the actual reduction of cost. Sales 
promotions requests shall include difference in pricing, begin, and end date of 
promotion along with the products covered. Exception: Iron Mountain proposes to strike this section in its entirety.

Rationale: As above, it would not be possible 
for us to comply with this requirement. In 
Section 2.1, Iron Mountain has proposed a 
period review of the pricing in lieu.

State Rejects.  This provision is not unreasonable and has 
been accepted by other participants in the RFP.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

Contract Terms & Conditions - Special Terms and Conditions

3.8

Inspection and Testing. By A.R.S. §41-2547, State may at reasonable times inspect 
the part of Contractors’ or Subcontractors’ plant or places of business related to 
performance under the Contract. Accordingly, Contractor agrees to permit (for itself) 
and ensure (for Subcontractors) access for inspection at any reasonable time to its 
facilities, processes, and services. State may inspect or test, at its own cost, any 
finished goods, work-in-progress, components, or unfinished materials that are to be 
supplied under the Contract or that will be incorporated into something to be supplied 
under the Contract. If the inspection or testing shows non-conformance or defects, 
then Contractor will owe State reimbursement or payment of all costs it incurred in 
carrying out or contracting for the inspection and testing, as well as for any 
reinspection or retesting that might be necessary. Neither inspection of facilities nor 
testing of goods, work, components, or unfinished materials will of itself constitute 
acceptance by State of those things. None, however…..

Rationale: Iron Mountain does not wish to 
take exception, but instead would like to clarify 
that while we can agree to accept this 
requirement we would like confirmation 
through contract amendment pursuant to the 
Special Terms and Conditions, Section 2.2.2 
that this clause will not apply to industry 
standard user acceptance testing environments 
used by Iron Mountain to ensure that all 
requirements are met under an applicable 
SOW for services..

State rejects.  This provision is part of the Arizona Revised 
Statutes and cannot be modified.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP. Iron Mountain acknowledges that  in 
accordance with ARS 41-2547 the State may at reasonable 
times inspect the part of the plant or place of business of 
 Iron Mountain  or any subcontractor which is related to the 
performance of the  contract awarded by the State.

3.9

3.9. Ownership of Intellectual Property
Exception: Iron Mountain objects to this section in regard to InSight Services only.

Rationale: As is customary with industry 
standard, all InSight Services shall be subject 
to the InSight Services Terms and Conditions 
attached as “Attachment 10 - Supplement 1”in 
lieu of the Intellectual Property Sections 
contained in the State’s Contract.

State rejects.  The InSight Services Terms and Conditions 
shall not be made a part of this Contract.  If the time comes 
that an Agency wishes to purchase this software from Iron 
Mountain, those terms and conditions can be negotiated at 
the time of that purchase.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

3.10.3

Flow-down. Contractor shall incorporate the provisions, terms, and conditions of the 
Contract into every Subcontract by inclusion or by reference, as appropriate. When 
making any post-execution consent requests, Contractor shall include its warrant that 
it will do the same for the pending Subcontracts covered by the request. Entering into 
Subcontracts will not relieve Contractor of any of its obligations or duties under the 
Contract, including, among other things, the duty to supervise and coordinate the work 
of Subcontractors. Nothing contained in any Subcontract will create or is to be 
construed as creating any contractual relationship between State and the 
Subcontractor. Exception: Iron Mountain objects to this section in regard to InSight Services only.

Rationale: Iron Mountain’s InSight platform 
has existing sub-contractors (including Hosts). 
We are happy to remain responsible and liable 
for all Subcontractor activity but we cannot 
retroactively amend these agreements. We can 
agree that there are materially similar terms in 
our agreements with Subcontractors.

State rejects.  The InSight Services Terms and Conditions 
shall not be made a part of this Contract.  If the time comes 
that an Agency wishes to purchase this software from Iron 
Mountain, those terms and conditions can be negotiated at 
the time of that purchase.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

6.2.1

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, and any jurisdiction or agency issuing permits for any work included in the 
project, and their respective directors, officers, officials, agents and employees 
(hereinafter referred to as "Indemnitee") from and against any and all claims, actions, 
liabilities, costs, losses, or expenses, (including reasonable attorney's fees), 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as "Claims") arising out of actual or alleged bodily 
injury or personal injury of any person (including death) or loss or damage to tangible 
or intangible property caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the 
negligent or willful acts or omissions of Contractor or any of Contractor's directors, 
officers, agents, employees, volunteers or subcontractors. This indemnity includes any 
claim or amount arising or recovered under the Workers' Compensation Law or arising 
out of the failure of Contractor to conform to any federal, state or local law, statute, 
ordinance, rule, regulation or court decree. It is the specific intention of the parties that 
the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from the 
negligent or willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by Contractor 
from and against any and all Claims. It is agreed that Contractor will be responsible for 
primary loss investigation, defense and judgment costs where this indemnification is 
applicable. This indemnification will survive the termination of the above listed contract 
with the Contractor.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, and any jurisdiction or agency issuing permits for any work included in 
the project, and their respective directors, officers, officials, agents and employees 
(hereinafter referred to as "Indemnitee") from and against any and all claims, actions, 
liabilities, costs, losses, or expenses, (including reasonable attorney's fees), 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as "Claims") arising out of actual or alleged bodily 
injury or personal injury of any person (including death) or loss or damage to tangible 
or intangible property caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the 
negligent or willful acts or omissions of Contractor or any of Contractor's directors, 
officers, agents, employees, volunteers or subcontractors but only to the extent of 
the Contractor’s negligence under the Agreement. This indemnity includes any 
claim or amount arising or recovered under the Workers' Compensation Law or 
arising out of the failure of Contractor to conform to any federal, state or local law, 
statute, ordinance, rule, regulation or court decree. It is the specific intention of the 
parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, except for Claims arising solely from 
the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by 
Contractor from and against any and all Claims. It is agreed that Contractor will be 
responsible for primary loss investigation, defense and judgment costs where this 
indemnification is applicable. This indemnification will survive the termination of the 
above listed contract with the Contractor.

Under this Indemnification clause, Iron 
Mountain will agree to be responsible for any 
and all claims caused under the Agreement 
with the State, only to the extent of Iron 
Mountain’s negligence..

RM: Requested change is rejected. Contractor must respond 
with a defense and indemnity to any claims alleging 
negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the contractor

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

6.2.3.3.a
a. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as required by this written 
agreement, in favor of the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, 
commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses arising 
from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor.

Exception: Iron Mountain proposes to strike this section in its entirety.

OR

add "to the extent of Contractor's Liabilities in the Agreement" at the end of paragraph 
a.

It would then read as follows:
a. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as required by this 
written agreement, in favor of the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, 
boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for 
losses arising from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor, to the extent of 
Contractor's Liabilities in the Agreement."

Rationale: With regard to Workers’ 
Compensation and Employers’ Liability Iron 
Mountain proposes to strike paragraph (a) and 
cannot agree to a waiver of subrogation as 
written. Contractor offers as an alternative 
adding “to the extent of Contractor’s Liabilities 
in the Agreement” at the end of paragraph a.

RM: Requested change is rejected. State requires a full 
waiver of subrogation.  Additionally, proposed language is 
unworkable and ambiguous.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

NO EXCEPTIONS TAKEN

NO EXCEPTIONS TAKEN

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ivXmB9IBKvqN5jO2jhZi8IxICzMKR006/view?usp=sharing


Iron Mountain 2 of

6.2.3.4.c-d

Exception:  c. The policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written agreement, to 
include the State of Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees as additional insureds with 
respect to vicarious liability of the insured arising out of the activities performed by or 
on behalf of the Contractor. d. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation 
endorsement, as required by this written agreement, in favor of the State of Arizona, 
and its departments, agencies, boards, officials, agents, and employees for losses 
arising from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. Exception: Iron Mountain proposes to strike these sections in their entirety.

Rationale: Iron Mountain proposes to strike 
these subparagraphs and cannot agree to a 
waiver of subrogation for cyber insurance. 
Contractor’s underwriter does not allow 
additional insured status or waiver of 
subrogation on Contractor’s Cyber/E&O 
Policies.

RM: Request to delete requirements for AI and WOS 
endorsements is rejected.  If contractor carries a combined 
Cyber/Tech E&O policy, contractor must provide AI 
endorsement and WOS endorsement for third-party 
coverage portion of liability policy.  

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

6.2.4.1

6.2.4.1. The Contractor's policies, as applicable, shall stipulate that the insurance 
afforded the Contractor shall be primary and that any insurance carried by the 
Department, its agents, officials, employees or the State of Arizona shall be excess 
and not contributory insurance, as provided by A.R.S. § 41-621 (E).

6.2.4.1. In regard to Commercial General Liability and Business Automobile Liability 
only, the Contractor's policies, as applicable, shall stipulate that the insurance 
afforded the Contractor shall be primary and that any insurance carried by the 
Department, its agents, officials, employees or the State of Arizona shall be excess 
and not contributory insurance, as provided by A.R.S. § 41-621 (E).

Rationale: Iron Mountain can agree to 
primary/non-contributory status for General 
Liability and Automobile policies only. Iron 
Mountain cannot agree to agree to 
primary/non-contributory status for Iron 
Mountain’s Cyber Insurance and Workers 
Compensation policies. For any cyber related 
issues under this agreement that the State 
seeks primary/non-contributory status under 
the Agreement, Iron Mountain notes that the 
State has rights under the IP Indemnification 
located in Sections 6.3

RM:Request is rejected.  Primary/non-contributory status is 
required.  IP indemnification obligations do not substitute for 
primary status under cyber coverage.  

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

6.2.7.1
6.2.7.1. All such certificates of insurance and policy endorsements must be received 
by the State before work commences. The State’s receipt of any certificates of 
insurance or policy endorsements that do not comply with this written agreement shall 
not waive or otherwise affect the requirements of this agreement.

Exception: 6.2.7.1. All such certificates of insurance and blanket policy endorsements 
must be received by the State before work commences. The State’s receipt of any 
certificates of insurance or policy endorsements that do not comply with this written 
agreement shall not waive or otherwise affect the requirements of this agreement.

Rationale: Iron Mountain cannot provide 
policy endorsements, we can only provide 
standard blanket endorsements.

RM:  State can agree to the following language: "All such 
certificates of insurance and blanket policy endorsements 
must be received by the State before work commences. 
Acceptance of blanket policy endorsement forms is subject 
to approval of the State.  The State’s receipt of any 
certificates of insurance or policy endorsements that do not 
comply with this written agreement shall not waive or 
otherwise affect the requirements of this agreement.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

6.2.7.3

6.2.7.3. All certificates required by this Contract shall be sent directly to the 
Department. The State of Arizona project/contract number and project description shall 
be noted on the certificate of insurance. The State of Arizona reserves the right to 
require complete copies of all insurance policies required by this Contract at any time.

Exception: 6.2.7.3. All certificates required by this Contract shall be sent directly to the 
Department. The State of Arizona project/contract number and project description shall be 
noted on the certificate of insurance. The State of Arizona reserves the right to require 
complete copies of all insurance policies required by this Contract at any time.

Rationale: Iron Mountain cannot agree to 
provide copies of proprietary insurance 
policies but can provide coverage 
certificates as evidence of insurance.

RM: The State proposes the following compromise language: 
"The State of Arizona reserves the right, with reasonable 
prior notice to Contractor, to review applicable insurance 
policies in the event of an occurrence the State reasonably 
believes could result in the tender of a claim under a policy 
required by this Contract. Review will be conducted at a 
mutually convenient location and subject to protection of 
Contractor’s confidential or proprietary information under a 
confidentiality agreement acceptable to Contractor."

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

6.3

6.3. Patent and Copyright Indemnification. [CONTRACTOR/VENDOR (NOT PUBLIC 
AGENCY)]. With respect to Materials or Services provided or proposed by a 
Contractor Indemnitor for performance under the Contract, Contractor shall indemnify, 
defend and hold harmless State Indemnitees against any third-party claims for liability, 
costs, and expenses, including, but not limited to reasonable attorneys' fees, for 
infringement or violation of any patent, trademark, copyright, or trade secret by the 
Materials and the Services. With respect to the defense and payment of claims under 
this subparagraph: 
6.3.1. State shall provide reasonable and timely notification to Contractor of any claim 
for which Contractor may be liable under this paragraph; 
6.3.2. Contractor, with reasonable consultation from State, shall have control of the 
defense of any action on an indemnified claim including all negotiations for its 
settlement or compromise;
(continues to 6.3.4) Exception: Iron Mountain objects to this section in regard to InSight Services only.

Rationale: As is customary with industry 
standard, all InSight Services shall be subject 
to the InSight Services Terms and Conditions 
attached as “Attachment 10 - Supplement 1” in 
lieu of the Intellectual Property Sections 
contained in the State’s Contract..

State rejects.  The InSight Services Terms and Conditions 
shall not be made a part of this Contract.  If the time comes 
that an Agency wishes to purchase this software from Iron 
Mountain, those terms and conditions can be negotiated at 
the time of that purchase.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

Section 7

7. Warranties 7.1. Conformity to Requirements. Contractor warrants that, unless 
expressly provided otherwise elsewhere in the Contract, the Materials and Services 
will for 1 (one) year after acceptance and in each instance: (1) conform to the 
requirements of the Contract, which by way of reminder include without limitation all 
descriptions, specifications, and drawings identified in the Scope of Work and any 
Contractor affirmations included as part of the Contract; (2) be free from defects of 
material and workmanship; (3) conform to or perform in a manner consistent with 
current industry standards; and (4) be fit for the intended purpose or use described in 
the Contract. Mere delivery or performance does not substitute for express acceptance 
by the State. Where inspection, testing, or other acceptance assessment of Materials 
or Services cannot be done until after installation, the forgoing warranty will not begin 
until State’s acceptance.
(continues till 7.8)

Exception: Iron Mountain objects to this section in regard to InSight Services only.

Rationale: As is customary with industry 
standard, all InSight Services shall be 
subject to the InSight Services Terms and 
Conditions attached as “Attachment 10 - 
Supplement 1”.

State rejects.  The InSight Services Terms and Conditions 
shall not be made a part of this Contract.  If the time comes 
that an Agency wishes to purchase this software from Iron 
Mountain, those terms and conditions can be negotiated at 
the time of that purchase.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

12.2.1

12.2.1. Contractor shall: (a) notify State immediately of any unauthorized access or 
inappropriate disclosures, whether stemming from an external security breach, internal 
breach, system failure, or procedural lapse; (b) cooperate with State to identify the 
source or cause and respond to each unauthorized access or inappropriate disclosure; 
and (c) notify State promptly of any security threat that could result in unauthorized 
access or inappropriate disclosures; and

Exception: 12.2.1. Contractor shall: (a) notify State immediately promptly of any 
unauthorized access or inappropriate disclosures, whether stemming from an external 
security breach, internal breach, system failure, or procedural lapse; (b) cooperate 
with State to identify the source or cause and respond to each unauthorized access or 
inappropriate disclosure; and (c) notify State promptly of any security threat that could 
result in unauthorized access or inappropriate disclosures; and

Rationale: Iron Mountain needs to perform 
diligence to understand the facts surrounding 
any of the above activities to determine if there 
was in fact a security breach. The promptly 
standard gives Iron Mountain the time to do 
just that.

State accepts State accepts

12.4.3
12.4.3. will sign any documents that are reasonably necessary to keep both State and 
Contractor in compliance with the requirements in (1) above, in particular “Business 
Associate Agreements” in accordance with the Privacy Rule.

Exception: 12.4.3. will sign any documents will negotiate in good faith any documents that are 
reasonably necessary to keep both State and Contractor in compliance with the requirements in 
(1) above, in particular “Business Associate Agreements” in accordance with the Privacy Rule.

Rationale: Iron Mountain cannot agree to 
comply with requirements that we have 
not reviewed.

State accepts State accepts

13.4.1

INDEMNITY FROM THIRD PARTY. For computer hardware or software included in the 
Work as discrete units that were manufactured or developed solely by a third party, 
Contractor may satisfy its indemnification obligations under the Contract by, to the 
extent permissible by law, passing through to State such indemnity as it receives from 
the third-party source (each a “Pass-Through Indemnity”) and cooperating with State in 
enforcing that indemnity. If the third party fails to honor its Pass-Through Indemnity, or 
if a Pass-Through Indemnity is insufficient to indemnify State Indemnitees to the extent 
and degree, Contractor is required to do by the Uniform Terms and Conditions, then 
Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless State Indemnitees to the extent 
the Pass-Through Indemnity does not. Exception: Iron Mountain objects to this section in regard to InSight Services only.

Rationale: As is customary with industry 
standard, all InSight Services shall be subject 
to the InSight Services Terms and Conditions 
attached as “Attachment 10 - Supplement 1” in 
lieu of the Intellectual Property Sections 
contained in the State’s Contract.

State rejects.  The InSight Services Terms and Conditions 
shall not be made a part of this Contract.  If the time comes 
that an Agency wishes to purchase this software from Iron 
Mountain, those terms and conditions can be negotiated at 
the time of that purchase.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.

Contract Terms & Conditions - Uniform Terms and Conditions

3.8

Any and all intellectual property, including but not limited to copyright, invention, 
trademark, trade name, service mark, and/or trade secrets created or conceived 
pursuant to or as a result of this contract and any related subcontract ("Intellectual 
Property"), shall be work made for hire and the State shall be considered the creator of 
such Intellectual Property. The agency, department, division, board or commission of 
the State of Arizona requesting the issuance of this contract shall own (for and on 
behalf of the State) the entire right, title and interest to the Intellectual Property 
throughout the world. Contractor shall notify the State, within thirty (30) days, of the 
creation of any Intellectual Property by it or its subcontractor(s). Contractor, on behalf 
of itself and any subcontractor(s), agrees to execute any and all document(s) 
necessary to assure ownership of the Intellectual Property vests in the State and shall 
take no affirmative actions that might have the effect of vesting all or part of the 
Intellectual Property in any entity other than the 

Mountain objects to this section in regard to InSight Services only.

As is customary with industry standard, all 
InSight Services shall be subject to the InSight 
Services Terms and Conditions attached as 
Attachment 10 - Supplement 1.Further, 
Iron Mountain notes that there will be no 
Intellectual Property created under this 
Procurement.

State rejects.  The InSight Services Terms and Conditions 
shall not be made a part of this Contract.  If the time comes 
that an Agency wishes to purchase this software from Iron 
Mountain, those terms and conditions can be negotiated at 
the time of that purchase.

Iron Mountain accepts the State's standard language 
contained in the RFP.



Offeror: Insert your company name here

Project consultation (beyond initial first four hours) $86.92 Pricing per hour

Source Documents Preparation and Restoration 

    Excellent condition 1-9,999 $0.045 $0.035 Standard prep and simple reassembly only. No classification included

        ( defined as  ~ 95% consistent weight, color, size; ~ 95% free of staple holes, creases, tears, etc.) 10,000 - 99,999 $0.045 $0.035 Standard prep and simple reassembly only. No classification included

100,000 and above $0.045 $0.035 Standard prep and simple reassembly only. No classification included

    Medium range condition 1-9,999 $0.066 $0.051 Medium prep and simple reassembly only. No classification included

         ( defined as ~85% consistent weight, color, size; ~ 85% free of creases, staple holes, tears, etc.) 10,000 - 99,999 $0.066 $0.051 Medium prep and simple reassembly only. No classification included

100,000 and above $0.066 $0.051 Medium prep and simple reassembly only. No classification included

    Low range condition 1-9,999 $0.095 $0.067 Heavy prep and simple reassembly only. No classification included

         ( defined as a wide mix of weights, colors, sizes with abundant folds and creases, some tears, etc.) 10,000 - 99,999 $0.095 $0.067 Heavy prep and simple reassembly only. No classification included

100,000 and above $0.095 $0.067 Heavy prep and simple reassembly only. No classification included

Secure Source Materials Transport - Metro areas priced as cost per run (pick-up and drop off at a single site) 

( A )  Courier Service - Capitol Complex Area (Metro) 1-9,999 N/A $23.04

    Provide physical address of facility serving this area: 10,000 - 99,999 N/A $46.08

4449 S. 36th Street Phoenix, AZ 85040 100,000 and above N/A $89.28

1-9,999 N/A $42.24

    Provide physical address of facility serving this area: 10,000 - 99,999 N/A $65.28

4449 S. 36th Street Phoenix, AZ 85040 100,000 and above N/A $108.48

( C ) Courier Service – Tucson Metro Area 1-9,999 N/A $52.80

    Provide physical address of facility serving this area: 10,000 - 99,999 N/A $75.84

4449 S. 36th Street Phoenix, AZ 85040 100,000 and above N/A $119.04

1-9,999 N/A $2.78

10,000 - 99,999 N/A $2.86

4449 S. 36th Street Phoenix, AZ 85040 100,000 and above N/A $3.00

Other related pricing:  
     Record Retrieval/Restoration upon Request $2.16 Per record

     Record Retrieval/Restoration upon Request $2.16 Per record for adjacent records

NOTE:  THERE WILL BE NO FUEL SURCHARGE ALLOWANCE

Assumptions

Provide pricing in areas applicable to your 
proposal

( D )  Courier Service – All Other Arizona Locations - PRICED PER MILE

Iron Mountain

ATTACHMENT 11 PRICING DOCUMENT
BPM004656 -  DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Consultation, Source Preparation and Transport

( B )  Courier Service – Phoenix Metro Area (excluding Capitol Complex)

    Provide physical address(es) of facility (facilities) serving this area:

at volumes:
On-Site 
($/page) Off-Site ($/page)Assessment of the quality of the source documents is mutually agreed upon by Contractor and Customer



at
 2

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 3

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 4

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 6

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 2

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 3

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 4

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 6

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 2

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 3

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 4

0
0 

d
p

i

at
 6

0
0 

d
p

i

% increase over 
base for a 50% 

review

% increase over 
base for a 100% 

review
Assumptions

Paper Documents:  (standard) 

Letter Size 
$0.052 $0.057 $0.061 $0.066 $0.055 $0.060 $0.064 $0.070 $0.055 $0.060 $0.064 $0.070 27% 55%

Assumes Paper is in good condition. QC does not include cleanup, just review. Pricing includes items listed for standard paper only. If audio, video, xray, and other 
specifically defined items are required, they will need to be reviewed and priced separately

Legal Size
$0.052 $0.057 $0.061 $0.066 $0.055 $0.060 $0.064 $0.070 $0.055 $0.060 $0.064 $0.070 27% 55%

Assumes Paper is in good condition. QC does not include cleanup, just review. Pricing includes items listed for standard paper only. If audio, video, xray, and other 
specifically defined items are required, they will need to be reviewed and priced separately

Smaller than 8.5 x 11
$0.052 $0.057 $0.061 $0.066 $0.055 $0.060 $0.064 $0.070 $0.055 $0.060 $0.064 $0.070 27% 55%

Assumes Paper is in good condition. QC does not include cleanup, just review. Pricing includes items listed for standard paper only. If audio, video, xray, and other 
specifically defined items are required, they will need to be reviewed and priced separately

Mixed sizes
$0.052 $0.057 $0.061 $0.066 $0.055 $0.060 $0.064 $0.070 $0.055 $0.060 $0.064 $0.070 27% 55%

Assumes Paper is in good condition. QC does not include cleanup, just review. Pricing includes items listed for standard paper only. If audio, video, xray, and other 
specifically defined items are required, they will need to be reviewed and priced separately

Paper Documents: (non-standard)

11" x 17" page
$0.052 $0.057 $0.061 $0.066 $0.055 $0.060 $0.064 $0.070 $0.055 $0.060 $0.064 $0.070 27% 55% Assumes large format will be on average only 10% of the overall volume. Assumes paper in good condition. 

17" x 22" size drawing
$1.302 $1.941 $3.168 $4.320 $1.305 $1.944 $3.171 $4.323 $1.305 $1.944 $3.171 $4.323 27% 55% Assumes large format will be on average only 10% of the overall volume. Assumes paper in good condition. 

22 x 34" size drawing
$1.472 $2.300 $3.936 $5.760 $1.475 $2.303 $3.939 $5.763 $1.475 $2.303 $3.939 $5.763 27% 55% Assumes large format will be on average only 10% of the overall volume. Assumes paper in good condition. 

34 x 44" size drawing
$1.828 $3.157 $4.800 $7.392 $1.885 $3.160 $4.803 $7.395 $1.885 $3.160 $4.803 $7.395 27% 55% Assumes large format will be on average only 10% of the overall volume. Assumes paper in good condition. 

Larger than 34" x 44" size
$1.883 $3.252 $4.944 $7.614 $1.942 $3.254 $4.947 $7.617 $1.942 $3.254 $4.947 $7.617 27% 55% Assumes large format will be on average only 10% of the overall volume. Assumes paper in good condition. 

Mixed sizes
$1.883 $3.252 $4.944 $7.614 $1.942 $3.254 $4.947 $7.617 $1.942 $3.254 $4.947 $7.617 N/A N/A Assumes large format will be on average only 10% of the overall volume. Assumes paper in good condition. 

Special Handling

Flat bed scanning 
$0.409 $0.564 $0.869 $1.181 $0.412 $0.566 $0.873 $1.187 $0.412 $0.566 $0.873 $1.187 27% 55% Assumes 1,999,999 images or less and standard paper only. Assumes paper in good condition

Fragile document 
$0.409 $0.564 $0.869 $1.181 $0.412 $0.566 $0.873 $1.187 $0.412 $0.566 $0.873 $1.187 27% 55% Assumes paper is delicate and or in poor condition and needs special handling

Auto. Image Enhancement
$0.009 $0.009 $0.009 $0.009 $0.009 $0.009 $0.009 $0.009 $0.009 $0.009 $0.009 $0.009 27% 55% Assumes perform post virtual rescan (VRS) modifications which includes image orientation cleanup and blank page deletion.

*Other__________________
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

*Other__________________
N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Microfilm to digital

16 mm
$0.008 $0.008 $0.011 $0.050 $0.012 $0.012 $0.014 $0.057 N/A N/A N/A N/A 27% 55% Assuming 2000 images per roll and material in good condition

35 mm
$0.033 $0.033 $0.036 $0.053 $0.036 $0.036 $0.038 $0.060 N/A N/A N/A N/A 27% 55% Assuming 750 images per roll and material in good condition

Microfiche to digital 
$0.031 $0.031 $0.035 $0.117 $0.044 $0.044 $0.048 $0.133 N/A N/A N/A N/A 27% 55% Assuming jacketed 16 MM film, avg 70 images per fiche and material in good condition

Aperture Card to digital
$0.256 $0.256 $0.927 $1.125 $0.259 $0.259 $0.930 $1.275 N/A N/A N/A N/A 27% 55% Assuming non-hollerith and material in good condition

Digital to Microfilm 16mm 300DPI
Assumes 215' roll, 5000 images per roll and material in good condition

Digital to Microfiche 16mm 300DPI

**Off-Site Scanning is a requirement of an awarded contract for 
Section 3.1 Part One of the Scope of Work. 

Black and White

$0.104 Per image

$0.022

Grayscale Color Quality Control

Per image

ATTACHMENT 11 PRICING DOCUMENT

In submitting the base scanning pricing in the cells below, submit for the categories applicable to you and assume a Quality Control (QC) review of 20% of the images.  Pricing for a higher level of QC  (50% and 100%) should be expressed 
as a percentage increase over the base. Customers using the contract, and requiring a different QC level than those provided here, can extrapolate the pricing for that level based on the provided pricing. 

Base Price quotes are amount per image

Offeror: Insert your company name here Iron Mountain



a
t 

2
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

3
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

4
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

6
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

2
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

3
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

4
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

6
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

2
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

3
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

4
0

0 
d

p
i

a
t 

6
0

0 
d

p
i

% increase over 
base for a 50% 

review

% increase over 
base for a 100% 

review
Assumptions

Paper Documents:  (standard) 

Letter Size $0.068 $0.074 $0.086 $0.093 $0.071 $0.078 $0.090 $0.099 $0.071 $0.078 $0.090 $0.099 27% 55%

Legal Size $0.068 $0.074 $0.086 $0.093 $0.071 $0.078 $0.090 $0.099 $0.071 $0.078 $0.090 $0.099 27% 55%

Smaller than 8.5 x 11 $0.068 $0.074 $0.086 $0.093 $0.071 $0.078 $0.090 $0.099 $0.071 $0.078 $0.090 $0.099 27% 55%

Mixed sizes $0.068 $0.074 $0.086 $0.093 $0.071 $0.078 $0.090 $0.099 $0.071 $0.078 $0.090 $0.099 27% 55%

Paper Documents: (non-standard)

11" x 17" page $0.068 $0.074 $0.086 $0.093 $0.071 $0.078 $0.090 $0.099 $0.071 $0.078 $0.090 $0.099 27% 55%

17" x 22" size drawing $1.695 $2.528 $4.455 $6.075 $1.699 $2.531 $4.459 $6.079 $1.699 $2.531 $4.459 $6.079 27% 55%

22 x 34" size drawing $1.916 $2.995 $5.535 $8.100 $1.920 $2.999 $5.539 $8.104 $1.920 $2.999 $5.539 $8.104 27% 55%

34 x 44" size drawing $2.380 $4.111 $6.750 $10.395 $2.455 $4.115 $6.754 $10.399 $2.455 $4.115 $6.754 $10.399 27% 55%

Larger than 34" x 44" size $2.451 $4.235 $6.953 $10.707 $2.529 $4.238 $6.957 $10.711 $2.529 $4.238 $6.957 $10.711 27% 55%

Mixed sizes $2.451 $4.235 $6.953 $10.707 $2.529 $4.238 $6.957 $10.711 $2.529 $4.238 $6.957 $10.711 N/A N/A

Special Handling

Flat bed scanning $0.533 $0.734 $1.222 $1.661 $0.536 $0.738 $1.227 $1.669 $0.536 $0.738 $1.227 $1.669 27% 55%

Fragile document $0.533 $0.734 $1.222 $1.661 $0.536 $0.738 $1.227 $1.669 $0.536 $0.738 $1.227 $1.669 27% 55%

Auto. Image Enhancement $0.011 $0.011 $0.012 $0.012 $0.011 $0.011 $0.012 $0.012 $0.011 $0.011 $0.012 $0.012 27% 55%

*Other__________________ N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

*Other__________________ N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Microfilm to digital

16 mm $0.011 $0.011 $0.015 $0.068 $0.015 $0.015 $0.019 $0.077 N/A N/A N/A N/A 27% 55%

35 mm $0.046 $0.046 $0.050 $0.071 $0.050 $0.050 $0.054 $0.081 N/A N/A N/A N/A 27% 55%

Microfiche to digital $0.043 $0.043 $0.047 $0.158 $0.061 $0.061 $0.066 $0.180 N/A N/A N/A N/A 27% 55%

Aperture Card to digital $0.360 $0.360 $1.299 $1.519 $0.358 $0.358 $1.303 $1.720 N/A N/A N/A N/A 27% 55%

Digital to Microfilm 16mm 300DPI

Digital to Microfiche 16mm 300DPI

Black and White Quality Control

ATTACHMENT 11 PRICING DOCUMENT
BPM004656 -  DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

On-Site Scanning Pricing Schedule

In submitting the base scanning pricing in the cells below, submit for the categories applicable to you and assume a Quality Control (QC) review of 20% of the images.  Pricing for a higher level of QC  
(50% and 100%) should be expressed as a percentage increase over the base. Customers using the contract, and requiring a different QC level than those provided here, can extrapolate the pricing for 
that level based on the provided pricing. 

Base Price quotes are amount per image

Offeror: Insert your company name here Iron Mountain

Grayscale Color

Per image$0.031

$0.140 Per image

**On-Site Scanning is a requirement of 
an awarded contract for Section 3.1 

Part One of the Scope of Work. 



at 25% QC at 50% QC at 100% QC Assumptions

Single Entry $0.007 $0.022 $0.037 Assuming indexing for regular paper only. Includes single pass for 25%, single pass key plus 100% QC for 100%.

Double Key Entry (single operator) $0.044 Assuming indexing for regular paper only. Includes double pass key plus 100% QC.

Double Key Entry (separate operators) $0.044 Assuming indexing for regular paper only. Includes double pass key plus 100% QC.

at 25% QC at 50% QC at 100% QC

Using Customer-provided barcoded forms $0.008 $0.015 $0.031 Assumes an average of 1 field, 10 characters. If indexing is required, manual data entry prices apply.

Using barcoded separator sheets $0.008 $0.015 $0.031 Assumes an average of 1 field, 10 characters. If indexing is required, manual data entry prices apply.

Agency prepares; inserts $0.008 $0.015 $0.031 Assumes an average of 1 field, 10 characters. If indexing is required, manual data entry prices apply.

Contractor prepares; inserts $0.008 $0.015 $0.031 Assumes an average of 1 field, 10 characters. If indexing is required, manual data entry prices apply.

Database Import (Per Database, One Time Cost)
$0.000 $0.000 $0.000

Loading the actual data will be included in the hourly rate to develop the solution. Each deal will need to be reviewed and if a database is required, it will need to be analyzed, 
scrubed and developed to fit the project needs which will be at an hourly rate

$0.012
- 10 data fields per page
- OCR call cost has been accounted for in the Full Document OCR
- Base infrastructure is covered by platform / licensing pricing

$0.004 - Only perform one OCR call per page and extract the data via zones in the Zonal ICR Step

$0.012
- 10 data fields per page
- OCR call cost has been accounted for in the Full Document OCR
- Base infrastructure is covered by platform / licensing pricing

at 25% QC at 50% QC at 100% QC

Single Entry $0.009 $0.029 $0.053 Assuming indexing for regular paper only. Includes single pass for 25%, single pass key plus 100% QC for 100%

Double Key Entry (single operator) $0.062 Assuming indexing for regular paper only. Includes double pass key plus 100% QC

Double Key Entry (separate operators) $0.062 Assuming indexing for regular paper only. Includes double pass key plus 100% QC

at 25% QC at 50% QC at 100% QC

Using Customer-provided barcoded forms $0.010 $0.020 $0.043 Assumes an average of 1 field, 10 characters. If indexing is required, manual data entry prices apply.

Using barcoded separator sheets $0.010 $0.020 $0.043 Assumes an average of 1 field, 10 characters. If indexing is required, manual data entry prices apply.

Agency prepares; inserts $0.010 $0.020 $0.043 Assumes an average of 1 field, 10 characters. If indexing is required, manual data entry prices apply.

Contractor prepares; inserts $0.010 $0.020 $0.043 Assumes an average of 1 field, 10 characters. If indexing is required, manual data entry prices apply.

Database Import (Per Database, One Time Cost) $0.000 $0.000 $0.000
Loading the actual data will be included in the hourly rate to develop the solution. Each deal will need to be reviewed and if a database is required, it will need to be analyzed, 
scrubed and developed to fit the project needs which will be at an hourly rate

0.016
- 10 data fields per page
- OCR call cost has been accounted for in the Full Document OCR
- Base infrastructure is covered by platform / licensing pricing

0.005
- Only perform one OCR call per page and extract the data via zones in the Zonal ICR Step

0.016
- 10 data fields per page
- OCR call cost has been accounted for in the Full Document OCR
- Base infrastructure is covered by platform / licensing pricingZonal ICR (Intelligent Character Recognition) Priced at $/datafield

ATTACHMENT 11 PRICING DOCUMENT
BPM004656 -  DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Indexing Pricing Schedule

Select pricing option(s) from those available and as applicable to your proposal.  Provide pricing for BOTH off-site and on-site in 
the sections below.  All set-up pricing should be incorporated into the pricing below.  

Pricing for services provided Off-Site (Contractor location)

Priced at $/keystroke for different QC levels

Priced at $/datafield for different QC levels

Automated Indexing

Manual Data Entry

Offeror: Insert your company name here

Zonal OCR (Optical Character Recognition) Priced at $/datafield

Full Document OCR (Optical Character Recognition) Priced per image

Iron Mountain

Pricing for services provided On-Site (Customer location)

Manual Data Entry
Priced at $/keystroke for different QC levels

Automated Indexing
Priced at $/datafield for different QC levels

Offeror: Insert your company name here Iron Mountain

Zonal OCR (Optical Character Recognition) Priced at $/datafield

Zonal ICR (Intelligent Character Recognition) Priced at $/datafield

Full Document OCR (Optical Character Recognition) Priced per image



Items
To create a custom-export filter for a customer's existing system $105.02 $/hour

Original $14.40 $/disc
Duplicates – 1-5 $14.40 $/disc
Duplicates – 6 or more $14.40 $/disc

Original $24.00 $/DVD
Duplicates – 1-5 $24.00 $/DVD
Duplicates – 6 or more $24.00 $/DVD

Original $24.00 $/Blu-ray
Duplicates – 1-5 $24.00 $/Blu-ray
Duplicates – 6 or more $24.00 $/Blu-ray

UOM
$240.00 Each

Encrypted USB $240.00 Each

Encrypted Hard Drive PRICING UNIT

PRICING UNIT

PRICING UNIT

* Optional pricing will not be included as a factor in price evaluation.

ATTACHMENT 11 PRICING DOCUMENT
BPM004656 -  DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Output Pricing

Compact Disc:

*Other Output Media:   (describe) 

DVD:

Select pricing option(s) from those available and as applicable to your proposal.  

Iron MountainOfferor: Insert your company name here

Blu-ray Disc:



Item # Description Pricing UOM Assumptions

1 Unlimited Cloud Storage $0.12 GB Per Month

2 License Type - subscription (per user) $426.24 Cost per Per user per year

All work is performed using an Agile Methodology wherein scope may be modified by the Customer 
project owner with the provison that if the changes in scope necessitate a Change Order for 
additional delivery time and expense, it will be agreed to.All work is performed in four phases:
1) Mobilization/Discovery, 2) Release Fulfillment, 3) Roll Out, 4) Hypercare

Customer Responsibilities:
1) Customer will provide a “Product Owner” and Project Manager for each engagement who will 
attend daily scrum meetings and weekly status meetings
2) Customer will make available subject matter experts, user leads and test leads as needed

3 License Type - perpetual (per user) N/A Cost per N/A

4 Platform (unlimited users)
Unlimited users above 
300 end users for each 

agency
Cost per Per Agency

All work is performed using an Agile Methodology wherein scope may be modified by the Customer 
project owner with the provison that if the changes in scope necessitate a Change Order for 
additional delivery time and expense, it will be agreed to.All work is performed in four phases:
1) Mobilization/Discovery, 2) Release Fulfillment, 3) Roll Out, 4) Hypercare

Customer Responsibilities:
1) Customer will provide a “Product Owner” and Project Manager for each engagement who will 
attend daily scrum meetings and weekly status meetings
2) Customer will make available subject matter experts, user leads and test leads as needed

5 Add-ons or Modules $7,680.00 Cost per Module

6 Reports $7,200.00 Cost per per report

7 Professional Services (list type) $192.00 Cost per per hour
Pricing is Time and Expense based with a floor of $200/hour. All Professional Services work is 
estimated based on contiguous, 8 hour days of work. All work is performed remotely.

ATTACHMENT 11 PRICING DOCUMENT
BPM004656 -  DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Platform and Licensing Pricing
Offeror: Insert your company name here Iron Mountain

Provide pricing for items as applicable to your proposal. Describe related items you are submitting for consideration by the State with their pricing. 
Describe each as a separate item, with its pricing and unit of measurement. Use as many lines as needed.



Item # Description Pricing UOM Definition

1 Software Engineer $105.0200 Cost per Hour

Overall responsibility is to deliver projects successfully on or ahead of schedule and on or under budget, ensure customer and team satisfaction, and to gain follow-on 
project at existing customers. Essential duties and responsibilities include:
- Design, develop and implement key components of customized web-based applications and programs in 3GL, 4 GL, and graphical development environments on time
- Installs, configure, tune and test web-centric package applications on a variety of platforms to meet project performance standards

2 Imaging Production Specialist I $33.840 Cost per Hour

Perform document preparation and scanning tasks. These tasks are performed within all DMS Imaging Centers. This role is vital in initiating the imaging process and 
obtaining our conversionobjectives.
- Sorting and/or preparing hard copy records for scanning – document preparation
- Scan hardcopy files to electronic images. Assuring a quality image
- Follow production procedures and completing internal documentation & tracking
- Adhere to Imaging Center guidelines of maintaining clean work environment
- Other duties, as specified by Supervisor/Manager

3 Imaging Production Specialist II $36.810 Cost per Hour

Perform scanning, auditing, QC functions, packaging of product, data entry and CD burning. Act a resource for questions, assist in the training of new Specialists.
- Scan hardcopy files to electronic images, assuring a quality image. Burn project CDs
- Perform some basic quality control auditing functions
- Prepare product for delivery and assure all projected documentation is complete
- Prepare hard copy records for scanning

4 Document Reassembly - Simple $0.003 Cost per Image Includes simple document reassembly services in which scanned documents will be placed back in the original file folder without applying any fasteners.

5 Document Reassembly - Full $0.032 Cost per Image Includes full document reassembly services which requires restoration of the converted documents back to their “as received” state.

6 Document Reassembly - Partial $0.013 Cost per Image
Includes partial document reassembly services which consists of one or more actions of restoring converted documents to any state short of the “as received state” and 
greater than simply placing them into the original file folders.

7 Document Reassembly - Simple (Large Format) $0.038 Cost per Image Includes simple document reassembly services in which scanned documents will be placed back in the original file folder without applying any fasteners.

8 Document Reassembly - Partial (Large Format) $0.082 Cost per Image
Includes partial document reassembly services which consists of one or more actions of restoring converted documents to any state short of the “as received state” and 
greater than simply placing them into the original file folders.

9 Document Reassembly - Full (Large Format) $0.209 Cost per Image Includes full document reassembly services which requires restoration of the converted documents back to their “as received” state.

10 Document Classification - Standard 2-5 Doc Types $0.003 Cost per Image
Includes additional services for Standard Scanning of separation within files at a document level in which each file contains two to five different document types that will be 
separated by Iron Mountain prior to scanning.

11 Document Classification - Standard 6-10 Doc Types $0.006 Cost per Image
Includes additional services for Standard Scanning of separation within files at a document level in which each file contains six to ten different document types that will be 
separated by Iron Mountain prior to scanning.

12 Document Classification - Standard 11-25 Doc Types $0.011 Cost per Image
Includes additional services for Standard Scanning of separation within files at a document level in which each file contains eleven to twenty-five different document types 
that will be separated by Iron Mountain prior to scanning.

13 Document Classification - Flatbed 2-5 Doc Types $0.012 Cost per Image
Includes additional services for Flatbed Scanning of separation within files at a document level in which each file contains two to five different document types that will be 
separated by Iron Mountain prior to scanning.

14 Document Classification - Flatbed 6-10 Doc Types $0.029 Cost per Image
Includes additional services for Flatbed Scanning of separation within files at a document level in which each file contains six to ten different document types that will be 
separated by Iron Mountain prior to scanning.

15 Document Classification - Flatbed 11-25 Doc Types $0.053 Cost per Image
Includes additional services for Flatbed Scanning of separation within files at a document level in which each file contains eleven to twenty-five different document types 
that will be separated by Iron Mountain prior to scanning.

16 Indexing Flatbed $0.009 Cost per Image
Includes data entry validation and verification servies for Flatbed Scanning to create necessary metadata fields to support standard search functionality to access the 
documents.

17 Indexing Wide Format $0.008 Cost per Image
Includes data entry validation and verification services for wide format scanning to create necessary metadata fields to support standard search functionality to access the 
documents.

18 Aperture Cards Hollerith $0.008 Cost per Image
Price for aperture card scanning of Hollerith Punch Code cards. Features black & white scanning, a scan resolution of 300 dpi, multipage TIFF or PDF image output, 
automatic crop, descew and image enhancement. Indexing captured from Hollerith Punch Code or Header information only. Quality assurance is offered at 100% validation.

19 16mm Duplicate - Diazo $8.989 Cost per Roll Price for duplication of 16mm Diazo - 100' Microfilm.

20 16mm Duplicate - Silver Halide $39.808 Cost per Roll Price for duplication of 16mm Silver Halide - 100' Microfilm.

21 35mm Duplicate - Diazo $12.259 Cost per Roll Price for duplication of 35mm Diazo - 100' Microfilm.

22 35mm Duplicate - Silver Halide $46.013 Cost per Roll Price for duplication of 35mm Silver Halide - 100' Microfilm.

23 Imaging Production Supervisor $57.060 Cost per Hour

Oversee the day-to-day projects and personnel within the Imaging Center. Interface and communicate daily with customers (internal/external), resolve issues, plan and staff 
for projects, adhere to department standards, monitor timelines and results.
Provide daily direction to employees in order to accomplish projects. Manage project timelines, quality and outcome of Customers orders.
Lead, mentor, cross train and provide accountable standards and measures to the department employees.
- Perform time studies for Sales/Account Management
- Research and resolve customer issues, modify work procedures as needed to meet customer demand
- Manage HR related items: scheduling vacation, managing timecards, assist in performance reviews, assist in hiring and termination processes
- Assist in the invoicing process

* Offeror Options will not be included as a factor in price evaluation.

Describe any options you are submitting for consideration by the State with their pricing. Describe each as a separate item, with its pricing 
and unit of measurement. Use as many lines as needed.*

Iron Mountain

ATTACHMENT 11 PRICING DOCUMENT
BPM004656 -  DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Offeror Options*
Offeror: Insert your company name here



Single Source Justification 

 

Evaluation 

Discussion with staff who participated in the digitizing process and review of companies, Iron Mountain, 

Inc. was determined to be the most qualified company.  Moving forward with the process it was 

determined that a small part of the process is not covered under the Arizona State Contract CTR063770.  

Community Development is requesting that Iron Mountain, Inc. be named single source for the 

transporting, packing personnel, and destruction of the records.  Iron Mountain Inc. will be in possession 

of all records, this will ensure the chain of custody is consistent with Arizona State Statutes 

requirements.  Having a single point contact in digitizing of as much as over 2 million pieces of paper, will 

also ensure less confusion throughout the process. 

 

Conclusion 

It is the determination of the Community Development Director that Iron Mountain, Inc. possesses the 

unique experience and expertise to be considered a sole source procurement.  Approving a contract with 

Iron Mountain, Inc. for transportation, packing personnel, and destruction services with the digitizing 

services process is in the best interest of Gila County for a transparent public process. 



   
ARF-8598   Regular Agenda Item     2. D.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: Eric Mariscal, Director 
Submitted By: Betty Hurst, Contracts Administrator
Department: Elections
Fiscal Year: 2024-2025 Budgeted?: Yes
Contract Dates
Begin & End: 

04-18-24 to 04-17-25 Grant?: No

Matching
Requirement?: 

No Fund?: Renewal

Information
Request/Subject
Amendment No. 1 to Professional Services Contract No. 081723-Election
Services and Maintenance Service with Elections Systems & Software

Background Information
On October 3, 2023, the Board of Supervisors approved Professional
Services Contract No. 081723 with Elections Systems & Software for
election service and maintenance for the period beginning April 18, 2023,
through April 17, 2024, with 3 one-year renewal options. The original
contract was executed for a not to exceed without-written authorization
amount of $52,520.66.

Elections Systems & Software partners with the Department of Homeland
Security and is certified by the U.S. Election Assistance Commission. 
Elections Systems & Software is the provider of our existing equipment.
Ongoing maintenance and service are necessary to remain in compliance
with relevant regulations.

Evaluation
Amendment No. 1 to Professional Services Contract No. 081723 extends
the term of the contract for an additional one-year term, from April 28,
2024, through April 17, 2025. The agreement includes scheduled
maintenance of the equipment for optimal performance. A typical invoice
is attached to the agenda item.

Conclusion



The Gila County Elections Department Director wishes to execute
Amendment No. 1 to Professional Services Contract No. 081723- Election
Services and Maintenance Service to extend the term of the contract for
an additional year, from April 18, 2024, through April 17, 2025, for a total
contract amount not to exceed $52,520.66.

Recommendation
The Gila County Elections Department Director recommends the approval
of Amendment No. 1 to Professional Services Contract No. 081723 with
Elections Systems & Software to extend the term of the contract for an
additional year, from April 18, 2024, through April 17, 2025, for a total
contract amount not to exceed $52,520.66.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to approve Amendment No. 1 to
Professional Services Contract No. 081723 with Elections Systems &
Software in the amount of $52,520.66, which extends the term of the
contract for one additional year, from April 18, 2024, through April 17,
2025.  (Eric Mariscal)

Attachments
Amendment No. 1 to Professional Services Contract No. 081723
Professional Services Contract No. 081723
Invoice CD2058095-Election System & Service





























   
ARF-8599   Regular Agenda Item     2. E.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: Alex Kendrick, Civil Engineer 
Submitted By: Shannon Boyer, Executive Administrative Asst.
Department: Public Works Division: Engineering

Information
Request/Subject
Adopt Resolution No. 24-03-01 to accept drainage easements from
property owners in Walnut Springs Subdivision West of Highway 188 in
unincorporated Tonto Basin.

Background Information
The work for this improvement project will be performed along Walnut
Springs Blvd. at Walnut Canyon just south of Four Peaks Road. The work
consists of removing the existing 5 36-inch pipes and constructing a new
2-barrel, 10-foot by 6-foot reinforced concrete box culvert. The work also
includes grading, paving, placing riprap, seeding and other incidental
work as shown on the project plans and as described in the Special
Provisions.

Evaluation
To facilitate the removal of the existing 5 36-inch pipes and construction
of a new 2-barrel, 10-foot by 6-foot reinforced concrete box culvert, as
well as provide future maintenance of the road and culverts, Gila County
needs drainage easements from the property owners adjacent to the
project.

Conclusion
Adjacent owners have been contacted and have agreed to grant drainage
easements to Gila County.

Recommendation
It is the recommendation of the Public Works Department Director and
the County Engineer that Gila County accept drainage easements from
the adjacent property owners.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to adopt Resolution No. 24-03-01



Information/Discussion/Action to adopt Resolution No. 24-03-01
accepting two drainage easements: one from Dean A. and Ruth A.
Jasinski, and one from Steven Gladhill. (Alexander Kendrick)

Attachments
Resolution No. 24-03-01
Grant of Easement from Jasinski to Gila County
Grant of Easement from Steven Gladhill to Gila County



Resolution 24-03-01  Page 1 of 8 
 

When recorded please send to 
Samantha Trimble, BOS 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 24-03-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE GILA COUNTY BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS ACCEPTING GRANTS OF EASEMENTS FROM 
DEAN A. JASINSKI AND RUTH A. JASINSKI, (AS SHOWN ON 
EXHIBIT “A”) FOR A PORTION OF ASSESSOR’S PARCEL 
NUMBER (APN) 201-21-005C, GILA COUNTY RECORDS; AND 
STEVEN GLADHILL, (AS SHOWN ON EXHIBIT “A”) FOR A 
PORTION OF APN 201-21-061, GILA COUNTY RECORDS, TO BE 
ESTABLISHED AS DRAINAGE EASEMENTS AND 
AUTHORIZING ITS CHAIRMAN TO EXECUTE THE 
DOCUMENTS ON BEHALF OF GILA COUNTY. 
 

WHEREAS, Dean A. Jasinski and Ruth A. Jasinski, dated November 13, 2023; and Steven 
Gladhill, dated August 22, 2023, have agreed to grant Gila County drainage easements; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors finds that the public interest will be served by the 

acceptance of the foregoing drainage easements upon the terms and conditions set forth therein;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Gila County Board of Supervisors that 

drainage easements from Dean A. Jasinski and Ruth A. Jasinski, (as shown on exhibit “A”) for a 
portion of APN 201-21-005C, Gila County Records; and Steven Gladhill, (as shown on exhibit 
“A”) for a portion of APN 201-21-061, Gila County Records, be accepted by Gila County. 
 

The Grant of Easements and legal descriptions are attached and 
will be recorded as separate documents. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of March 2024, at Globe, Gila County, Arizona 
 
Attest:     GILA COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
 
 
_______________________________ __________________________________ 
James Menlove, Clerk of the Board Stephen Christensen, Chairman 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
The Gila County Attorney’s Office 



Resolution 24-03-01  Page 2 of 8 
 



Resolution 24-03-01  Page 3 of 8 
 



Resolution 24-03-01  Page 4 of 8 
 



Resolution 24-03-01  Page 5 of 8 
 

 



Resolution 24-03-01  Page 6 of 8 
 

 



Resolution 24-03-01  Page 7 of 8 
 

 



Resolution 24-03-01  Page 8 of 8 
 

 





STATE OF ARIZONA) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF�) 
t\la,a,0

o ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
� 

:ft.. 
On this JI::. day of A.tl/ernbfV:: , 2023, before me, the undersigned Notary Public,
personally appeared Dean A. Jasinski known to me to be the persons who executed the foregoing 
instrument and acknowledged the same to be his free act and deed. 

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

My Commission Expires: 

STATE OF ARIZONA) 
) ss. 

coUNTY OF ffif::A) IVaY�O 
ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

"""' 
On this ___li day of /\JlVf)'.}'.]beY , 2023, before me, the undersigned Notary Public, Ruth
A. Jasinski, known to me to be the person who executed the foregoing instrument and
acknowledged the same to be her free act and deed.

WITNESS my hand and official seal. 

My Commission Expires: 













   
ARF-8593   Regular Agenda Item     2. F.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: Homero Vela, Director 
Submitted By: Betty Hurst, Contracts Administrator
Department: Public Works
Fiscal Year: 2024 Budgeted?: Yes
Contract Dates
Begin & End: 

09-05-24 Grant?: No

Matching
Requirement?: 

No Fund?: New

Information
Request/Subject
Contract Award in response to Invitation for Bids No. 112023- Walnut
Springs Blvd. Culvert Replacement.

Background Information
On January 2, 2024, the Board of Supervisors authorized the
advertisement of Invitation for Bids (IFB) No. 112023-Walnut Springs
Blvd. Walnut Canyon Culvert Replacement Project. The IFB was
advertised in the Payson Roundup newspaper on January 9, 2024, and
January 16, 2024.  The bids were due on February 1, 2024 at 3:00 PM. 
There were five responses. 

Evaluation
Sealed bids were accepted at the Gila County Finance Department
through 3:00 PM on February 1, 2024.  There were five competitive bids
received in response to Invitation for Bids (IFB) No. 112023.  The bids
were opened at 3:00 P.M. on February 1, 20,24 and evaluated in
accordance with A.R.S. 41-2533, Competitive Bidding.
 
HT4 met all bid specifications and offered a low bid price of $384,093.84.

Conclusion
Of the five bids received, HT4 was the lowest bid while remaining within



Of the five bids received, HT4 was the lowest bid while remaining within
the scope of the engineer's estimate. There were no red flags from
Engineering on their submittal, and the unit price costs align relatively
close to the state's estimates for each line item. Based on all this
information, staff feels that HT4 is the best choice for the County on this
project.

Recommendation
It is the recommendation of the Gila County Public Works Department
Director to award the contract to HT4 in the amount of $384,093.84.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to review the bids submitted for Invitation
for Bids No. 112023 - Walnut Springs Blvd. Culvert
Replacement; award to the lowest, most responsive, responsible, and
qualified bidder; and authorize the Chairman's signature on the award
contract. (Alexander Kendrick)

Attachments
Invitation for Bids No. 112023 with Award Contract
As Read Bid Results
Arrow Indian Contractors-Sealed Bid
Falcone Brothers & Associates, Inc.-Sealed Bid
J. Banicki Construction, Inc.-Sealed Bid
Meridian Engineering Company-Sealed Bid
Addendum 1
Addendum 2
Addendum 3

































































































































































































































































































INVITATION FOR BIDS NO. 112023 
ADDENDUM #1 

 

 

 

  

 

 

GILA COUNTY 

 

INVITATION FOR BIDS NO. 112023 

WALNUT SPRINGS BLVD CULVERT REPLACEMENT 

 

ADDENDUM #1:   

DATE: 01/17/24 

 

CLARIFICATIONS: 

 

Question: For the utility relocation, do we bid this item?  
Answer: No, it will be done by the individual utilities.  
 
Question: The plans say done by others. If it is done by others, will it postpone the start of 
construction? 
Answer: No, all utilities will either already be moved before the Notice to proceed is issued or will 
come in after the work is done for final relocation after construction using the aspects of the project 
designed for the utilities. 
 
Question: Does the county have a place for excess material, and a place for pipe removal?  
Answer: Removal of material will need to be considered.  
 
Question: Page 16, paragraph 1 “Purpose.” Is the wrong project being referenced?  
Answer: Correct, the wrong project got referenced, this is not for the new cell on the Russell Gulch 
landfill, but walnut springs culvert replacement.  This apparently got missed in our review. 
 
Question: Page 18, Bid Schedule. Utility Relocation, 3 each. Plan sheet 4 of 11 calls for the TDS Telecom 
line to be relocated by TDS Telecom, JW Waterline to be relocated by JW Water and the 2” APS line to 
be relocated by APS. Should the Utility Relocation line item be removed from the bid schedule?   
Answer: See above. 
 
 



INVITATION FOR BIDS NO. 112023 
ADDENDUM #1 

Question: Page 18, Bid Schedule. Should Owners Contingency (item 9400001) be a dollar amount 
instead of a percentage to keep all bidders contingency amount equal? If left as is, do we calculate the 
20% on the above line items to come up with a project total below the contingency line item?  
Answer: We’re basing contingency on a percentage of the overall bid, similar to ADOT projects of a 
similar size. 
 
Question: Utility relocations could affect the 90-day contract schedule. Will the County make 
allowances if the schedule is impacted by utility relocations?  
Answer: Yes, as utility’s relocation will be out of the contractors’ hands, we will need to make 
allowances.  
 
Question: Should we include quality control testing in our bid?  
Answer: While it was not stated in the bid schedule, QC should have been included. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



INVITATION FOR BIDS NO. 112023 
ADDENDUM #2 

 

 

 

  

 

 

GILA COUNTY 

 

INVITATION FOR BIDS NO. 112023 

WALNUT SPRINGS BLVD CULVERT REPLACEMENT 

 

ADDENDUM #2:   

DATE: 01/23/24 

 

CLARIFICATIONS: 

 

1. Question: Would a pre-cast box culvert to ADOT’s new precast box culvert 
standard detail and specification that was published in May 2023, suffice to 
replace the ADOT cast-in-place box culvert that was specified?  
 
Answer: The use of pre-cast box culverts will not be allowed. Box culverts shall be 
cast-in-place.” 

 



INVITATION FOR BIDS NO. 112023 
ADDENDUM #3 

 

 

 

  

 

 

GILA COUNTY 

 

INVITATION FOR BIDS NO. 112023 

WALNUT SPRINGS BLVD CULVERT REPLACEMENT 

 

ADDENDUM #3:   

DATE: 01/24 

01/24/24 

 

CLARIFICATIONS: 

 

 

  

Question: RFQ Page No. 4-5, Task 1-Will the documents be provided in a digital format prior to the 
commencement of the Site Visits?  
 
Answer: Contractor needs to request the specific documents to overlook. Time will be allotted for 
Gila County to provide documents. Site visit will take place at an agreed time after the documents 
have been reviewed by the contractor. need to be requested from Gila County and the documents 
will be provided before site visit. 
  

Question: RFQ Page No. 5, Task 2- Are the Site Visits to be scheduled for two days per landfill, or is two 
days the total duration for both landfills?  
 
Answer: One day per landfill will be scheduled. 
 
Question:  RFQ Page No. 6, Task 5- Will a virtual option suffice for on-demand training?  
Answer: Yes 
 
Question: Is there any construction water source identified by the County for this project?  
 
Answer: No water source was identified in the design. Construction water will need to be considered in 
the Bid. 
 



INVITATION FOR BIDS NO. 112023 
ADDENDUM #3 

Question: How should the owners’ contingency be addressed on the bid schedule form?   
 
Answer: This has already been addressed in Addendum #1. Contingency is based on a percentage of 
the overall bid, similar to ADOT projects of a similar size. 
 
 
 
 

 

 



   

ARF-8588   Regular Agenda Item     2. G.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  

Submitted For: Carl Melford, Emergency Management Program Manager 
Submitted By: Carl Melford, Emergency Management Program Manager
Department: Health & Emergency Management
Division: Emergency Management

Information
Request/Subject
Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement Project Selection.

Background Information
On February 7, 2023, the Gila County Board of Supervisors signed a
Memorandum of Understanding with Salt River Project (SRP) to tackle forest
thinning/wildfire reduction projects on National Forest Service lands. This
partnership entailed a financial contribution of $5,000 per year and helps to
leverage additional state and federal dollars. Gila County must select from 3
proposed projects to support. The health of the National Forest System lands
managed by the U.S. Forest Service (USFS) in Arizona affects water supplies,
water quality, water infrastructure, wildlife habitat, public safety, natural
resources, recreation, and the economic vitality of the surrounding and
downstream communities. 

In recent decades, forest ecosystems have experienced unnaturally large and
intense wildfires that have adversely impacted Gila County communities,
businesses, and residents.  Forest restoration activities improve watershed and
forest health and reduce the threat of large, high-severity wildfires and
corresponding impacts such as (1) catastrophic floods, (2) increased erosion and
resulting sedimentation, (3) damage to water storage and delivery
infrastructure, (4) damage to electric generation, transmission and distribution
infrastructure, (5) devastating impacts to natural resources, and (6) destruction
of rural communities. SRP is responsible for the care, operation, and
maintenance of a water system that includes seven water storage reservoirs in
central Arizona – two reservoirs located in the Verde River watershed, four
reservoirs in the Salt River watershed, and one reservoir in the East Clear
Creek watershed within the Little Colorado River system. These reservoirs are
part of the Salt River Federal Reclamation Project and collect water from a
combined drainage area of about 8,365,000 acres. Salt River Project manages
stored water for the benefit of its shareholders and other water rights holders in
the Salt River Valley and Northern Gila County. Gila County has partnered with
SRP to invest in and implement forest restoration, including forest thinning
treatments and associated activities that are required to accomplish forest



restoration on National Forest System lands or other forest lands within the
C.C. Cragin Watershed and Salt and Verde River Watersheds within or adjacent
to Gila County. 

Evaluation
SRP is seeking Gila County's input on selecting from 3 proposed projects: The
Pico Pino Fuels Reduction Project, the Haigler Creek Phase 1 Mastication
Project, or the South Payson Phase 1 Mastication Project.

The proposed projects all provide significant benefits to Gila County, its forests,
watersheds, and the safety of its residents. However, currently the South
Payson Mastication Project appears to have the highest cost-benefit as it covers
the largest geographical are and provides significant wildfire mitigation in one
on the highest risk areas for wildfire. The South Payson Mastication Project
mitigates an area that is prone to roadside fire starts. In our geographical
location, wildfire is most likely to travel northeast driven by prevailing winds out
of the southwest. Wildfire also spreads more rapidly when traveling uphill. This
project would significantly decrease the risk of wildfire spreading from Highway
87, into Payson, Star Valley and Pine/Strawberry. In addition, this also
mitigates the risk of post-fire flooding that would affect Tonto Creek, Tonto
Basin, and the residences and infrastructure within proximity of the
watershed.

Conclusion
The South Payson Mastication Project appears to have the highest cost-benefit
as it covers the largest geographical are and provides significant wildfire
mitigation in one on the highest risk areas for wildfire. The South Payson
Mastication Project mitigates an area that is prone to roadside fire starts. In our
geographical location, wildfire is most likely to travel northeast driven by
prevailing winds out of the southwest. Wildfire also spreads more rapidly when
traveling uphill. This project would significantly decrease the risk of wildfire
spreading from Highway 87, into Payson, Star Valley and Pine/Strawberry. In
addition, this also mitigates the risk of post-fire flooding that would affect Tonto
Creek, Tonto Basin, and the residences and infrastructure within proximity of
the watershed.

Recommendation
It is the recommendation of the Gila County Emergency Manager to select the
South Payson Mastication Project. It appears to have the highest cost-benefit as
it covers the largest geographical area and provides significant wildfire
mitigation in one on the highest risk areas for wildfire. The South Payson
Mastication Project mitigates an area that is prone to roadside fire starts. In our
geographical location, wildfire is most likely to travel northeast driven by
prevailing winds out of the southwest. Wildfire also spreads more rapidly when
traveling uphill. This project would significantly decrease the risk of wildfire
spreading from Highway 87, into Payson, Star Valley and Pine/Strawberry. In
addition, this also mitigates the risk of post-fire flooding that would affect Tonto



Creek, Tonto Basin, and the residences and infrastructure within proximity of
the watershed.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to consider and select one of the following three
proposed projects to support, in partnership with Salt River Project:  Pico Pino
Fuels Reduction Project, Haigler Creek Phase 1 Mastication Project, or South
Payson Phase 1 Mastication Project. (Carl Melford)

Attachments
Memorandum of Understanding with Salt River Project Agricultural
Improvement and Power District
Salt River Project Presentations













   
 

 

Poco Pino Fuels Reduction Project 
 
 
Forest and Watershed Health Background 
The Salt River Project (SRP) is dedicated to protecting 
the watersheds that are vital to Arizona’s water supply. 
The restoration of National Forest System (NFS) lands 
in Tonto National Forest (TNF) affects municipal water 
supply, water quality, forest fire potential, public safety, 
recreation, natural resources, and the economic vitality 
of surrounding communities. Restoring this land 
drastically reduces the possibility of high costs 
associated with wildfire and post-wildfire flooding 
damages. As part of the effort to reduce catastrophic 
wildfire, SRP has partnered with the Arizona 
Department of Forestry and Fire Management (DFFM) 
and the U.S. Forest Service (USFS) to implement 
forest thinning and fuels reduction projects. 

Poco Pino Project Overview 
The Project is located less than 1 mile southeast of 
Pine, Arizona and covers 718 acres of ponderosa pine 
forest. The purpose of this project is to restore the 
health of the forest by removing the overabundance of 
small diameter ponderosa pine, Emory oak, Arizona 
white oak, and alligator juniper. This project will create 
conditions for a vigorous ponderosa pine forest with a 
structure that is sustainable for 10-15 years. This 
project also aims to improve the Verde watershed 
function.  

Poco Pino Details  

• Estimated Costs: $574,400 
• Funding Received to Date: $498,000 
• Funding Needed: $76,400 
• Partners: SRP, USFS  
• Implementation Timeline: Spring 2024 – Spring 2025 

Project Benefits 

• Reducing risk of high-severity, large-scale wildfire and post-wildfire flooding 
• Protecting the Town of Pine 
• Protecting private/public infrastructure 
• Protecting water supplies, infrastructure, and water quality  

Map of Poco Pino Project Area 



   
 

 

   Haigler Creek Phase 1 Mastication Project 
 
 
 
Forest and Watershed Health Background 
The Salt River Project (SRP) is dedicated to protecting the 
watersheds that are vital to Arizona’s water supply. The restoration 
of National Forest System (NFS) lands in Tonto National Forest 
(TNF) affects municipal water supply, water quality, forest fire 
potential, public safety, recreation, natural resources, and the 
economic vitality of surrounding communities. Restoring this land 
drastically reduces the possibility of high costs associated with 
wildfire and post-wildfire flooding damages. As part of the effort to 
reduce catastrophic wildfire, SRP has partnered with the Arizona 
Department of Forestry and Fire Management (DFFM) and the 
U.S. Forest Service (USFS) to implement forest thinning and fuels 
reduction projects.  

Haigler Creek Phase 1 Project Overview 
The Project is located 20 miles east of Payson, Arizona and covers 
1,687 acres of ponderosa pine and juniper woodland. The purpose 
of this project is to restore the ponderosa pine and woodland 
species by removing the encroached junipers, woodland, and 
brush species adjacent to high valued private land 
and infrastructure. This Project will create conditions 
for a healthy, vigorous ponderosa pine forest with a 
structure that is sustainable for the next 10-15 years. 
The Project will improve conditions within the Haigler 
Creek watershed which ultimately flows into 
Roosevelt Lake in the Salt River watershed.   

Haigler Creek Project Details 

• Estimated Costs: $1,367,060 
• Funding Received to Date: $683,530 
• Funding Needed: $683,530 
• Partners: SRP, USFS 
• Implementation Timeline: Starting in May 2025  

Project Benefits 

• Reducing risk of high-severity, large-scale wildfire 
and post-wildfire flooding 

• Protecting private/public infrastructure 
• Protecting water supplies, infrastructure, and water quality  

Map of Haigler Creek project area, Phases 1 and 2 



   
 

 

South Payson Phase 1 Mastication Project 
 
 
Forest and Watershed Health Background 
The Salt River Project (SRP) is dedicated to protecting the 
watersheds that are vital to Arizona’s water supply. The 
restoration of National Forest System (NFS) lands in Tonto 
National Forest (TNF) affects municipal water supply, water 
quality, forest fire potential, public safety, recreation, natural 
resources, and the economic vitality of surrounding 
communities. Restoring this land drastically reduces the 
possibility of high costs associated with wildfire and post-
wildfire flooding damages. As part of the effort to reduce 
catastrophic wildfire, SRP has partnered with the Arizona 
Department of Forestry and Fire Management (DFFM) and 
the U.S. Forest Service (USFS) to implement forest thinning 
and fuels reduction projects. 

South Payson Phase 1 Project Overview 
The Project is located seven miles south of Payson, Arizona 
and covers 2,299 acres of ponderosa pine and juniper 
woodland. The purpose of this project is to restore the 
ponderosa pine and woodland species by removing the 
encroached junipers, woodland, and brush species adjacent 
to high valued private land and infrastructure. This project will 
create conditions for a healthy, vigorous ponderosa pine 
forest with a structure that is sustainable for the next 10-15 
years. It will also improve a key watershed function in the 
local area.  

South Payson Phase 1 Details  

• Estimated Costs: $1,916,177 
• Funding Received to Date: $1,619,600 
• Funding Needed: $296,577 
• Partners: SRP, USFS, DFFM, AZ Game and Fish Dept. 
• Implementation Timeline: October 2023 – October 2024 

Project Benefits 

• Reducing risk of high-severity, large-scale wildfire and 
post-wildfire flooding 

• Protecting Town of Payson  
• Protecting private/public infrastructure 
• Protecting water supplies, infrastructure, and water quality  

Map of South Payson projects, Phases 1-5. 





   

ARF-8586   Regular Agenda Item     2. H.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  

Submitted For: Carl Melford, Emergency Management Program Manager 
Submitted By: Carl Melford, Emergency Management Program Manager
Department: Health & Emergency Management
Division: Emergency Management

Information
Request/Subject
Adoption of the 2024 Arizona Mutual Aid Compact.

Background Information
On November 18, 2024, the Board of Supervisors adopted the Arizona Mutual
Aid Compact.  The Compact being presented to the Board for adoption has been
completely rewritten from the Compact previously adopted by the Board in
2014.

The purpose of this Compact is to define for the participating parties the
emergency management terms and procedures which will be used among
participating parties for dispatching mutual aid assistance to any affected area
in accordance with local ordinances, resolutions, emergency plans or
agreements. Contracting authority for political subdivisions of Arizona for this
Compact is based upon A.R.S. § 26-308 which provides that each county and
incorporated city and town of the state may appropriate and expend funds,
make contracts and obtain and distribute equipment, materials and supplies for
emergency management purposes. Tribal contracting authority will be in
accordance with each Tribe’s laws. Special District authority will be in
accordance with their respective laws. Public education district authority is
based on A.R.S. § 15-342(13) and A.R.S. § 11-952. This Agreement shall be
construed in accordance the laws of the State of Arizona. If the Providing Party
desires reimbursement for the assistance they are providing, the Requesting
Party shall reimburse the Providing Party for all costs incurred in the mutual
assistance, whether an incident has been declared an emergency or not. The
Providing Party must declare its intent to seek reimbursement as part of their
response to the Requesting Party’s request for assistance (see Appendix A:
Resource Request forms). The Providing Party and the Requesting party shall
agree upon allowable costs for mutual assistance prior to the dispatch of any
mutual assistance resources. Unless otherwise negotiated by the parties
involved, the parties may reference the state allowable costs as defined in A.A.C.
Title 8 (as may be amended from time to time). If the assistance is authorized
and accepted, the Requesting Party shall reimburse the Providing Party all
allowable costs of labor, equipment, and materials that have actually been



expended during the execution of the mission assignment, after receipt of an
itemized voucher and documentation is received. If there has been a declaration
of emergency from the Governor and/or President, the Requesting Party may be
eligible for reimbursement for these mutual aid costs under the state or federal
declaration of emergency.

Evaluation
Gila County, without the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact in place, would be at
much greater fiscal risk, and most likely have a delay in receiving
disaster services without the adoption of the Compact. This could also hinder
Emergency Management's ability to pull in outside resources during an
emergency response.

Conclusion
The Arizona Mutual Aid Compact has been reviewed and recommended by all
Arizona County, Tribal, and Hospital Emergency Managers and it would be in
the best interest of the County for the Board of Supervisors to adopt the
Compact in order to expedite mutual aid assistance in the event of an
emergency situation.

Recommendation
Based on the information provided, the Division of Emergency Management
recommends that the Board of Supervisors adopt the Arizona Mutual Aid
Compact.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to adopt the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact as
recommended by the Arizona Department of Emergency Management.  (Carl
Melford)

Attachments
2024 Arizona Mutual Aid Compact
Arizona Mutual Aid Compact FAQ sheet



   
 

1 
2024 Version 

     ARIZONA MUTUAL AID COMPACT 
 

This Compact was made and entered into by and among the signatory Parties, including the 
State of Arizona, through the Emergency Management Division of the Arizona Department of 
Emergency and Military Affairs (DEMA/EM). 
   

Recitals  
 

WHEREAS one or more Parties may find it necessary to utilize all of their own resources to cope 
with emergencies, and may require the assistance of another Party or other Parties; and, 
 
WHEREAS it is desirable that all resources of all Parties be available to all other Parties on pre-
established terms, in order to respond to such emergencies; and,  
 
WHEREAS it is desirable that each of the Parties should assist one another when such 
emergency occurs by providing such resources as are available and needed, including, but not 
limited to, fire, police, medical and health, environmental, communication, and transportation 
services to cope with the problems of response; and, 
 
WHEREAS it is desirable that a compact be executed for the interchange of such mutual aid; 
and, 
 
WHEREAS it is desirable to utilize this Compact in exercising adopted emergency plans; and, 
 
WHEREAS it is desirable that the manner of financing of such cooperative undertakings be 
resolved in advance of such emergency. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED by and between each and all of the Parties as follows: 



 

2 
 

COMPACT 
 
1. Purpose. 

The purpose of this Compact is to establish emergency management terms and 
procedures for participating Parties to provide mutual aid assistance to any affected area in 
accordance with local ordinances, resolutions, emergency plans, or agreements. This Compact 
shall be construed in accordance with all applicable laws. 
 
2. Scope. 

The Scope of this Compact is to (1) provide the procedures to notify the Providing Parties 
of the need for emergency assistance; (2) identify available resources; and (3) provide a 
mechanism for compensation for resources. 
 
3.  Definitions. 

• Automatic Mutual Aid means the dispatch and response of requested resources 
without incident-specific approvals under an agreement separate from this 
Compact. These agreements are usually basic contracts; some may be informal 
accords. 

• Compact means this document, the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact (AZMAC). 
•  Director means the Director of the Emergency Management Division of the 

Arizona Department of Emergency and Military Affairs (DEMA/EM). 
• Emergency or Emergencies means any disaster or contingency situation that 

requires a collaborative effort among multiple Parties. 
• Local Mutual Aid Agreements are separate agreements between Parties and/or 

other entities that involve a formal request for assistance. 
• Party and Parties refers to any entity(ies) that have signed this Compact. All state 

agencies, tribal nations, and political subdivisions in the State of Arizona are 
eligible to sign this Compact as Parties.  

• Political Subdivision means any county, incorporated city or town, or school 
district, community college district, or other tax-levying public district.  

• Providing Party means the Party rendering aid under this Compact to another 
Party in the event of an emergency. 

• Requesting Party means the Party seeking aid under this Compact from another 
Party in the event of an Emergency. 

• Self-deploy refers to the act of a Party responding to another Party’s emergency 
without being requested by the affected Party.



 

3 
 

4. Guiding Framework.  
 Unless otherwise expressly agreed to in writing by a Providing Party and a Receiving Party 
in a separate agreement, the Parties agree to interpret the language of the Compact as operating 
consistently with:  

• Arizona Revised Statute (A.R.S.), Title 26, Military Affairs and Emergency 
Management. 

• Arizona Administrative Code (A.A.C.), Title 8, Chapter 2, Article 3 (addressing the 
Governor’s Emergency Fund). 

• National Incident Management System (NIMS), 2017. 
 
5. Procedures for Requesting Assistance. 

Any Party experiencing an emergency may request assistance from any other Party under 
this Compact. However, when making such requests, consideration should be given to the 
geographical proximity of the other Parties from which assistance is being requested. All requests 
for assistance from the State must be coordinated through the Requesting Party’s county 
emergency manager or tribal emergency manager, whichever is applicable. 

 
Any request for assistance must specify: 

1. What the emergency is.  
2. The amount and type of resources needed. 
3. The estimated period during which such mutual aid is required.  

 
Parties must use the Resource Request form provided in Appendix A. Additionally, it is 

recommended that Parties utilize WebEOC to track requests. 
 
6.  Providing Party's Assessment of Availability of Resources and Ability to Render 

Assistance. 
In all instances, the Providing Party shall render such mutual aid as it is able to provide 

consistent with its own service needs at the time, taking into consideration the Providing Party's 
existing commitments within its own jurisdiction. The Providing Party shall be the sole judge of 
what mutual aid it has available to furnish to the Requesting Party pursuant to this Compact. 

 
7. Implementation Plan. 

Each Party that plans on retaining or seeking eligibility to receive Emergency 
Management Performance Grant (EMPG) funds must have an emergency operations plan that 
includes a process to provide for the effective mobilization of its resources, both public and 
private, including acceptance of mutual aid to provide or receive assistance under this Compact, 
and must provide a copy of its most current plan to DEMA/EM Grants Administration upon 
request.  
 
8. Contact List. 

Each Party shall develop a contact list as outlined in Appendix B, which shall be provided 
to the Director to make available to all other Parties. A minimum of two contacts, preferably 



   
 

4 

three, must be provided in Appendix B. A Party may update its contact information, at any time, 
by providing the updated contact information in writing to the Director, who shall make available 
the updated contact information to all other Parties. The contact list should be updated 
periodically, when necessary (i.e., personnel change).  
 
9.  Reimbursement Procedures between Parties. 

If the Providing Party desires reimbursement for the assistance it is providing, the 
Requesting Party shall reimburse the Providing Party for one hundred percent (100%) of all costs 
incurred, and as agreed to, within the mutual assistance compact, whether an emergency has 
been declared or not. The Providing Party must declare its intent to seek reimbursement as part 
of its response to the Requesting Party's request for assistance (see Appendix A). The Providing 
Party and the Requesting Party shall agree upon allowable costs, both actual and estimated, for 
mutual assistance prior to the dispatch of any mutual assistance resources. In the event that the 
agreement includes reimbursement of all agreed to activities by the Providing Party, the 
Providing Party must submit a claim for all costs incurred during the execution of the mission 
assignment to the Requesting Party. The claim must include copies (no original documents) of all 
documentation to support their claim of reimbursement, including but not limited to timecards, 
payroll reports, fringe benefits information, pay policies, vehicle/daily logs, maintenance records, 
equipment lists, invoices, contracts, receipts, procurement policies, inventory reports, proofs of 
payments, insurance policies, rental agreements, etc. 
 
 The Requesting Party shall reimburse the Providing Party for all sufficiently documented 
submitted costs, as agreed to, regardless of the existence of a State Declaration or a State-Level 
Emergency, or a federal Emergency or Major Disaster Declaration. 
 

Self-deployed resources will not be reimbursed under this Compact.  
 
10.  Reimbursement Procedures from the State or Federal Government. 

The Providing Party shall be reimbursed for costs associated with this Compact by the 
Requesting Party only. The Providing Party is not eligible for reimbursement from the State or 
federal government under the terms of this Compact; eligibility for reimbursement from the 
State or federal government is determined solely by state and/or federal laws and policies. 
Additionally, neither the State nor the federal government is liable for any claim arising from an 
emergency for which the applicant receives funds from another source.  
 
Costs and work performed by the Providing Party may, or may not, be reimbursable by the State 
or federal government, if submitted by the Requesting Party for reimbursement under a State 
Declaration for a State-Level Emergency, or federal Emergency, or Major Disaster declaration. 
Regardless of eligibility for reimbursement from the State or the federal government under a 
State Declaration for a State-Level Emergency, or federal Emergency or Major Disaster 
declaration, the Requesting Party shall fully reimburse the Providing Party’s claim, providing all 
requirements are met. Failure to fully reimburse claims may establish a history of non-payment 
of AZMAC claims and may disqualify a Requesting Party from being able to be reimbursed under 
future State Declaration for a State-Level Emergency, or federal Emergency, or Major Disaster 



 

5 
 

declaration events.  
 
11.  Personnel Compensation and Insurance. 

Except to the extent that reimbursement is separately agreed to, the Requesting Party 
and the Providing Party each shall be responsible for all compensation of their respective 
employees and insurance coverage for their respective equipment. 
 
12. Immunity. 
 Notwithstanding the indemnification provision set forth below, the Parties shall have 
such immunity as provided by applicable state, federal, or tribal law.  
 
13.  Indemnification.  

To the extent permitted under applicable laws, each Party (as "Indemnitor") agrees to 
defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the other Party (as "Indemnitee") from and against any 
and all claims, losses, liability, costs, or expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees) 
(hereinafter collectively referred to as "Claims") arising out of bodily injury of any person 
(including death) or property damage, but only to the extent that such Claims are caused by 
negligent act or omission or other fault of the Indemnitor, its officers, officials, agents, 
employees, emergency workers, or volunteers. If a Claim or Claims become subject to this 
indemnity provision, the Parties in question shall expeditiously meet to discuss a common and 
mutual defense, including proportional liability and payment of possible litigation expense and 
money damages. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall be construed to modify 
the gross negligence standard applicable to each Party under the law applicable to that Party.  
Should a Party to this Compact use a contractor for any purpose, that Party must ensure that its 
contractor(s) (and all of their subcontractors and materials suppliers, regardless of their degree 
of removal from the Party’s contractor) are required to abide by the insurance requirements 
which are set forth in Appendix C. The obligations under this Section shall survive termination of 
this Compact. 

 
14.  Term. 

 This Compact shall terminate ten years after the effective date or until participation in 
this Compact is terminated by the Party. The 2014 Compact shall cease to be effective as of 
midnight Arizona time on the evening of December 31, 2023, and this Compact shall go into 
effect immediately thereafter for all Parties that have signed this Compact before that date and 
time. This Compact shall continue in effect until midnight Arizona time on the evening of 
December 31, 2033.  
 
15.  Effect of Termination by a Party. 

The termination by one or more of the Parties of its/their participation in this Compact 
shall not affect the operation of this Compact as between the other Parties. The Director shall 
identify on DEMA’s website, with updates as needed, all Parties to this Compact. 
 
 



 

6 
 

16. Compliance with Laws. 
Each Party shall comply with all federal, tribal, state, and local laws, rules, regulations, 

standards, and Executive Orders, as applicable, without limitation to those designated within this 
Compact. Any changes in such laws, rules and regulations during the terms of this Compact shall 
apply without the need to amend this Compact. 
 
17. Workers’ Compensation.  

Each Party shall maintain Workers' Compensation insurance coverage on all of its own 
employees providing services pursuant to this Compact. 
 
18. Insurance. 

Except as expressly provided in this Compact, each Party shall bear the risk of its own 
actions, as it does with all its operations, and shall determine for itself an appropriate level of 
insurance coverage and maintain such coverage. Nothing in this Compact shall be construed as 
a waiver of any limitation on liability that may apply to a Party. 

 
19. Non-Appropriation. 

Every payment obligation of each of the Parties under this Compact is conditioned upon 
the availability of funds appropriated and allocated for the payment of such obligation. If a 
Party’s funds are not appropriated, allocated, and available or if the appropriation is changed by 
the legislature or other governing body resulting in funds no longer being available for the 
continuance of that Party’s participation in this Compact, that Party may terminate its 
participation in this Compact as of the end of the period for which funds are available by 
providing written notice in advance to the Director. No liability shall accrue to the Party in 
question in the event this provision is exercised, and that Party shall not be obligated or liable 
for any future payments or for any damages as a result of termination under this paragraph. 
 
20. No Third-Party Beneficiaries. 

Nothing in this Compact confers any rights or remedies to any person or entity that is not 
a Party. Nothing in this Compact affects the legal liability of any Party to this Compact by imposing 
any standard of care different from the standard of care imposed by law. 
 
21.  Entire Compact. 

This document constitutes the entire Compact between the Parties pertaining to the 
subject matter hereof. This Compact shall not be modified, amended, or altered. 

 
22.  Jurisdiction. 

Nothing in this Compact shall be construed as otherwise limiting or extending the legal 
jurisdiction of any Party.   

  
23. Conflict of Interest. 

If applicable to the Party in question, that Party may terminate its participation in this 
Compact, without penalty or further obligation, if any person significantly involved in initiating, 
negotiating, securing, drafting, creating, or executing this Compact on behalf of the Party is, at 



 

7 
 

any time while this Compact or any extension is in effect, an employee, agent or consultant of 
another Party with respect to the subject matter of this Compact. 
 
24. Supervision and Control. 

Management of an emergency shall remain with the Party originally responsible for 
responding to the emergency. From the time of arrival to the time of departure at the emergency 
scene, the Providing Party shall be considered for all purposes to be under the direction and 
control (other than for the purposes of Workers’ Compensation, as provided in Section 17 of this 
Compact) of the Requesting Party. In proceeding to and returning from the emergency scene, 
the Providing Party shall not be under the direction and control of the Requesting Party. 
Supervision and control of Providing Parties' personnel and equipment shall be in accordance 
with the National Incident Management System. All equipment and personnel used pursuant to 
this Compact shall be returned to the Providing Party upon being released by the Requesting 
Party or on demand of the Providing Party for such return. 
 
25. Severability: Effect on Other Agreements. 

It is expressly understood that this Compact shall not supplant existing agreements 
between any of the Parties that provide for the exchange or furnishing of goods and/or service. 

 
26.  Severability. 

If any provision of this Compact is held to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining 
provisions shall continue to be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
 
27.  Responsibility of the Department of Emergency and Military Affairs. 

Nothing in this Compact limits or restricts the legal duties and obligations of DEMA/EM 
when responding to the emergency of any Party. 
 
28.  Execution Procedure. 

Execution of this Compact shall be as follows: 
This Compact, which will be designated as "ARIZONA MUTUAL AID COMPACT," shall be 

executed in counterparts by the governing body of each Party. Upon execution, the counterpart 
will be provided to the Director. This Compact will be effective between all Parties that execute 
this Compact even if it is not executed by all eligible entities. 

 
29.  Termination. 

Termination of participation in this Compact by any Party may be affected by that Party 
as follows:  

Notice of termination will be given to the Director 20 days prior to termination. Any Party 
may, by resolution of its governing body or person, terminate its participation in this Compact by 
providing a copy of such resolution to the Director. The Parties understand and acknowledge that 
a Party’s participation in this Compact may be subject to cancellation or termination by that Party 
pursuant to the terms of this Compact, or pursuant A.R.S. § 38-511, or applicable tribal law. 
Pursuant to the provisions of A.R.S. § 11-952(B)(4), in the event of termination by a Providing 
Party or a Requesting Party, any property belonging to such Party shall be returned to that Party. 



   
 

8 

30. Dispute Resolution. 
The Parties to this Compact agree to resolve all disputes arising out of or relating to this 

Compact through arbitration, after exhausting applicable administrative review, to the extent 
required by law. 
 
31. Record Retention. 

Each Party shall retain all records relating to this Compact for a period of five (5) years 
after the expiration of its term. All records shall be subject to review and copying by any other 
Party that participated in the emergency response to which such records relate (including such 
entities that are former Parties whose participation in this Compact was terminated within the 
five years preceding a request to review and copy) at reasonable times. 

 
32. Forced Labor of Ethnic Uyghurs.   

To the extent applicable under A.R.S. § 35-394, each Party warrants and certifies that it 
does not currently, and agrees that it will not for the duration of this Compact, use the forced 
labor, any goods or services produced by the forced labor, or any contractors, subcontractors, or 
suppliers that use the forced labor or any goods or services produced by the forced labor of 
ethnic Uyghurs in the People’s Republic of China.  If a Party becomes aware that it is not in 
compliance with this paragraph, it shall notify all other Parties of the noncompliance within five 
business days of becoming aware of it.  If the offending Party fails to provide a written 
certification that it has remedied the noncompliance within 180 days after that, said Party’s 
participation in this Compact shall terminate unless the termination date of this Compact occurs 
before the end of the remedy, in which their participation will terminate on the Compact’s 
termination date. 

  
33. Counterparts.   

This Compact may be executed simultaneously or in counterparts, each of which 
constitutes an original, but all of which together constitute one and the same agreement. 

 
  

 



Arizona Mutual Aid Compact 
Signature Page 

 
 

 

 (NAME OF PARTY) 
 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Party below hereby signs this Arizona Mutual Aid Compact 

signature page. The signor warrants that he or she has been duly authorized to commit the Party 
named to participate in this Compact by formal approval of the Party's governing body or person.  
 
  
 
 
   

(Signing Authority)  Date: 
 
 
        
 
ATTEST:    
   

(Attesting Authority)  Date: 
                                     
 
 
Date of formal approval by governing body: 
 
 
Pursuant to A.R.S. § 11-952(D) or applicable tribal law, the attorney for the above entity has 
determined that the foregoing Compact is in proper form and is within the powers and 
authority of the entity as granted under the laws of this State and the applicable tribal 
government.  
 
 
 
   

(Attorney)  Date: 
 
 

lehrkes
Line



 
Appendix A 

Arizona Mutual Aid Compact (AZMAC) 
Emergency Management Resource Request 

 

1 
 

 
 

Requested Resource: 
 

Quantity:   

Unit of Measure:   

Date/Time Required:   
 

 
 

Delivery Location:   

Date of Request:   

Requesting Party Tracking Number:   
 

Requesting Party: 
 

Point of Contact:   

Work:   Cell:   

Email:   
 



   
 

AZMAC APPENDIX A – PAGE 2 

Mission 

 

 

 

Special Instructions  
(i.e., delivery instructions, if the resource must come with personnel, fuel, lodging, etc.) 

 

 

 

Personnel 

Name:     

Phone 
Number: 

    

Email Address:     

Regular Salary/ 
Hourly Rate: 

    

Regular Fringe 
Benefit Hourly: 

    

Overtime 
Salary Hourly 
Rate: 

    

Overtime 
Fringe Benefit 
Hourly Rate: 

    

 



 

     AZMAC APPENDIX A – PAGE 3  
 

Estimated Resource Cost: 

 

Request Forwarded to 

Contact Name:   

Organization/Agency:   

Date/Time of Submission:   
 

  

 

Request Approved by:   Date: 

   

(Name, Title, Signature) 
 

Reimbursement 

 

 

 

Providing Party Representative Signature  Date: 

   

   

Requesting Party Representative Signature  Date: 

   

 

 



 
Appendix B 

Arizona Mutual Aid Compact (AZMAC) Points of Contact 

 

 
  

Date:  

Name of Party:  

Mailing Address:  

 

Authorized Representatives to Contact for Mutual Aid Assistance 
 

 Primary Contact 1st Alternate 2nd Alternate 

Name    

Title    

24hr     

Day      

Night      

Fax     

Email     

 



Appendix C 
Arizona Mutual Aid Compact (AZMAC) 

Use of A Contractor 

1 

Each Party shall cause all of its contractor(s) and subcontractors performing any service or work 
or providing any equipment or material relating to an emergency response undertaken through 
this Compact to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the State of Arizona, all Requesting Parties, 
and all Providing Parties participating in responding to the emergency in question under this 
Compact, and their respective directors, officers, officials, agents, and employees (hereinafter 
referred to as "Indemnitee") from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities, damages, 
losses, or expenses (including court costs, attorneys' fees, and costs of claim processing, 
investigation and litigation) (hereinafter referred to as "Claims")  for bodily injury or personal 
injury (including death), or loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged 
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of that Party's 
contractor or any of the directors, officers, agents, or employees or subcontractors of such 
contractor.  This indemnity includes any claim or amount arising out of or recovered under the 
Workers' Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of such contractor to conform to any 
applicable federal, state, tribal or local law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, or court decree. 
It is the specific intention of the Parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, except for 
Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be 
indemnified by such contractor from and against any and all claims.  It is agreed that such a 
contractor will be responsible for primary loss investigation, defense, and judgment costs where 
this indemnification is applicable. Nothing herein shall be construed to expand or modify the 
gross negligence or immunity standard as set forth in the state, federal, or tribal law applicable 
to the Party in issue.  

 
Insurance Requirements for Parties:  
 
None. 
 
Insurance Requirements for Any Contractors Used by a Party to this Compact: 
 
(Note: this applies only to Contractors used by a Party, not to the Party itself.) The insurance 
requirements herein are minimum requirements and in no way limit the indemnity covenants 
contained in this Compact. The State of Arizona in no way warrants that the minimum limits 
contained herein are sufficient to protect the Party or Contractor from liabilities that might arise 
out of the performance of the work under this Contract by the Contractor, its agents, 
representatives, employees or subcontractors, and Contractor and the Party are free to purchase 
additional insurance. 
 
 

A. Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance: Contractor shall provide coverage with limits of 



   
 

AZMAC APPENDIX C – PAGE 2 

liability not less than those stated below. 
 

1. Commercial General Liability- Occurrence Form
Policy shall include bodily injury, property damage, personal and adver�sing injury, 
and broad form contractual liability.

  
a. The policy shall be endorsed (Blanket Endorsements are not acceptable) to 

include the following additional insured language: "The State of Arizona, 
[insert names of the Requesting Party(ies) and Providing Party(ies) in issue], 
and their departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, 
officials, agents, and employees shall be named as additional insureds with 
respect to liability arising out of the activities performed by or on behalf of the 
Contractor." Such additional insured shall be covered to the full limits of 
liability purchased by the Contractor, even if those limits of liability are in 
excess of those required by this Contract. 

 
b. The policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement (Blanket 

Endorsements are not. acceptable) in favor of the "State of Arizona, [insert 
names of the Requesting Party(ies) and Providing Party(ies) in issue], and their 
departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, 
agents, and employees" for losses arising from work performed by or on 
behalf of the Contractor. 

 
2. Business Automobile Liability 
Bodily Injury and Property Damage for any owned, hired, and/or non-owned vehicles 
used in the performance of this Contract. 
 

• Combined Single Limit (CSL)                   $1,000,000 
 

a. The policy shall be endorsed (Blanket Endorsements are not acceptable) to 
include the following additional insured language: "The State of Arizona, 
[insert names of the Requesting Party(ies) and Providing Party(ies) in issue], 
and their departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, 
officials, agents, and employees shall be named as additional insureds with 
respect to liability arising out of the activities performed by or on behalf of the 
Contractor, involving automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by the 
Contractor". Such additional insured shall be covered to the full limits of 
liability purchased by the Contractor, even if those limits of liability are in 
excess of those required by this Contract.

b. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement (Blanket 
Endorsements are not acceptable) in favor of the "State of Arizona, [insert 
names of the Requesting Party(ies) and Providing Party(ies) in issue], and their 
departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, 



 

AZMAC APPENDIX C – PAGE 3 
 

officials, agents, and employees" for losses arising from work performed by or 
on behalf of the Contractor. 

  
c. Policy shall contain a severability of interest provision. 

 
3. Workers’ Compensation and Employers' Liability 

 
• Workers' Compensation Statutory 

• Employers' Liability  

Each Accident $1,000,000 

Disease - Each Employee $1,000,000 

Disease - Policy Limit $1,000,000 

 
a. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement (Blanket 

Endorsements are not acceptable) in favor of the "State of Arizona, [insert 
names of the Requesting Party(ies) and Providing Party(ies) in issue], and their 
departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities and its officers, 
officials, agents, and employees" for losses arising from work performed by or 
on behalf of the Contractor. 

  
B. Additional Insurance Requirements:  The policies are to contain, or be endorsed (Blanket 

Endorsements are not acceptable) to contain, the following provisions: 
 

1. The Contractor's policies shall stipulate that the insurance afforded the 
Contractor shall be primary insurance and that any insurance carried by the 
State of Arizona, [insert names of the Requesting Part(ies) and Providing 
Part(ies) in issue], and their departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities and its officers, officials, agents, and employees shall be excess 
and not contributory insurance. 

 
2. The Contractor's insurance shall apply separately to each insured against 

whom a claim is made, or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of 
the insurer's liability. Coverage provided by the Contractor shall not be limited 
to the liability assumed under the indemnification provisions of its Contract 
with the other Parties. 

C. Notice of Cancellation:  With the exception of (10) day notice of cancellation for 
non-payment of premium, any changes material to compliance with this Contract in the 
insurance policies above shall require (30) days written notice to the [insert names of the 
Requesting Party(ies) and Providing Party(ies) in issue].       



   
 

AZMAC APPENDIX C – PAGE 2 

 
D. Acceptability of Insurers: Contractor’s insurance shall be placed with companies licensed 

in the State of Arizona. Insurers shall have an "A.M. Best" rating of not less than A-VII or 
be duly authorized to transact Workers' Compensation insurance in the State of Arizona. 
The State of Arizona in no way warrants that the above-required minimum insurer rating 
is sufficient to protect the Contractor from potential insurer insolvency. 

 
E. Verification of Coverage: Contractor shall furnish the Parties retaining the contractor in 

question with certificates of insurance (ACORD form or equivalent approved by the State 
of Arizona) as required by this Contract. The certificates for each insurance policy are to 
be signed by an authorized representative. 

 
All certificates and endorsements (Blanket Endorsements are not acceptable} are to be 
received and approved by the Parties retaining the contractor in question before work 
commences. Each insurance policy required by this Contract must be in effect at or prior 
to the commencement of work under this Contract and remain in effect for the duration 
of the project. Failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by this Contractor or 
to provide evidence of renewal is a material breach of contract. 

 
All certificates required by this Contract shall be sent directly to the Parties retaining the 
contractor in question.  

 
F. Subcontractors: Contractor's certificate(s) shall include all subcontractors as insureds 

under its policies or Contractor shall furnish separate certificates for each subcontractor 
to the Party to this Compact that the contractor in question has contracted with. All 
coverage for subcontractors shall be subject to the minimum requirements identified 
above. 

 
G. Exceptions: In the event the Contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are a public entity, then the 

Insurance Requirements shall not apply. Such a public entity shall provide a Certificate of 
Self-Insurance. If the contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are a State of Arizona agency, 
board, commission, or university then none of the above shall apply. 



Addendum #1 
Arizona Mutual Aid Compact (AZMAC) 

Cyber-Related Mutual Aid For Participating Tribal Parties 

1 
 

1. Purpose.  
 The purpose of this Addendum #1 (“Addendum”) to the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact is 
to define for the participating Parties the Arizona National Guard Cyber Joint Task Force of the 
Arizona Department of Emergency and Military Affairs (AZNG-CJTF) terms and procedures which 
will be used among the participating Parties for dispatching cyber-related mutual aid assistance 
to any affected area in accordance with tribal laws, resolutions, and emergency plans or 
agreements. The AZNG-CJTF may work with other applicable State and federal cybersecurity 
entities, as needed.  Except as expressly stated in this Addendum, all of the terms of the Arizona 
Mutual Aid Compact itself apply to this Addendum as if set forth in this Addendum in full.   

 

2. Scope. 

 The scope of this Addendum is to (1) identify the available cyber resources of the AZNG-
CJTF; (2) identify the terms and conditions for Requesting Parties to utilize those resources; and 
(3) provide a mechanism for compensation for those cyber resources.  

 

3. Definitions. 

 In addition to the definitions listed below, all of the definitions set forth in the Arizona 
Mutual Aid Compact shall apply here. 

• Cyber refers to both information and communications networks. 
• Cyber Attack means any kind of malicious activity that attempts to collect, disrupt, 

deny, degrade, or destroy information system resources or the information itself. 
• Cyber Emergency means any actual, imminent, or potential cyber-related incident 

that will adversely affect public health, safety, or security; the environment; or 
economic prosperity on a level materially significant.  

• Cyber Incident means actions taken through the use of an information system or 
network that result in an actual or potentially adverse effect on an information 
system, network, and/or the information residing therein.  

• Cyber Threat means any circumstance or event with the potential to adversely impact 
organizational operations (including mission, functions, image, or reputation), 
organizational assets, or individuals through an information system via unauthorized 
access, destruction, disclosure, modification of information, and/or denial of service. 
Also, the potential for a threat-source to successfully exploit a particular information 
system vulnerability.  

• Cybersecurity means prevention of damage to, protection of, and restoration of 
computers, electronic communications systems, electronic communications services, 
wire communication, and electronic communication, including information contained 



   
 

AZMAC ADDENDUM #1 – PAGE 2 
 

therein, to ensure its availability, integrity, authentication, confidentiality, and 
nonrepudiation.  

 

4.          Types of Assistance. 

The AZNG-CJTF offers two types of assistance, (1) vulnerability assessment and (2) cyber 
incident response. Vulnerability assessments are pre-emptive examinations of a party’s physical 
and electronic safeguards in place protecting the party’s information system or network. 
Vulnerability assessments are not done in response to a particular cyber incident. Cyber incident 
response is assistance provided following a cyber-attack or intrusion on a party’s information 
system or network. 

Regardless of whether a party requests AZNG-CJTF assistance to conduct either a 
vulnerability assessment or a cyber incident response, AZNG-CJTF assistance is limited to 
examinations of relevant physical and electronic security measures for an information system or 
network, an outline of AZNG-CJTF identified risks, threats, or breaches that were found as a result 
of any examination, and AZNG-CJTF recommendations to either address or minimize any 
identified risks, threats, or breaches and how a party could undertake such measures.  AZNG-
CJTF assistance does not include implementing any cyber security recommendation it or its 
personnel make, nor does it include directly thwarting or eliminating any ongoing cyber incident.   

To request a vulnerability assessment from the AZNG-CJTF, contact 
AZCyberJointTaskForce@arizona.gov. For cyber incident response, refer to section 5. 

  

5. Procedures for Requesting Assistance. 

 All procedures for requesting cyber-related assistance should follow the provisions 
outlined below:  

1. Notify the DEMA/EM Duty Officer of the incident via phone at (602) 469-3401.  
2. Submit a Resource Request into WebEOC detailing: 

a. When the Cyber Incident began,  
b. what the Indicators of Compromise (IoCs) are,  
c. the systems that have been affected (i.e., host machines, servers, other devices),  
d. the steps that have been taken, and  
e. what assistance is being requested. 

Additionally, prior to any cyber-related assistance is provided, the Requesting Party and 
AZNG-CJTF must enter into either a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) or a Memorandum 
of Agreement (MOA).  These Memoranda will outline the scope of the cyber-related assistance 
that the Requesting Party desires from the AZNG-CJTF and the conditions under which this 
assistance will be conducted. These conditions can include terms or limitations from both the 
Requesting Party and the AZNG-CJTF. 

mailto:AZCyberJointTaskForce@arizona.gov


 

AZMAC ADDENDUM #1 – PAGE 3 
 

An MOU will be entered if the cyber-related assistance being requested relates to a 
preventative computer and network vulnerability assessment that is not in response to a 
particular Cyber Incident. Any cyber-assistance provided by the AZNG-CJTF pursuant to an MOU 
will not involve reimbursement or any other form of cost-sharing by the Requesting Party. An 
MOA will be entered if the cyber-related assistance being requested relates to a particular Cyber 
Incident and not merely preventative assessments or examinations. Cyber-related assistance 
conducted pursuant to an MOA may require the Requesting Party to reimburse some or all of the 
AZNG-CJTF costs to conduct such assistance.  

Any cyber-related assistance may be available regardless of whether there has been a 
federal declaration of emergency. However, if the AZNG-CJTF provides cyber-related assistance 
pursuant to an MOA that requires the Requesting Party to reimburse assistance costs to DEMA, 
the Requesting Party shall be solely responsible for determining whether these costs can be 
reimbursed by the federal government. Whether or not any cyber-assistance costs incurred by 
the Requesting Party to the AZNG-CJTF are reimbursable by the federal government shall not be 
a basis by the Requesting Party to delay reimbursing these costs to the Arizona National Guard 
Cyber Response Revolving Fund in the timely manner outlined in the respective MOA.

 



State of Arizona 
Mutual Aid Compact (AZMAC)

Frequently Asked Questions

1

General Administration
What is the current version of the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
The 2014 version of the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact will no longer be valid as of 12:00 AM Mountain Standard 
time on December 31, 2023. The 2024 AZMAC will be effective on January 1, 2024.

Once filed with the Arizona Department of Emergency and Military Affairs, Emergency Management 
Division, what is the duration of the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
The Compact, upon mutual consent of the parties concerned, remains in effect for 10 years, to December 31, 
2033, or until participation is terminated by the Party (see paragraph 14 of AZMAC for further details).

Purpose and Participation Guidelines
What is the purpose of the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
The Arizona Mutual Aid Compact enables participating political subdivisions and tribal 
nations to share resources, personnel, etc. during emergencies and then be reimbursed 
for the resources.

What are the benefits of participating in the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
Mutual aid agreements provide a mechanism to participating parties to quickly obtain 
emergency assistance in the form of personnel, equipment, materials, and other related 
services. The primary objective is to facilitate rapid, short-term deployment of emergency 
support prior to, during and after an incident. A signed agreement does not obligate 
the provision or receipt of aid, the Compact provides a tool for use should the incident 
dictate a need.

Who may participate in the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
All state agencies, any political subdivision, including counties; incorporated cities and towns; school districts; 
community college districts; and other tax levying public districts in the State of Arizona. Additionally, all 
federally recognized tribal nations may participate.

Can non-governmental entities such as nonprofit agencies and other non-tax levying organizations 
participate in the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
No, only political subdivisions, federally recognized tribal nations or other tax-levying organizations may 
participate in the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact.

Are other state agencies required to participate in the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
No, the Arizona Department of Emergency and Military Affairs (DEMA) signed the 2024 Arizona Mutual Aid 
Compact. In the event another state agency requires mutual aid assistance, DEMA/EM will coordinate.

What is required if a jurisdiction wants to terminate its participation in the Arizona Mutual Aid 
Compact? 
Any party, by resolution of its governing body, may terminate its participation in the Arizona Mutual Aid 
Compact. The jurisdiction must file a copy of the resolution with the Director of the Arizona Department of 
Emergency and Military Affairs, Division of Emergency Management (DEMA/EM). Notice of Termination is 
required to be delivered to the DEMA/EM Director, 20 days prior to the date of termination.



State of Arizona 
Mutual Aid Compact (AZMAC)

Frequently Asked Questions

2

Procedures and Reimbursement
What are the procedures for requesting assistance under the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
A Requesting Party that needs assistance in excess of its own resources and existing automatic or local mutual 
aid due to an emergency is authorized to request assistance from any Party that is signatory to the Arizona 
Mutual Aid Compact (see paragraph 5 of AZMAC for further details).

Are signatories to the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact required to render assistance if requested by the 
requesting jurisdiction?
No. The Providing Party shall provide mutual aid as it is able, considering its own service needs and existing 
commitments within its own jurisdiction. The Providing Party shall be the sole judge of what mutual aid it can 
provide the Requesting Party pursuant to this Compact.

How does reimbursement occur for services/resources if the emergency or event is not a state- or 
federally-declared emergency?
In accordance with the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact, if the Providing Party desires reimbursement for the 
assistance it is providing, the Requesting Party shall reimburse the Providing Party for all costs incurred in the 
mutual assistance, regardless of whether an incident has been declared an emergency. The Providing Party shall 
submit a request for payment with documentation of actual expenses to the Requesting Party (see paragraphs 9 
and 10 of AZMAC for specific details).

Can a Requesting Party request reimbursement from the State of Arizona for the cost of mutual aid 
resources reimbursed to any Providing Parties under the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
Possibly. Regardless of eligibility for reimbursement from the state or the federal government, the Requesting 
Party shall fully reimburse the Providing Party’s claim (see paragraph 10 of AZMAC for further details).

Can jurisdictions that are signatories to the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact be reimbursed for self-
deployed resources?
No. In accordance with the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact, jurisdictions can only be reimbursed for resources 
mutually agreed upon between the Providing Party and the Requesting Party.

Who maintains supervision and control of the Providing Party resources and personnel under the 
Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
From the time of arrival to the time of departure at the emergency scene, the Providing Party shall be 
considered for all purposes to be under the direction and control (other than for the purposes of Workers’ 
Compensation) of the Requesting Party. In proceeding to and returning from the emergency scene, the 
Providing Party shall not be under the direction and control of the Requesting Party (see paragraph 24 of AZMAC 
for further details).

Addendum #1 Cyber-Related Mutual Aid
What is the Addendum?
The Addendum outlines the terms and procedures of the Arizona National 
Guard Cyber Joint Task Force (AZNG-CJTF), if cyber-related assistance is 
needed.



State of Arizona 
Mutual Aid Compact (AZMAC)

Frequently Asked Questions

3

Why is the Addendum solely for participating Tribal Parties?
AZMAC is the mechanism for tribal nations to receive cyber-related mutual aid assistance from the Arizona 
National Guard Cyber Joint Task Force (AZNG-CJTF). The AZNG-CJTF is available to other parties and political 
subdivisions in Arizona.

Filing Requirements
What are the requirements for filing your Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?

1. Ensure that the Signature Page of the compact is signed, dated and attested to by: 
 - the authorizing executive in your jurisdiction,and  
 - your jurisdiction’s legal representative. 

2. Fill out the Appendix B  - Points of Contact form with the jurisdiction contact information. 
3. Send the original completed copy of both to: logistics@azdema.gov.

What will occur after you file your completed Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
Upon DEMA/EM Logistics receiving your completed Compact:

 » Will be reviewed and forwarded to the DEMA/EM Director for final approval and filing. 
 » The original copy of the Compact will be assigned a file number and filed at DEMA/EM. 
 » A copy of the contract will be sent via mail to the points of contact listed on Appendix B of the Compact. 
 » The DEMA website will be updated to reflect your jurisdiction as a signatory on the Arizona Mutual Aid
 » Compact.

Who should I contact if I have a question or concern about the Arizona Mutual Aid Compact?
Any questions or concerns not covered in this FAQ should be addressed to the following:

Arizona Department of Emergency and Military Affairs 
Division of Emergency Management 
ATTN: Arizona Mutual Aid Coordinator 
5636 E. McDowell Rd., Bldg. M5103, Phoenix, AZ 85008  
Phone: (602) 464-6211 | Email: logistics@azdema.gov

Arizona Department of Emergency & Military Affairs
Division of Emergency Management

5636 E McDowell Rd. Phoenix, AZ 85008
(602) 244-0504 | dema.az.gov



   
ARF-8592   Regular Agenda Item     2. I.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: David LaForge, Public Works General Services Manager 
Submitted By: Betty Hurst, Contracts Administrator
Department: Public Works
Fiscal Year: 2024-2025 Budgeted?: Yes
Contract Dates
Begin & End: 

06-30-24 Grant?: No

Matching
Requirement?: 

No Fund?: New

Information
Request/Subject
Contract Award in Response to Invitation for Bids No. 113023-Thirteen
Various Models of New Ford Vehicles.

Background Information
On January 2, 2024, the Board of Supervisors authorized the
advertisement of Invitation for Bids (IFB) No. 113023 – Thirteen Various
Models of New Ford Vehicles.  The IFB was advertised in the Payson
Roundup newspaper on January 9, 2024, and January 16, 2024. IFB No.
113023 was emailed to ten contractors, and advertised on the Gila
County website.

Evaluation
Sealed bids were accepted at the Gila County Finance Department
through 11:00 AM on January 25, 2024.  There were two competitive bids
received in response to Invitation for Bids (IFB) No. 113023.  The bids
were opened at 11:00 AM January 25, 2024 and evaluated in accordance
with A.R.S. 41-2533, Competitive Bidding.
 
San Tan Ford met all bid specifications and offered a low bid price of
$626,356.49.

Conclusion
Of the two bids which were received, San Tan Ford was the lowest bid



Of the two bids which were received, San Tan Ford was the lowest bid
while fulfilling the specifications of each of the thirteen vehicles. 

Recommendation
The Public Works Department Director and the General Services Manager
recommend that the Board of Supervisors award a contract to San Tan
Partners, LLC in the amount of $626,356.49.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to review the bids submitted for Invitation
for Bids (IFB) No. 113023 - Thirteen Various Models of New Ford
Vehicles; award to the lowest, most responsive, responsible and qualified
bidder; and authorize the Chairman's signature on the award contract.
(David LaForge)

Attachments
Invitation for Bids No. 113023 with Award Contract
KIG Vehicle Concepts-Sealed Bid



























































































































   
ARF-8607   Regular Agenda Item     2. J.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: Josh Beck, Director 
Submitted By: Kayle Lathrop, Director
Department: Community Services

Information
Request/Subject
Authorization to submit a Grant Application for $240,000 to the Arizona
Department of Housing for Housing Insecurity Flex Funding.

Background Information
In FY24, the State of Arizona approved approximately $150 million in
Arizona State Housing Trust Funds to fund affordable housing projects
and housing assistance programs throughout Arizona. In the fall, ADOH
issued a Request for Information (RFI) to the public to identify the
greatest housing and homeless service needs in the state.  Based on the
RFI responses, it was determined to allocate approximately $5 million in
funding for proposals from qualified entities to expand housing instability
prevention services to meet the objectives and goals described in this
Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA). The goal of this NOFA is to further
the reach of existing prevention efforts by providing flexible funding that
helps expand the effectiveness of current housing stability and
homelessness prevention approaches.     

This NOFA will provide funding to organizations to implement or expand
prevention activities, including flexible funding to qualified households ‘at
risk’ of homelessness but who are able to demonstrate that they will be
able to maintain housing after the assistance.  Qualified households are
defined as households with a maximum income of 80% of Area Median
Income (AMI).

Examples of eligible activities include: 

Past due or future rent (i.e., up to 1 month of rent)
Past due and/or future utilities, and utility deposits. 
Move-in assistance (movers, furniture, kitchenware, welcome
boxes); rental application fees, inspection/processing/admin
fees, security/rental deposits, storage costs



Pet deposits; one-time pet fees. Legal fees/expenses, prior
judgments. Car repair, car payment.
Insurance payment. ID costs/expenses.
Relocation to another community (pending confirmed housing
opportunity).
Clothing, including work uniforms and work supplies.
Employment-related expenses (starting job costs) 4.
Housing search/placement.
Air conditioning (repair/replacement).
Legal aid, credit repair.
Landlord engagement/mediation.

In order to ensure the effective use of the flexible funding, the maximum
assistance per household is capped at $2,000.  The implementing agency
must use progressive engagement to ensure that the least amount of
funds possible are being used to prevent the household from losing their
housing.  Implementing organization(s) should also assess and triage for
eligible resources (such as unemployment insurance or emergency rental
assistance) thus enabling these flexible funds to be used as an option of
last resort. Financial assistance should be a one-time payment of funds
and cannot be used for ongoing assistance.  

Evaluation
This grant will allow up to an additional $2,000 in assistance per
household for those individuals or families who may be facing
homelessness.

Conclusion
Approval of this application will allow the Public Health & Community
Services Department to further assist qualified individuals and
families who may be facing homelessness throughout Gila County.

Recommendation
It is the recommendation of the Public Health & Community Services
Department Director that the Board approved this request to submit a
Grant Application to the Arizona Department of Housing for Housing
Insecurity Flex Funding.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to authorize the Public Health &



Information/Discussion/Action to authorize the Public Health &
Community Services Department to submit a Grant Application to the
Arizona Department of Housing for Housing Insecurity Flex Funding in
the amount of $240,000. (Joshua Beck)

Attachments
Preventing Housing Insecurity FY 2024 Notice of Funding Availability 



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Preventing Housing Insecurity 
 FY 2024 Notice of Funding Availability 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date Issued: February 2, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
1110 West Washington Street, Suite 280 | Phoenix, AZ 85007 
Telephone: (602) 771-1000 | Facsimile: (602) 771-1002 | TTY: (602) 771-1001 
 

 



2 
 

Arizona Department of Housing 
Table of Contents 

 
I. Introduction        3  

II. Background Information       3 

III. Eligible Activities/Target Population     3 

IV. Changes to the NOFA       4 

V. Maximum Award        5 

VI. Eligible Applicants        5 

VII. Threshold         5 

VIII. Ideal Program Elements       6 

IX. Application Instructions       6 

X. Proposal Narrative Response      7 

XI. Scoring         9 

XII. Selection Notification       9 

XIII. Proposal Process Timeline      10 

XIV. Funding Distribution       10 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

I. Introduction  
Arizona is facing a challenging housing market.  Rents have steadily risen.  Evictions are at an 
all-time high.  Homelessness has surged. With elevated interest rates, and lagging wages, more 
and more families have become rent- and housing cost-burdened.  Homelessness prevention 
provides assistance to someone who isn’t homeless but instead ‘at risk' of becoming homeless.  
The Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) defines ‘at risk of homelessness’ as 
households who will lose their primary residence within 14 days and have nowhere else to go and 
have no resources or support networks to obtain permanent housing.  With this in mind, the 
Arizona Department of Housing (ADOH) seeks to increase the role of prevention programs by 
providing funds to organizations to provide one-time financial assistance (known as flexible or 
“flex” funds) for families and households on the brink of homelessness, whom if helped, are likely 
to remain housed.   
 

II. Background Information  
In FY24, the State of Arizona approved approximately $150 million in Arizona State Housing Trust 
Funds to fund affordable housing projects and housing assistance programs throughout Arizona. 
In the fall, ADOH issued a Request for Information (RFI) to the public to identify the greatest 
housing and homeless service needs in the state.  Based on the RFI responses, it was determined 
to allocate approximately $5 million in funding for proposals from qualified entities to expand 
housing instability prevention services to meet the objectives and goals described in this Notice 
of Funding Availability (NOFA).   
 
The goal of this NOFA is to further the reach of existing prevention efforts by providing flexible 
funding that helps expand the effectiveness of current housing stability and homelessness 
prevention approaches.     
 
III. Eligible Activities/Target Population  

This NOFA will provide funding to organizations to implement or expand prevention activities, 
including flexible funding to qualified households ‘at risk’ of homelessness but who are able to 
demonstrate that they will be able to maintain housing after the assistance.  Qualified households 
are defined as households with a maximum income of 80% of Area Median Income (AMI). 
Examples of eligible activities include: 

● Past due or future rent (i.e., up to 1 month of rent) 
● Past due and/or future utilities, utility deposits 
● Move in assistance (movers, furniture, kitchenware, welcome boxes); rental application 

fees, inspection/processing/admin fees, security/rental deposits, storage costs 
● Pet deposits; one-time pet fees 
● Legal fees/expenses, prior judgments 
● Car repair, car payment 
● Insurance payment 
● ID costs/expenses 
● Relocation to another community (pending confirmed housing opportunity) 
● Clothing, including work uniforms and work supplies 
● Employment-related expenses (starting job costs) 



4 
 

● Housing search/placement 
● Air conditioning (repair/replace) 
● Legal aid, credit repair 
● Landlord engagement/mediation 

 
In order to ensure the effective use of the flexible funding, the maximum assistance per household 
is capped at $2,000.  The implementing agency must use progressive engagement to ensure that 
the least amount of funds possible are being used to prevent the household from losing their 
housing.  Implementing organization(s) should also assess and triage for eligible resources (such 
as unemployment insurance or emergency rental assistance) thus enabling these flexible funds 
to be used as an option of last resort.  Financial assistance should be a one-time payment of 
funds and cannot be used for ongoing assistance.     
 
IV. Changes to the NOFA 

Modifications to the NOFA.  ADOH may modify this NOFA, from time to time, or for any other 
reasons as determined by ADOH: 1) to reflect any changes, additions, deletions, interpretations 
or other regulatory matters; 2) to insert such provisions clarifying matters or questions arising 
under this NOFA as are necessary or desirable and that are contrary or are inconsistent with this 
NOFA; or 3) to cure any ambiguity, supply any omission or correct any defect or inconsistent 
provision with this NOFA or the laws and regulations governing the funding sources being made 
available in this NOFA.  

NOFA Clarifications.  ADOH will periodically post written clarifications to this NOFA on its website.  
The clarifications elaborate on the meaning of the text within this NOFA and may sometimes add 
additional guidance on how to interpret this NOFA.  NOFA clarifications are to be considered a 
part of this NOFA.  Applicants are responsible for checking the clarifications and submitting an 
Application that is in conformance with the clarifications.  Requests for clarification must be made 
in writing via email or letter via US Mail and will be responded to in the written clarifications to the 
NOFA on ADOH’s website.   Notice regarding amendments and or modifications will be 
announced through the Department’s mailing list and posted on the Department’s website. Use 
the following link to join the Department’s mailing list: https://housing.az.gov/about/press-
release/mailing-list.  All contact during the NOFA process and evaluation phase shall only be 
through the designated email for the designated point of contact, LaQueena Soto, 
laqueena.soto@azhousing.gov.  Applicants shall neither contact nor lobby ADOH staff or 
evaluators during the evaluation process.  Attempts by the applicant to contact and/or influence 
application evaluators may result in disqualification of the applicant.  The Department will accept 
questions about this funding opportunity until February 23, 2024.  

NOFA Cancellation In the event that proposals received pursuant to this Notice of Funding 
Availability (NOFA) fail to satisfy the specified requirements and criteria set forth herein, the 
issuing entity reserves the right to cancel this NOFA.  Upon the cancellation of this NOFA, all 
funds associated with the solicitation shall be deemed unallocated and shall be subject to 
reissuance under a subsequent NOFA with revised terms and conditions. 

https://housing.az.gov/about/press-release/mailing-list
https://housing.az.gov/about/press-release/mailing-list
https://housing.az.gov/about/press-release/mailing-list
mailto:laqueena.soto@azhousing.gov


5 
 

V. Maximum Award  
It is anticipated that the Department will expend the full $5,000,000 in funding with multiple 
awards, depending on response to this NOFA, as ADOH will prioritize statewide programmatic 
impact.  At its discretion, the Department reserves the right to make partial awards and/or adjust 
the amount of funds requested by applicants.   
 
VI. Eligible Applicants  

This NOFA is a competitive process open to verified non-profit, faith-based, and public/ 
governmental entities and agencies currently and demonstrably implementing housing stability 
and homelessness prevention approaches. 
 
VII. Threshold 
To be eligible for evaluation and scoring, proposals must meet the following threshold 
requirements. Proposals that fail to comply with all instructions may be considered incomplete. 
The following should guide the response to this NOFA and should be considered the guiding 
principles for receiving the funds: 
 

● Application is submitted on time and complete.  
● Application meets the proposal format requirements.   
● The project must be ready to start immediately upon receipt of a contract.   
● Project funds will serve households with a maximum income of 80% of Area Median 

Income (AMI) 
● Organization(s) must have at least two (2) years of experience serving vulnerable 

populations with public funding. If your agency does not currently have an active ADOH 
contract, provide verification of other funding award(s) as demonstrated by a submission 
of an award letter(s).  

● Collaboration: Applicants must have effective working partnerships that facilitate client 
access to and benefit from formal and informal resources (i.e. community action agencies, 
AZ Department of Economic Security, McKinney Vento Homeless School Liaisons, 
AZ@Work programs, legal aid agencies, etc.) Since prevention funds are a relatively new 
intervention with limited resources, applicant(s) should be supporting the ecosystem and 
not duplicating already existing interventions and activities. 

● Joint applications, including those designed to reach a larger geographic area, are strongly 
encouraged. 

● Preference will be given to organizations that will leverage these award dollars with other 
federal, state, local, or business/philanthropic funds and resources, including through 
match, braiding and/or other strategies. 

● Program design:  
○ Financial assistance must be for the purpose of clients obtaining or retaining 

housing and/or eliminate barriers in obtaining or retaining housing. 
■ Verification of existing housing status required.   

○ Implementing organization(s) should assess and triage for all available and eligible 
resources and programs and connect the household to those resources thus 
enabling the financial assistance provided through this NOFA to be used as an 
option of last resort. 



6 
 

○ Organizations must require that clients demonstrate that the flexible fund is the 
option of last resort or meets an immediate need that other funding sources are 
unable to cover, and that they are able to maintain housing after the assistance. 

■ Proper documentation should support this assistance. 
○ Organizations must have and share, upon award, established policies and 

procedures that are in place for outreach, coordination and service delivery. 
○ Organizations must have, or establish upon award, defined processes and 

financial controls to allow timely and accurate disbursement and documentation of 
financial assistance with appropriate documentation. 

 
VIII. Ideal Program Design Elements 

● Ideally, implementing organization(s) will provide case management components in its 
program design.  This can include education, coaching, negotiation with vendors 
(landlords), budgeting and financial management, legal referrals. 

● Similarly, implementing organization(s) will provide post-funding follow up at 3, 6, or 12 
months via text, in person, virtual, and/or telephonic to determine the client’s housing 
status, the impact of the funding and the need for additional connection to other programs.   

 
Disclosure: Entities are not eligible to apply under this NOFA if it has had a state contract 
terminated or suspended, and/or are currently debarred by any federal or state debarment 
agency. If suspension or debarment is currently pending, a detailed description of all relevant 
circumstances must be provided.  ADOH may make inquiries in order to verify the information 
submitted, and applicants may only provide missing information to specifically address a request 
for information from ADOH. Applicants must respond by the deadline included in the inquiry to 
avoid disqualification. ADOH may verify representations, information, and data in an application 
with public information, independent reports, and statistics available through recognized 
subscription services.   
 
IX. Application Instructions 

The Application must meet the following basic eligibility requirements in order for an application 
to be accepted and considered for funding.  If the application does not meet the following threshold 
requirements, the application will not be reviewed or scored.  

1. Application Cover Sheet:  
a. Applicant Organization Legal Name 
b. Applicant Mailing Address 
c. DUNS Number 
d. Federal ID Number 
e. Contact Person 
f. Telephone Number 
g. Email 
h. Website 
i. Is this Organization a 501(c) (3)?         ☐Yes     ☐N o 
j. Is your organization a faith‐based entity?      ☐Yes     ☐No  
k. Amount of funding requested 

 



7 
 

Proposal narratives must be no longer than four (4) pages typed, minimum eleven (11) point font, 
and margins no less than half (1/2) an inch. A two (2) page Budget must be included which does 
not count towards page count and can be formatted at the applicant’s discretion.  Proposals must 
be submitted via the Arizona Department of Housing State HTF Special Projects 
https://housing.az.gov/portals/document-upload-portals by Friday, March 15, 2024 by 5:00 p.m.  
Proposals may not be submitted via U.S. mail, Fed-ex, UPS, e-mail or fax.  Questions regarding 
this NOFA should be sent to LaQueena Soto at laqueena.soto@azhousing.gov. Questions may 
be submitted until February 23, 2024.    
 

X. Proposal Narrative Response  
1. ORGANIZATIONAL EXPERIENCE AND PROGRAM MODEL PROPOSED   

a. Provide background on your organization’s history and experience with prevention 
programming or providing financial assistance to assist families in a housing crisis.  
Describe your current program model that encompasses prevention activities. 
Provide documentation of program guidelines on what is an allowable expense(s) 
for the purpose of clients obtaining or retaining housing and/or eliminate barriers 
in obtaining or retaining housing. 

b. Provide calendar year data from your prevention efforts.  Please provide as much 
data as available about the numbers of households assessed and assisted in 
obtaining or retaining housing as well as the source of that data. 

c. Describe the impact that flexible funding will have on your current program.   
d. How will you screen households to identify those most likely to benefit from the 

financial assistance?  Please provide a copy of the assessment questions you 
currently are using.   

e. How will you use progressive engagement to ensure you are using the minimum 
amount of funding needed to successfully prevent housing loss? 

f. Describe any formal partnerships or collaborations involved in the project including 
any additional funding, services or resources being provided through collaboration.  

g. Explain how the prevention intervention will identify housing opportunities and 
ensure clients have stable housing solutions. 

h. Data tracking: Please provide what data sources you will use in the assessment 
and assistance process.   

i. Please provide information about how project funds will serve households with a 
maximum income of 80% of Area Median Income (AMI) 

 
2. PERFORMANCE BENCHMARKS   
● Describe post-funding evaluation.  Does your organization perform check-ins post 

funding?  At what interval and in what format?  What questions are asked at the post-
funding check-in? 

● Please respond to the following narrative questions on the performance benchmarks.  In 
application please state your intended goals for the following criteria:    

a. How will you measure and track the percentage of households that were assisted 
and maintained housing or were stably housed?     

https://housing.az.gov/portals/document-upload-portals
mailto:laqueena.soto@azhousing.gov


8 
 

b. How will you measure and track the percentage of households that experienced 
housing instability or homelessness within six months post funding?     

c. How will you measure and track the percentage of clients that were still housed 
and required additional financial assistance and/or connection with additional 
resources?     

 
ADOH will require that prevention providers track their performance quarterly on the following 
measures. 

● Demographics.  Confirm distribution is consistent with at-risk population 
● Quarterly reports should include the following quantitative data: 

○ # of households (unduplicated) applied 
○ # of households assisted 
○ # (total) of people assisted (broken out by adults, children, and total) 
○ Amount of assistance provided 
○ Average dollars per household 
○ Uses of the funds by category 
○ Housing stability rate after 3 months, 6 months and 1 year 

● Of the households presenting for assistance, the percentage that maintained housing or 
were successfully prevented from housing instability;   

● Percentage of households that seek or return to emergency shelter within six months after 
receiving prevention assistance;   

● Percentage of households that require financial assistance to maintain housing or to 
prevent housing instability. 

● Qualitative Narrative Report: a brief description of activities performed, including but not 
limited to, occurrences that caused variation from schedule, changes to plans, unforeseen 
circumstances, program progress, successes and/or barriers experienced, etc. Applicants 
must describe how their program is successfully identifying housing opportunities and 
transitioning households into stable housing solutions.  Share best practices and new 
learnings as well. 

● Participation in future evaluation processes that are beginning to take place within the 
housing community, led by Arizona’s philanthropic community, thus supporting the 
learning of what effective prevention practices are. 

 
3.  FINANCIAL CAPACITY 

1. Describe the financial management processes, procedures and staff in place to oversee 
publicly funded operations and administration.     

2. Describe how you will document the flexible funding provided to program recipients.   
3. Describe the organization’s financial capacity to pay for expenses upfront  
4. Include any audit findings that have arisen in the past five (5) years and their subsequent 

resolution or status. Check all that are applicable: 
a. Behind on 990 Filings:                                                 ☐ Yes   ☐ N o    
b. Unresolved IRS Findings:                                            ☐ Yes   ☐ N o    



9 
 

c. Any outstanding Federal or State Audit Findings, regardless of funding source, or 
closed audit findings that demonstrate significant fraud or misuse of funds.                                                      
☐ Yes   ☐ N o 

d. Has the agency been debarred or had any federal or state grants suspended or 
terminated.   ☐ Yes   ☐ N 

e. Other Financial Attachments: Organizations are also required to submit their 
current year budget and most recent Profit and Loss Statement.      

*If the answer was “Yes” to any of the items above, please explain.  Attach supporting 
documentation to demonstrate resolution of the situation.  If the organization has expended more 
than $750K in federal funds within the last year, submit documentation of the completed single 
audit with application submission.   
  
4. PROGRAM BUDGET   
Please provide the following program budget materials: 

● IRS letter verifying tax-exempt 501(c)(3) status 
● Proof of 2 years of experience operating programs with public funding as demonstrated 

by funding letter(s)    
● CPA prepared Financial Statements for most recent year-end or Single Audit    
● Organizational Budgets - Current year organizational budget, program budget for 

prevention program services, and most recent Profit and Loss Statement    
● Resolution of Findings - Documentation showing status/resolution of any City, HUD 

and/or IRS findings    
● Prevention Program Budget – Projected    

 
XI. Scoring  

Each component will be worth the following points   
● Applicant Experience, Qualifications and Capacity  20 points 
● Proposed Project and Program Implementation   20 points   
● Program Outcomes and Impact    20 points 
● Collaboration        10 points 
● Project Readiness      15 points 
● Program Budget      10 points 
● Local Match       5 points 

TOTAL         100 points 
 
XII. Selection Notification  
ADOH anticipates notifying all applicants within fifteen (15) business days of the proposal 
deadline as to whether their proposal will be funded. Due to the anticipated demand for funds, 
proposals may be partially funded rather than funded at the dollar amount requested.  The highest 
scoring proposals will receive a conditional award. Additional reports and underwriting are 
required to ensure project feasibility.     
 
 
 



10 
 

XIII. Proposal Process Timeline  
 

The following is a list of key dates in the proposal process:   
NOFA release              February 2, 2024  
Q&A Webinar              February 15, 2024, 3:00 p.m. 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZwoc-ypqT0rEtRbshamcWtkR4DgVkxZXafN 
(registration required) 
Last Day for Questions       February 23, 2024  
Proposal Deadline            March 15, 2024, 5:00 p.m.  
Anticipated Scoring/Review Panel        March 19, 2024   
Anticipated Award Notice           March 29, 2024   
 
Funding Distribution     
Funds will be disbursed on a reimbursement basis at least quarterly. Requests for reimbursement 
can be submitted monthly. Awardee will be expected to provide all supporting documentation of 
expended funds. Up to 10% of the total award may be utilized for awardee administrative costs 
and/or indirect expenses.  

https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZwoc-ypqT0rEtRbshamcWtkR4DgVkxZXafN


   

ARF-8577   Regular Agenda Item     2. K.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  

Submitted For: Stella Gore, PHEP Manager 
Submitted By: Paula Horn, Deputy Director of Health
Department: Health & Emergency Management
Division: Grants & Special Projects
Fiscal Year: 2024 Budgeted?: Yes
Contract Dates
Begin & End: 

01/01/2024 to 12/31/2024 Grant?: Yes

Matching
Requirement?: 

No Fund?: Renewal

Information
Request/Subject
Funding Agreement No. 216-24 with the Arizona Department of Housing for the
Southwest Gas Corporation (SWG WAP) and the Arizona Public Service (APS
WAP) Weatherization Assistance Program.

Background Information
Funding Agreement No. 204-18 was approved by the Gila County Board of
Supervisors on November 7, 2017.
Funding Agreement No. 212-18 was approved by the Gila County Board of
Supervisors on February 20, 2018.
Funding Agreement No. 207-19 was approved by the Gila County Board of
Supervisors on January 22, 2019.
Funding Agreement No. 204-20 was approved by the Gila County Board of
Supervisors on January 21, 2020.
Funding Agreement No. 204-21 was approved by the Gila County Board of
Supervisors on February 2, 2021.
Funding Agreement No. 204-22 was approved by the Gila County Board of
Supervisors on January 18, 2022.
Funding Agreement No. 204-23 was approved by the Gila County Board of
Supervisors on February 7, 2023.

Evaluation
Funding Agreement No. 216-24 will provide $18,490 of SWG WAP and
$248,000 which is an increase of $155,000.00 of APS WAP funding to be used
to provide weatherization services to eligible citizens residing in Gila County.

Conclusion
If the Board of Supervisors approves Funding Agreement No. 216-24, the Gila



If the Board of Supervisors approves Funding Agreement No. 216-24, the Gila
County Community Services Department, Housing Services, will use SWG WAP
and APS WAP funding to provide weatherization services to eligible citizens
residing in Gila County.

Recommendation
The Public Health and Community Services Department Director recommends
that the Board of Supervisors approve Funding Agreement 216-24 in order for
the Gila County Community Services Department, Housing Services, to provide
weatherization services to eligible citizens residing in Gila County.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to approve Funding Agreement No. 216-24
between the Arizona Department of Housing and the Gila County Community
Services Division, Housing Services, to provide Southwest Gas Corporation and
Arizona Public Service Weatherization Assistance Program funding in the
amount of $266,400 for the period of January 1, 2024, to December 31, 2024.
(Joshua Beck)

Attachments
Funding Agreement No. 216-24
Funding Agreement No. 204-22
Funding Agreement No. 204-23
Funding Agreement No. 204-20
Funding Agreement No 207-19
Funding Agreement No. 204-18
Funding Agreement No. 212-18
Funding Agreement No. 216-24



 
FUNDING AGREEMENT 

with 
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

 
Table of Contents 

   
 

REV. 12/8/2023 i 

SECTION 1. FUNDS PROVIDED .......................................................................................................................... 2 

SECTION 2. OTHER FUNDS .................................................................................................................................. 4 

SECTION 3. ACCEPTANCE OF FUNDS .............................................................................................................. 4 

SECTION 4. DURATION ........................................................................................................................................ 4 

SECTION 5. INCORPORATION OF TERMS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PROGRAM 
REQUIREMENTS AND APPLICABLE STATE AND FEDERAL LAW ...................................................... 5 

SECTION 6. SCOPE OF WORK ............................................................................................................................. 6 

SECTION 7. REPORTS ............................................................................................................................................. 7 

SECTION 8. SCHEDULE OF COMPLETION ...................................................................................................... 9 

SECTION 9. BUDGET ............................................................................................................................................ 10 

SECTION 10. AMENDMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS .............................................................................. 11 

SECTION 11. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW CONDITIONS ........................................................................ 11 

SECTION 12. APPLICATION AND OTHER PRE-AWARD COSTS ............................................................ 12 

SECTION 13. COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT .............................................................. 13 

SECTION 14. FUNDS RECOUPED BY RECIPIENT, INTEREST AND PROGRAM INCOME .............. 13 

SECTION 15. DE-OBLIGATION, RECAPTURE AND REPAYMENT OF FUNDS .................................... 15 

SECTION 16. REVERSION OF ASSETS ............................................................................................................ 16 

SECTION 17. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................................ 17 

SECTION 18. SUBCONTRACTING .................................................................................................................... 17 

SECTION 19. FAILURE TO MAKE PROGRESS............................................................................................... 17 

SECTION 20. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE ..................................................................................................... 18 

SECTION 21. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE .................................................................................... 18 

SECTION 22. ENFORCEMENT ............................................................................................................................ 18 

SECTION 23. CANCELLATION .......................................................................................................................... 19 

SECTION 24. RECORDS RETENTION .............................................................................................................. 19 

SECTION 25. NO OBLIGATION OF STATE GENERAL APPROPRIATIONS FUNDS .......................... 20 

SECTION 26. AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS ........................................................................................................ 20 

SECTION 27. APPLICABLE LAW AND ARBITRATION ............................................................................... 21 



 
FUNDING AGREEMENT 

with 
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

 
Table of Contents 

   
 

REV. 12/8/2023 ii 

SECTION 28. INDEMNIFICATION .................................................................................................................... 21 

SECTION 29. FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIABILITY .................................................................................... 21 

SECTION 30. AUDIT .............................................................................................................................................. 21 

SECTION 31. AUDIT EXCEPTIONS ................................................................................................................... 22 

SECTION 32. UNALLOWABLE USE OF FUNDS ............................................................................................. 22 

SECTION 33. INTEREST OF MEMBERS OF DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND OTHERS .............. 22 

SECTION 34. ACCESS TO RECORDS, PARTICIPANTS AND STAFF ...................................................... 22 

SECTION 35. IDENTIFICATION OF DOCUMENTS ..................................................................................... 22 

SECTION 36. COPYRIGHT ................................................................................................................................... 23 

SECTION 37. RIGHTS IN DATA......................................................................................................................... 23 

SECTION 38. FUNDING CONDITIONS ........................................................................................................... 23 

SECTION 39. NON-DISCRIMINATION ........................................................................................................... 23 

SECTION 40. THIRD PARTY ANTITRUST VIOLATIONS .......................................................................... 24 

SECTION 41. COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR A.R.S.  § 41-4401—IMMIGRATION LAWS AND 
E-VERIFY REQUIREMENT ............................................................................................................................... 24 

SECTION 42. INSURANCE ................................................................................................................................... 24 

SECTION 43. PRIVACY CONSIDERATIONS .................................................................................................. 27 

SECTION 44. NOTICES ......................................................................................................................................... 27 

SECTION 45. REGISTRATION WITH SOCIAL SERVE ................................................................................ 28 

SECTION 46. ADOH SIGNAGE .......................................................................................................................... 28 

SECTION 47. PHOTOGRAPHS ........................................................................................................................... 28 

SECTION 48. STATE OF ARIZONA ................................................................................................................... 28 

SECTION 49. A.R.S. § 35-393.01. ........................................................................................................................... 28 

SECTION 50. A.R.S. § 1-501 RELATING TO FEDERAL PROGRAMS ......................................................... 28 

  

 

 
 



 
FUNDING AGREEMENT 

with 
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

 
Table of Contents 

   
 

REV. 12/8/2023 iii 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

   A Scope of Work  

   B Performance Report/Schedule of Completion 

   C Budget 

   D Request for Payment Form 

   E Special Conditions of the Agreement 

   F Certification and Other Requirements Relating to Title I or Title II Assistance  

   G Authorizing Resolution(s)  

   H Additional Provisions of the 2013 HOME Final Rule (Effective August 23, 2013)  
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 1 

AGREEMENT NO. 216-24 
TERMINATION DATE 12/31/2024 
 

FUNDING AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

AND 
GILA COUNTY 

FOR 
APS AND SWG WEATHERIZATION - BALANCE OF MARICOPA COUNTY 

 
This Funding Agreement is made by and between:  
 
The Arizona Department of Housing (“ADOH”), located at, 1110 West Washington Street, 
Suite 280, Phoenix, Arizona 85007, acting pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-3953 and (please select 
applicable funding source): 
 

 Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended 
(Community Development Block Grant) (“CDBG”). 

 
 Title II of the National Affordable Housing Act of 1990, as amended (HOME 

Investments Partnerships Program) (“HOME”). 
 

 A.R.S. § 41-3955 (State Housing Trust Fund) (“HTF”). 
 

 A.R.S. § 41-3957 (State Housing Program Fund) (“HPF”). 
 

 S.B. 1720 Homeless Shelter and Services Fund (“HSSF”). 
 

 The AIDS Housing Opportunity Act of 1992, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 12902 
(Housing Opportunities for Persons with HIV/AIDS) (“HOPWA”). 

 
 Title IV Part 578 of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act of 1987, as 

amended, 42 USC. 11301 et seq. and the Continuum of Care Program regulations as 
amended by the Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapid Transition to Housing 
(HEARTH) Act of 2009 (Continuum of Care) (“COC”). 

 
 Title I of the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008, Section 1338 (Public Law 

110-289). (National Housing Trust Fund) (“NHTF”). 
 

 Part A of the Energy and Conservation in Existing Buildings Act of 1976, as amended 
and 42 U.S.C. Section 6861 (Department of Energy Weatherization Assistance Program 
for Low Income Persons) (“DOE WAP”). 

 

https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/4405/housing-and-economic-recovery-act-of-2008/
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/4405/housing-and-economic-recovery-act-of-2008/


Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 2 

 Title IV Energy Conservation and Production Act (ECPA), as amended; and 42 U.S.C. 
Section 6861, et. seq. including WAP regulations  contained in 10 CFR 440, DOE 
Financial Assistance Rules at 2 CFR 200 and the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law 
(Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act), Public Law 117-58. (“DOE WAP BIL”). 

 
    H.R 2471, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2022 establishing the Weatherization 

Readiness Fund (“DOE WRF”). 
 

 Low Income Energy Assistance Act of 1981, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 8621-8630, 
(Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program) (“LIHEAP WAP”). 

 
 Southwest Gas Corporation, Weatherization Assistance Program (“SWG WAP”). 

 
 Arizona Public Service, Weatherization Assistance Program (“APS WAP”). 

 
 Salt River Project, Weatherization Assistance Program (“SRP WAP”). 

 
 Section 8071 of the SUPPORT  for Patients and Communities Act. Pub. L. 115-271, 

approved October 24, 2018 referred to as Recovery Housing Program (“RHP”) 
 

 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, established by the American 
Rescue Plan at 31 CFR Part 35 (“SLFRF” or “SFRF”) 

 
 
 

and 
GILA COUNTY 

(Entity) 
 

An Arizona County (“Recipient”) UEI #C8EKKJK67XB1, located at 
 

Office of Community Services, 5515 S. Apache Ave, Suite 200 
Street 

Globe, Arizona 85501 
City State Zip 

 

In consideration of the mutual representations and obligations hereunder, 
ADOH and Recipient agree as follows: 
 
Section 1.   FUNDS PROVIDED 
 

ADOH agrees to provide $266,490.00 in the following type of funds to Recipient in 
accordance with this Agreement.  ADOH is entitled to change the funding sources as 
described in this section, in its sole discretion, so long as the total amount of funds to be 
disbursed is not affected thereby. 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 3 

 CDBG; CFDA # 14.228, FAIN #       
Federal Fiscal Year                  
$      

  
  HOME; CFDA # 14.239, FAIN #        

 Federal Fiscal Year                 
$      

 
 HTF  

 State Fiscal Year       
$      
 

 HPF 
State Fiscal Year       
$       
   

 HSSF 
State Fiscal Year       
$      

 
 HOPWA; CFDA # 14.241, FAIN #        

Federal Fiscal Year       
$      

 
 COC; CFDA # 14.267, FAIN #        

Federal Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 NHTF; CFDA # 14.275, FAIN #       
Federal Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 DOE WAP; CFDA # 81.042, FAIN #       
Federal Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 DOE WAP BIL; CFDA # 81.042, FAIN #        
Federal Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 DOE WRF; CFDA # 81.042, FAIN #        
Federal Fiscal Year       
$      
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 4 

 LIHEAP WAP (through ISA with AzDES); CFDA # 93.568, FAIN #       
Federal Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 SWG WAP 
State Fiscal Year 2024 
$18,490.00  
   

 APS WAP 
State Fiscal Year 2024 
$248,000.00  
 

 SRP WAP 
State Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 RHP; CFDA #14.228, FAIN #       
State Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 SFRF (through ISA with Office of the Governor); CFDA 21.027, FAIN #       
State Fiscal Year       
$       
 

Section 2.   OTHER FUNDS 
 
 If applicable, Recipient agrees to secure funding other than that listed in Section 1 for 
the completion of this Agreement as indicated in the Budget attached hereto as Attachment 
C.  ADOH reserves the right to rescind some or all of the funding committed through this 
Agreement if other funding sources become unavailable. 
 
Section 3.   ACCEPTANCE OF FUNDS 
 

Recipient hereby accepts the award of funds under the terms of this Agreement and 
agrees to execute and return this Agreement to ADOH within thirty (30) days of receipt unless 
Recipient receives a written waiver of this requirement by ADOH. 
 
Section 4.   DURATION 
 

This Agreement shall be effective for jobs completed beginning January 1, 2024 upon 
the date of execution by ADOH and shall remain in effect until DECEMBER 31, 2024 unless 
sooner terminated, extended or otherwise amended in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement. 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 5 

Section 5.   INCORPORATION OF TERMS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PROGRAM 
REQUIREMENTS AND APPLICABLE STATE AND FEDERAL LAW 
 

 Recipient shall carry out each activity in compliance with all applicable State and 
Federal laws, Federal regulations and other requirements including, but not limited to, the 
provisions indicated as marked below and hereby incorporated into this Agreement, as if 
fully set forth herein.  Also incorporated into this Agreement as applicable, are the terms of 
any resolution authorizing Recipient's application for funds, which is attached hereto as 
Attachment G, Authorizing Resolution(s) and any Special Conditions of the Agreement 
attached hereto as Attachment E. 
 

 CDBG funds require adherence to the following provisions as revised: (1) 24 CFR Part 
570; (2) Certification and Other Requirements Relating to Title I Assistance attached hereto 
as Attachment F; (3) the provisions contained in the State of Arizona Consolidated Plan; 
(4) ADOH ERR Handbook; (5) ADOH Labor Standards Handbook; (6) CDBG Application 
Handbook; (7) CDBG Grant Administration Handbook; and (8) CDBG Procurement, 
Contracts and Acquisition Handbook (collectively “the Incorporated Documents”) as 
each may be amended from time to time.  In the event of a conflict between the terms 
of this Agreement and the terms of the Incorporated Documents, the terms of this 
Agreement shall govern.  

 

  HOME funds require adherence to the following provisions as revised: (1) 24 CFR Part 
92; (2) Certification and Other Requirements Relating to Title II Assistance attached hereto 
as Attachment F; (3) the provisions contained in the State of Arizona Consolidated Plan; 
(4) ADOH ERR Handbook; (5) ADOH Labor Standards Handbook; and (6) the State 
Housing Fund Program Summary and Application Guide. 

 

 HTF funds require adherence to the State Housing Fund Program Summary and 
Application Guide as revised. 

 

 HPF funds require adherence to the Special Needs Housing Manual as revised. 
 

 HSSF funds require adherence to S.B. 1720 and the Notice of Funds Available issued 
for acceptance of applications for HSSF funding.  

 

 COC funds require adherence to the following provisions as revised: (1) 24 CFR Part 
578; and (2) the Special Needs Housing Manual.  

 

 HOPWA funds require adherence to the following provisions as revised: (1) 24 CFR 
Part 574; and (2) the Special Needs Housing Manual.  

 
 NHTF requires adherence to the following provisions as revised: (1) 24 CFR Parts 91 

and 93, Housing Trust Fund Interim Rule; (2) the provisions contained in the State of 
Arizona Consolidated Plan; (3) State Housing Fund Program Summary and Application 
Guide; (4) State of Arizona Qualified Allocation Plan; and (5) National Housing Trust 
Fund Allocation Plan.  

http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2015-01-30/pdf/2015-01642.pdf
http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2015-01-30/pdf/2015-01642.pdf


Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 6 

 DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL and DOE WRF funds require adherence to the following 
provisions as revised: (1) 10 CFR Part 440 as revised; (2) the Arizona Weatherization 
Assistance Program State Plan (State Plan); (3) Health and Safety Plan (HSD Plan); (4) the 
Arizona Weatherization Policies and Procedures Handbook; (5) Arizona Weatherization 
Assistance Program Field Guide; (6) Standard Work Specifications; and (7) DOE WPN 22-4 
Quality Work Plan.  

 LIHEAP WAP funds require adherence to the following provisions: (1) 45 CFR Part 
96 as revised; (2) the Arizona Weatherization Assistance Program State Plan (State Plan); 
(3) Health and Safety Plan (HSD Plan); (4) the Arizona Weatherization Policies and 
Procedures Handbook; (5) Arizona Weatherization Assistance Program Field Guide; (6) 
Standard Work Specifications; and (7) WAP Memorandum 15-10 Quality Management Plan.  

 
 SWG WAP, APS WAP or SRP WAP funds require adherence to the following 

provisions: (1) the Arizona Weatherization Assistance Program State Plan (State Plan); (2) 
Health and Safety Plan (HSD Plan); (3) the Arizona Weatherization Policies and Procedures 
Handbook; (4) Arizona Weatherization Assistance Program Field Guide; (5) Standard Work 
Specifications; and (6) WAP Memorandum 15-10 Quality Management Plan.  

 
 SFRF funds require adherence to the terms and conditions of the State Fiscal Recovery 

Funds such that the following costs shall be paid to the Recipient for the protection of 
homeless individuals and homeless families in the time of the COVID-19 crisis 
through costs specifically outlined in the Scope of Work described in Section 6 below. 

 
Section 6.   SCOPE OF WORK 
 
 Recipient agrees to utilize all funds made available under this Agreement only for the 
purpose of implementing the Scope of Work hereby incorporated into this Agreement and 
described in Attachment A. 
 

Revisions to Scope of Work.  Recipient agrees to follow the procedures indicated as 
marked below regarding changes to the Scope of Work.   

 
Revisions to the Scope of Work that change the manner in which an activity is to be 

executed or that change final outcome such as number of units, feet of utility line, number of 
households served, square footage of building, etc. require written approval from ADOH.  
The following substantial revisions to the Scope of Work require written amendment to this 
Agreement:  

 
(a) The purpose of the project changes;  
(b) The location of the project changes;  
(c) A project activity is added, deleted or altered such that it becomes a different 

activity;  
(d) The beneficiary of any activity changes;  



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 7 

(e) Recipient is requesting a change to the loan or grant terms. Recipient must 
submit a written request for an Agreement amendment to ADOH, with a 
revised Scope of Work attached; 

(f) The ownership entity changes; and  
(g) Any other changes that involve program requirements.  

 
ADOH will respond to the written request within fourteen (14) business days.  

Amendments may not be implemented until ADOH consents in writing and an amendment 
to the Agreement has been executed. 
 
Section 7.   REPORTS 
 

Recipient shall be responsible for providing various reports of all activities related to 
this Agreement as identified below and as requested by ADOH or HUD.  Recipient shall also 
provide to ADOH any additional written information requested by ADOH in a timely 
manner and within reasonable deadlines as shall be set by ADOH.  
  

7.1 Performance Report.  Recipient agrees to submit the ADOH Performance Report 
respective of the types of projects indicated below and attached as Attachment B.   
   

 HOME, NHTF, HTF funded rental development projects (“Rental Projects”) or HPF 
funded rapid rehousing projects:  Recipient must submit a Bimonthly Performance 
Report attached hereto as Attachment B.  The Bimonthly Progress Report must be 
submitted to ADOH on the 20th of January, March, May, July, September and 
November and address activities of the preceding two (2) months (i.e. the January 
report covers the months of November and December). 

 
 HOME, HTF and CDBG non-rental projects (“HOME, HTF and CDBG Non-Rental 

Projects”).  Recipient must submit a Monthly Progress Report attached hereto as 
Attachment B.  The Monthly Progress Report must be submitted to ADOH on the 15th 
of each month and address activities of the preceding one (1) month (i.e. the July report 
covers the month of June).  Failure to submit timely Monthly Progress Reports will 
result in suspension of payment reimbursement requests until such reports are 
brought current.  

 
 HSSF funded assistance for persons who are homeless (“Homeless Shelter and 

Services Projects”). Recipient must submit a Quarterly Performance Report attached 
hereto as Attachment B.  The Quarterly Progress Report follows the state fiscal year 
from July 1 through June 30 and must be submitted to ADOH on the 20th day of 
October, January, April and July and address activities of the preceding quarter (i.e. 
the October report covers the months of July through September).  

 
 HOPWA funded rental assistance and services (“HOPWA Projects”).  A Recipient of 

HOPWA awarded funding shall administer said program in the contract term as set 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 8 

forth in Section 4 and submit one (1) HUD Consolidated Annual Performance Evaluation 
Report (CAPER) in accordance with the schedule set forth in Attachment B no later 
than sixty (60) days following the end of Fiscal Year date which is June 30th annually. 

 
 COC funded assistance for persons who are homeless (“Homeless Projects”).  ADOH 

is required to administer the program during the contract term, which is synonymous 
with the HUD grant term and as set forth in Section 4.  Recipient must submit a 
Bimonthly Performance Report attached hereto as Attachment B.  The Bimonthly 
Progress Report must be submitted to ADOH on the 20th of January, March, May, July, 
September and November and address activities of the preceding two (2) months (i.e. 
the January report covers the months of November and December). Recipient shall 
submit Annual Progress Report (APR) data from HMIS to ADOH, no later than thirty 
(30) days following the contract termination date listed on Page 1 of the Agreement.  

 
 DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL, DOE WRF, LIHEAP WAP, SWG WAP, APS WAP and 

SRP WAP funded projects (“Weatherization Projects”).  Recipient must submit a 
Monthly Performance Report attached hereto as Attachment B.  The Monthly 
Performance Report must be submitted to ADOH on the 30th (for the month of 
February, the last calendar day of the month) of each month and address activities of 
the preceding month (i.e. the January 30th report covers the month of December). 

 
        SFRF funded projects (“SFRF Projects”).  Recipient must submit a Monthly Performance 

Report attached hereto as Attachment B.  The Monthly Performance Report must be 
submitted to ADOH on the 30th of each month and address activities of the preceding 
month (i.e. the April report covers the month of March). 

 
7.2 Contract Closeout—Completion Reports and Post-Funding Audits.  

Recipient's obligation to ADOH under this Agreement shall not end until all closeout 
requirements described in this paragraph are completed. ADOH will notify Recipient in 
writing that a Completion Report is due to ADOH within sixty (60) days of one (1) of the 
following occurrences:  

 
(a) The funds have been expended;  
(b) The Scope of Work has been completed;  
(c) The contract period set forth in this Agreement has expired; or 
(d) The Agreement has been otherwise terminated.    

 The Completion Report shall contain the information identified in the notice. 
 
 Following the receipt and approval of the Completion Report, ADOH will notify 
Recipient in writing that the Agreement is administratively closed. 
  

After the project is administratively closed, Recipient must submit all required audits 
to ADOH.  All audits for fiscal years in which Recipient received funds from ADOH must be 
received, reviewed and found to be satisfactory by ADOH.  In the event that ADOH 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 9 

determines that any project costs described in a post-funding audit are unjustified or describe 
ineligible activities, Recipient will be required to refund such monies back to ADOH.  
 
Section 8.   SCHEDULE OF COMPLETION 
 
 Recipient agrees to make progress with the Scope of Work in accordance with the 
Schedule of Completion hereby incorporated into this Agreement and described in Attachment 
B.  

Revisions to the Schedule of Completion.  Recipient agrees to follow the procedures 
indicated as marked below regarding changes to the Schedule of Completion.   
 

 Rental Projects funded with HOME or HTF.  Recipient must notify ADOH of 
revisions to the Schedule of Completion using the Bimonthly Performance Report, attached 
hereto as Attachment B.  To the extent that the changes cause the schedule timeline to 
be extended, Recipient must submit a written request for a contract amendment to 
ADOH with a revised Schedule of Completion attached.  Contract amendment requests 
must be received by ADOH a minimum of thirty (30) days prior to the contract 
expiration date.  ADOH will respond to the written request within fourteen (14) 
business days.  Amendments may not be implemented until ADOH consents in 
writing and an amendment to the Agreement has been executed. 

 
 Non-Rental Projects funded with HOME, HTF and CDBG.  Recipient must notify 

ADOH of revisions to the Schedule of Completion using the Monthly Performance Report, 
attached hereto as Attachment B.  To the extent that the changes cause the schedule 
timeline to be extended, Recipient must submit a written request for a contract 
amendment to ADOH with a revised Schedule of Completion attached.  Contract 
amendment requests must be received by ADOH a minimum of thirty (30) days prior 
to the contract expiration date.  ADOH will respond to the written request within 
fourteen (14) business days.  Amendments may not be implemented until ADOH 
consents in writing and an amendment to the Agreement has been executed. 

 
  Homeless Projects funded with HTF, HPF, HSSF or COC.  To the extent that the 

changes cause the schedule timeline to be extended, Recipient must submit a written 
request for a contract amendment to ADOH with a revised Schedule of Completion and 
Performance Report attached.  Contract amendment requests must be received by 
ADOH a minimum of thirty (30) days prior to the contract expiration date.  ADOH 
will respond to the written request within fourteen (14) business days.  Amendments 
may not be implemented until ADOH consents in writing and an amendment to the 
Agreement has been executed. 

 
 Weatherization.  Projects funded with DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL, DOE WRF,  

LIHEAP, SWG WAP APS WAP and/or SRP WAP. Recipients will have twelve (12) 
months to complete the Scope of Work with no extensions.  ADOH may, based on a 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 10 

review of the progress of Recipient completed units and expenditures, move funds 
from a non or under-performing Recipient to a Recipient meeting or exceeding their 
performance goals.  ADOH will review the performance of the Recipient on a monthly 
basis.  The first re-allocation of funds if applicable would occur at approximately four 
(4) months with additional re-allocations made on an as needed basis. 

 
   SFRF Projects.   To the extent that the changes cause the schedule timeline to be 

extended, Recipient must submit a written request for a contract amendment to 
ADOH with a revised Schedule of Completion and Performance Report attached.  Contract 
amendment requests must be received by ADOH a minimum of thirty (30) days prior 
to the contract expiration date.  ADOH will respond to the written request within 
fourteen (14) business days.  Amendments may not be implemented until ADOH 
consents in writing and an amendment to the Agreement has been executed. 

 
Section 9.   BUDGET  
 

Recipient agrees to use the funds provided pursuant to this Agreement in accordance 
with the Budget that is attached as Attachment C.  Recipient further agrees that any project 
costs, unless otherwise specified, exceeding the Budget shall be the sole responsibility of 
Recipient. 
 

Availability of funding under this Agreement is contingent on final review and 
approval of the Budget.  Budgetary considerations for specific programs are described below:  
 

 CDBG Revisions to the Budget.  Recipient must obtain written approval from ADOH 
to move funds from one Budget Activity Line Item to another.  The following 
substantial revisions to the Budget require a contract amendment:  

 
(a) Funds are moved from one Budget Activity Line Item to another and the change 

in the Budget Activity Line from which it is moved or to which it is being moved 
exceeds fifty percent (50%), unless the move is from administration to a non-
administration activity, in which case only written notice without a contract 
amendment is required;  

(b) Additional funding sources are added to the Project;  
(c) Recipient is requesting a change to the grant terms.   

 
 HOME, HOPWA, HPF, NHTF and HTF Revisions to the Budget.  Recipient must 

obtain prior written approval from ADOH to move funds from one Budget Activity 
Line Item to another.  ADOH will only approve changes to the Budget for eligible 
costs as outlined in the State Housing Fund program.  The following substantial 
revisions to the Budget require a contract amendment:  

 
(a) Additional funding sources are added to the project which require a project to 

be re-underwritten to determine gap;  



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 11 

(b) Recipient is requesting a change to the loan terms.   
 

 HSSF and SFRF Revisions to the Budget.  Recipient must obtain written approval 
from ADOH to move funds from one Budget Activity Line Item to another. ADOH 
will only approve changes to the Budget for eligible costs.  

 
 WEATHERIZATION Revisions to the Budget.  Recipient must obtain written 

approval from ADOH to move funds from one Budget Activity Line Item to another. 
ADOH will only approve changes to the Budget for eligible costs. Administration, 
Technical Assistance and Health and Safety line items cannot be increased unless the 
overall award of funds increases.   

 
See Section 10 for changes that affect the Budget. 
 
Recipient shall not retain any funds that are drawn down in excess of immediate cash 

needs (to be utilized within fifteen (15) days of draw down) to cover subsequent requests for 
reimbursement and must return them to ADOH within thirty (30) days of receipt.  Recipient 
must also return to ADOH any interest that is earned on these funds that are drawn down 
and not expended for eligible costs within fifteen (15) days of draw down. 

 
Section 10.   AMENDMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS 
 

ADOH may consent to amendment or modification of this Agreement upon written 
request of Recipient.  All amendments or modifications to this Agreement shall be by mutual 
consent of the parties in writing.   

 
Requests for amendments or modifications that result in changes to the Budget must 

be supported by a revised Budget that is otherwise consistent with Section 9.   
 
ADOH will respond to the request for amendment or modification to this Agreement 

within fourteen (14) business days.   
 
Section 11.   ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW CONDITIONS 
 

In accordance with 24 CFR 50 and 24 CFR 58 (“Environmental Review”), the 
environmental effects of each activity carried out with federal funds must be assessed.  Local 
government entities are responsible for conducting environmental reviews and requesting a 
release of funds from ADOH.  Non-profits and other non-governmental entities are 
responsible for conducting Environmental Reviews before ADOH requests a release of funds 
from HUD.  Completion of the Environmental Review Record (“ERR”) is mandatory before 
taking any physical action on a site or entering into contracts.  Only exempt activities such as 
architecture, engineering and administration may be undertaken and reimbursed by ADOH 
prior to receiving a written release of funds.  Exempt activities described in 24 CFR 58.34(a)(1)-
(11) are activities that generally have no physical impact on the environment.  If federal funds 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 12 

are involved in a project, neither federal nor non-federal funds may be expended or 
committed by contract (conditional or not) for property acquisition, rehabilitation, 
conversion, lease, repair or construction activities, until HUD or ADOH has provided written 
authorization based on approval of an ERR.  

 
 An option agreement (to purchase land) on a proposed site or property is allowable 
prior to the completion of the Environmental Review if the option agreement is contingent 
upon an ADOH or HUD authorization to use funds based on a completed ERR.  The cost of 
the option must be a nominal portion of the purchase price.  
 

Projects funded solely with Housing Trust Funds do not require an ERR but are 
required to meet the requirements of the State Historic Preservation Act by consulting with 
the State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO).  For State Housing Funded projects, Phase I 
Environmental Assessments are required to be completed on properties for which new 
construction/change in use is proposed, regardless of whether federal or state funds are the 
source of funding.  Expenditures incurred or obligated by construction contract prior to 
ADOH’s release of funds or consultation with SHPO will not be reimbursed by ADOH.   
  
 Recipients who had committed or expended non-federal funds to begin a project 
before receiving the authorization from ADOH or HUD may still be eligible to use federal 
funds on the project under the following circumstances:  
 

(a) Recipients started the project without the intention of using federal assistance 
(i.e. as evidenced by other anticipated funding, the original project budget, etc.); 

 
(b) All work on the project ceases once an application for federal funds is made and 

an ERR is begun on all activities (i.e. acquisition, construction, etc.).  ADOH or 
HUD provides authorization to proceed based on the completed ERR.  

 
 WEATHERIZATION (DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL, DOE WRF, LIHEAP WAP).  DOE 

has made a final NEPA determination for all activities under this Funding Agreement 
that are listed in the State Plan formally approved by DOE and incorporated into this 
Funding Agreement.  Recipients are responsible for compliance with Section 106 
pursuant to 36 CFR Part 800.2 (c)(4).  

 
Section 12.   APPLICATION AND OTHER PRE-AWARD COSTS 

 
Recipient may use a portion of the funds provided hereunder to reimburse itself for 

exempt activities pursuant to 24 CFR 58.34(a)(1)-(11) such as architecture, engineering, testing 
and sampling of asbestos and capital needs assessments and environmental reviews.  
 

 CDBG.  If Recipient is receiving funding under this Agreement from the CDBG 
program, in accordance with federal procedures, Recipient may use funds provided 
hereunder to reimburse it or to pay for costs incurred in preparing the application.  In 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 13 

no event shall such compensation exceed eighteen percent (18%) of the total funding 
provided to Recipient by ADOH. 

 
Section 13.   COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT 
 

Subject to availability of and receipt of funds from the State’s Unclaimed Property 
Fund (for state HTF funds) and/or the United States Treasury (for HOME, CDBG, COC, NHTF 
HOPWA, DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL, DOE WRF and LIHEAP WAP funds) and the 
commitment of other required funding as indicated in Recipient's application, ADOH agrees 
to reimburse or advance Recipient for authorized expenditures according to the Budget in 
Attachment C.  Recipient must maintain invoices and other similar documentation to support 
payment expenses under those generally accepted accounting principles and procedures 
approved by ADOH and outlined in 2 CFR 200 as applicable; 24 CFR Parts 44, 92 and 570 as 
applicable; and 10 CFR 440 and 600 as applicable.   
 

Recipient may request funds only after the date of the executed Agreement and other 
legal documents as applicable, provided Recipient has satisfied ADOH funding contingencies 
and federal Environmental Review conditions.  Requests for reimbursement must be made 
using the ADOH Request for Payment form hereby incorporated into this Agreement and 
attached as Attachment D.  For construction projects, Release of Lien documents must be 
attached to the Request for Payment in amounts proportionate to contractor reimbursement 
requests.  
 

Recipient must maintain proof of said expenditures including checks, payrolls, time 
records, invoices, contracts, vouchers, orders and other accounting documents evidencing in 
proper detail the nature and propriety of the respective charges as may be required by 
applicable federal rules and regulations, including requirements by the Federal Office of 
Management and Budget, and as may be otherwise reasonably required to permit ADOH to 
determine or confirm that any such expenditures are prudent and within the Scope of Work. 

 
Recipient’s right to incur expenses under this Agreement shall cease upon expiration 

of this Agreement.  All requests for reimbursement on expenditures made prior to expiration 
of this Agreement must be requested within sixty (60) days after expiration.  Unless expressly 
authorized by ADOH in writing, expenditures not requested within the sixty (60) day period 
after expiration of this Agreement shall be disallowed and all funds shall be reclaimed by 
ADOH. 
 
Section 14.   FUNDS RECOUPED BY RECIPIENT, INTEREST AND PROGRAM 
INCOME 
 

14.1 Definitions.  For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:  
 

“Funds Recouped by Recipient” means funds initially provided by ADOH to 
Recipient under this Agreement and any matching contributions that are recouped by 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 14 

Recipient when: (1) the funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement or matching 
contributions or the proceeds of funds provided by ADOH (including, but not limited to, 
equipment or housing) do not continue to be used for an approved purpose or eligible 
activity, as described in applicable law or regulations, for the full period of affordability 
required by this Agreement; or (2) when a State-assisted homeownership housing does not 
continue to be the principal residence of the assisted homebuyer for the full affordability 
period required by this Agreement.  Funds Recouped by Recipient are subject to all the 
requirements of Program Income described below with the exception that Recipient shall not 
use Funds Recouped by Recipient for administrative purposes.  For this reason, Recipient 
must separately account for all Funds Recouped by Recipient. 
 

“Interest” means any compensation paid or to be paid for the use or deposit of the 
funds provided by ADOH to Recipient under this Agreement. 
 

“Program Income” means gross income received by Recipient directly generated from 
the use of funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement.  When Program Income is 
generated by housing that is only partially assisted with funds provided by ADOH under this 
Agreement or matching contributions, the income shall be prorated to reflect the percentage 
of funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement.  Program Income includes, but is not 
limited to, the following: (1) proceeds from the disposition by sale or long-term lease of real 
property purchased or improved with funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement; (2) 
gross income from the use or rental of real or personal property acquired by Recipient with 
funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement, less costs incidental to generation of the 
income; (3) payments of principal and interest on loans made using funds provided by ADOH 
under this Agreement or matching contributions; (4) proceeds from the sale of loans made 
with funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement or matching contributions; (5) proceeds 
from sale of obligations secured by loans made with funds provided by ADOH under this 
Agreement or matching contributions; (6) Interest earned on Program Income pending its 
disposition; (7) proceeds from the disposition of equipment purchased with CDBG funds; (8) 
gross income from the use or rental of real property, owned by Recipient, that was constructed 
or improved with funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement, less costs incidental to 
generation of the income; (9) if the funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement are from 
the CDBG Program, funds collected through special assessments made against properties 
owned and occupied by households not of low and moderate income, where the assessments 
are used to recover all or part of the CDBG portion of a public improvement; and (10) if the 
funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement are from the HOME Program, any other 
interest or return on the investment permitted under 24 C.F.R. Part 92.205(b) of HOME funds 
or matching contributions. 

 
14.2 Use of Program Income and Funds Recouped by Recipient.   
 
Recipient is not authorized by ADOH to retain and reuse Program Income, Funds 

Recouped by Recipient or accrued Interest as described in the following paragraph(s) except 
as authorized by ADOH through a written agreement. 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 15 

Recipient must return all Program Income, Funds Recouped by Recipient and Interest 
to ADOH within thirty (30) days of receipt. 

Recipient must remit to ADOH any Program Income, Funds Recouped by Recipient 
or Interest on hand at the time of expiration, cancellation, or termination of this Agreement 
or subsequently received by Recipient within thirty (30) days of receipt by Recipient.   
 
Section 15.    DE-OBLIGATION, RECAPTURE AND REPAYMENT OF FUNDS 
 

15.1 De-obligation.  ADOH may reduce funds from the funding award evidenced 
by this Agreement without regard to the source of funding, under the following 
circumstances: (1) Recipient has completed performance under the Scope of Work (Attachment 
A) without using all of the funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement; (2) this 
Agreement expires and not all funds have been expended; (3) ADOH’s original allocation was 
a loan and Recipient or Sub-recipient paid the loan; (4) Recipient, with the consent of ADOH, 
cancelled or changed an activity required under the Scope of Work for reasons other than non-
performance; or (5) Recipient receives Program Income that has not been included in the 
budget or set forth in the Scope of Work; and (6) this Agreement has otherwise been terminated. 
ADOH may de-obligate funds under this Agreement under the foregoing circumstances upon 
written notice to Recipient.   
 

15.2 Reallocation of De-obligated HOME or State HTF Funds.  If the funds 
provided by ADOH under this Agreement are from the State HTF or the HOME Program, 
ADOH may reallocate funds that it has de-obligated under this Agreement as it determines 
in its sole discretion.  
 

15.3 Reallocation of De-obligated CDBG Funds.  If the funds provided by ADOH 
under this Agreement are from the CDBG Program, ADOH may reallocate funds that it has 
de-obligated under this Agreement to Recipient from which the funds were de-obligated for 
use under an existing or new funding contract of the same funding year if Recipient can 
immediately commit the reallocated funds to a project and execute a new or amended funding 
contract within sixty (60) calendar days of the reallocation.  If ADOH is not able to reallocate 
funds that it has de-obligated under this Agreement in accordance with the foregoing 
sentence of this subsection, ADOH may reallocate those funds as it determines in its sole 
discretion. 
 

15.4 Recapture.  ADOH may reduce funds from the amount of the funding award 
evidenced by this Agreement, without regard to the source of funding, under the following 
circumstances: (1) ADOH determines that Recipient has failed to use the funds provided by 
ADOH under this Agreement in compliance with the terms of this Agreement or the 
requirements of applicable laws and regulations (non-compliance); or (2) Recipient fails to 
perform in accordance with the performance obligations set forth in the Scope of Work 
(Attachment A ) and the Schedule of Completion (Attachment  B) or the terms of this Agreement.  
ADOH may recapture funds under this Agreement under the foregoing circumstances upon 
written notice to Recipient. 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 16 

15.5 Reallocation of Recaptured Funds.  ADOH may reallocate funds that it has 
recaptured under this Agreement, without regard to the source of funding, as it determines 
in its sole discretion. 

 
15.6 Repayment of Funds.  Recipient agrees to repay funds provided under this 

contract if ADOH determines that Recipient has failed to use the funds provided by ADOH 
under this Agreement in compliance with the terms of this Agreement or the requirements of 
applicable laws and regulations.  ADOH may specify in writing the terms of the repayment 
or alternative terms in lieu of repayment; however, in no case shall repayment or alternative 
terms be accomplished later than 180 days following the written determination of non-
compliance by ADOH.  
  
Section 16.   REVERSION OF ASSETS 
 

16.1 Funds Remaining at Expiration.  Upon expiration of this Agreement, 
Recipient shall transfer to ADOH any unexpended funds advanced to Recipient by ADOH 
under this Agreement.  
 

16.2 Real Property Acquired or Improved with CDBG Funds.  Upon expiration of 
this Agreement, any real property under Recipient's control that was acquired or improved 
in whole or in part with CDBG funds, for non-owner occupied use, provided to Recipient by 
ADOH under this Agreement (including CDBG funds provided to Recipient in the form of a 
loan) in excess of $25,000, shall either: (1) be used to meet one of the national objectives in 24 
CFR Part 570.208 until five (5) years after expiration of this Agreement, or for such longer 
period of time as determined to be appropriate by Recipient; or (2) not be used in accordance 
with 24 CFR Part 570.503(b)(8)(i), in which event Recipient shall pay to ADOH an amount 
equal to the current market value of the property less any portion of the value attributable to 
expenditures of non-CDBG funds for the acquisition of, or improvement to, the property.  No 
payment is required after the period of time specified in 24 CFR Part 570.503 (b)(8)(i). 
 

16.3 Real Property Acquired or Improved with HOME Funds.  Upon expiration 
of this Agreement, any real property under Recipient's control that was acquired or improved 
in whole or in part with HOME funds, for non-owner occupied uses, provided to Recipient 
by ADOH under this Agreement (including funds provided to Recipient in the form of a loan), 
must be occupied only by households that are eligible as low-income families and must meet 
the requirements to qualify as affordable housing and is subject to encumbrances and 
obligations described in any applicable Declaration of Conditions, Covenants and Restrictions 
(“CC&Rs”) for the period of affordability set forth in 24 CFR Part 92.252. 
 

16.4  Real Property Acquired or Improved with State Housing Trust Funds.  Upon 
expiration of this Agreement, any real property under Recipient's control that was acquired 
or improved in whole or in part with state HTF funds, for non-owner occupied uses, provided 
to Recipient by ADOH under this Agreement (including funds provided to Recipient in the 
form of a loan), must be occupied only by households that are eligible as low-income families 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 17 

and must meet the requirements to qualify as affordable housing and is subject to 
encumbrances and obligations described in any applicable Declaration of CC&Rs for the 
period of affordability set forth in the CC&Rs. 

 
Section 17.   DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

ADOH shall monitor and evaluate Recipient to determine compliance with and 
performance under this Agreement.  A summary of discrepancies noted by ADOH during 
monitoring visits will be specified in writing.  Appropriate time for correction of discrepancies 
will be specified in the written report to Recipient.  ADOH shall follow up on discrepancies 
to ensure that they have been corrected in a timely manner.  The failure of ADOH to require 
timely performance of any provision of this Agreement shall in no way affect the right of 
ADOH thereafter to enforce such provision nor shall the waiver of any succeeding breach of 
such provision act as waiver of the provision itself. 
 

ADOH shall provide reasonable technical assistance to assist Recipient to comply with 
program requirements for the provision of services under this Agreement.  However, this in 
no way relieves Recipient of full responsibility for its acts or omissions in the performance of 
activities required by this Agreement.  
 
Section 18.   SUBCONTRACTING 
 

Recipient shall not disburse any funds received under this Agreement without fully 
completed written agreements with subcontractors requiring they follow all provisions of this 
Agreement and a completed Environmental Review pursuant to Section 11 of this Agreement.  
 

The use of subcontractors does not relieve Recipient of responsibility for ensuring the 
administration of the provided funds in accordance with all applicable program 
requirements.  Recipient is responsible for determining the adequacy of performance under 
subcontractor agreements and procurement contracts and for taking appropriate action when 
performance issues arise. 

 
Section 19.   FAILURE TO MAKE PROGRESS 
 

Failure of Recipient to make progress according to the Schedule of Completion, 
attached hereto as Attachment B may result in contract termination, de-obligation of funds or 
recapture of funds.  Recipient agrees to meet with ADOH at the site in which the funded 
activity is taking place to discuss progress and allow ADOH to provide technical assistance 
if:  

 
(a) Recipient fails to begin work on its Environmental Review pursuant to Section 

11 within the sixty (60) calendar days from the date ADOH executes this 
Agreement; 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 18 

(b) Recipient fails to expend any funds in performance of and in accordance with 
the terms of this Agreement within ninety (90) calendar days from the inception 
date of this Agreement.   

 
ADOH will terminate any Agreement and recapture funds from the same Agreement in 
which Recipient does not commence any of the activities described in the Scope of Work 
(Attachment A) or fails to expend any funds in accordance with the Budget (Attachment C) 
within 180 calendar days from the full execution date of this Agreement.  ADOH may in its 
sole discretion, forgo providing technical assistance and recapture funds as outlined in this 
Agreement under Section 15.4 hereof and/or terminate this Agreement for cause pursuant to 
Section 20 of this Agreement.   
 
Section 20.   TERMINATION FOR CAUSE 
 

ADOH may terminate this Agreement in whole or in part at any time whenever it 
determines that Recipient has failed to comply with the conditions hereof including, but not 
limited to the Scope of Work set forth in Attachment A, Schedule of Completion set forth in 
Attachment B and Budget set forth in Attachment C to this Agreement.  If ADOH so 
determines, it shall notify Recipient in writing by certified mail, return receipt requested, of 
such termination for cause with such notification to include the reason(s) for the termination 
and the effective date of termination.  If ADOH terminates this Agreement pursuant to this 
Section, ADOH shall recapture all funds allocated to Recipient under this Agreement 
pursuant to Section 15.4 hereof and obtain repayment of funds expended pursuant to Section 
15.6, hereof. 

 
Section 21.   TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 
 

ADOH or Recipient may terminate this Agreement in whole or part (one (1) or more 
activities) if either party believes that continuation will not produce beneficial results.  If 
ADOH so determines, it shall notify Recipient in writing by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, of such termination for convenience and the effective date of termination.  If 
Recipient so determines, it shall notify ADOH in writing by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, of such termination for convenience and the effective date of termination.  If 
ADOH terminates this Agreement pursuant to this Section, ADOH shall de-obligate, 
recapture or receive repayment, as applicable, all funds allocated to Recipient under this 
Agreement pursuant to Section 15 hereof.    

 
Section 22.   ENFORCEMENT 
 

22.1 Remedies for Noncompliance. If Recipient materially fails to comply with any 
term of this Agreement or applicable law, ADOH may take one or more of the following 
actions, as appropriate in the circumstances:  
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 19 

(a) Temporarily withhold cash payments pending correction of the deficiency by 
Recipient or more severe enforcement action by the awarding agency; 

(b) Disallow (that is, deny both use of funds and matching credit for) all or part of 
the cost of the activity or action not in compliance; 

(c) Wholly or partly suspend or terminate the award evidenced by this Agreement; 
(d) Withhold further awards to Recipient’s project funded by the award evidenced 

by this Agreement; 
(e) Recapture funds and terminate contract; 
(f) Withhold future ADOH grant awards from all sources; or 
(g) Take other remedies that may be legally available. 

 
22.2 Appealable Agency Action.  Enforcement action taken under this section is an 

appealable agency action pursuant to A.R.S., Title 41, Chapter 6, Article 10.  
 
22.3 Effects of suspension and termination.  Costs incurred by Recipient resulting 

from obligations incurred by Recipient during a suspension or after termination of an award 
are not allowable unless ADOH expressly authorizes them in the notice of suspension or 
termination or subsequently.  
 

22.4 Relationship to debarment and suspension.  The enforcement remedies 
identified in this section, including suspension and termination, do not preclude Recipient 
from being subject to “Debarment and Suspension” under the United States President’s 
Executive Order 12549.  

 
Section 23.   CANCELLATION 
 
 Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-511, ADOH may, within three (3) years after its execution, 
cancel this Agreement, without penalty or further obligation, if any person significantly 
involved in initiating, negotiating, securing, drafting or creating this Agreement on behalf of 
ADOH, at any time while this Agreement or any extension of this Agreement is in effect, is or 
becomes an employee or agent of any other party to this Agreement in any capacity or a 
consultant to any party of this Agreement with respect to the subject matter of the contract.  
A cancellation notice made pursuant to this provision shall be effective when Recipient 
receives written notice of the cancellation unless the notice specifies a later time. 
 
Section 24.   RECORDS RETENTION 
 
 Pursuant to A.R.S. § 35-214, Recipient shall retain and require that its subcontractors 
retain for inspection and audit by ADOH, all books, accounts, reports, files including 
information regarding actual beneficiaries of the fund, and other records relating to the 
bidding and performance of this Agreement for a period of five (5) years following the date 
of the letter informing Recipient of the Administrative Closeout or termination.  
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 20 

    CDBG funded projects only:  All CDBG records must be retained for at least three (3) 
years after the grant agreement close out between HUD and ADOH has been 
approved by HUD.  ADOH will notify recipients of the records retention date of 
expiration for CDBG funded projects.  

 
 WEATHERIZATION projects only:  All records must be retained for at least three (3) 

years after the grant agreement close out between DOE or SWG and ADOH has been 
approved.  ADOH will notify recipients of the records retention date of expiration for 
Weatherization projects.  

 
Upon request by ADOH, Recipient shall produce a legible copy of all such records at 

the Administrative Office of ADOH or at the Office of the Auditor General.  The original 
records shall be available and produced for inspection and audit when required by ADOH or 
the Auditor General. 
 

Recipient shall maintain records that adequately identify the source and application 
of the funds provided under this Agreement (including Program Income and Recaptured 
Funds) as part of the financial transactions of their funding program, consistent with 
generally accepted accounting principles and the requirements of 2 CFR 200.  Recipient will 
provide reports regarding the capture and reuse of Program Income and Recaptured Funds 
as requested by ADOH from time to time. 
 
 In addition, in the event that the project resulted in Recipient holding any liens or 
notes as a result of this funding, Recipient must retain all pertinent records for five (5) years 
beyond the expiration or release of such liens or notes. 
 
Section 25.   NO OBLIGATION OF STATE GENERAL APPROPRIATIONS FUNDS 
 

Nothing herein shall be construed as obligating state general appropriation funds, 
excepting HTF funds or HSSF funds per S.B. 1720, for payment of any debt or liability of any 
nature arising hereunder.  The parties expressly recognize that all payments to be made by 
ADOH are from federal funds, HTF and HSSF funds made available to ADOH for this 
purpose. 
 
Section 26.   AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS 
 

Payments under this Agreement are subject to the availability of the federal funds 
provided to the ADOH for the HOME, CDBG, HOPWA, COC, NHTF, DOE WAP, DOE WAP 
BIL, DOE WRF, LIHEAP and SFRF programs, the availability of state funds provided for the 
state HTF, HPF and HSSF Programs and the availability of private funds provided for the 
SWG WAP, APS WAP and SRP WAP programs.  Every payment obligation of ADOH under 
this Agreement is conditioned upon the availability of funds appropriated or allocated for the 
payment of such obligation.  If funds are not allocated and available for the continuance of 
this Agreement, this Agreement may be terminated by ADOH at the end of the period for 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 21 

which funds are available.  No liability shall accrue to ADOH in the event this provision is 
exercised, and ADOH shall not be obligated or liable for any future payments or for any 
damages as a result of termination under this paragraph. 

 
Section 27.   APPLICABLE LAW AND ARBITRATION 
 

This Agreement shall be governed and interpreted by the laws of the State of Arizona. 
The parties to this Agreement agree to resolve all disputes arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement through arbitration, after exhausting applicable administrative review, to the 
extent required by A.R.S. § 12-1518 except as may be required by other applicable statutes. 

 
Section 28.   INDEMNIFICATION 
 

Recipient shall indemnify, defend, and save harmless ADOH, the State of Arizona and 
its agents, officials and employees from any and all claims, demands, suits, actions, 
proceedings, loss, costs and damages of every kind and description, including any attorney’s 
fees and litigation expenses, which may be brought or made against or incurred by the State 
on account of loss of or damage to any property or for injuries to or death of any person, 
caused by, arising out of or contributed to, in whole or in part, by reason of any alleged act, 
omission, professional error, fault, mistake or negligence of Recipient, its employees, agents, 
representatives or subcontractors, their employees, agents or representatives in connection 
with or incidental to the performance of this Agreement, or arising out of Workmen’s 
Compensation claims, Unemployment Compensation claims or Unemployment Disability 
Compensation claims of employees of Recipient or its subcontractors or claims under similar 
such laws or obligations.  Recipient’s obligation under this section shall not extend to any 
liability caused by the sole negligence of ADOH, the State of Arizona or its employees. 

 
Section 29.   FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIABILITY 
 

It is agreed by all parties that the Federal Government and particularly the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) and the U.S. Department of 
Energy (DOE) is not a party to this Agreement and that no legal liability on the part of the 
Federal Government is inferred or implied under the terms of this Agreement. 
 
Section 30.   AUDIT 
 
 If federal funds are paid to Recipient through this Agreement, Recipient shall comply 
with the audit requirements set forth in 2 CFR 200.  Recipient shall comply with A.R.S. § 35-
181.03 if any state funds are paid through this Agreement.  Recipient agrees to rectify issues 
identified in audits within ADOH prescribed time periods.  Failure to comply shall result in 
withholding of all present and future ADOH provided funds.   
 
 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 22 

Section 31.   AUDIT EXCEPTIONS 
 

If federal or state audit exceptions are made relating to this Agreement, Recipient shall 
reimburse all costs incurred by the State of Arizona and ADOH associated with defending 
against the audit exception or performing an audit or follow-up audit including but not 
limited to: audit fees, court costs, attorney's fees based upon a reasonable hourly amount for 
attorneys in the community, travel costs, penalty assessments and all other costs of whatever 
nature. 
 

Immediately upon notification from ADOH, Recipient shall reimburse the amount of 
the audit exception and any other related costs directly to ADOH as specified by ADOH in 
the notification. 
 
Section 32.   UNALLOWABLE USE OF FUNDS 
 

Recipient, its officers, employees and agents, shall not utilize any of the federal funds 
or HTF provided under this Agreement to solicit or influence, or attempt to solicit or 
influence, directly or indirectly, any member of Congress regarding pending or prospective 
legislation. 
 
Section 33.   INTEREST OF MEMBERS OF DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND OTHERS 

 
No officer or employee of ADOH and no public official, employee or member of the 

governing body of Recipient who exercises any functions or responsibilities in review or 
approval of the undertaking or carrying out of this Agreement shall participate in any 
decision relating to this Agreement which affects their personal interest or the interest of any 
corporation, partnership or association in which they are directly or indirectly interested, or 
have any interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or its proceeds. 

 
Section 34.   ACCESS TO RECORDS, PARTICIPANTS AND STAFF 
 

Recipient agrees to provide ADOH and its representatives access at any reasonable 
time to all participants and staff involved in this Agreement and to all records and reports 
involving this Agreement. 
 
Section 35.   IDENTIFICATION OF DOCUMENTS 
 

All materials used for public outreach and for informational purposes as a part of this 
Agreement, other than documents exclusively for internal use by ADOH, shall identify the 
source of federal (CDBG, HOME, NHTF, COC, HOPWA, DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL, DOE 
WRF, LIHEAP WAP, SFRF) or state (HTF, HPF, HSSF) funds or private funds (APS, SRP, 
SWG) used as part of this Agreement as well as acknowledgement of support from ADOH.  
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 23 

Section 36.   COPYRIGHT 
 

Reports, maps or other documents produced in whole or in part under this Agreement 
are works for hire and shall not be the subject of any application for copyright by or on behalf 
of Recipient, by any employee or subcontractor of Recipient.  Recipient shall advise ADOH 
or its designee at the time of delivery of any copyrighted or copyrightable work furnished 
under this Agreement, or any adversely held copyrighted or copyrightable material 
incorporated in any such work and of any invasion of the right of privacy therein contained. 
 
Section 37.   RIGHTS IN DATA 
 

ADOH may duplicate, use and disclose in any manner and for any purpose 
whatsoever, within the limits established by federal and state laws and regulations, all 
information relating to this Agreement. 
Section 38.   FUNDING CONDITIONS 
 

ADOH will make the funding assistance available to Recipient upon execution of this 
Agreement by the parties.  The obligation and utilization of the funding assistance provided 
through this Agreement are subject to the proper observation of the requirements 
incorporated by reference.  Recipient shall require any subcontracting entities to observe and 
follow all provisions of this Agreement. 

 
Section 39.   NON-DISCRIMINATION 
  

(a) Recipient shall comply with A.R.S. § 41-1463 and Executive Orders 99-4 and 
2009-09, which prohibit Recipient from discriminating against persons, or 
depriving or tending to deprive any individual of employment opportunities or 
otherwise adversely affecting the individual's status as an employee on the basis 
of race, color, religion, sex, age, national origin, disability or political affiliation 
and require Recipient to take action to ensure that applicants are employed and 
that employees are treated during employment without regard to race, color, 
religion, sex, age, national origin, disability, or political affiliation.  Recipient 
shall comply with all of the other requirements of Executive Order 2009-09. 
 

(b) Recipient agrees to comply with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as 
amended.  Recipient shall also comply with applicable federal regulations that 
prohibit discrimination in the employment or advancement in employment of 
qualified persons with disabilities.  Recipient shall comply with all applicable 
federal regulations regarding equal employment opportunity and relevant 
orders issued by the U.S. Secretary of Labor.  Recipient agrees to comply, and 
will require any subcontractor(s) to comply with applicable federal 
nondiscrimination requirements, which may include: Omnibus Crime Control 
and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. §3789(d)); the Victims of Crime Act (42 
U.S.C. §10604(e)); the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 24 

(42 U.S.C. §5672(b)); the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. §2000(d)); Section 504 
of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. §794); Title II of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. §§12132); Title IX of the Education 
Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. §1681); the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 
U.S.C. §6102); 28 C.F.R. pt. 35 (DOJ Regulations- Nondiscrimination on the Basis 
of Disability in State and Local Government Services); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42 (DOJ 
Regulations- Nondiscrimination; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies and 
Procedures); Executive Order 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based 
and community organizations); and 28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (DOJ Regulations- Equal 
Treatment for Faith-Based Organizations). 

 
Section 40.   THIRD PARTY ANTITRUST VIOLATIONS 
 

Recipient assigns to the State of Arizona any claim for overcharges resulting from 
antitrust violations to the extent that such violations concern materials or services supplied 
by third parties to Recipient toward fulfillment of this Agreement. 
 
Section 41.   COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR A.R.S.  § 41-4401—IMMIGRATION 
LAWS AND E-VERIFY REQUIREMENT 
 

(a) Recipient warrants compliance with all Federal immigration laws and 
regulations relating to employees and warrants its compliance with Section 
A.R.S. § 23-214, Subsection A.  (That subsection reads: “After December 31, 2007, 
every employer, after hiring an employee, shall verify the employment eligibility 
of the employee through the E-Verify program.”) 

 
(b) A breach of a warranty regarding compliance with immigration laws and 

regulations shall be deemed a material breach of the contract and Recipient may 
be subject to penalties up to and including termination of this Agreement.  

 
(c) The ADOH retains the legal right to inspect the papers of any employee who 

works on this Agreement to ensure that Recipient or Recipient’s subcontractor 
is complying with the warranty under paragraph (a).   

 
Section 42.   INSURANCE 
 
 During the contract period, Recipient shall purchase and maintain in full force the 
following insurance.  All certifications of insurance must provide for a thirty (30) day notice 
to ADOH of cancellation, non-renewal or material change.  Proof of insurance from Recipient 
shall be provided to ADOH prior to execution of this contract and periodic certifications must 
be furnished at the request of the Program Specialist. 
 
 Recipient and its subcontractors, at Recipient’s and subcontractors’ own expense, shall 
purchase and maintain the herein stipulated minimum insurance with companies duly 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 25 

licensed, possessing a current A.M. Best, Inc. Rating of A-, 7, local government insurance 
pools formed pursuant to ARS 11-952.01 or other as approved by ADOH and licensed in the 
State of Arizona with policies and forms satisfactory to ADOH. 
 

All insurance required herein shall be maintained in full force and effect until all work 
or service required to be performed under the terms of this Agreement is completed 
satisfactorily and formally accepted; failure to do so may, at the sole discretion of ADOH, 
constitute a material breach of this Agreement. 
 

Recipient’s insurance shall be primary insurance as respects ADOH and any insurance 
or self-insurance maintained by ADOH shall not contribute to it. 

 
Recipient shall not fail to comply with the claim reporting provisions of the insurance 

policies or cause any breach of an insurance policy warranty, which would affect coverage 
afforded under insurance policies to protect ADOH. 
 
 The insurance policies, except Worker’s Compensation, shall contain a waiver of 
transfer of rights of recovery (subrogation) against ADOH, its agents, representatives, 
directors, officers and employees for any claims arising out of Recipient’s acts, errors, 
mistakes, omissions, work or service. 
 
 The insurance policies may provide coverage, which contain deductibles or self-
insured retentions.  Such deductible and/or self-insured retentions shall not be applicable 
with respect to the coverage provided to ADOH under such policies.  Recipient shall be solely 
responsible for the deductible and/or self-insured retention, and ADOH, at its option, may 
require Recipient to secure payment of such deductibles or self-insured retentions by a Surety 
Bond listing ADOH as the Obligee or co-Obligee or an irrevocable and unconditional letter of 
credit. 
 

ADOH reserves the right to request and to receive, within ten (10) working days, 
certified copies of any or all of the herein required insurance policies and/or endorsements.  
ADOH shall not be obligated, however, to review same or to advise Recipient of any 
deficiencies in such policies and endorsements, and such receipt shall not relieve Recipient 
from, or be deemed a waiver of ADOH’s right to insist on, strict fulfillment of Recipient’s 
obligations under this Agreement. 

 
The insurance policies, except Worker’s Compensation and Professional Liability, 

required by this Agreement, shall name ADOH, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, 
officials and employees as additionally insured.  
 

42.1  Required Coverage 
 
 Commercial General Liability.  Recipient shall maintain Commercial General 
Liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 for each occurrence with a 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 26 

$2,000,000 Products/Completed Operations Aggregate and a $2,000,000 General Aggregate 
Limit.  The policy shall include coverage for bodily injury, broad form property damage, 
personal injury, products and completed operations and blanket contractual coverage.  
Coverage will be at least as broad as Insurance Service Office, Inc. Policy Form CG 00011093 
or any replacements thereof.   
 

Such policy shall contain a severability of interest provision and shall not contain a 
sunset provision or commutation clause, nor any provision that would serve to limit third 
party action over claims.  The Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement 
shall be at least as broad as the Insurance Service Office, Inc.  Additional Insured, Form B, CG 
20101185, and shall include coverage for Recipient’s operations and products and completed 
operations. 

 
 Automobile Liability.  Recipient shall maintain Commercial/Business Automobile 
Liability insurance with a combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage of not 
less than $1,000,000 each occurrence with respect to Recipient’s any auto, all owned autos, 
scheduled autos, hired autos, non-owned autos assigned to or used in performance of 
Recipient’s work.  Coverage will be at least as broad as coverage code 1, “any auto”, 
(Insurance Service Office, Inc. Policy Form CA 00011293, or any replacements thereof).  
 
 Worker’s Compensation.  Recipient shall carry Worker’s Compensation insurance to 
cover obligations imposed by federal and state statutes having jurisdiction of Recipient’s 
employees engaged in the performance of the work or services; and Employer’s Liability 
insurance of not less than $100,000 for each accident, $100,000 disease for each employee and 
$500,000 disease policy limit. 
  

In case any work is subcontracted, Recipient will require the subcontractor to provide 
Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability to at least the same extent as required of 
Recipient. 
 

42.2 Certificates of Insurance 
 

 Prior to commencing work or services under this Agreement, Recipient shall furnish 
ADOH with Certificates of Insurance, or formal endorsements as required by this Agreement, 
issued by Recipient’s insurer(s), as evidence that policies providing the required coverage, 
conditions and limits required by this Agreement are in full force and effect.  
 

In the event any insurance policy(s) required by this contract is (are) written on a 
“claims made” basis, coverage shall extend for two (2) years past completion and acceptance 
of Recipient’s work or services and as evidenced by annual Certificates of Insurance.  

 
If a policy does expire during the life of this Agreement, a renewal certificate must be 

sent to ADOH fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration date. 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 27 

42.3 Cancellation and Expiration Notice 
 

 Insurance required herein shall not expire, be canceled, or materially changed without 
thirty (30) days written notice to ADOH. 
 

       42.4 Self Insurance 
The parties acknowledge that Recipient is self-insured and that such self-insurance 

satisfies the requirements of this Section 42.  
 
Section 43.   PRIVACY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
 Recipients of federal funds (for the purpose of this section “federal funds” means 
funding from the CDBG, HOME, HOPWA and COC programs; see Section 1, above) from 
ADOH warrant and represent that commencing from the effective date of this Agreement and 
until the latest expiration or termination date of any promissory note, deed of trust, 
declaration or other agreement that secures the federal funds that are the subject of this 
Agreement, Recipient and Recipient’s contractors shall comply with the requirements of the 
federal Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552a.  Recipient warrants and represents that it has read and 
understands the requirements of the Federal Privacy Act and requires the same of its 
contractors and subcontractors.    
 
Section 44.   NOTICES 
 

When routine reports or correspondence is required to be sent to ADOH, it shall be 
addressed to Arizona Department of Housing, to the attention of the assigned Program 
Specialist at 1110 West Washington Street, Suite 280, Phoenix, Arizona 85007.  Notices or 
correspondence regarding material changes to the contract or requests for amendment shall 
be addressed to the same.  All correspondence regarding this Agreement must be identified 
by its ADOH Agreement number (which is located on the top left hand corner of the first page 
of this Agreement). 

 
When notice or correspondence is required to be sent to Recipient, it shall be 

addressed to:  
GILA COUNTY 

Entity 
Estelle Belarde 

Attention (if applicable) 
OFFICE OF COMMUNITY SERVICES, 5515 S. APACHE AVE, SUITE 200 

Mailing Address 
GLOBE, ARIZONA 85501 

City State Zip 
 
 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 28 

Section 45.   REGISTRATION WITH SOCIAL SERVE 
 

For new construction or rehabilitation of rental projects, Recipient agrees to register 
the project with socialserve.com and keep the project listed with socialserve.com for the duration 
of the period of affordability as indicated in the Conditions, Covenants and Restrictions.  
 
Section 46.   ADOH SIGNAGE 
 

For new construction and rehabilitation projects, Recipient must erect a sign at the 
project site indicating that the project is funded through the Arizona Department of Housing 
and indicate the sources of funds.  The sign must be a minimum size of twenty-four (24) inches 
high by thirty-six (36) inches wide, include a minimum five (5) inch high ADOH logo and text 
printed at a minimum seventy-two (72) point font.  An individual ADOH sign does not have 
to be provided if Recipient incorporates ADOH information into a larger group sign.  
 
Section 47.   PHOTOGRAPHS 

 
For new construction and rehabilitation projects, Recipient is required to provide to 

ADOH before and after photographs of the project in digital or film format. 
 

Section 48.    STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Arizona. 
 

Section 49.   WRITTEN CERTIFICATION UNDER A.R.S. § 35-393.01. 
 

If the [Recipient] engages in for-profit activity and has ten (10) or more employees, 
and if this Agreement has a value of $100,000 or more, then the  [Recipient] certifies it is not 
currently engaged in, and agrees for the durations of this Agreement, not to engage in a 
boycott of goods and services from Israel. This certification does not apply to a boycott 
prohibited by 50 U.S C. § 4842 or a regulation issued pursuant to 50 U.S C. § 4842. 
 
Section 50.   A.R.S. § 1-501 Relating to Federal Programs 

 
Notwithstanding any other state law and to the extent permitted by federal law, any 
person who applies for a federal public benefit that is administered by this state or a 
political subdivision of this state and that requires participants to be citizens of the 
United States, legal residents of the United States or otherwise lawfully present in 
the United States shall submit required documentation to the entity that administers 
the federal public benefit demonstrating lawful presence in the United States.  

 
 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 29 

AGREED, effective as of the later date of the signatures of the duly authorized representatives 
subscribed below:  

 
 

THE STATE OF ARIZONA, 
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

 GILA COUNTY 
 RECIPIENT 

  
BY:  BY:  

 Joan Serviss  Stephen Christensen 
 
TITLE: 

Cabinet Executive Officer 
Executive Deputy Director 

 
TITLE: 
 

 
Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 

    
DATE:  DATE:  

 
  
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

ATTACHMENT A  
SCOPE OF WORK 

 
The Arizona Department of Housing Weatherization Assistance Program (ADOH WAP) award will be comprised of 
Arizona Public Service (APS) and Southwest Gas Corporation (SWG) Utility funds. Funding will allow Gila County 
(recipient) to provide installation/repair of energy efficiency measures to dwellings occupied by low-income 
households who are APS and/or SWG customers in Gila County, Arizona.  
 
This contract award is contingent upon: 

A. Assistance is reserved for the following incomes: 
a. APS funds (restricted to APS Customers only): 200% of Federal Poverty Guidelines as published 

annually; and 
b. SWG funds (restricted to SWG Customers only): 200% of Federal Poverty Guidelines as published 

annually. 
 

B. The program will prioritize services to the following populations: 
a. Elderly; 
b. Handicapped; and 
c. Families with children under the age of five (5).   

 
C. APS and SWG WAP funding requires adherence to the Arizona Weatherization Policies and Procedures 

Handbook, Arizona Weatherization Assistance Program Field Guide; Standard Work Specifications; and for 
SWG ONLY the SWG Approved Measures List. 
 

D. Maximum investment per unit is as follows: 
a. APS (funds restricted to APS Customers only): $9,000 maximum investment per unit, which consists 

energy efficient (including health and safety, repair and replace) measures and up to 20% for 
Administrative. The total for all expenditures on a unit must not exceed $9,000.00. 

b. SWG (funds restricted to SWG Customers only): $3,300 maximum investment per unit, which consists 
of $3,000 toward energy efficient (including health and safety) measures and up to $300 for 
administration. Administrative costs must not exceed 10% of cost for measures. Health and Safety 
must not exceed 25% of Program Operations costs.  
 

E. CAHRA will be expected to fully expend awarded funds and complete the following number of units: 
a. APS: twenty-three (23) completed units passing final inspection and ADOH WAP monitoring; and 
b. SWG: five (5) completed units passing final inspection and ADOH WAP monitoring. 

 
 



APS & SWG WEATHERIZATION ATTACHMENT B

ADOH PERFORMANCE REPORT/SCHEDULE OF COMPLETION Page 1 of 1
Recipient Date

Contract No 216-24 Contract Period: from 1/1/2024 to 12/31/2024 Revision #   
Activity 

Recipient Address City Globe
Contact Person Zip Code 85501

Phone Email Fax 928-402-8652
Program Specialist Gloria Castro Email gloria.castro@azhousing.gov County Gila

 Indicate adherence to contract or schedule changes. Due by the 30th of each month.
Contract Schedule Contract Date Complete Yes/No Modification Date
Contract Execution 1/31/2024
Completion of 5 APS & 1 SWG Unit 3/31/2024
Completion of 11 APS & 2 SWG Units (all numbers cumulative) 6/30/2024
Completion of 17 APS & 3 SWG Units (all numbers cumulative) 9/30/2024
Completion of 23 APS & 5 SWG Units (all numbers cumulative) 12/31/2024
Project Complete-Contract Close Out 1/31/2025

Please provide a brief description of activities performed this three month period.  Include occurrences that caused variation from schedule 
changes to plans, unforeseen circumstances, etc. Please be specific. Finally, answer questions at narrative section A. through H.  

A. # of APS units 100% complete? D. # of SWG units 100% complete?
B. # of APS units under construction? E. # of SWG units under construction?
C. # of APS units out to bid? F. # of SWG units out to bid?
D. # of APS units on wait list or in call queue H. # of SWG units on wait list or in call queue

Recipient Authorized Signature                 Date Title

Gila County

Weatherization Assistance Program
Office of Community Services - 5515 S. Apache Ave., Suite 200
Estelle Belarde

ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov928-402-8685

mailto:gloria.castro@azhousing.gov#
mailto:ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov


APS & SWG WEATHERIZATION Attachment C

Budget 
Recipient Date

Contract No./File No. 216-24 Contract Period: from 1/1/2024 to 12/31/2024 Revision No.
Activity 

Recipient Address City Globe
Contact Person Zip Code 85501

Phone Email Fax 928-402-8652
Program Specialist Email County Gila

a c d e f g h
Budget Line Item or APS SWG Source Source Source GRANT TOTAL

Activity No. FY2024 FY2024 Program Year Program Year Program Year ALL SOURCES
APS Administration $41,333.00
APS Program Ops $181,867.00
APS Health & Safety $4,133.00
APS Repair/Replace $20,667.00

SWG Administration 1,681.00$               
SWG Program Operations 12,665.00$             
SWG Health and Safety 4,144.00$               
Total $248,000.00 $18,490.00 $0.00 $266,490.00

REV. 5-2016

Estelle Belarde
928-402-8685 ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov

gloria.castro@azhousing.govGloria Castro

Gila County

Weatherization Assistance Program
Office of Community Services - 5515 S. Apache Ave., Suite 200

mailto:ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov#
mailto:gloria.castro@azhousing.gov#


APS & SWG WEATHERIZATION Attachment D
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING REQUEST FOR PAYMENT SUMMARY SHEET PAGE 1 OF 2 

Recipient Date
Contract No Contract Period: from 1/1/2024 to 12/31/2024 Pay Req. No/Mo

Activity Weatherization Assistance Program Direct Wire Dep Yes          No
Recipient Address City Globe

Contact Person ZIP 85501
Phone Email Fax 928-402-8652

Program Specialist Email County Gila
Itemized Payment Statement (Sheet 2 of 2) must accompany this form.  Include copies of invoices, cashed checks, and other backup
documentation. SIGNATURES are required for processing.

a b c d d e f g h
Budget Line Item or ASAP APS SWG Source Total Amount Balance in Amount of this New 

Activity No.  No. FY2024 FY2024 Program Year Req. to Date Account Request Balance
1. APS Administration N/A 41,333.00$         -$                   41,333.00$         41,333.00$              
2. APS Program Ops N/A 181,867.00$       -$                   181,867.00$       181,867.00$            
3. APS Health & Safety N/A 4,133.00$           -$                   4,133.00$           4,133.00$                
4. APS Repair/Replace N/A 20,667.00$         -$                   20,667.00$         20,667.00$              
5. APS Total Draw -$                   248,000.00$       0.00 248,000.00$            

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

6. SWG Admin. N/A 1,681.00$           -$                   1,681.00$           1,681.00$                
7. SWG Program Ops. N/A 12,665.00$         -$                   12,665.00$         12,665.00$              
8. SWG Health/Safety N/A 4,144.00$           -$                   4,144.00$           4,144.00$                
9. SWG Total Draw N/A -$                   18,490.00$         0.00 18,490.00$              
Total 248,000.00$       18,490.00$         -$                   -$                   266,490.00$       -$                   266,490.00$            

Recipient Authorized Signature Date Title
Recipient Authorized Signatory certifies that all activities undertaken by the contractor with funds provided under this contract have been carried 
out in accordance with the contract.  Attach wiring information if not previously submitted. Attach alternate mailing address if necessary. 

Performance Reports Current  Not Current
For ADOH Use

Only
ADOH Program Specialist Approval Date ADOH Prgrm Administrator Approval Date

REV. 1-2014

Gila County

Office of Community Services - 5515 S. Apache Ave., Suite 200
Estelle Belarde

Gloria Castro

216-24

928-402-8685
gloria.castro@azhousing.gov
ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov

mailto:gloria.castro@azhousing.gov
mailto:ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov


Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing 
 

Attachment E 

ATTACHMENT E 
SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

 
SWG Approved Measure List 

 
Southwest Gas Measure 1 Requires 

Natural Gas 
Space Heating 
Source 

Requires 
Natural Gas 
Water Heating 
Source 

Specific Requirements 2 

Duct Replacement X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
Duct Sealing X  Pressure relief to be included in Duct Sealing cost. Must be cost 

effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
Envelope Sealing X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
HSD Cooler Repair   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD CO & Smoke Detector   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Door   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD General Repair   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Installed Stove   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Repair Stove   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Replace Registers   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Spot Ventilation   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Natural Gas Water Heater   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Upper/Lower Combustion Air   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD HVAC Service X  Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HVAC Replacement X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
HVAC Replacement – Gas Pack X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 Gas Pac may only 

replace an existing Gas Pac 
Installed Insulation X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
Low Cost / No Cost   Capped at $250 
     Low Flow Showerhead  X  
     Faucet Aerator  X  



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing 
 

Attachment E 

     Weather Stripping X   
     Water Heater Insulation  X  
     Furnace Filters X   
     Door Sweep X   
     Pipe Insulation  X  
     Set-back Thermostat X   
Low-e Storm Windows X   
Misalignment Repair (batt insulation) X   
Replace Glass X  Must be justified with infiltration reduction or will fall under H&S 
Repair Replacement of leaking hot water 
control valves 

 X Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 

Relocation of Thermostat X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
Replacement of evaporative cooler roof 
jacks with damper system 

X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 

 
1 All Recipients of measures funded by Southwest Gas must be Southwest Gas customers. 

 
2 All approved Southwest Gas measures shall follow the same rules as the Arizona Priority List (if applicable) for Single Family Homes 

and/or Mobile Homes dependent on Climate Zones. Installation and workmanship requirements shall follow the State WAP Plan and 
Weatherization Assistance Program requirements. Buy downs for measures that do not return and SIR of greater than or equal to 1 in REM 
are disallowed. Any measure that does not return an SIR of greater than or equal to 1 must be allocated to the Health and Safety Budget. 
Audit cost are an allowable expense if no other funds are available for the audit, but the audit will be considered Health and Safety. As 
continuous guidance is given from DOE and funding source, these requirements can change at the direction of the Arizona Department of 
Housing.  

 



















































































































































































































































































































































































































































 
FUNDING AGREEMENT 

with 
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

 
Table of Contents 

   
 

REV. 12/8/2023 i 

SECTION 1. FUNDS PROVIDED .......................................................................................................................... 2 

SECTION 2. OTHER FUNDS .................................................................................................................................. 4 

SECTION 3. ACCEPTANCE OF FUNDS .............................................................................................................. 4 

SECTION 4. DURATION ........................................................................................................................................ 4 

SECTION 5. INCORPORATION OF TERMS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PROGRAM 
REQUIREMENTS AND APPLICABLE STATE AND FEDERAL LAW ...................................................... 5 

SECTION 6. SCOPE OF WORK ............................................................................................................................. 6 

SECTION 7. REPORTS ............................................................................................................................................. 7 

SECTION 8. SCHEDULE OF COMPLETION ...................................................................................................... 9 

SECTION 9. BUDGET ............................................................................................................................................ 10 

SECTION 10. AMENDMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS .............................................................................. 11 

SECTION 11. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW CONDITIONS ........................................................................ 11 

SECTION 12. APPLICATION AND OTHER PRE-AWARD COSTS ............................................................ 12 

SECTION 13. COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT .............................................................. 13 

SECTION 14. FUNDS RECOUPED BY RECIPIENT, INTEREST AND PROGRAM INCOME .............. 13 

SECTION 15. DE-OBLIGATION, RECAPTURE AND REPAYMENT OF FUNDS .................................... 15 

SECTION 16. REVERSION OF ASSETS ............................................................................................................ 16 

SECTION 17. DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................................ 17 

SECTION 18. SUBCONTRACTING .................................................................................................................... 17 

SECTION 19. FAILURE TO MAKE PROGRESS............................................................................................... 17 

SECTION 20. TERMINATION FOR CAUSE ..................................................................................................... 18 

SECTION 21. TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE .................................................................................... 18 

SECTION 22. ENFORCEMENT ............................................................................................................................ 18 

SECTION 23. CANCELLATION .......................................................................................................................... 19 

SECTION 24. RECORDS RETENTION .............................................................................................................. 19 

SECTION 25. NO OBLIGATION OF STATE GENERAL APPROPRIATIONS FUNDS .......................... 20 

SECTION 26. AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS ........................................................................................................ 20 

SECTION 27. APPLICABLE LAW AND ARBITRATION ............................................................................... 21 



 
FUNDING AGREEMENT 

with 
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

 
Table of Contents 

   
 

REV. 12/8/2023 ii 

SECTION 28. INDEMNIFICATION .................................................................................................................... 21 

SECTION 29. FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIABILITY .................................................................................... 21 

SECTION 30. AUDIT .............................................................................................................................................. 21 

SECTION 31. AUDIT EXCEPTIONS ................................................................................................................... 22 

SECTION 32. UNALLOWABLE USE OF FUNDS ............................................................................................. 22 

SECTION 33. INTEREST OF MEMBERS OF DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND OTHERS .............. 22 

SECTION 34. ACCESS TO RECORDS, PARTICIPANTS AND STAFF ...................................................... 22 

SECTION 35. IDENTIFICATION OF DOCUMENTS ..................................................................................... 22 

SECTION 36. COPYRIGHT ................................................................................................................................... 23 

SECTION 37. RIGHTS IN DATA......................................................................................................................... 23 

SECTION 38. FUNDING CONDITIONS ........................................................................................................... 23 

SECTION 39. NON-DISCRIMINATION ........................................................................................................... 23 

SECTION 40. THIRD PARTY ANTITRUST VIOLATIONS .......................................................................... 24 

SECTION 41. COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR A.R.S.  § 41-4401—IMMIGRATION LAWS AND 
E-VERIFY REQUIREMENT ............................................................................................................................... 24 

SECTION 42. INSURANCE ................................................................................................................................... 24 

SECTION 43. PRIVACY CONSIDERATIONS .................................................................................................. 27 

SECTION 44. NOTICES ......................................................................................................................................... 27 

SECTION 45. REGISTRATION WITH SOCIAL SERVE ................................................................................ 28 

SECTION 46. ADOH SIGNAGE .......................................................................................................................... 28 

SECTION 47. PHOTOGRAPHS ........................................................................................................................... 28 

SECTION 48. STATE OF ARIZONA ................................................................................................................... 28 

SECTION 49. A.R.S. § 35-393.01. ........................................................................................................................... 28 

SECTION 50. A.R.S. § 1-501 RELATING TO FEDERAL PROGRAMS ......................................................... 28 

  

 

 
 



 
FUNDING AGREEMENT 

with 
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

 
Table of Contents 

   
 

REV. 12/8/2023 iii 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 

   A Scope of Work  

   B Performance Report/Schedule of Completion 

   C Budget 

   D Request for Payment Form 

   E Special Conditions of the Agreement 

   F Certification and Other Requirements Relating to Title I or Title II Assistance  

   G Authorizing Resolution(s)  

   H Additional Provisions of the 2013 HOME Final Rule (Effective August 23, 2013)  
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 1 

AGREEMENT NO. 216-24 
TERMINATION DATE 12/31/2024 
 

FUNDING AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

AND 
GILA COUNTY 

FOR 
APS AND SWG WEATHERIZATION - BALANCE OF MARICOPA COUNTY 

 
This Funding Agreement is made by and between:  
 
The Arizona Department of Housing (“ADOH”), located at, 1110 West Washington Street, 
Suite 280, Phoenix, Arizona 85007, acting pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-3953 and (please select 
applicable funding source): 
 

 Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended 
(Community Development Block Grant) (“CDBG”). 

 
 Title II of the National Affordable Housing Act of 1990, as amended (HOME 

Investments Partnerships Program) (“HOME”). 
 

 A.R.S. § 41-3955 (State Housing Trust Fund) (“HTF”). 
 

 A.R.S. § 41-3957 (State Housing Program Fund) (“HPF”). 
 

 S.B. 1720 Homeless Shelter and Services Fund (“HSSF”). 
 

 The AIDS Housing Opportunity Act of 1992, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 12902 
(Housing Opportunities for Persons with HIV/AIDS) (“HOPWA”). 

 
 Title IV Part 578 of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act of 1987, as 

amended, 42 USC. 11301 et seq. and the Continuum of Care Program regulations as 
amended by the Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapid Transition to Housing 
(HEARTH) Act of 2009 (Continuum of Care) (“COC”). 

 
 Title I of the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008, Section 1338 (Public Law 

110-289). (National Housing Trust Fund) (“NHTF”). 
 

 Part A of the Energy and Conservation in Existing Buildings Act of 1976, as amended 
and 42 U.S.C. Section 6861 (Department of Energy Weatherization Assistance Program 
for Low Income Persons) (“DOE WAP”). 

 

https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/4405/housing-and-economic-recovery-act-of-2008/
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/4405/housing-and-economic-recovery-act-of-2008/


Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 2 

 Title IV Energy Conservation and Production Act (ECPA), as amended; and 42 U.S.C. 
Section 6861, et. seq. including WAP regulations  contained in 10 CFR 440, DOE 
Financial Assistance Rules at 2 CFR 200 and the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law 
(Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act), Public Law 117-58. (“DOE WAP BIL”). 

 
    H.R 2471, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2022 establishing the Weatherization 

Readiness Fund (“DOE WRF”). 
 

 Low Income Energy Assistance Act of 1981, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 8621-8630, 
(Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program) (“LIHEAP WAP”). 

 
 Southwest Gas Corporation, Weatherization Assistance Program (“SWG WAP”). 

 
 Arizona Public Service, Weatherization Assistance Program (“APS WAP”). 

 
 Salt River Project, Weatherization Assistance Program (“SRP WAP”). 

 
 Section 8071 of the SUPPORT  for Patients and Communities Act. Pub. L. 115-271, 

approved October 24, 2018 referred to as Recovery Housing Program (“RHP”) 
 

 Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds, established by the American 
Rescue Plan at 31 CFR Part 35 (“SLFRF” or “SFRF”) 

 
 
 

and 
GILA COUNTY 

(Entity) 
 

An Arizona County (“Recipient”) UEI #C8EKKJK67XB1, located at 
 

Office of Community Services, 5515 S. Apache Ave, Suite 200 
Street 

Globe, Arizona 85501 
City State Zip 

 

In consideration of the mutual representations and obligations hereunder, 
ADOH and Recipient agree as follows: 
 
Section 1.   FUNDS PROVIDED 
 

ADOH agrees to provide $266,490.00 in the following type of funds to Recipient in 
accordance with this Agreement.  ADOH is entitled to change the funding sources as 
described in this section, in its sole discretion, so long as the total amount of funds to be 
disbursed is not affected thereby. 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 3 

 CDBG; CFDA # 14.228, FAIN #       
Federal Fiscal Year                  
$      

  
  HOME; CFDA # 14.239, FAIN #        

 Federal Fiscal Year                 
$      

 
 HTF  

 State Fiscal Year       
$      
 

 HPF 
State Fiscal Year       
$       
   

 HSSF 
State Fiscal Year       
$      

 
 HOPWA; CFDA # 14.241, FAIN #        

Federal Fiscal Year       
$      

 
 COC; CFDA # 14.267, FAIN #        

Federal Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 NHTF; CFDA # 14.275, FAIN #       
Federal Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 DOE WAP; CFDA # 81.042, FAIN #       
Federal Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 DOE WAP BIL; CFDA # 81.042, FAIN #        
Federal Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 DOE WRF; CFDA # 81.042, FAIN #        
Federal Fiscal Year       
$      
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 4 

 LIHEAP WAP (through ISA with AzDES); CFDA # 93.568, FAIN #       
Federal Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 SWG WAP 
State Fiscal Year 2024 
$18,490.00  
   

 APS WAP 
State Fiscal Year 2024 
$248,000.00  
 

 SRP WAP 
State Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 RHP; CFDA #14.228, FAIN #       
State Fiscal Year       
$       
 

 SFRF (through ISA with Office of the Governor); CFDA 21.027, FAIN #       
State Fiscal Year       
$       
 

Section 2.   OTHER FUNDS 
 
 If applicable, Recipient agrees to secure funding other than that listed in Section 1 for 
the completion of this Agreement as indicated in the Budget attached hereto as Attachment 
C.  ADOH reserves the right to rescind some or all of the funding committed through this 
Agreement if other funding sources become unavailable. 
 
Section 3.   ACCEPTANCE OF FUNDS 
 

Recipient hereby accepts the award of funds under the terms of this Agreement and 
agrees to execute and return this Agreement to ADOH within thirty (30) days of receipt unless 
Recipient receives a written waiver of this requirement by ADOH. 
 
Section 4.   DURATION 
 

This Agreement shall be effective for jobs completed beginning January 1, 2024 upon 
the date of execution by ADOH and shall remain in effect until DECEMBER 31, 2024 unless 
sooner terminated, extended or otherwise amended in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement. 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 5 

Section 5.   INCORPORATION OF TERMS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PROGRAM 
REQUIREMENTS AND APPLICABLE STATE AND FEDERAL LAW 
 

 Recipient shall carry out each activity in compliance with all applicable State and 
Federal laws, Federal regulations and other requirements including, but not limited to, the 
provisions indicated as marked below and hereby incorporated into this Agreement, as if 
fully set forth herein.  Also incorporated into this Agreement as applicable, are the terms of 
any resolution authorizing Recipient's application for funds, which is attached hereto as 
Attachment G, Authorizing Resolution(s) and any Special Conditions of the Agreement 
attached hereto as Attachment E. 
 

 CDBG funds require adherence to the following provisions as revised: (1) 24 CFR Part 
570; (2) Certification and Other Requirements Relating to Title I Assistance attached hereto 
as Attachment F; (3) the provisions contained in the State of Arizona Consolidated Plan; 
(4) ADOH ERR Handbook; (5) ADOH Labor Standards Handbook; (6) CDBG Application 
Handbook; (7) CDBG Grant Administration Handbook; and (8) CDBG Procurement, 
Contracts and Acquisition Handbook (collectively “the Incorporated Documents”) as 
each may be amended from time to time.  In the event of a conflict between the terms 
of this Agreement and the terms of the Incorporated Documents, the terms of this 
Agreement shall govern.  

 

  HOME funds require adherence to the following provisions as revised: (1) 24 CFR Part 
92; (2) Certification and Other Requirements Relating to Title II Assistance attached hereto 
as Attachment F; (3) the provisions contained in the State of Arizona Consolidated Plan; 
(4) ADOH ERR Handbook; (5) ADOH Labor Standards Handbook; and (6) the State 
Housing Fund Program Summary and Application Guide. 

 

 HTF funds require adherence to the State Housing Fund Program Summary and 
Application Guide as revised. 

 

 HPF funds require adherence to the Special Needs Housing Manual as revised. 
 

 HSSF funds require adherence to S.B. 1720 and the Notice of Funds Available issued 
for acceptance of applications for HSSF funding.  

 

 COC funds require adherence to the following provisions as revised: (1) 24 CFR Part 
578; and (2) the Special Needs Housing Manual.  

 

 HOPWA funds require adherence to the following provisions as revised: (1) 24 CFR 
Part 574; and (2) the Special Needs Housing Manual.  

 
 NHTF requires adherence to the following provisions as revised: (1) 24 CFR Parts 91 

and 93, Housing Trust Fund Interim Rule; (2) the provisions contained in the State of 
Arizona Consolidated Plan; (3) State Housing Fund Program Summary and Application 
Guide; (4) State of Arizona Qualified Allocation Plan; and (5) National Housing Trust 
Fund Allocation Plan.  

http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2015-01-30/pdf/2015-01642.pdf
http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2015-01-30/pdf/2015-01642.pdf


Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 6 

 DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL and DOE WRF funds require adherence to the following 
provisions as revised: (1) 10 CFR Part 440 as revised; (2) the Arizona Weatherization 
Assistance Program State Plan (State Plan); (3) Health and Safety Plan (HSD Plan); (4) the 
Arizona Weatherization Policies and Procedures Handbook; (5) Arizona Weatherization 
Assistance Program Field Guide; (6) Standard Work Specifications; and (7) DOE WPN 22-4 
Quality Work Plan.  

 LIHEAP WAP funds require adherence to the following provisions: (1) 45 CFR Part 
96 as revised; (2) the Arizona Weatherization Assistance Program State Plan (State Plan); 
(3) Health and Safety Plan (HSD Plan); (4) the Arizona Weatherization Policies and 
Procedures Handbook; (5) Arizona Weatherization Assistance Program Field Guide; (6) 
Standard Work Specifications; and (7) WAP Memorandum 15-10 Quality Management Plan.  

 
 SWG WAP, APS WAP or SRP WAP funds require adherence to the following 

provisions: (1) the Arizona Weatherization Assistance Program State Plan (State Plan); (2) 
Health and Safety Plan (HSD Plan); (3) the Arizona Weatherization Policies and Procedures 
Handbook; (4) Arizona Weatherization Assistance Program Field Guide; (5) Standard Work 
Specifications; and (6) WAP Memorandum 15-10 Quality Management Plan.  

 
 SFRF funds require adherence to the terms and conditions of the State Fiscal Recovery 

Funds such that the following costs shall be paid to the Recipient for the protection of 
homeless individuals and homeless families in the time of the COVID-19 crisis 
through costs specifically outlined in the Scope of Work described in Section 6 below. 

 
Section 6.   SCOPE OF WORK 
 
 Recipient agrees to utilize all funds made available under this Agreement only for the 
purpose of implementing the Scope of Work hereby incorporated into this Agreement and 
described in Attachment A. 
 

Revisions to Scope of Work.  Recipient agrees to follow the procedures indicated as 
marked below regarding changes to the Scope of Work.   

 
Revisions to the Scope of Work that change the manner in which an activity is to be 

executed or that change final outcome such as number of units, feet of utility line, number of 
households served, square footage of building, etc. require written approval from ADOH.  
The following substantial revisions to the Scope of Work require written amendment to this 
Agreement:  

 
(a) The purpose of the project changes;  
(b) The location of the project changes;  
(c) A project activity is added, deleted or altered such that it becomes a different 

activity;  
(d) The beneficiary of any activity changes;  



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 7 

(e) Recipient is requesting a change to the loan or grant terms. Recipient must 
submit a written request for an Agreement amendment to ADOH, with a 
revised Scope of Work attached; 

(f) The ownership entity changes; and  
(g) Any other changes that involve program requirements.  

 
ADOH will respond to the written request within fourteen (14) business days.  

Amendments may not be implemented until ADOH consents in writing and an amendment 
to the Agreement has been executed. 
 
Section 7.   REPORTS 
 

Recipient shall be responsible for providing various reports of all activities related to 
this Agreement as identified below and as requested by ADOH or HUD.  Recipient shall also 
provide to ADOH any additional written information requested by ADOH in a timely 
manner and within reasonable deadlines as shall be set by ADOH.  
  

7.1 Performance Report.  Recipient agrees to submit the ADOH Performance Report 
respective of the types of projects indicated below and attached as Attachment B.   
   

 HOME, NHTF, HTF funded rental development projects (“Rental Projects”) or HPF 
funded rapid rehousing projects:  Recipient must submit a Bimonthly Performance 
Report attached hereto as Attachment B.  The Bimonthly Progress Report must be 
submitted to ADOH on the 20th of January, March, May, July, September and 
November and address activities of the preceding two (2) months (i.e. the January 
report covers the months of November and December). 

 
 HOME, HTF and CDBG non-rental projects (“HOME, HTF and CDBG Non-Rental 

Projects”).  Recipient must submit a Monthly Progress Report attached hereto as 
Attachment B.  The Monthly Progress Report must be submitted to ADOH on the 15th 
of each month and address activities of the preceding one (1) month (i.e. the July report 
covers the month of June).  Failure to submit timely Monthly Progress Reports will 
result in suspension of payment reimbursement requests until such reports are 
brought current.  

 
 HSSF funded assistance for persons who are homeless (“Homeless Shelter and 

Services Projects”). Recipient must submit a Quarterly Performance Report attached 
hereto as Attachment B.  The Quarterly Progress Report follows the state fiscal year 
from July 1 through June 30 and must be submitted to ADOH on the 20th day of 
October, January, April and July and address activities of the preceding quarter (i.e. 
the October report covers the months of July through September).  

 
 HOPWA funded rental assistance and services (“HOPWA Projects”).  A Recipient of 

HOPWA awarded funding shall administer said program in the contract term as set 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 8 

forth in Section 4 and submit one (1) HUD Consolidated Annual Performance Evaluation 
Report (CAPER) in accordance with the schedule set forth in Attachment B no later 
than sixty (60) days following the end of Fiscal Year date which is June 30th annually. 

 
 COC funded assistance for persons who are homeless (“Homeless Projects”).  ADOH 

is required to administer the program during the contract term, which is synonymous 
with the HUD grant term and as set forth in Section 4.  Recipient must submit a 
Bimonthly Performance Report attached hereto as Attachment B.  The Bimonthly 
Progress Report must be submitted to ADOH on the 20th of January, March, May, July, 
September and November and address activities of the preceding two (2) months (i.e. 
the January report covers the months of November and December). Recipient shall 
submit Annual Progress Report (APR) data from HMIS to ADOH, no later than thirty 
(30) days following the contract termination date listed on Page 1 of the Agreement.  

 
 DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL, DOE WRF, LIHEAP WAP, SWG WAP, APS WAP and 

SRP WAP funded projects (“Weatherization Projects”).  Recipient must submit a 
Monthly Performance Report attached hereto as Attachment B.  The Monthly 
Performance Report must be submitted to ADOH on the 30th (for the month of 
February, the last calendar day of the month) of each month and address activities of 
the preceding month (i.e. the January 30th report covers the month of December). 

 
        SFRF funded projects (“SFRF Projects”).  Recipient must submit a Monthly Performance 

Report attached hereto as Attachment B.  The Monthly Performance Report must be 
submitted to ADOH on the 30th of each month and address activities of the preceding 
month (i.e. the April report covers the month of March). 

 
7.2 Contract Closeout—Completion Reports and Post-Funding Audits.  

Recipient's obligation to ADOH under this Agreement shall not end until all closeout 
requirements described in this paragraph are completed. ADOH will notify Recipient in 
writing that a Completion Report is due to ADOH within sixty (60) days of one (1) of the 
following occurrences:  

 
(a) The funds have been expended;  
(b) The Scope of Work has been completed;  
(c) The contract period set forth in this Agreement has expired; or 
(d) The Agreement has been otherwise terminated.    

 The Completion Report shall contain the information identified in the notice. 
 
 Following the receipt and approval of the Completion Report, ADOH will notify 
Recipient in writing that the Agreement is administratively closed. 
  

After the project is administratively closed, Recipient must submit all required audits 
to ADOH.  All audits for fiscal years in which Recipient received funds from ADOH must be 
received, reviewed and found to be satisfactory by ADOH.  In the event that ADOH 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 9 

determines that any project costs described in a post-funding audit are unjustified or describe 
ineligible activities, Recipient will be required to refund such monies back to ADOH.  
 
Section 8.   SCHEDULE OF COMPLETION 
 
 Recipient agrees to make progress with the Scope of Work in accordance with the 
Schedule of Completion hereby incorporated into this Agreement and described in Attachment 
B.  

Revisions to the Schedule of Completion.  Recipient agrees to follow the procedures 
indicated as marked below regarding changes to the Schedule of Completion.   
 

 Rental Projects funded with HOME or HTF.  Recipient must notify ADOH of 
revisions to the Schedule of Completion using the Bimonthly Performance Report, attached 
hereto as Attachment B.  To the extent that the changes cause the schedule timeline to 
be extended, Recipient must submit a written request for a contract amendment to 
ADOH with a revised Schedule of Completion attached.  Contract amendment requests 
must be received by ADOH a minimum of thirty (30) days prior to the contract 
expiration date.  ADOH will respond to the written request within fourteen (14) 
business days.  Amendments may not be implemented until ADOH consents in 
writing and an amendment to the Agreement has been executed. 

 
 Non-Rental Projects funded with HOME, HTF and CDBG.  Recipient must notify 

ADOH of revisions to the Schedule of Completion using the Monthly Performance Report, 
attached hereto as Attachment B.  To the extent that the changes cause the schedule 
timeline to be extended, Recipient must submit a written request for a contract 
amendment to ADOH with a revised Schedule of Completion attached.  Contract 
amendment requests must be received by ADOH a minimum of thirty (30) days prior 
to the contract expiration date.  ADOH will respond to the written request within 
fourteen (14) business days.  Amendments may not be implemented until ADOH 
consents in writing and an amendment to the Agreement has been executed. 

 
  Homeless Projects funded with HTF, HPF, HSSF or COC.  To the extent that the 

changes cause the schedule timeline to be extended, Recipient must submit a written 
request for a contract amendment to ADOH with a revised Schedule of Completion and 
Performance Report attached.  Contract amendment requests must be received by 
ADOH a minimum of thirty (30) days prior to the contract expiration date.  ADOH 
will respond to the written request within fourteen (14) business days.  Amendments 
may not be implemented until ADOH consents in writing and an amendment to the 
Agreement has been executed. 

 
 Weatherization.  Projects funded with DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL, DOE WRF,  

LIHEAP, SWG WAP APS WAP and/or SRP WAP. Recipients will have twelve (12) 
months to complete the Scope of Work with no extensions.  ADOH may, based on a 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 10 

review of the progress of Recipient completed units and expenditures, move funds 
from a non or under-performing Recipient to a Recipient meeting or exceeding their 
performance goals.  ADOH will review the performance of the Recipient on a monthly 
basis.  The first re-allocation of funds if applicable would occur at approximately four 
(4) months with additional re-allocations made on an as needed basis. 

 
   SFRF Projects.   To the extent that the changes cause the schedule timeline to be 

extended, Recipient must submit a written request for a contract amendment to 
ADOH with a revised Schedule of Completion and Performance Report attached.  Contract 
amendment requests must be received by ADOH a minimum of thirty (30) days prior 
to the contract expiration date.  ADOH will respond to the written request within 
fourteen (14) business days.  Amendments may not be implemented until ADOH 
consents in writing and an amendment to the Agreement has been executed. 

 
Section 9.   BUDGET  
 

Recipient agrees to use the funds provided pursuant to this Agreement in accordance 
with the Budget that is attached as Attachment C.  Recipient further agrees that any project 
costs, unless otherwise specified, exceeding the Budget shall be the sole responsibility of 
Recipient. 
 

Availability of funding under this Agreement is contingent on final review and 
approval of the Budget.  Budgetary considerations for specific programs are described below:  
 

 CDBG Revisions to the Budget.  Recipient must obtain written approval from ADOH 
to move funds from one Budget Activity Line Item to another.  The following 
substantial revisions to the Budget require a contract amendment:  

 
(a) Funds are moved from one Budget Activity Line Item to another and the change 

in the Budget Activity Line from which it is moved or to which it is being moved 
exceeds fifty percent (50%), unless the move is from administration to a non-
administration activity, in which case only written notice without a contract 
amendment is required;  

(b) Additional funding sources are added to the Project;  
(c) Recipient is requesting a change to the grant terms.   

 
 HOME, HOPWA, HPF, NHTF and HTF Revisions to the Budget.  Recipient must 

obtain prior written approval from ADOH to move funds from one Budget Activity 
Line Item to another.  ADOH will only approve changes to the Budget for eligible 
costs as outlined in the State Housing Fund program.  The following substantial 
revisions to the Budget require a contract amendment:  

 
(a) Additional funding sources are added to the project which require a project to 

be re-underwritten to determine gap;  



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 11 

(b) Recipient is requesting a change to the loan terms.   
 

 HSSF and SFRF Revisions to the Budget.  Recipient must obtain written approval 
from ADOH to move funds from one Budget Activity Line Item to another. ADOH 
will only approve changes to the Budget for eligible costs.  

 
 WEATHERIZATION Revisions to the Budget.  Recipient must obtain written 

approval from ADOH to move funds from one Budget Activity Line Item to another. 
ADOH will only approve changes to the Budget for eligible costs. Administration, 
Technical Assistance and Health and Safety line items cannot be increased unless the 
overall award of funds increases.   

 
See Section 10 for changes that affect the Budget. 
 
Recipient shall not retain any funds that are drawn down in excess of immediate cash 

needs (to be utilized within fifteen (15) days of draw down) to cover subsequent requests for 
reimbursement and must return them to ADOH within thirty (30) days of receipt.  Recipient 
must also return to ADOH any interest that is earned on these funds that are drawn down 
and not expended for eligible costs within fifteen (15) days of draw down. 

 
Section 10.   AMENDMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS 
 

ADOH may consent to amendment or modification of this Agreement upon written 
request of Recipient.  All amendments or modifications to this Agreement shall be by mutual 
consent of the parties in writing.   

 
Requests for amendments or modifications that result in changes to the Budget must 

be supported by a revised Budget that is otherwise consistent with Section 9.   
 
ADOH will respond to the request for amendment or modification to this Agreement 

within fourteen (14) business days.   
 
Section 11.   ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW CONDITIONS 
 

In accordance with 24 CFR 50 and 24 CFR 58 (“Environmental Review”), the 
environmental effects of each activity carried out with federal funds must be assessed.  Local 
government entities are responsible for conducting environmental reviews and requesting a 
release of funds from ADOH.  Non-profits and other non-governmental entities are 
responsible for conducting Environmental Reviews before ADOH requests a release of funds 
from HUD.  Completion of the Environmental Review Record (“ERR”) is mandatory before 
taking any physical action on a site or entering into contracts.  Only exempt activities such as 
architecture, engineering and administration may be undertaken and reimbursed by ADOH 
prior to receiving a written release of funds.  Exempt activities described in 24 CFR 58.34(a)(1)-
(11) are activities that generally have no physical impact on the environment.  If federal funds 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 12 

are involved in a project, neither federal nor non-federal funds may be expended or 
committed by contract (conditional or not) for property acquisition, rehabilitation, 
conversion, lease, repair or construction activities, until HUD or ADOH has provided written 
authorization based on approval of an ERR.  

 
 An option agreement (to purchase land) on a proposed site or property is allowable 
prior to the completion of the Environmental Review if the option agreement is contingent 
upon an ADOH or HUD authorization to use funds based on a completed ERR.  The cost of 
the option must be a nominal portion of the purchase price.  
 

Projects funded solely with Housing Trust Funds do not require an ERR but are 
required to meet the requirements of the State Historic Preservation Act by consulting with 
the State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO).  For State Housing Funded projects, Phase I 
Environmental Assessments are required to be completed on properties for which new 
construction/change in use is proposed, regardless of whether federal or state funds are the 
source of funding.  Expenditures incurred or obligated by construction contract prior to 
ADOH’s release of funds or consultation with SHPO will not be reimbursed by ADOH.   
  
 Recipients who had committed or expended non-federal funds to begin a project 
before receiving the authorization from ADOH or HUD may still be eligible to use federal 
funds on the project under the following circumstances:  
 

(a) Recipients started the project without the intention of using federal assistance 
(i.e. as evidenced by other anticipated funding, the original project budget, etc.); 

 
(b) All work on the project ceases once an application for federal funds is made and 

an ERR is begun on all activities (i.e. acquisition, construction, etc.).  ADOH or 
HUD provides authorization to proceed based on the completed ERR.  

 
 WEATHERIZATION (DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL, DOE WRF, LIHEAP WAP).  DOE 

has made a final NEPA determination for all activities under this Funding Agreement 
that are listed in the State Plan formally approved by DOE and incorporated into this 
Funding Agreement.  Recipients are responsible for compliance with Section 106 
pursuant to 36 CFR Part 800.2 (c)(4).  

 
Section 12.   APPLICATION AND OTHER PRE-AWARD COSTS 

 
Recipient may use a portion of the funds provided hereunder to reimburse itself for 

exempt activities pursuant to 24 CFR 58.34(a)(1)-(11) such as architecture, engineering, testing 
and sampling of asbestos and capital needs assessments and environmental reviews.  
 

 CDBG.  If Recipient is receiving funding under this Agreement from the CDBG 
program, in accordance with federal procedures, Recipient may use funds provided 
hereunder to reimburse it or to pay for costs incurred in preparing the application.  In 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 13 

no event shall such compensation exceed eighteen percent (18%) of the total funding 
provided to Recipient by ADOH. 

 
Section 13.   COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT 
 

Subject to availability of and receipt of funds from the State’s Unclaimed Property 
Fund (for state HTF funds) and/or the United States Treasury (for HOME, CDBG, COC, NHTF 
HOPWA, DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL, DOE WRF and LIHEAP WAP funds) and the 
commitment of other required funding as indicated in Recipient's application, ADOH agrees 
to reimburse or advance Recipient for authorized expenditures according to the Budget in 
Attachment C.  Recipient must maintain invoices and other similar documentation to support 
payment expenses under those generally accepted accounting principles and procedures 
approved by ADOH and outlined in 2 CFR 200 as applicable; 24 CFR Parts 44, 92 and 570 as 
applicable; and 10 CFR 440 and 600 as applicable.   
 

Recipient may request funds only after the date of the executed Agreement and other 
legal documents as applicable, provided Recipient has satisfied ADOH funding contingencies 
and federal Environmental Review conditions.  Requests for reimbursement must be made 
using the ADOH Request for Payment form hereby incorporated into this Agreement and 
attached as Attachment D.  For construction projects, Release of Lien documents must be 
attached to the Request for Payment in amounts proportionate to contractor reimbursement 
requests.  
 

Recipient must maintain proof of said expenditures including checks, payrolls, time 
records, invoices, contracts, vouchers, orders and other accounting documents evidencing in 
proper detail the nature and propriety of the respective charges as may be required by 
applicable federal rules and regulations, including requirements by the Federal Office of 
Management and Budget, and as may be otherwise reasonably required to permit ADOH to 
determine or confirm that any such expenditures are prudent and within the Scope of Work. 

 
Recipient’s right to incur expenses under this Agreement shall cease upon expiration 

of this Agreement.  All requests for reimbursement on expenditures made prior to expiration 
of this Agreement must be requested within sixty (60) days after expiration.  Unless expressly 
authorized by ADOH in writing, expenditures not requested within the sixty (60) day period 
after expiration of this Agreement shall be disallowed and all funds shall be reclaimed by 
ADOH. 
 
Section 14.   FUNDS RECOUPED BY RECIPIENT, INTEREST AND PROGRAM 
INCOME 
 

14.1 Definitions.  For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:  
 

“Funds Recouped by Recipient” means funds initially provided by ADOH to 
Recipient under this Agreement and any matching contributions that are recouped by 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 14 

Recipient when: (1) the funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement or matching 
contributions or the proceeds of funds provided by ADOH (including, but not limited to, 
equipment or housing) do not continue to be used for an approved purpose or eligible 
activity, as described in applicable law or regulations, for the full period of affordability 
required by this Agreement; or (2) when a State-assisted homeownership housing does not 
continue to be the principal residence of the assisted homebuyer for the full affordability 
period required by this Agreement.  Funds Recouped by Recipient are subject to all the 
requirements of Program Income described below with the exception that Recipient shall not 
use Funds Recouped by Recipient for administrative purposes.  For this reason, Recipient 
must separately account for all Funds Recouped by Recipient. 
 

“Interest” means any compensation paid or to be paid for the use or deposit of the 
funds provided by ADOH to Recipient under this Agreement. 
 

“Program Income” means gross income received by Recipient directly generated from 
the use of funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement.  When Program Income is 
generated by housing that is only partially assisted with funds provided by ADOH under this 
Agreement or matching contributions, the income shall be prorated to reflect the percentage 
of funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement.  Program Income includes, but is not 
limited to, the following: (1) proceeds from the disposition by sale or long-term lease of real 
property purchased or improved with funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement; (2) 
gross income from the use or rental of real or personal property acquired by Recipient with 
funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement, less costs incidental to generation of the 
income; (3) payments of principal and interest on loans made using funds provided by ADOH 
under this Agreement or matching contributions; (4) proceeds from the sale of loans made 
with funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement or matching contributions; (5) proceeds 
from sale of obligations secured by loans made with funds provided by ADOH under this 
Agreement or matching contributions; (6) Interest earned on Program Income pending its 
disposition; (7) proceeds from the disposition of equipment purchased with CDBG funds; (8) 
gross income from the use or rental of real property, owned by Recipient, that was constructed 
or improved with funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement, less costs incidental to 
generation of the income; (9) if the funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement are from 
the CDBG Program, funds collected through special assessments made against properties 
owned and occupied by households not of low and moderate income, where the assessments 
are used to recover all or part of the CDBG portion of a public improvement; and (10) if the 
funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement are from the HOME Program, any other 
interest or return on the investment permitted under 24 C.F.R. Part 92.205(b) of HOME funds 
or matching contributions. 

 
14.2 Use of Program Income and Funds Recouped by Recipient.   
 
Recipient is not authorized by ADOH to retain and reuse Program Income, Funds 

Recouped by Recipient or accrued Interest as described in the following paragraph(s) except 
as authorized by ADOH through a written agreement. 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 15 

Recipient must return all Program Income, Funds Recouped by Recipient and Interest 
to ADOH within thirty (30) days of receipt. 

Recipient must remit to ADOH any Program Income, Funds Recouped by Recipient 
or Interest on hand at the time of expiration, cancellation, or termination of this Agreement 
or subsequently received by Recipient within thirty (30) days of receipt by Recipient.   
 
Section 15.    DE-OBLIGATION, RECAPTURE AND REPAYMENT OF FUNDS 
 

15.1 De-obligation.  ADOH may reduce funds from the funding award evidenced 
by this Agreement without regard to the source of funding, under the following 
circumstances: (1) Recipient has completed performance under the Scope of Work (Attachment 
A) without using all of the funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement; (2) this 
Agreement expires and not all funds have been expended; (3) ADOH’s original allocation was 
a loan and Recipient or Sub-recipient paid the loan; (4) Recipient, with the consent of ADOH, 
cancelled or changed an activity required under the Scope of Work for reasons other than non-
performance; or (5) Recipient receives Program Income that has not been included in the 
budget or set forth in the Scope of Work; and (6) this Agreement has otherwise been terminated. 
ADOH may de-obligate funds under this Agreement under the foregoing circumstances upon 
written notice to Recipient.   
 

15.2 Reallocation of De-obligated HOME or State HTF Funds.  If the funds 
provided by ADOH under this Agreement are from the State HTF or the HOME Program, 
ADOH may reallocate funds that it has de-obligated under this Agreement as it determines 
in its sole discretion.  
 

15.3 Reallocation of De-obligated CDBG Funds.  If the funds provided by ADOH 
under this Agreement are from the CDBG Program, ADOH may reallocate funds that it has 
de-obligated under this Agreement to Recipient from which the funds were de-obligated for 
use under an existing or new funding contract of the same funding year if Recipient can 
immediately commit the reallocated funds to a project and execute a new or amended funding 
contract within sixty (60) calendar days of the reallocation.  If ADOH is not able to reallocate 
funds that it has de-obligated under this Agreement in accordance with the foregoing 
sentence of this subsection, ADOH may reallocate those funds as it determines in its sole 
discretion. 
 

15.4 Recapture.  ADOH may reduce funds from the amount of the funding award 
evidenced by this Agreement, without regard to the source of funding, under the following 
circumstances: (1) ADOH determines that Recipient has failed to use the funds provided by 
ADOH under this Agreement in compliance with the terms of this Agreement or the 
requirements of applicable laws and regulations (non-compliance); or (2) Recipient fails to 
perform in accordance with the performance obligations set forth in the Scope of Work 
(Attachment A ) and the Schedule of Completion (Attachment  B) or the terms of this Agreement.  
ADOH may recapture funds under this Agreement under the foregoing circumstances upon 
written notice to Recipient. 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 16 

15.5 Reallocation of Recaptured Funds.  ADOH may reallocate funds that it has 
recaptured under this Agreement, without regard to the source of funding, as it determines 
in its sole discretion. 

 
15.6 Repayment of Funds.  Recipient agrees to repay funds provided under this 

contract if ADOH determines that Recipient has failed to use the funds provided by ADOH 
under this Agreement in compliance with the terms of this Agreement or the requirements of 
applicable laws and regulations.  ADOH may specify in writing the terms of the repayment 
or alternative terms in lieu of repayment; however, in no case shall repayment or alternative 
terms be accomplished later than 180 days following the written determination of non-
compliance by ADOH.  
  
Section 16.   REVERSION OF ASSETS 
 

16.1 Funds Remaining at Expiration.  Upon expiration of this Agreement, 
Recipient shall transfer to ADOH any unexpended funds advanced to Recipient by ADOH 
under this Agreement.  
 

16.2 Real Property Acquired or Improved with CDBG Funds.  Upon expiration of 
this Agreement, any real property under Recipient's control that was acquired or improved 
in whole or in part with CDBG funds, for non-owner occupied use, provided to Recipient by 
ADOH under this Agreement (including CDBG funds provided to Recipient in the form of a 
loan) in excess of $25,000, shall either: (1) be used to meet one of the national objectives in 24 
CFR Part 570.208 until five (5) years after expiration of this Agreement, or for such longer 
period of time as determined to be appropriate by Recipient; or (2) not be used in accordance 
with 24 CFR Part 570.503(b)(8)(i), in which event Recipient shall pay to ADOH an amount 
equal to the current market value of the property less any portion of the value attributable to 
expenditures of non-CDBG funds for the acquisition of, or improvement to, the property.  No 
payment is required after the period of time specified in 24 CFR Part 570.503 (b)(8)(i). 
 

16.3 Real Property Acquired or Improved with HOME Funds.  Upon expiration 
of this Agreement, any real property under Recipient's control that was acquired or improved 
in whole or in part with HOME funds, for non-owner occupied uses, provided to Recipient 
by ADOH under this Agreement (including funds provided to Recipient in the form of a loan), 
must be occupied only by households that are eligible as low-income families and must meet 
the requirements to qualify as affordable housing and is subject to encumbrances and 
obligations described in any applicable Declaration of Conditions, Covenants and Restrictions 
(“CC&Rs”) for the period of affordability set forth in 24 CFR Part 92.252. 
 

16.4  Real Property Acquired or Improved with State Housing Trust Funds.  Upon 
expiration of this Agreement, any real property under Recipient's control that was acquired 
or improved in whole or in part with state HTF funds, for non-owner occupied uses, provided 
to Recipient by ADOH under this Agreement (including funds provided to Recipient in the 
form of a loan), must be occupied only by households that are eligible as low-income families 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 17 

and must meet the requirements to qualify as affordable housing and is subject to 
encumbrances and obligations described in any applicable Declaration of CC&Rs for the 
period of affordability set forth in the CC&Rs. 

 
Section 17.   DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

ADOH shall monitor and evaluate Recipient to determine compliance with and 
performance under this Agreement.  A summary of discrepancies noted by ADOH during 
monitoring visits will be specified in writing.  Appropriate time for correction of discrepancies 
will be specified in the written report to Recipient.  ADOH shall follow up on discrepancies 
to ensure that they have been corrected in a timely manner.  The failure of ADOH to require 
timely performance of any provision of this Agreement shall in no way affect the right of 
ADOH thereafter to enforce such provision nor shall the waiver of any succeeding breach of 
such provision act as waiver of the provision itself. 
 

ADOH shall provide reasonable technical assistance to assist Recipient to comply with 
program requirements for the provision of services under this Agreement.  However, this in 
no way relieves Recipient of full responsibility for its acts or omissions in the performance of 
activities required by this Agreement.  
 
Section 18.   SUBCONTRACTING 
 

Recipient shall not disburse any funds received under this Agreement without fully 
completed written agreements with subcontractors requiring they follow all provisions of this 
Agreement and a completed Environmental Review pursuant to Section 11 of this Agreement.  
 

The use of subcontractors does not relieve Recipient of responsibility for ensuring the 
administration of the provided funds in accordance with all applicable program 
requirements.  Recipient is responsible for determining the adequacy of performance under 
subcontractor agreements and procurement contracts and for taking appropriate action when 
performance issues arise. 

 
Section 19.   FAILURE TO MAKE PROGRESS 
 

Failure of Recipient to make progress according to the Schedule of Completion, 
attached hereto as Attachment B may result in contract termination, de-obligation of funds or 
recapture of funds.  Recipient agrees to meet with ADOH at the site in which the funded 
activity is taking place to discuss progress and allow ADOH to provide technical assistance 
if:  

 
(a) Recipient fails to begin work on its Environmental Review pursuant to Section 

11 within the sixty (60) calendar days from the date ADOH executes this 
Agreement; 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 18 

(b) Recipient fails to expend any funds in performance of and in accordance with 
the terms of this Agreement within ninety (90) calendar days from the inception 
date of this Agreement.   

 
ADOH will terminate any Agreement and recapture funds from the same Agreement in 
which Recipient does not commence any of the activities described in the Scope of Work 
(Attachment A) or fails to expend any funds in accordance with the Budget (Attachment C) 
within 180 calendar days from the full execution date of this Agreement.  ADOH may in its 
sole discretion, forgo providing technical assistance and recapture funds as outlined in this 
Agreement under Section 15.4 hereof and/or terminate this Agreement for cause pursuant to 
Section 20 of this Agreement.   
 
Section 20.   TERMINATION FOR CAUSE 
 

ADOH may terminate this Agreement in whole or in part at any time whenever it 
determines that Recipient has failed to comply with the conditions hereof including, but not 
limited to the Scope of Work set forth in Attachment A, Schedule of Completion set forth in 
Attachment B and Budget set forth in Attachment C to this Agreement.  If ADOH so 
determines, it shall notify Recipient in writing by certified mail, return receipt requested, of 
such termination for cause with such notification to include the reason(s) for the termination 
and the effective date of termination.  If ADOH terminates this Agreement pursuant to this 
Section, ADOH shall recapture all funds allocated to Recipient under this Agreement 
pursuant to Section 15.4 hereof and obtain repayment of funds expended pursuant to Section 
15.6, hereof. 

 
Section 21.   TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE 
 

ADOH or Recipient may terminate this Agreement in whole or part (one (1) or more 
activities) if either party believes that continuation will not produce beneficial results.  If 
ADOH so determines, it shall notify Recipient in writing by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, of such termination for convenience and the effective date of termination.  If 
Recipient so determines, it shall notify ADOH in writing by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, of such termination for convenience and the effective date of termination.  If 
ADOH terminates this Agreement pursuant to this Section, ADOH shall de-obligate, 
recapture or receive repayment, as applicable, all funds allocated to Recipient under this 
Agreement pursuant to Section 15 hereof.    

 
Section 22.   ENFORCEMENT 
 

22.1 Remedies for Noncompliance. If Recipient materially fails to comply with any 
term of this Agreement or applicable law, ADOH may take one or more of the following 
actions, as appropriate in the circumstances:  
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 19 

(a) Temporarily withhold cash payments pending correction of the deficiency by 
Recipient or more severe enforcement action by the awarding agency; 

(b) Disallow (that is, deny both use of funds and matching credit for) all or part of 
the cost of the activity or action not in compliance; 

(c) Wholly or partly suspend or terminate the award evidenced by this Agreement; 
(d) Withhold further awards to Recipient’s project funded by the award evidenced 

by this Agreement; 
(e) Recapture funds and terminate contract; 
(f) Withhold future ADOH grant awards from all sources; or 
(g) Take other remedies that may be legally available. 

 
22.2 Appealable Agency Action.  Enforcement action taken under this section is an 

appealable agency action pursuant to A.R.S., Title 41, Chapter 6, Article 10.  
 
22.3 Effects of suspension and termination.  Costs incurred by Recipient resulting 

from obligations incurred by Recipient during a suspension or after termination of an award 
are not allowable unless ADOH expressly authorizes them in the notice of suspension or 
termination or subsequently.  
 

22.4 Relationship to debarment and suspension.  The enforcement remedies 
identified in this section, including suspension and termination, do not preclude Recipient 
from being subject to “Debarment and Suspension” under the United States President’s 
Executive Order 12549.  

 
Section 23.   CANCELLATION 
 
 Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-511, ADOH may, within three (3) years after its execution, 
cancel this Agreement, without penalty or further obligation, if any person significantly 
involved in initiating, negotiating, securing, drafting or creating this Agreement on behalf of 
ADOH, at any time while this Agreement or any extension of this Agreement is in effect, is or 
becomes an employee or agent of any other party to this Agreement in any capacity or a 
consultant to any party of this Agreement with respect to the subject matter of the contract.  
A cancellation notice made pursuant to this provision shall be effective when Recipient 
receives written notice of the cancellation unless the notice specifies a later time. 
 
Section 24.   RECORDS RETENTION 
 
 Pursuant to A.R.S. § 35-214, Recipient shall retain and require that its subcontractors 
retain for inspection and audit by ADOH, all books, accounts, reports, files including 
information regarding actual beneficiaries of the fund, and other records relating to the 
bidding and performance of this Agreement for a period of five (5) years following the date 
of the letter informing Recipient of the Administrative Closeout or termination.  
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 20 

    CDBG funded projects only:  All CDBG records must be retained for at least three (3) 
years after the grant agreement close out between HUD and ADOH has been 
approved by HUD.  ADOH will notify recipients of the records retention date of 
expiration for CDBG funded projects.  

 
 WEATHERIZATION projects only:  All records must be retained for at least three (3) 

years after the grant agreement close out between DOE or SWG and ADOH has been 
approved.  ADOH will notify recipients of the records retention date of expiration for 
Weatherization projects.  

 
Upon request by ADOH, Recipient shall produce a legible copy of all such records at 

the Administrative Office of ADOH or at the Office of the Auditor General.  The original 
records shall be available and produced for inspection and audit when required by ADOH or 
the Auditor General. 
 

Recipient shall maintain records that adequately identify the source and application 
of the funds provided under this Agreement (including Program Income and Recaptured 
Funds) as part of the financial transactions of their funding program, consistent with 
generally accepted accounting principles and the requirements of 2 CFR 200.  Recipient will 
provide reports regarding the capture and reuse of Program Income and Recaptured Funds 
as requested by ADOH from time to time. 
 
 In addition, in the event that the project resulted in Recipient holding any liens or 
notes as a result of this funding, Recipient must retain all pertinent records for five (5) years 
beyond the expiration or release of such liens or notes. 
 
Section 25.   NO OBLIGATION OF STATE GENERAL APPROPRIATIONS FUNDS 
 

Nothing herein shall be construed as obligating state general appropriation funds, 
excepting HTF funds or HSSF funds per S.B. 1720, for payment of any debt or liability of any 
nature arising hereunder.  The parties expressly recognize that all payments to be made by 
ADOH are from federal funds, HTF and HSSF funds made available to ADOH for this 
purpose. 
 
Section 26.   AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS 
 

Payments under this Agreement are subject to the availability of the federal funds 
provided to the ADOH for the HOME, CDBG, HOPWA, COC, NHTF, DOE WAP, DOE WAP 
BIL, DOE WRF, LIHEAP and SFRF programs, the availability of state funds provided for the 
state HTF, HPF and HSSF Programs and the availability of private funds provided for the 
SWG WAP, APS WAP and SRP WAP programs.  Every payment obligation of ADOH under 
this Agreement is conditioned upon the availability of funds appropriated or allocated for the 
payment of such obligation.  If funds are not allocated and available for the continuance of 
this Agreement, this Agreement may be terminated by ADOH at the end of the period for 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 21 

which funds are available.  No liability shall accrue to ADOH in the event this provision is 
exercised, and ADOH shall not be obligated or liable for any future payments or for any 
damages as a result of termination under this paragraph. 

 
Section 27.   APPLICABLE LAW AND ARBITRATION 
 

This Agreement shall be governed and interpreted by the laws of the State of Arizona. 
The parties to this Agreement agree to resolve all disputes arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement through arbitration, after exhausting applicable administrative review, to the 
extent required by A.R.S. § 12-1518 except as may be required by other applicable statutes. 

 
Section 28.   INDEMNIFICATION 
 

Recipient shall indemnify, defend, and save harmless ADOH, the State of Arizona and 
its agents, officials and employees from any and all claims, demands, suits, actions, 
proceedings, loss, costs and damages of every kind and description, including any attorney’s 
fees and litigation expenses, which may be brought or made against or incurred by the State 
on account of loss of or damage to any property or for injuries to or death of any person, 
caused by, arising out of or contributed to, in whole or in part, by reason of any alleged act, 
omission, professional error, fault, mistake or negligence of Recipient, its employees, agents, 
representatives or subcontractors, their employees, agents or representatives in connection 
with or incidental to the performance of this Agreement, or arising out of Workmen’s 
Compensation claims, Unemployment Compensation claims or Unemployment Disability 
Compensation claims of employees of Recipient or its subcontractors or claims under similar 
such laws or obligations.  Recipient’s obligation under this section shall not extend to any 
liability caused by the sole negligence of ADOH, the State of Arizona or its employees. 

 
Section 29.   FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIABILITY 
 

It is agreed by all parties that the Federal Government and particularly the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) and the U.S. Department of 
Energy (DOE) is not a party to this Agreement and that no legal liability on the part of the 
Federal Government is inferred or implied under the terms of this Agreement. 
 
Section 30.   AUDIT 
 
 If federal funds are paid to Recipient through this Agreement, Recipient shall comply 
with the audit requirements set forth in 2 CFR 200.  Recipient shall comply with A.R.S. § 35-
181.03 if any state funds are paid through this Agreement.  Recipient agrees to rectify issues 
identified in audits within ADOH prescribed time periods.  Failure to comply shall result in 
withholding of all present and future ADOH provided funds.   
 
 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 22 

Section 31.   AUDIT EXCEPTIONS 
 

If federal or state audit exceptions are made relating to this Agreement, Recipient shall 
reimburse all costs incurred by the State of Arizona and ADOH associated with defending 
against the audit exception or performing an audit or follow-up audit including but not 
limited to: audit fees, court costs, attorney's fees based upon a reasonable hourly amount for 
attorneys in the community, travel costs, penalty assessments and all other costs of whatever 
nature. 
 

Immediately upon notification from ADOH, Recipient shall reimburse the amount of 
the audit exception and any other related costs directly to ADOH as specified by ADOH in 
the notification. 
 
Section 32.   UNALLOWABLE USE OF FUNDS 
 

Recipient, its officers, employees and agents, shall not utilize any of the federal funds 
or HTF provided under this Agreement to solicit or influence, or attempt to solicit or 
influence, directly or indirectly, any member of Congress regarding pending or prospective 
legislation. 
 
Section 33.   INTEREST OF MEMBERS OF DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND OTHERS 

 
No officer or employee of ADOH and no public official, employee or member of the 

governing body of Recipient who exercises any functions or responsibilities in review or 
approval of the undertaking or carrying out of this Agreement shall participate in any 
decision relating to this Agreement which affects their personal interest or the interest of any 
corporation, partnership or association in which they are directly or indirectly interested, or 
have any interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement or its proceeds. 

 
Section 34.   ACCESS TO RECORDS, PARTICIPANTS AND STAFF 
 

Recipient agrees to provide ADOH and its representatives access at any reasonable 
time to all participants and staff involved in this Agreement and to all records and reports 
involving this Agreement. 
 
Section 35.   IDENTIFICATION OF DOCUMENTS 
 

All materials used for public outreach and for informational purposes as a part of this 
Agreement, other than documents exclusively for internal use by ADOH, shall identify the 
source of federal (CDBG, HOME, NHTF, COC, HOPWA, DOE WAP, DOE WAP BIL, DOE 
WRF, LIHEAP WAP, SFRF) or state (HTF, HPF, HSSF) funds or private funds (APS, SRP, 
SWG) used as part of this Agreement as well as acknowledgement of support from ADOH.  
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 23 

Section 36.   COPYRIGHT 
 

Reports, maps or other documents produced in whole or in part under this Agreement 
are works for hire and shall not be the subject of any application for copyright by or on behalf 
of Recipient, by any employee or subcontractor of Recipient.  Recipient shall advise ADOH 
or its designee at the time of delivery of any copyrighted or copyrightable work furnished 
under this Agreement, or any adversely held copyrighted or copyrightable material 
incorporated in any such work and of any invasion of the right of privacy therein contained. 
 
Section 37.   RIGHTS IN DATA 
 

ADOH may duplicate, use and disclose in any manner and for any purpose 
whatsoever, within the limits established by federal and state laws and regulations, all 
information relating to this Agreement. 
Section 38.   FUNDING CONDITIONS 
 

ADOH will make the funding assistance available to Recipient upon execution of this 
Agreement by the parties.  The obligation and utilization of the funding assistance provided 
through this Agreement are subject to the proper observation of the requirements 
incorporated by reference.  Recipient shall require any subcontracting entities to observe and 
follow all provisions of this Agreement. 

 
Section 39.   NON-DISCRIMINATION 
  

(a) Recipient shall comply with A.R.S. § 41-1463 and Executive Orders 99-4 and 
2009-09, which prohibit Recipient from discriminating against persons, or 
depriving or tending to deprive any individual of employment opportunities or 
otherwise adversely affecting the individual's status as an employee on the basis 
of race, color, religion, sex, age, national origin, disability or political affiliation 
and require Recipient to take action to ensure that applicants are employed and 
that employees are treated during employment without regard to race, color, 
religion, sex, age, national origin, disability, or political affiliation.  Recipient 
shall comply with all of the other requirements of Executive Order 2009-09. 
 

(b) Recipient agrees to comply with Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as 
amended.  Recipient shall also comply with applicable federal regulations that 
prohibit discrimination in the employment or advancement in employment of 
qualified persons with disabilities.  Recipient shall comply with all applicable 
federal regulations regarding equal employment opportunity and relevant 
orders issued by the U.S. Secretary of Labor.  Recipient agrees to comply, and 
will require any subcontractor(s) to comply with applicable federal 
nondiscrimination requirements, which may include: Omnibus Crime Control 
and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. §3789(d)); the Victims of Crime Act (42 
U.S.C. §10604(e)); the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 24 

(42 U.S.C. §5672(b)); the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. §2000(d)); Section 504 
of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. §794); Title II of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. §§12132); Title IX of the Education 
Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. §1681); the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 
U.S.C. §6102); 28 C.F.R. pt. 35 (DOJ Regulations- Nondiscrimination on the Basis 
of Disability in State and Local Government Services); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42 (DOJ 
Regulations- Nondiscrimination; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies and 
Procedures); Executive Order 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based 
and community organizations); and 28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (DOJ Regulations- Equal 
Treatment for Faith-Based Organizations). 

 
Section 40.   THIRD PARTY ANTITRUST VIOLATIONS 
 

Recipient assigns to the State of Arizona any claim for overcharges resulting from 
antitrust violations to the extent that such violations concern materials or services supplied 
by third parties to Recipient toward fulfillment of this Agreement. 
 
Section 41.   COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR A.R.S.  § 41-4401—IMMIGRATION 
LAWS AND E-VERIFY REQUIREMENT 
 

(a) Recipient warrants compliance with all Federal immigration laws and 
regulations relating to employees and warrants its compliance with Section 
A.R.S. § 23-214, Subsection A.  (That subsection reads: “After December 31, 2007, 
every employer, after hiring an employee, shall verify the employment eligibility 
of the employee through the E-Verify program.”) 

 
(b) A breach of a warranty regarding compliance with immigration laws and 

regulations shall be deemed a material breach of the contract and Recipient may 
be subject to penalties up to and including termination of this Agreement.  

 
(c) The ADOH retains the legal right to inspect the papers of any employee who 

works on this Agreement to ensure that Recipient or Recipient’s subcontractor 
is complying with the warranty under paragraph (a).   

 
Section 42.   INSURANCE 
 
 During the contract period, Recipient shall purchase and maintain in full force the 
following insurance.  All certifications of insurance must provide for a thirty (30) day notice 
to ADOH of cancellation, non-renewal or material change.  Proof of insurance from Recipient 
shall be provided to ADOH prior to execution of this contract and periodic certifications must 
be furnished at the request of the Program Specialist. 
 
 Recipient and its subcontractors, at Recipient’s and subcontractors’ own expense, shall 
purchase and maintain the herein stipulated minimum insurance with companies duly 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 25 

licensed, possessing a current A.M. Best, Inc. Rating of A-, 7, local government insurance 
pools formed pursuant to ARS 11-952.01 or other as approved by ADOH and licensed in the 
State of Arizona with policies and forms satisfactory to ADOH. 
 

All insurance required herein shall be maintained in full force and effect until all work 
or service required to be performed under the terms of this Agreement is completed 
satisfactorily and formally accepted; failure to do so may, at the sole discretion of ADOH, 
constitute a material breach of this Agreement. 
 

Recipient’s insurance shall be primary insurance as respects ADOH and any insurance 
or self-insurance maintained by ADOH shall not contribute to it. 

 
Recipient shall not fail to comply with the claim reporting provisions of the insurance 

policies or cause any breach of an insurance policy warranty, which would affect coverage 
afforded under insurance policies to protect ADOH. 
 
 The insurance policies, except Worker’s Compensation, shall contain a waiver of 
transfer of rights of recovery (subrogation) against ADOH, its agents, representatives, 
directors, officers and employees for any claims arising out of Recipient’s acts, errors, 
mistakes, omissions, work or service. 
 
 The insurance policies may provide coverage, which contain deductibles or self-
insured retentions.  Such deductible and/or self-insured retentions shall not be applicable 
with respect to the coverage provided to ADOH under such policies.  Recipient shall be solely 
responsible for the deductible and/or self-insured retention, and ADOH, at its option, may 
require Recipient to secure payment of such deductibles or self-insured retentions by a Surety 
Bond listing ADOH as the Obligee or co-Obligee or an irrevocable and unconditional letter of 
credit. 
 

ADOH reserves the right to request and to receive, within ten (10) working days, 
certified copies of any or all of the herein required insurance policies and/or endorsements.  
ADOH shall not be obligated, however, to review same or to advise Recipient of any 
deficiencies in such policies and endorsements, and such receipt shall not relieve Recipient 
from, or be deemed a waiver of ADOH’s right to insist on, strict fulfillment of Recipient’s 
obligations under this Agreement. 

 
The insurance policies, except Worker’s Compensation and Professional Liability, 

required by this Agreement, shall name ADOH, its agents, representatives, officers, directors, 
officials and employees as additionally insured.  
 

42.1  Required Coverage 
 
 Commercial General Liability.  Recipient shall maintain Commercial General 
Liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 for each occurrence with a 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 26 

$2,000,000 Products/Completed Operations Aggregate and a $2,000,000 General Aggregate 
Limit.  The policy shall include coverage for bodily injury, broad form property damage, 
personal injury, products and completed operations and blanket contractual coverage.  
Coverage will be at least as broad as Insurance Service Office, Inc. Policy Form CG 00011093 
or any replacements thereof.   
 

Such policy shall contain a severability of interest provision and shall not contain a 
sunset provision or commutation clause, nor any provision that would serve to limit third 
party action over claims.  The Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement 
shall be at least as broad as the Insurance Service Office, Inc.  Additional Insured, Form B, CG 
20101185, and shall include coverage for Recipient’s operations and products and completed 
operations. 

 
 Automobile Liability.  Recipient shall maintain Commercial/Business Automobile 
Liability insurance with a combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage of not 
less than $1,000,000 each occurrence with respect to Recipient’s any auto, all owned autos, 
scheduled autos, hired autos, non-owned autos assigned to or used in performance of 
Recipient’s work.  Coverage will be at least as broad as coverage code 1, “any auto”, 
(Insurance Service Office, Inc. Policy Form CA 00011293, or any replacements thereof).  
 
 Worker’s Compensation.  Recipient shall carry Worker’s Compensation insurance to 
cover obligations imposed by federal and state statutes having jurisdiction of Recipient’s 
employees engaged in the performance of the work or services; and Employer’s Liability 
insurance of not less than $100,000 for each accident, $100,000 disease for each employee and 
$500,000 disease policy limit. 
  

In case any work is subcontracted, Recipient will require the subcontractor to provide 
Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability to at least the same extent as required of 
Recipient. 
 

42.2 Certificates of Insurance 
 

 Prior to commencing work or services under this Agreement, Recipient shall furnish 
ADOH with Certificates of Insurance, or formal endorsements as required by this Agreement, 
issued by Recipient’s insurer(s), as evidence that policies providing the required coverage, 
conditions and limits required by this Agreement are in full force and effect.  
 

In the event any insurance policy(s) required by this contract is (are) written on a 
“claims made” basis, coverage shall extend for two (2) years past completion and acceptance 
of Recipient’s work or services and as evidenced by annual Certificates of Insurance.  

 
If a policy does expire during the life of this Agreement, a renewal certificate must be 

sent to ADOH fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration date. 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 27 

42.3 Cancellation and Expiration Notice 
 

 Insurance required herein shall not expire, be canceled, or materially changed without 
thirty (30) days written notice to ADOH. 
 

       42.4 Self Insurance 
The parties acknowledge that Recipient is self-insured and that such self-insurance 

satisfies the requirements of this Section 42.  
 
Section 43.   PRIVACY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
 Recipients of federal funds (for the purpose of this section “federal funds” means 
funding from the CDBG, HOME, HOPWA and COC programs; see Section 1, above) from 
ADOH warrant and represent that commencing from the effective date of this Agreement and 
until the latest expiration or termination date of any promissory note, deed of trust, 
declaration or other agreement that secures the federal funds that are the subject of this 
Agreement, Recipient and Recipient’s contractors shall comply with the requirements of the 
federal Privacy Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552a.  Recipient warrants and represents that it has read and 
understands the requirements of the Federal Privacy Act and requires the same of its 
contractors and subcontractors.    
 
Section 44.   NOTICES 
 

When routine reports or correspondence is required to be sent to ADOH, it shall be 
addressed to Arizona Department of Housing, to the attention of the assigned Program 
Specialist at 1110 West Washington Street, Suite 280, Phoenix, Arizona 85007.  Notices or 
correspondence regarding material changes to the contract or requests for amendment shall 
be addressed to the same.  All correspondence regarding this Agreement must be identified 
by its ADOH Agreement number (which is located on the top left hand corner of the first page 
of this Agreement). 

 
When notice or correspondence is required to be sent to Recipient, it shall be 

addressed to:  
GILA COUNTY 

Entity 
Estelle Belarde 

Attention (if applicable) 
OFFICE OF COMMUNITY SERVICES, 5515 S. APACHE AVE, SUITE 200 

Mailing Address 
GLOBE, ARIZONA 85501 

City State Zip 
 
 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 28 

Section 45.   REGISTRATION WITH SOCIAL SERVE 
 

For new construction or rehabilitation of rental projects, Recipient agrees to register 
the project with socialserve.com and keep the project listed with socialserve.com for the duration 
of the period of affordability as indicated in the Conditions, Covenants and Restrictions.  
 
Section 46.   ADOH SIGNAGE 
 

For new construction and rehabilitation projects, Recipient must erect a sign at the 
project site indicating that the project is funded through the Arizona Department of Housing 
and indicate the sources of funds.  The sign must be a minimum size of twenty-four (24) inches 
high by thirty-six (36) inches wide, include a minimum five (5) inch high ADOH logo and text 
printed at a minimum seventy-two (72) point font.  An individual ADOH sign does not have 
to be provided if Recipient incorporates ADOH information into a larger group sign.  
 
Section 47.   PHOTOGRAPHS 

 
For new construction and rehabilitation projects, Recipient is required to provide to 

ADOH before and after photographs of the project in digital or film format. 
 

Section 48.    STATE OF ARIZONA 
 

This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Arizona. 
 

Section 49.   WRITTEN CERTIFICATION UNDER A.R.S. § 35-393.01. 
 

If the [Recipient] engages in for-profit activity and has ten (10) or more employees, 
and if this Agreement has a value of $100,000 or more, then the  [Recipient] certifies it is not 
currently engaged in, and agrees for the durations of this Agreement, not to engage in a 
boycott of goods and services from Israel. This certification does not apply to a boycott 
prohibited by 50 U.S C. § 4842 or a regulation issued pursuant to 50 U.S C. § 4842. 
 
Section 50.   A.R.S. § 1-501 Relating to Federal Programs 

 
Notwithstanding any other state law and to the extent permitted by federal law, any 
person who applies for a federal public benefit that is administered by this state or a 
political subdivision of this state and that requires participants to be citizens of the 
United States, legal residents of the United States or otherwise lawfully present in 
the United States shall submit required documentation to the entity that administers 
the federal public benefit demonstrating lawful presence in the United States.  

 
 
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

REV. 12/8/2023 29 

AGREED, effective as of the later date of the signatures of the duly authorized representatives 
subscribed below:  

 
 

THE STATE OF ARIZONA, 
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING 

 GILA COUNTY 
 RECIPIENT 

  
BY:  BY:  

 Joan Serviss  Stephen Christensen 
 
TITLE: 

Cabinet Executive Officer 
Executive Deputy Director 

 
TITLE: 
 

 
Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 

    
DATE:  DATE:  

 
  
 



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing  

ATTACHMENT A  
SCOPE OF WORK 

 
The Arizona Department of Housing Weatherization Assistance Program (ADOH WAP) award will be comprised of 
Arizona Public Service (APS) and Southwest Gas Corporation (SWG) Utility funds. Funding will allow Gila County 
(recipient) to provide installation/repair of energy efficiency measures to dwellings occupied by low-income 
households who are APS and/or SWG customers in Gila County, Arizona.  
 
This contract award is contingent upon: 

A. Assistance is reserved for the following incomes: 
a. APS funds (restricted to APS Customers only): 200% of Federal Poverty Guidelines as published 

annually; and 
b. SWG funds (restricted to SWG Customers only): 200% of Federal Poverty Guidelines as published 

annually. 
 

B. The program will prioritize services to the following populations: 
a. Elderly; 
b. Handicapped; and 
c. Families with children under the age of five (5).   

 
C. APS and SWG WAP funding requires adherence to the Arizona Weatherization Policies and Procedures 

Handbook, Arizona Weatherization Assistance Program Field Guide; Standard Work Specifications; and for 
SWG ONLY the SWG Approved Measures List. 
 

D. Maximum investment per unit is as follows: 
a. APS (funds restricted to APS Customers only): $9,000 maximum investment per unit, which consists 

energy efficient (including health and safety, repair and replace) measures and up to 20% for 
Administrative. The total for all expenditures on a unit must not exceed $9,000.00. 

b. SWG (funds restricted to SWG Customers only): $3,300 maximum investment per unit, which consists 
of $3,000 toward energy efficient (including health and safety) measures and up to $300 for 
administration. Administrative costs must not exceed 10% of cost for measures. Health and Safety 
must not exceed 25% of Program Operations costs.  
 

E. CAHRA will be expected to fully expend awarded funds and complete the following number of units: 
a. APS: twenty-three (23) completed units passing final inspection and ADOH WAP monitoring; and 
b. SWG: five (5) completed units passing final inspection and ADOH WAP monitoring. 

 
 



APS & SWG WEATHERIZATION ATTACHMENT B

ADOH PERFORMANCE REPORT/SCHEDULE OF COMPLETION Page 1 of 1
Recipient Date

Contract No 216-24 Contract Period: from 1/1/2024 to 12/31/2024 Revision #   
Activity 

Recipient Address City Globe
Contact Person Zip Code 85501

Phone Email Fax 928-402-8652
Program Specialist Gloria Castro Email gloria.castro@azhousing.gov County Gila

 Indicate adherence to contract or schedule changes. Due by the 30th of each month.
Contract Schedule Contract Date Complete Yes/No Modification Date
Contract Execution 1/31/2024
Completion of 5 APS & 1 SWG Unit 3/31/2024
Completion of 11 APS & 2 SWG Units (all numbers cumulative) 6/30/2024
Completion of 17 APS & 3 SWG Units (all numbers cumulative) 9/30/2024
Completion of 23 APS & 5 SWG Units (all numbers cumulative) 12/31/2024
Project Complete-Contract Close Out 1/31/2025

Please provide a brief description of activities performed this three month period.  Include occurrences that caused variation from schedule 
changes to plans, unforeseen circumstances, etc. Please be specific. Finally, answer questions at narrative section A. through H.  

A. # of APS units 100% complete? D. # of SWG units 100% complete?
B. # of APS units under construction? E. # of SWG units under construction?
C. # of APS units out to bid? F. # of SWG units out to bid?
D. # of APS units on wait list or in call queue H. # of SWG units on wait list or in call queue

Recipient Authorized Signature                 Date Title

Gila County

Weatherization Assistance Program
Office of Community Services - 5515 S. Apache Ave., Suite 200
Estelle Belarde

ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov928-402-8685

mailto:gloria.castro@azhousing.gov#
mailto:ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov


APS & SWG WEATHERIZATION Attachment C

Budget 
Recipient Date

Contract No./File No. 216-24 Contract Period: from 1/1/2024 to 12/31/2024 Revision No.
Activity 

Recipient Address City Globe
Contact Person Zip Code 85501

Phone Email Fax 928-402-8652
Program Specialist Email County Gila

a c d e f g h
Budget Line Item or APS SWG Source Source Source GRANT TOTAL

Activity No. FY2024 FY2024 Program Year Program Year Program Year ALL SOURCES
APS Administration $41,333.00
APS Program Ops $181,867.00
APS Health & Safety $4,133.00
APS Repair/Replace $20,667.00

SWG Administration 1,681.00$               
SWG Program Operations 12,665.00$             
SWG Health and Safety 4,144.00$               
Total $248,000.00 $18,490.00 $0.00 $266,490.00

REV. 5-2016

Estelle Belarde
928-402-8685 ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov

gloria.castro@azhousing.govGloria Castro

Gila County

Weatherization Assistance Program
Office of Community Services - 5515 S. Apache Ave., Suite 200

mailto:ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov#
mailto:gloria.castro@azhousing.gov#


APS & SWG WEATHERIZATION Attachment D
ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING REQUEST FOR PAYMENT SUMMARY SHEET PAGE 1 OF 2 

Recipient Date
Contract No Contract Period: from 1/1/2024 to 12/31/2024 Pay Req. No/Mo

Activity Weatherization Assistance Program Direct Wire Dep Yes          No
Recipient Address City Globe

Contact Person ZIP 85501
Phone Email Fax 928-402-8652

Program Specialist Email County Gila
Itemized Payment Statement (Sheet 2 of 2) must accompany this form.  Include copies of invoices, cashed checks, and other backup
documentation. SIGNATURES are required for processing.

a b c d d e f g h
Budget Line Item or ASAP APS SWG Source Total Amount Balance in Amount of this New 

Activity No.  No. FY2024 FY2024 Program Year Req. to Date Account Request Balance
1. APS Administration N/A 41,333.00$         -$                   41,333.00$         41,333.00$              
2. APS Program Ops N/A 181,867.00$       -$                   181,867.00$       181,867.00$            
3. APS Health & Safety N/A 4,133.00$           -$                   4,133.00$           4,133.00$                
4. APS Repair/Replace N/A 20,667.00$         -$                   20,667.00$         20,667.00$              
5. APS Total Draw -$                   248,000.00$       0.00 248,000.00$            

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

6. SWG Admin. N/A 1,681.00$           -$                   1,681.00$           1,681.00$                
7. SWG Program Ops. N/A 12,665.00$         -$                   12,665.00$         12,665.00$              
8. SWG Health/Safety N/A 4,144.00$           -$                   4,144.00$           4,144.00$                
9. SWG Total Draw N/A -$                   18,490.00$         0.00 18,490.00$              
Total 248,000.00$       18,490.00$         -$                   -$                   266,490.00$       -$                   266,490.00$            

Recipient Authorized Signature Date Title
Recipient Authorized Signatory certifies that all activities undertaken by the contractor with funds provided under this contract have been carried 
out in accordance with the contract.  Attach wiring information if not previously submitted. Attach alternate mailing address if necessary. 

Performance Reports Current  Not Current
For ADOH Use

Only
ADOH Program Specialist Approval Date ADOH Prgrm Administrator Approval Date

REV. 1-2014

Gila County

Office of Community Services - 5515 S. Apache Ave., Suite 200
Estelle Belarde

Gloria Castro

216-24

928-402-8685
gloria.castro@azhousing.gov
ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov

mailto:gloria.castro@azhousing.gov
mailto:ebelarde@gilacountyaz.gov


Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing 
 

Attachment E 

ATTACHMENT E 
SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

 
SWG Approved Measure List 

 
Southwest Gas Measure 1 Requires 

Natural Gas 
Space Heating 
Source 

Requires 
Natural Gas 
Water Heating 
Source 

Specific Requirements 2 

Duct Replacement X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
Duct Sealing X  Pressure relief to be included in Duct Sealing cost. Must be cost 

effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
Envelope Sealing X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
HSD Cooler Repair   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD CO & Smoke Detector   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Door   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD General Repair   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Installed Stove   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Repair Stove   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Replace Registers   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Spot Ventilation   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Natural Gas Water Heater   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD Upper/Lower Combustion Air   Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HSD HVAC Service X  Health & Safety Budget capped at 25% of agency’s overall budget 
HVAC Replacement X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
HVAC Replacement – Gas Pack X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 Gas Pac may only 

replace an existing Gas Pac 
Installed Insulation X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
Low Cost / No Cost   Capped at $250 
     Low Flow Showerhead  X  
     Faucet Aerator  X  



Funding Agreement with 
State of Arizona, Department of Housing 
 

Attachment E 

     Weather Stripping X   
     Water Heater Insulation  X  
     Furnace Filters X   
     Door Sweep X   
     Pipe Insulation  X  
     Set-back Thermostat X   
Low-e Storm Windows X   
Misalignment Repair (batt insulation) X   
Replace Glass X  Must be justified with infiltration reduction or will fall under H&S 
Repair Replacement of leaking hot water 
control valves 

 X Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 

Relocation of Thermostat X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 
Replacement of evaporative cooler roof 
jacks with damper system 

X  Must be cost effective or have SIR greater than 1.0 

 
1 All Recipients of measures funded by Southwest Gas must be Southwest Gas customers. 

 
2 All approved Southwest Gas measures shall follow the same rules as the Arizona Priority List (if applicable) for Single Family Homes 

and/or Mobile Homes dependent on Climate Zones. Installation and workmanship requirements shall follow the State WAP Plan and 
Weatherization Assistance Program requirements. Buy downs for measures that do not return and SIR of greater than or equal to 1 in REM 
are disallowed. Any measure that does not return an SIR of greater than or equal to 1 must be allocated to the Health and Safety Budget. 
Audit cost are an allowable expense if no other funds are available for the audit, but the audit will be considered Health and Safety. As 
continuous guidance is given from DOE and funding source, these requirements can change at the direction of the Arizona Department of 
Housing.  

 



   
ARF-8584   Regular Agenda Item     2. L.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: Woody Cline, Board of Supervisors-District 3 
Submitted By: Cathy Melvin, Executive Assistant
Department: Board of Supervisors-District 3
Fiscal Year: 2023 - 2024 Budgeted?: Yes
Contract Dates
Begin & End: 

1/1/2024 to 1/1/2025 Grant?: Yes

Matching
Requirement?: 

No Fund?: Renewal

Information
Request/Subject
Approval of Economic Development Agreement No. 02022024 with
Hayden-Winkelman Little League District #11.

Background Information
Every year funds are budgeted to support economic development
activities. Hayden-Winkelman Little League has applied to Gila County for
an economic development grant in the amount of $500 to support the
Hayden-Winkelman Little League program. The program supports local
area youth in both baseball and softball programs.
Under ARS 11-254, contributions may be made to any governmental
agency or non-profit corporation that enjoys and maintains federal
tax-exempt status as long as all monies are utilized for the purpose
determined to be public by the Board in exchange for the contribution.
The Hayden-Winkelman Little League is a non-profit organization,
operated and maintained within the boundaries of Gila County.

Evaluation
Funds are available. After reviewing the application and agreement and
asking any necessary questions, the Board shall determine if the request
is for the benefit of the public.
The organization agrees to provide recognition of Gila County on banners
located at the baseball field.

Conclusion
Funds are available and after evaluation, the Board may approve



Funds are available and after evaluation, the Board may approve
Economic Development Agreement No. 02022024 that the Board has
determined to be for the benefit of the public by entering into an
agreement with the Hayden-Winkelman Little League District #11 a
non-profit organization. All grant monies awarded to the non-profit shall
be used for the purpose determined to be public by the Board.

Recommendation
After evaluation, the Board may approve Economic Development
Agreement No. 02022024, which the Board has determined to be for the
benefit of the public by entering into an agreement with
Hayden-Winkelman Little League District #11, a non-profit organization.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to approve Economic Development
Agreement No. 02022024 between Gila County and the
Hayden-Winkelman Little League District #11 in the amount of $500,
which the Board has determined to be for the benefit of the public.
(Woody Cline)

Attachments
Economic Development Agreement No. 02022024
Hayden Winkelman Little League Request

















   
ARF-8602   Regular Agenda Item     2. M.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: Woody Cline, Board of Supervisors-District 3 
Submitted By: Cathy Melvin, Executive Assistant
Department: Board of Supervisors-District 3
Fiscal Year: 2023 - 2024 Budgeted?: Yes
Contract Dates
Begin & End: 

1/1/2024 Grant?: Yes

Matching
Requirement?: 

No Fund?: New

Information
Request/Subject
Approval of Intergovernmental Agreement No. 02032024, an economic
development grant, with Hayden-Winkelman Unified School District (USD)
#41

Background Information
Every year funds are budgeted to support economic development
activities. Hayden-Winkelman USD #41 has applied to Gila County for an
economic development grant in the amount of $1,500 to support the
Hayden-Winkelman USD #41 Scholarship Fund. The Scholarship Fund
will provide a graduating senior with a $1,500 scholarship. Under ARS
11-254, contributions may be made to any governmental agency or
non-profit corporation that enjoys and maintains federal tax-exempt
status as long as all monies are utilized for the purpose determined to be
public by the Board in exchange for the contribution. The
Hayden-Winkelman USD #41 is a governmental agency operated within
the boundaries of Gila County.

Evaluation
Funds are available. After reviewing the application and agreement and
asking any necessary questions, the Board shall determine if the request
is for the benefit of the public. The organization agrees to provide
recognition of Gila County during the scholarship presentation and on
printed information provided to the public.

Conclusion



Funds are available, and after evaluation, the Board may approve the
Intergovernmental Agreement No. 02032024, an economic development
grant, that the Board has determined to be for the benefit of the public by
entering into an agreement with the Hayden-Winkelman USD #41, a
governmental agency. All grant monies awarded to the school district shall
be used for the purpose determined to be public by the Board.

Recommendation
After evaluation, the Board may approve Intergovernmental Agreement
No. 02032024, an economic development grant, which the Board has
determined to be for the benefit of the public by entering into an
agreement with Hayden-Winkelman USD #41, a governmental agency.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to approve Intergovernmental Agreement
No. 02032024, an economic development grant, between Gila County and
the Hayden-Winkelman Unified School District #41 in the amount of
$1,500, which the Board has determined to be for the benefit of the
public. (Woody Cline)

Attachments
Economic Development Agreement No. 02032024
Hayden Winkelman USD Request 















   
ARF-8603   Regular Agenda Item     2. N.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Submitted For: Woody Cline, Board of Supervisors-District 3 
Submitted By: Cathy Melvin, Executive Assistant
Department: Board of Supervisors-District 3
Fiscal Year: 2023 - 2024 Budgeted?: Yes
Contract Dates
Begin & End: 

3/5/24 to 3/5/25 Grant?: Yes

Matching
Requirement?: 

No Fund?: New

Information
Request/Subject
Approval of Intergovernmental Agreement No. 02012024 with the Town of
Winkelman in the amount of $11,000.

Background Information
Every year funds are budgeted to support economic development
activities. The Town of Hayden has applied to Gila County for an
economic development grant in the amount of $11,000 to support the
Town of Winkelman with the purchase of a wood chipper. The wood
chipper will assist the Town with the removal of trees and assist with the
clearing of areas within Town owned properties as well as assist with fire
wising various areas of the community.  Under ARS 11-254, contributions
may be made to any governmental agency or non-profit corporation that
enjoys and maintains federal tax-exempt status as long as all monies are
utilized for the purpose determined to be public by the Board in exchange
for the contribution. The Town of Winkelman is a government agency
within the boundaries of Gila County.

Evaluation
Funds are available. After reviewing the application/agreement, and
asking any necessary questions, the Board shall determine if the request
is for the benefit of the public. The organization agrees to provide
recognition of Gila County in any publications and on the Town’s website.

Conclusion
Funds are available, and after evaluation, the Board may approve the



Funds are available, and after evaluation, the Board may approve the
Intergovernmental Agreement No. 020012024, an economic development
grant, that the Board has determined to be for the benefit of the public by
entering into an agreement with the Town of Winkelman, a governmental
agency. All grant monies awarded to the Town shall be used for the
purpose determined to be public by the Board.

Recommendation
After evaluation, the Board may approve Intergovernmental Agreement
No. 020012024, an economic development grant, which the Board has
determined to be for the benefit of the public by entering into an
agreement with the Town of Winkelman, a governmental agency.

Suggested Motion
Information/Discussion/Action to approve Intergovernmental Agreement
No. 020012024, an economic development grant, between Gila County
and the Town of Winkelman in the amount of $11,000, which the Board
has determined to be for the benefit of the public. (Woody Cline)

Attachments
Intergovernmental Agreement No. 02012024
Town of Winkelman Request
Mech Max Quote
A to Z Quote



























   
ARF-8600   Consent Agenda Item     3. A.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Reporting
Period:

Recorder's Office Monthly Report for January 2024

Submitted For: Sadie Bingham, Recorder 
Submitted By: Charlotte Williams, Chief Deputy Recorder

Information
Subject
Recorder's Office Monthly Report for January 2024

Suggested Motion
Acknowledgment of the January 2024 monthly activity report submitted
by the Recorder's Office. 

Attachments
Recorder's January 2024 Monthly Report



























   
ARF-8590   Consent Agenda Item     3. B.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Reporting
Period:

January 2024

Submitted For: Anita Escobedo, Clerk of the Superior Court 
Submitted By: Anita Escobedo, Clerk of the Superior Court

Information
Subject
Clerk of the Superior Court Monthly Report for January, 2024.

Suggested Motion
Acknowledgment of the January, 2024 monthly activity report submitted
by the Clerk of the Superior Court's Office.

Attachments
Clerk's Summary Report January 2024
Clerk's Report January 2024



















   
ARF-8595   Consent Agenda Item     3. C.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Reporting
Period:

Globe Regional Constable's Report for January 2024

Submitted For: Ruben Mancha, Globe Regional Constable 
Submitted By: Mary Curiel, Constable Clerk

Information
Subject
Globe Regional Constable's Report for January 2024

Suggested Motion
Acknowledgment of January 2024 monthly activity report submitted by
Globe Regional Constable's Office.

Attachments
JANUARY 2024





























   
ARF-8596   Consent Agenda Item     3. D.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Reporting
Period:

Payson Regional Constable's Report for January 2024

Submitted For: Tony McDaniel, Payson Regional Constable 
Submitted By: Kimberly Rust, Constable Clerk

Information
Subject
Payson Regional Constable's Office for January 2024

Suggested Motion
Acknowledgment of the January 2024 monthly activity report submitted
by the Payson Regional Constable's Office.

Attachments
January 2024

























   
ARF-8597   Consent Agenda Item     3. E.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Reporting
Period:

Monthly Report for January 20024

Submitted For: Mary Navarro, Justice Court Operations Mgr. 
Submitted By: Mary Navarro, Justice Court Operations Mgr.

Information
Subject
Globe Regional Justice of the Peace's Office monthly report for January
2024.

Suggested Motion
Acknowledge of the January 2024 monthly activity report submitted by
the Globe Regional Justice of the Peace's Office.

Attachments
GRJC January 2024 Remittance Report









   
ARF-8579   Consent Agenda Item     3. F.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Reporting
Period:

August 2023

Submitted For: Andrea Hamm, Court Manager 
Submitted By: Andrea Hamm, Court Manager

Information
Subject
Payson Regional Justice of Peace's Office Monthly Report for November
2023.

Suggested Motion
Acknowledgment of the November 2023 monthly activity report submitted
by the Payson Regional Justice of the Peace's Office.

Attachments
November 2023 Monthly report





Clearance Rate

LINE ID CASE TYPE
Total Filings* Total 

Dispositions**
Clearance Rate Cases Pending End 

Of Month
Cases on Warrants 

Status

Section - 1 Misdemeanor
Person

A Person-Sex Offenses 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

B Person-Kidnapping 0 0 0.00 % 1 1

C Person-Aggravated Assaults 0 0 0.00 % 0 1

D Person-Other Assaults 1 6 600.00 % 77 76

Property

E Property-Burglary 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

F Property-Auto Theft 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

G Property-Other 2 7 350.00 % 76 85

Other

H Drug Possession/Paraphernalia 0 1 0.00 % 102 130

I Weapons 0 0 0.00 % 1 1

J Public Order 2 4 200.00 % 114 97

K Interfering With Judicial Proceedings 0 1 0.00 % 16 13

L Failure to Appear/Misd&CrimTraffic 0 0 0.00 % 5 1

M Petty Offenses 0 0 0.00 % 4 1

N Other 3 4 133.33 % 130 128

O Section 1: Total Misdemeanor 8 23 287.50 % 526 534
Section - 2 Criminal Traffic
DUI

A Motor Vehicle 2 2 100.00 % 70 74

B Extreme Motor Vehicle 0 1 0.00 % 23 44

C Boating/Flying 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

Serious Violations

D Leaving the Scene 0 0 0.00 % 10 4

E Reckless Driving 1 0 0.00 % 16 5

F Racing on Highway 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

G All Other 0 0 0.00 % 2 2

Other Violations

H Criminal Speed 6 2 33.33 % 47 24

I All Other 10 12 120.00 % 315 399

J Section 2: Total Criminal Traffic 19 17 89.47 % 483 552
Section - 3 CivilTraffic

A Driver License 8 6 75.00 % 48 0

B Registration 8 6 75.00 % 343 0

C Insurance 23 10 43.48 % 223 0

D Speeding 60 32 53.33 % 233 1

E Excessive Speeding 139 75 53.96 % 147 0

F Red Light 1 0 0.00 % 8 0

G Seat Belt 4 7 175.00 % 42 0

H Marijuana Non-Criminal 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

I Other Civil Traffic 25 18 72.00 % 214 1

J Section 3: Total Civil Traffic 268 154 57.46 % 1258 2
Section - 4 Local - Non Criminal Ordinances

A Parking 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

B Non-Parking 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

Section - 5 Felony

A Total Felony 3 5 166.67 % 133 51

 GRAND TOTAL 298 199 66.78 % 2400 1139
Section - 6 Domestic Violence

Limited Jurisdiction Courts
Misdemeanor, Criminal And Civil Traffic Caseload Summary By Case 

PAYSON REGIONAL JUSTICE COURT - 404
START DATE : 11/1/2023          END DATE :11/30/2023

Total Filings & Dispositions

 Misdemeanor, Criminal and Civil Traffic Caseload Summary Report By Case  2/7/2024 11:02:30 AM  Page 1 of 1



A Felony-Domestic Violence 0 0 0.00 % 4 0

B Misdemeanor-Domestic Violence 2 0 0.00 % 80 0

Section - 7 Special Case Characteristics

A Self Represented Litigants 291 180 61.86 % 2136 984

B Interpreter Services Provided 2 0 0.00 % 14 6

 Misdemeanor, Criminal and Civil Traffic Caseload Summary Report By Case  2/7/2024 11:02:30 AM  Page 1 of 1



Column ID 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

LINE 
ID CASE TYPE

New Filing Transfer In Reopened Reactivated
Placed on 

Inactive Status
Active Inactive Entry of Judgment Reopened Active Inactive Active Inactive

Section - 1 Civil

A Small Claims 26 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 22 0

B Forcible Detainer / Eviction Action 21 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 21 0

C Tort 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

D Contract 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

E Debt-Seller Plaintiff 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

F Other Civil 204 1 33 0 0 0 22 0 0 215 1

G Total Civil Complaints 252 1 38 0 0 0 32 0 0 258 1
Section - 2 Domestic Violence & 
Harassment Petitions

A Civil Emergency Order of Protection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

B Civil Order of Protection 21 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 21 0

C Injunction Against Harassment 40 0 7 0 0 0 8 0 0 39 0

D Injunction Against Workplace 
Harassment

1 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 1 0

Section - 3 Special Case 
Characteristics

A Self Represented Litigants 306 1 51 0 0 0 44 0 0 313 1

B Interpreter Provided 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Limited Jurisdiction Courts
START DATE : 11/1/2023          END DATE : 11/30/2023

Begin Pending Terminations Statistical Correction End Pending

 2/7/2024 11:05:47 AM  Page 1 of 1



   
ARF-8580   Consent Agenda Item     3. G.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Reporting
Period:

December 2023

Submitted For: Andrea Hamm, Court Manager 
Submitted By: Andrea Hamm, Court Manager

Information
Subject
Payson Regional Justice of Peace's Office Monthly Report for December
2023.

Suggested Motion
Acknowledgment of the December 2023 monthly activity report submitted
by the Payson Regional Justice of the Peace's Office.

Attachments
Dec 2023 Reports 





Clearance Rate

LINE ID CASE TYPE
Total Filings* Total 

Dispositions**
Clearance Rate Cases Pending End 

Of Month
Cases on Warrants 

Status

Section - 1 Misdemeanor
Person

A Person-Sex Offenses 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

B Person-Kidnapping 0 0 0.00 % 1 1

C Person-Aggravated Assaults 0 0 0.00 % 0 1

D Person-Other Assaults 3 0 0.00 % 80 78

Property

E Property-Burglary 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

F Property-Auto Theft 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

G Property-Other 2 3 150.00 % 75 84

Other

H Drug Possession/Paraphernalia 0 0 0.00 % 102 129

I Weapons 0 0 0.00 % 1 1

J Public Order 0 3 0.00 % 111 97

K Interfering With Judicial Proceedings 1 0 0.00 % 17 13

L Failure to Appear/Misd&CrimTraffic 0 0 0.00 % 5 1

M Petty Offenses 0 0 0.00 % 4 1

N Other 2 6 300.00 % 126 127

O Section 1: Total Misdemeanor 8 12 150.00 % 522 533
Section - 2 Criminal Traffic
DUI

A Motor Vehicle 0 5 0.00 % 65 78

B Extreme Motor Vehicle 1 0 0.00 % 24 44

C Boating/Flying 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

Serious Violations

D Leaving the Scene 1 0 0.00 % 11 4

E Reckless Driving 0 1 0.00 % 15 5

F Racing on Highway 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

G All Other 0 0 0.00 % 2 2

Other Violations

H Criminal Speed 0 2 0.00 % 45 23

I All Other 9 13 144.44 % 311 402

J Section 2: Total Criminal Traffic 11 21 190.91 % 473 558
Section - 3 CivilTraffic

A Driver License 8 10 125.00 % 46 0

B Registration 10 5 50.00 % 348 0

C Insurance 23 27 117.39 % 219 0

D Speeding 64 52 81.25 % 245 1

E Excessive Speeding 87 118 135.63 % 116 0

F Red Light 2 1 50.00 % 9 0

G Seat Belt 6 7 116.67 % 41 0

H Marijuana Non-Criminal 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

I Other Civil Traffic 31 16 51.61 % 229 1

J Section 3: Total Civil Traffic 231 236 102.16 % 1253 2
Section - 4 Local - Non Criminal Ordinances

A Parking 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

B Non-Parking 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

Section - 5 Felony

A Total Felony 8 4 50.00 % 137 51

 GRAND TOTAL 258 273 105.81 % 2385 1144
Section - 6 Domestic Violence

Limited Jurisdiction Courts
Misdemeanor, Criminal And Civil Traffic Caseload Summary By Case 

PAYSON REGIONAL JUSTICE COURT - 404
START DATE : 12/1/2023          END DATE :12/31/2023

Total Filings & Dispositions

 Misdemeanor, Criminal and Civil Traffic Caseload Summary Report By Case  2/7/2024 11:11:45 AM  Page 1 of 1



A Felony-Domestic Violence 0 0 0.00 % 4 0

B Misdemeanor-Domestic Violence 3 0 0.00 % 82 0

Section - 7 Special Case Characteristics

A Self Represented Litigants 246 262 106.50 % 2120 989

B Interpreter Services Provided 0 0 0.00 % 14 7

 Misdemeanor, Criminal and Civil Traffic Caseload Summary Report By Case  2/7/2024 11:11:45 AM  Page 1 of 1



Column ID 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

LINE 
ID CASE TYPE

New Filing Transfer In Reopened Reactivated
Placed on 

Inactive Status
Active Inactive Entry of Judgment Reopened Active Inactive Active Inactive

Section - 1 Civil

A Small Claims 22 0 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 22 0

B Forcible Detainer / Eviction Action 21 0 7 0 0 0 6 0 0 22 0

C Tort 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

D Contract 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

E Debt-Seller Plaintiff 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

F Other Civil 215 1 31 0 0 0 7 0 0 239 1

G Total Civil Complaints 258 1 40 0 0 0 15 0 0 283 1
Section - 2 Domestic Violence & 
Harassment Petitions

A Civil Emergency Order of Protection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

B Civil Order of Protection 21 0 5 0 1 0 5 0 0 22 0

C Injunction Against Harassment 39 0 10 0 1 0 11 0 0 39 0

D Injunction Against Workplace 
Harassment

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Section - 3 Special Case 
Characteristics

A Self Represented Litigants 313 1 55 0 1 0 30 0 0 339 1

B Interpreter Provided 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Limited Jurisdiction Courts
START DATE : 12/1/2023          END DATE : 12/31/2023

Begin Pending Terminations Statistical Correction End Pending

 2/7/2024 11:10:22 AM  Page 1 of 1



   
ARF-8581   Consent Agenda Item     3. H.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Reporting
Period:

January 2024

Submitted For: Andrea Hamm, Court Manager 
Submitted By: Andrea Hamm, Court Manager

Information
Subject
Payson Regional Justice of Peace's Office Monthly Report for January
2024.

Suggested Motion
Acknowledgment of the January 2024 monthly activity report submitted
by the Payson Regional Justice of the Peace's Office.

Attachments
January 2024 Reports 





Clearance Rate

LINE ID CASE TYPE
Total Filings* Total 

Dispositions**
Clearance Rate Cases Pending End 

Of Month
Cases on Warrants 

Status

Section - 1 Misdemeanor
Person

A Person-Sex Offenses 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

B Person-Kidnapping 0 0 0.00 % 1 1

C Person-Aggravated Assaults 0 0 0.00 % 0 1

D Person-Other Assaults 2 3 150.00 % 79 78

Property

E Property-Burglary 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

F Property-Auto Theft 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

G Property-Other 4 1 25.00 % 78 85

Other

H Drug Possession/Paraphernalia 0 0 0.00 % 102 129

I Weapons 0 0 0.00 % 1 1

J Public Order 1 3 300.00 % 109 97

K Interfering With Judicial Proceedings 1 0 0.00 % 18 13

L Failure to Appear/Misd&CrimTraffic 0 0 0.00 % 5 1

M Petty Offenses 0 0 0.00 % 4 1

N Other 5 3 60.00 % 128 129

O Section 1: Total Misdemeanor 13 10 76.92 % 525 536
Section - 2 Criminal Traffic
DUI

A Motor Vehicle 2 5 250.00 % 62 80

B Extreme Motor Vehicle 1 0 0.00 % 25 45

C Boating/Flying 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

Serious Violations

D Leaving the Scene 1 0 0.00 % 12 4

E Reckless Driving 0 0 0.00 % 15 5

F Racing on Highway 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

G All Other 0 0 0.00 % 2 2

Other Violations

H Criminal Speed 5 3 60.00 % 47 24

I All Other 14 5 35.71 % 320 405

J Section 2: Total Criminal Traffic 23 13 56.52 % 483 565
Section - 3 CivilTraffic

A Driver License 10 4 40.00 % 52 0

B Registration 17 3 17.65 % 362 0

C Insurance 25 10 40.00 % 234 0

D Speeding 59 67 113.56 % 237 1

E Excessive Speeding 134 125 93.28 % 125 0

F Red Light 1 1 100.00 % 9 0

G Seat Belt 8 3 37.50 % 46 0

H Marijuana Non-Criminal 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

I Other Civil Traffic 25 26 104.00 % 228 1

J Section 3: Total Civil Traffic 279 239 85.66 % 1293 2
Section - 4 Local - Non Criminal Ordinances

A Parking 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

B Non-Parking 0 0 0.00 % 0 0

Section - 5 Felony

A Total Felony 7 7 100.00 % 137 52

 GRAND TOTAL 322 269 83.54 % 2438 1155
Section - 6 Domestic Violence

Limited Jurisdiction Courts
Misdemeanor, Criminal And Civil Traffic Caseload Summary By Case 

PAYSON REGIONAL JUSTICE COURT - 404
START DATE : 1/1/2024          END DATE :1/31/2024

Total Filings & Dispositions

 Misdemeanor, Criminal and Civil Traffic Caseload Summary Report By Case  2/7/2024 11:22:20 AM  Page 1 of 1



A Felony-Domestic Violence 1 0 0.00 % 4 0

B Misdemeanor-Domestic Violence 2 0 0.00 % 83 0

Section - 7 Special Case Characteristics

A Self Represented Litigants 315 254 80.63 % 2181 998

B Interpreter Services Provided 2 3 150.00 % 13 7

 Misdemeanor, Criminal and Civil Traffic Caseload Summary Report By Case  2/7/2024 11:22:20 AM  Page 1 of 1



Column ID 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13

LINE 
ID CASE TYPE

New Filing Transfer In Reopened Reactivated
Placed on 

Inactive Status
Active Inactive Entry of Judgment Reopened Active Inactive Active Inactive

Section - 1 Civil

A Small Claims 22 0 1 0 0 0 2 0 0 21 0

B Forcible Detainer / Eviction Action 22 0 10 0 0 0 9 0 0 23 0

C Tort 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

D Contract 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

E Debt-Seller Plaintiff 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

F Other Civil 239 1 33 0 0 0 20 0 0 252 1

G Total Civil Complaints 283 1 44 0 0 0 31 0 0 296 1
Section - 2 Domestic Violence & 
Harassment Petitions

A Civil Emergency Order of Protection 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

B Civil Order of Protection 21 0 6 0 1 0 6 0 0 22 0

C Injunction Against Harassment 38 0 16 0 0 0 15 0 0 39 0

D Injunction Against Workplace 
Harassment

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0

Section - 3 Special Case 
Characteristics

A Self Represented Litigants 338 1 66 0 1 0 51 0 0 354 1

B Interpreter Provided 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Limited Jurisdiction Courts
START DATE : 1/1/2024          END DATE : 1/31/2024

Begin Pending Terminations Statistical Correction End Pending

 2/7/2024 11:18:07 AM  Page 1 of 1



   
ARF-8611   Consent Agenda Item     3. I.     
Regular BOS Meeting
Meeting Date: 03/05/2024  
Reporting
Period:

January 30, 2024 Meeting Minutes

Submitted By: Samantha Trimble, Deputy Clerk of the Board

Information
Subject
Board of Supervisors' January 30, 2024 Meeting Minutes.

Suggested Motion
Approval of the Board of Supervisors' January 30, 2024, meeting minutes.

Attachments
1-30-24 BOS meeting minutes



Page 1 of 8 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS MEETING MINUTES 
GILA COUNTY, ARIZONA 

 
Date:  January 30, 2024 
 
STEPHEN CHRISTENSEN     JAMES MENLOVE 
Chairman        Clerk of the Board 
 
TIM R. HUMPHREY       By: Samantha Trimble 
Vice-Chairman       Deputy Clerk 
                                                             
WOODY CLINE               Gila County Courthouse 
Member         Globe, Arizona                        
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
PRESENT:  Stephen Christensen, Chairman; Tim R. Humphrey, Vice-
Chairman; and Woody Cline, Member 
 
STAFF PRESENT: James Menlove, County Manager and Clerk of the Board; 
Jefferson Dalton, Civil Bureau Chief and Deputy County Attorney; Jessica 
Scibelli, Senior Civil Deputy County Attorney; and Samantha Trimble, Deputy 
Clerk of the Board. 

Item 1 - CALL TO ORDER - PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

The Board of Supervisors met in a Special Meeting at 10:00 a.m. this date in 
the Board of Supervisors’ hearing room. Woody Cline the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Item 2 - REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS:  
 
A. Information/Discussion/Action to approve Amendment No. 2 
to Professional Services Contract No. 072622 with Stephen B. Smith with 
a not to exceed amount of $189,500 and extend the term of the contract 
through December 31, 2024. 
 
Melanie Mendez, Recycling and Landfill Manager explained that Stephen B. 
Smith, a professional engineer has recently done work for the County. She 
stated that due to the complicated logistics of both County landfills, the 
Recycling and Landfill Division needs to continue its contract with Mr. Smith. 
 
Upon motion by Vice-Chairman Humphrey, seconded by Supervisor Cline, the 
Board unanimously approved Amendment No. 2 to Professional Services 
Contract No. 072622 with Stephen B. Smith with a not to exceed the amount of 
$189,500 and extended the term of the contract through December 31, 2024. 
 



Page 2 of 8 
 

Upon motion by Supervisor Cline, seconded by Vice-Chairman Humphrey, the 
Board unanimously recessed as the Gila County Board of Supervisors and 
convened as the Gila County Flood Control District Board of Directors to 
address item 4B. 
 
B. (Motion to recess as the Gila County Board of Supervisors and convene 
as the of the Gila County Flood Control District Board of 
Directors.) Information/Discussion regarding a proposed amendment to 
the Gila County Floodplain Management Ordinance. (Motion to adjourn as 
the Board of Directors of the Gila County Flood Control District and 
reconvene as the Gila County Board of Supervisors.)  
 
Darde de Roulhac, Flood Control District Chief Engineer explained that the 
Gila County Floodplain Management Ordinance revisions are necessary to 
reflect the immediate use of new Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) studies providing better flooding information, and revision of wording 
in definitions to align with those more closely in FEMA’s regulations. He 
provided a PowerPoint presentation that listed the required and recommended 
changes as follows: 
 
Required Changes: 

• All sheds, regardless of size, now need floodplain use permits. 
• No variances are to be issued for ordinance violations.  
• FEMA mandates using the best available information. This includes new 

“base-level engineering” (BLE) studies from FEMA, which are to be used 
prior to their incorporation into the revised official flood maps.  

• There are a few flood-prone areas on the BLE maps where this involves 
areas previously un-mapped by FEMA, but the current ordinance is 
limited to floodplain areas on official floodplain maps, so the ordinance is 
being expanded to be able to use the better data in those areas. 

Recommended Changes: 

• Equipment such as air conditioners, generators, and appliances will now 
have another option than elevation to the regulatory flood elevation to 
flood-protect the equipment. They may also be designed to prevent water 
from entering and accumulating in the equipment during flooding.  

• Agricultural buildings now have more flood-protection options. 
• Minor obstructions in floodways, such as electric pedestals, flagpoles, 

break-away fences, or open carports with minimal support posts, may 
now be permitted without having to pay for a flood study to show no rise 
in the flood level. 



Page 3 of 8 
 

Mr. de Roulhac explained that the proposed amendments to the ordinance are 
designed to ensure that the ordinance reflects the current federal and state 
floodplain regulations. The Board then had discussions regarding the proposed 
ordinance changes with an emphasis on issuing variances to the ordinance to 
rectify violations, as well as the maps used in the ordinance. Supervisor Cline 
stated, “We have some flexibility, and I would like to keep that. We get into 
tight spots, and then we have nowhere to go with a decision.” Vice-Chairman 
Humphrey stated, “We know our maps are wrong, and they need to be 
corrected. It’s difficult to stay consistent.” Mr. de Roulhac concluded his 
presentation by stating that the proposed ordinance changes are posted on the 
Gila County website and that a public hearing has been scheduled on February 
20, 2024. 
 
Upon motion by Vice-Chairman Humphrey, seconded by Supervisor Cline, the 
Board unanimously adjourned as the Gila County Flood Control District Board 
of Directors and reconvened as the Gila County Board of Supervisors to 
address the remaining agenda items. 
 
C. Information/Discussion regarding two design alternatives for the 
Monroe Street Design Project. 
 
Alex Kendrick, Gila County Engineer advised that Monroe Street serves as an 
important ingress and egress for vehicular traffic to access multiple Gila 
County facilities. The Monroe Street project will result in a road design that 
improves lines of sight and the overall safety of the road. In 2008, the Monroe 
Street Improvements Project was developed to a 90% design level.  Due to a 
variety of reasons, the project was halted at that time.  In October 2023, Public 
Works contracted with Stantec Consulting Services to take the existing 90% 
design to 100% design and prepare plans, specifications, and a cost estimate. 
He then introduced Chris Eggers, Stantec Consulting Project Engineer, who 
presented two project designs with project maps for the Board’s discussion as 
follows: 
 
Alternative 1 (Stantec’s proposed design) 

• Monroe Street pavement 
• Upper Drive pavement 
• Parking lot pavement 
• Roadway curb and gutter 
• 5-foot concrete retaining wall 

Alternative 2 (original 2008 design) 

• Monroe Street pavement 
• Upper Drive pavement 



Page 4 of 8 
 

• Parking lot pavement 
• Cul-de-sac pavement  
• 32-inch half barrier 
• 5 to 10-foot keystone retaining wall on Monroe Street and Upper Drive. 
• 3.5 to 5.5-foot keystone retaining wall on the cul-de-sac. 
• Relocate electric utility pole. 

Homero Vela, Public Works Department Director stated, “We lose the ability to 
exit the upper parking lot in option two and gain $300,000 in cost savings.” 
James Menlove, County Manager and Clerk of the Board stated, “We must redo 
the parking lots, and Monroe Street is unsafe.” Mr. Eggers stated that parts of 
both designs can be arranged into a third design for Board discussion. Mr. 
Kendrick advised that Middle Drive allows Americans with Disabilities Act 
access into the County’s Guerrero Building. Chairman Christensen stated, “I 
am of the mindset to spend more and get it done now rather than worry about 
it at a later date.” Mr. Vela asked the Board if access off the upper parking lot 
is important and if it should be considered. Vice-Chairman Humphrey replied, 
“I would rather see Middle Drive dead end, and the upper parking lot has an 
exit.” Both Chairman Christensen and Supervisor Cline agreed with Vice-
Chairman Humphrey. The Board members thanked the presenters for the 
information. 
 
D. Information/Discussion regarding an update on the Payson Courts 
Remodel Project.  
 
Joseph Dickison, Facilities and Land Management Department Director stated 
that the Payson Courts Remodel Project cost proposal is $1.7M, with $800,000 
of that amount being utilized to install a new fire suppression system, and that 
does not include an elevator. He stated that the benefit of the elevator does not 
outweigh the cost; however, with the remodel infrastructure it will be built in 
so that one could be installed later. Vice-Chairman Humphrey asked about the 
source of the funding for the Remodel Project, to which Mr. Dickison replied 
that ARPA (American Rescue Plan Act) funds will be utilized. Chairman 
Christensen asked what else the Remodel Project would accomplish besides the 
new fire suppression system. Mr. Dickison explained that the plumbing, HVAC, 
foundation, and space optimization will also be addressed.  Mr. Menlove stated, 
“The Town of Payson Fire Marshall said we cannot remodel until we have a new 
fire suppression system.” Mr. Dickison concluded his presentation by stating 
that a final proposal will come back to the Board for decision.  
 
E. Information/Discussion regarding an update on Gila County capital 
improvement projects.  
 



Page 5 of 8 
 

Mr. Dickison provided a presentation of the current Gila County capital 
improvements project, which includes the project, phase or project details, and 
completion date or targeted completion date. 
 
Russel Gulch Landfill Scale House: 

• Completed August 15, 2023. 
• Scale house was completed per engineered plans adding operations 

space, a restroom, and HVAC. 

Pleasant Valley Veterans Retreat (PVVR) Phase II: 

• Planning phase. 
• Setting up interviews with architects under state contract. 
• This project will support the functionality of the PVVR but provide a 

multi-use building. 
• Targeted completion of 2025. 

Payson Sherriff’s Office Remodel: 

• Feasibility phase. 
• Proposed renovations include improved warming kitchen and laundry, 

and an update to walls, ceilings, floors, and lighting. 
• ARPA funded. 

Project Overwatch- Security Cameras 

• Planning phase. 
• Upgrade and standardization of security cameras throughout Gila 

County facilities. 
• A demonstration camera was installed and is being evaluated. 
• Plans are being developed, and proposals have been received. 

Central Heights Elections Card Readers 

• Planning phase. 
• This project improves the security and transparency of the Elections 

Office area with card reader access and tracking as well as improved 
door reinforcement and security. 

• Approved proposal in the amount of $26,099.65. 

Central Heights HVAC/Roof Replacement 

• Planning phase 
• Construction plans are in development with GH2 Architects. 



Page 6 of 8 
 

• Project includes the replacement of roofing as well as the replacement 
and relocation of the HVAC equipment to the rooftop instead of in 
between the roof and drop ceiling. This will allow less office disruption 
and improved access to the HVAC system for maintenance and repair. 

Star Valley Impound Yard Fence 

• Planning phase. 
• Installation of security fencing and privacy screens were added to the 

existing concrete Jersey barriers will provide improved security and 
reduce visibility from passersby. 

• Engineer design is $9,322.59. 

Human Resources (HR)/Probation Renovations 

• Planning phase. 
• Relocation of three doors will transition two rooms from the probation 

area to be used to increase the HR office space. 
• Proposal is $34,194.49. 

Tommie Cline Martin County Complex -Board of Supervisors’ Hearing Room 
Acoustical Panels 

• Planning phase. 
• An acoustical survey will be performed in the hearing room, and 

acoustical panels will be installed to reduce noise and echo in the 
surrounding offices. 

Chairman Christensen recessed the meeting at 12:20 p.m. and he reconvened 
the meeting at 12:30 p.m.  
 
Roads/Shop Wash Bay 

• Planning phase. 
• Project is under consideration and options are being researched that 

would suit the needs of the operation. 

Fairgrounds Restroom 

• Construction phase. 
• Gila County has contracted with Public Restroom Company and SJ 

Anderson for a new restroom facility to serve the area of the two arenas. 
• The prefabricated 484-square-foot restroom facility was delivered in two 

halves and set in place on the established earthen pad.  
• Utilities infrastructure and connections are underway. 



Page 7 of 8 
 

• Water and septic are complete. 
• Next steps are power and electrical connections. 
• Budget is $619,649.38 

Fairgrounds Exhibit Hall Roll-up Door 

• Feasibility phase. 
• Proposal requested for installation of new electrically operated roll-up 

doors with any available option to reduce wind noise and improve 
operation. 

Fairgrounds Electrical Improvements 

• Planning phase. 
• Construction drawings are in development with GH2 Architects. 
• Architectural and engineering design costs are $91,636. 

Mr. Dickison concluded his presentation by providing a graph of ARPA-funded 
capital projects that outlined the funding breakdown of each project. 
  
F. Information/Discussion regarding a draft Employee Educational 
Assistance Program policy, which could be used as a tool for County 
Administration in recruiting and retaining employees.   
 
Michael O’Driscoll, Deputy County Manager explained that County employees 
could benefit from an educational assistance program, which would encourage 
employees to pursue an education, certification, or degree in relation to their 
job duties. He stated that the proposed reimbursement amount per employee 
would be $5,200. Mr. Menlove stated that, ideally, the County would budget 
around $250,000 per fiscal year, allocated towards employee reimbursement.  
 
Item 3 - CALL TO THE PUBLIC:  A call to the public is held for public 
benefit to allow individuals to address the Board of Supervisors on any 
issue within the jurisdiction of the Board of Supervisors. Board members 
may not discuss items that are not specifically identified on the agenda. 
Therefore, pursuant to Arizona Revised Statute § 38-431.01(H), at the 
conclusion of an open call to the public, individual members of the Board 
of Supervisors may respond to criticism made by those who have 
addressed the Board, may ask staff to review a matter or may ask that a 
matter be put on a future agenda for further discussion and decision at a 
future date.  
 
There were not any public comments. 
 



Page 8 of 8 
 

Item 4 - At any time during this meeting pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-
431.02(K), members of the Board of Supervisors and the County Manager 
may present a brief summary of current events.  No action may be taken 
on the information presented.  
 
With no further business to come before the Board of Supervisors, Chairman 
Christensen adjourned the meeting at 1:23 p.m. 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Stephen Christensen, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
James Menlove, Clerk of the Board 
 


	Agenda
	Floodplain Management Ordinance Variance Request by Steve Medina for Parcel Number 304-33-414
	Att1_Staff Report Re_ Floodplain Variance Request-Parcel No. 304-33-414
	SECTION 6.0
	VARIANCE PROCEDURE
	6.1   NATURE OF VARIANCES
	6.2   APPEAL BOARD
	6.3   CONDITIONS FOR VARIANCES



	Approval of the Annual Maintenance Fees for 2023 and 2024 Regarding the Sheriff's Office Records Management System
	Att1_Amendment No. 1 to Computer Software Support Agreement
	Att2_Original Computer Software Support Agreement with Spillman Technologies
	Att3_2023-2024 Invoice
	Att4_First Quarter 2024 Invoice 
	Approval to use Arizona State Contract CTR063770 with Iron Mountain, Inc. for the Assessor Parcel Digitization
	Att1_Contract No. CTR063770-Digitization of Assessor's Office
	Att2_SOW Digitzation Services
	Statement of Work
	Controlled Material
	Digital Conversion Description
	Business Hours
	Project Details
	Conversion Type
	Estimated Percentage of Volume
	Media Type
	Paper: 8.5x11 
	39%
	Paper: Wide format 
	1%
	Microform 
	60%
	Project Type
	Turnaround Requirements
	Logistics
	Location 1
	Additional Details
	Volume Fluctuations
	Secure Source Materials Transport
	Expected Volumes
	Backfile
	Backfile (Wide Format)
	Microfiche
	Preparation
	Document Preparation Requirements
	Document Prep Performed By
	Separation Details
	Disposition of Originals
	Scanning Requirements
	Scanning Details
	Microform Details
	Microfiche
	Quality Assurance Requirements
	Validation Requirements
	Reassembly
	Hard Copy Release Details
	Digital Release Details
	Additional Project Requirements
	Customer Review and Notification Period - Post Processing Error Correction Timeline
	Fees for Image Conversion Services
	Pricing Details
	Standard Size Pricing Details
	Wide Format Pricing Details
	Microfiche Pricing Details
	Consolidated Pricing Details
	Change Order

	Att3_No Forced Labor of Ethinic Uyghurs Ban
	Att4_State of AZ CTR063770
	Solicitation Requirements.pdf
	BPM004546 Solicitation Requirements Rev 1.pdf
	Pricing Document
	1. Compensation method
	2. Pricing
	3. Funding
	4. Invoicing
	5. Payments

	BPM004546 Exhibits to the Scope of Work.pdf
	Document Imaging Request Form.pdf
	Request for imaging

	Request_for_Microfilming.pdf
	Request for micro

	Certificate_of_Compliance.pdf
	Normal

	Minimum Standards.pdf


	5-Iron Mountain Negotiations Tracker_IM BAFO 12.15.2022.pdf
	Iron Mountain

	Award Letter - Iron Mountain.pdf
	Douglas A. Ducey
	ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION


	ADP27C9.tmp
	Consult, source


	Att5_Single Source Justification1
	Amendment No. 1 to Professional Services Contract No. 081723 with Elections Systems & Software
	Att1_Amendment No. 1 to Professional Services Contract No. 081723
	Att2_Professional Services Contract No. 081723
	Att3_Invoice CD2058095-Election System and Service
	Adopt Resolution No. 24-03-01 to accept drainage easements from property owners in Walnut Springs Subdivision West of Highway 188 in Tonto Basin
	Att1_Resolution No. 24-03-01
	Att2_Grant of Easement from Jasinski to Gila County
	Att3_Grant of Easement from Steven Gladhill to Gila County
	Contract Award in Response to Invitation for Bids No. 112023- Walnut Springs Blvd Culvert Replacement.
	Att1_Invitation for Bids No. 112023 with Award Contract
	Att2_As Read Bid Results
	Att3_Arrow Indian Contractors-Sealed Bid
	Att4_Falcone Brothers and Associates, Inc.-Sealed Bid
	Att5_J. Banicki Construction, Inc.-Sealed Bid
	Att6_Meridian Engineering Company-Sealed Bid
	Att7_Addendum 1
	Att8_Addendum 2
	Att9_Addendum 3
	Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement Project Selection
	Att1_Memorandum of Understanding with Salt River Project Agricultural Improvement and Power District
	Att2_Salt River Project Presentations
	Adoption of the 2024 Arizona Mutual Aid Compact (AZMAC)
	Att1_2024 Arizona Mutual Aid Compact
	Shell Document AF1768 as of Sep 2023.pdf
	2024 Final AZMAC__!_!.pdf
	Personnel
	Reimbursement


	Att2_Arizona Mutual Aid Compact FAQ sheet
	Contract Award in Response to Invitation for Bids No. 113023-Thirteen Various Models of New Ford Vehicles
	Att1_Invitation for Bids No. 113023 with Award Contract
	Att2_KIG Vehicle Concepts-Sealed Bid
	Authorization to Submit a Grant Application to the Arizona Department of Housing for Housing Insecurity Flex Funding
	Att1_Preventing Housing Insecurity  FY 2024 Notice of Funding Availability 
	Funding Agreement No. 204-23 with the Arizona Department of Housing for the Southwest Gas and Arizona Public Service Weatherization Assistance Program
	Att1_Funding Agreement No. 216-24
	216-24 Gila County APS & SWG FY24 Funding Agreement.doc
	ATTACHMENTS
	A Scope of Work

	Section 1.   FUNDS PROVIDED
	Section 2.   OTHER FUNDS
	Section 3.   ACCEPTANCE OF FUNDS
	Section 4.   DURATION
	Section 5.   INCORPORATION OF TERMS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS AND APPLICABLE STATE AND FEDERAL LAW
	Section 6.   SCOPE OF WORK
	Section 7.   REPORTS
	Section 8.   SCHEDULE OF COMPLETION
	Section 9.   BUDGET
	Section 10.   AMENDMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS
	Section 11.   ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW CONDITIONS
	Section 12.   APPLICATION AND OTHER PRE-AWARD COSTS
	Section 13.   COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT
	Section 14.   FUNDS RECOUPED BY RECIPIENT, INTEREST AND PROGRAM INCOME
	Section 15.    DE-OBLIGATION, RECAPTURE AND REPAYMENT OF FUNDS
	15.6 Repayment of Funds.  Recipient agrees to repay funds provided under this contract if ADOH determines that Recipient has failed to use the funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement in compliance with the terms of this Agreement or the requiremen...

	Section 16.   REVERSION OF ASSETS
	Section 17.   DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING RESPONSIBILITIES
	Section 18.   SUBCONTRACTING
	Section 19.   FAILURE TO MAKE PROGRESS
	Section 20.   TERMINATION FOR CAUSE
	Section 21.   TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE
	Section 22.   ENFORCEMENT
	Section 23.   CANCELLATION
	Section 24.   RECORDS RETENTION
	Section 25.   NO OBLIGATION OF STATE GENERAL APPROPRIATIONS FUNDS
	Section 26.   AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS
	Section 27.   APPLICABLE LAW AND ARBITRATION
	Section 28.   INDEMNIFICATION
	Section 29.   FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIABILITY
	Section 30.   AUDIT
	Section 31.   AUDIT EXCEPTIONS
	Section 32.   UNALLOWABLE USE OF FUNDS
	Section 33.   INTEREST OF MEMBERS OF DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND OTHERS
	Section 34.   ACCESS TO RECORDS, PARTICIPANTS AND STAFF
	Section 35.   IDENTIFICATION OF DOCUMENTS
	Section 36.   COPYRIGHT
	Section 37.   RIGHTS IN DATA
	Section 38.   FUNDING CONDITIONS
	Section 39.   NON-DISCRIMINATION
	Section 40.   THIRD PARTY ANTITRUST VIOLATIONS
	Section 41.   COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR A.R.S.  § 41-4401—IMMIGRATION LAWS AND E-VERIFY REQUIREMENT
	Section 42.   INSURANCE
	Commercial General Liability.  Recipient shall maintain Commercial General Liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 for each occurrence with a $2,000,000 Products/Completed Operations Aggregate and a $2,000,000 General Aggregate L...
	Automobile Liability.  Recipient shall maintain Commercial/Business Automobile Liability insurance with a combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage of not less than $1,000,000 each occurrence with respect to Recipient’s any auto, al...
	Worker’s Compensation.  Recipient shall carry Worker’s Compensation insurance to cover obligations imposed by federal and state statutes having jurisdiction of Recipient’s employees engaged in the performance of the work or services; and Employer’s L...
	Section 43.   PRIVACY CONSIDERATIONS
	Section 44.   NOTICES
	Section 45.   REGISTRATION WITH SOCIAL SERVE
	Section 46.   ADOH SIGNAGE
	Section 47.   PHOTOGRAPHS
	Section 48.    STATE OF ARIZONA
	Section 49.   WRITTEN CERTIFICATION UNDER A.R.S. § 35-393.01.
	Section 50.   A.R.S. § 1-501 Relating to Federal Programs

	AS122305 Gila County APS & SWG FY24 (A) Scope of Work
	AS122305 Gila County APS & SWG FY24 (B) Performance Report
	Performance Report

	AS122305 Gila County APS & SWG FY24 (C) Budget
	Budget

	AS122305 Gila County APS & SWG FY24 (D) Request for Payment
	Payment Request Pg 1

	AS122305 Gila County SWG FY24 (E) SWG Approved Measures

	Att2_Funding Agreement No. 204-22
	Att3_Funding Agreement No. 204-23
	Att4_Funding Agreement No. 204-20
	Att5_Funding Agreement No 207-19
	Att6_Funding Agreement No. 204-18
	Att7_Funding Agreement No. 212-18
	Att8_Funding Agreement No. 216-24
	216-24 Gila County APS & SWG FY24 Funding Agreement.doc
	ATTACHMENTS
	A Scope of Work

	Section 1.   FUNDS PROVIDED
	Section 2.   OTHER FUNDS
	Section 3.   ACCEPTANCE OF FUNDS
	Section 4.   DURATION
	Section 5.   INCORPORATION OF TERMS FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS AND APPLICABLE STATE AND FEDERAL LAW
	Section 6.   SCOPE OF WORK
	Section 7.   REPORTS
	Section 8.   SCHEDULE OF COMPLETION
	Section 9.   BUDGET
	Section 10.   AMENDMENTS AND MODIFICATIONS
	Section 11.   ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW CONDITIONS
	Section 12.   APPLICATION AND OTHER PRE-AWARD COSTS
	Section 13.   COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT
	Section 14.   FUNDS RECOUPED BY RECIPIENT, INTEREST AND PROGRAM INCOME
	Section 15.    DE-OBLIGATION, RECAPTURE AND REPAYMENT OF FUNDS
	15.6 Repayment of Funds.  Recipient agrees to repay funds provided under this contract if ADOH determines that Recipient has failed to use the funds provided by ADOH under this Agreement in compliance with the terms of this Agreement or the requiremen...

	Section 16.   REVERSION OF ASSETS
	Section 17.   DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING RESPONSIBILITIES
	Section 18.   SUBCONTRACTING
	Section 19.   FAILURE TO MAKE PROGRESS
	Section 20.   TERMINATION FOR CAUSE
	Section 21.   TERMINATION FOR CONVENIENCE
	Section 22.   ENFORCEMENT
	Section 23.   CANCELLATION
	Section 24.   RECORDS RETENTION
	Section 25.   NO OBLIGATION OF STATE GENERAL APPROPRIATIONS FUNDS
	Section 26.   AVAILABILITY OF FUNDS
	Section 27.   APPLICABLE LAW AND ARBITRATION
	Section 28.   INDEMNIFICATION
	Section 29.   FEDERAL GOVERNMENT LIABILITY
	Section 30.   AUDIT
	Section 31.   AUDIT EXCEPTIONS
	Section 32.   UNALLOWABLE USE OF FUNDS
	Section 33.   INTEREST OF MEMBERS OF DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND OTHERS
	Section 34.   ACCESS TO RECORDS, PARTICIPANTS AND STAFF
	Section 35.   IDENTIFICATION OF DOCUMENTS
	Section 36.   COPYRIGHT
	Section 37.   RIGHTS IN DATA
	Section 38.   FUNDING CONDITIONS
	Section 39.   NON-DISCRIMINATION
	Section 40.   THIRD PARTY ANTITRUST VIOLATIONS
	Section 41.   COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR A.R.S.  § 41-4401—IMMIGRATION LAWS AND E-VERIFY REQUIREMENT
	Section 42.   INSURANCE
	Commercial General Liability.  Recipient shall maintain Commercial General Liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 for each occurrence with a $2,000,000 Products/Completed Operations Aggregate and a $2,000,000 General Aggregate L...
	Automobile Liability.  Recipient shall maintain Commercial/Business Automobile Liability insurance with a combined single limit for bodily injury and property damage of not less than $1,000,000 each occurrence with respect to Recipient’s any auto, al...
	Worker’s Compensation.  Recipient shall carry Worker’s Compensation insurance to cover obligations imposed by federal and state statutes having jurisdiction of Recipient’s employees engaged in the performance of the work or services; and Employer’s L...
	Section 43.   PRIVACY CONSIDERATIONS
	Section 44.   NOTICES
	Section 45.   REGISTRATION WITH SOCIAL SERVE
	Section 46.   ADOH SIGNAGE
	Section 47.   PHOTOGRAPHS
	Section 48.    STATE OF ARIZONA
	Section 49.   WRITTEN CERTIFICATION UNDER A.R.S. § 35-393.01.
	Section 50.   A.R.S. § 1-501 Relating to Federal Programs

	AS122305 Gila County APS & SWG FY24 (A) Scope of Work
	AS122305 Gila County APS & SWG FY24 (B) Performance Report
	Performance Report

	AS122305 Gila County APS & SWG FY24 (C) Budget
	Budget

	AS122305 Gila County APS & SWG FY24 (D) Request for Payment
	Payment Request Pg 1

	AS122305 Gila County SWG FY24 (E) SWG Approved Measures

	Economic Development Agreement No. 02022024 with Hayden Winkelman Little League
	Att1_Economic Development Agreement No. 02022024
	Att2_Hayden Winkelman Little League Request
	Intergovernmental Agreement No. 02032024 with Hayden-Winkelman Unified School District
	Att1_Economic Development Agreement No. 02032024
	Att2_Hayden Winkelman USD Request 
	Intergovernmental Agreement No. 020012024 with Town of Winkelman
	Att1_Intergovernmental Agreement No. 02012024
	Att2_Town of Winkelman Request
	Att3_Mech Max Quote
	Att4_A to Z Quote
	Recorder's Office Monthly Report for January 2024
	Att1_Recorder's January 2024 Monthly Report
	January 2024
	Att1_Clerk's Summary Report January 2024
	Att2_Clerk's Report January 2024
	Globe Regional Constable's Report for January 2024
	Att1_JANUARY 2024
	Payson Regional Constable's Report for January 2024
	Att1_January 2024
	Monthly Report for January 20024
	Att1_GRJC January 2024 Remittance Report
	August 2023
	Att1_November 2023 Monthly report
	December 2023
	Att1_Dec 2023 Reports 
	January 2024
	Att1_January 2024 Reports 
	January 30, 2024 Meeting Minutes
	Att1_1-30-24 BOS meeting minutes

		2022-12-16T09:56:36-0500
	Theresa Pate




